CELL DEATH PROTEINS



VITAMINS AND HORMONES

VOLUME 53

Editorial Board

Frank Chytil Mary F. Dallman Jenny P. Glusker Anthony R. Means Bert W. O'Malley Vern L. Schramm Michael Sporn Armen H. Tashjian, Jr.

VITAMINS AND HORMONES

ADVANCES IN RESEARCH AND APPLICATIONS

CELL DEATH PROTEINS

Edited by

Gerald Litwack

Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Pharmacology Jefferson Medical College Thomas Jefferson University Philadelphia, Pennsylvania

Volume 53



ACADEMIC PRESS

San Diego London Boston New York Sydney Tokyo Toronto This book is printed on acid-free paper. \bigotimes

Copyright © 1997 by ACADEMIC PRESS

All Rights Reserved.

No part of this publication may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopy, recording, or any information storage and retrieval system, without permission in writing from the Publisher.

The appearance of the code at the bottom of the first page of a chapter in this book indicates the Publisher's consent that copies of the chapter may be made for personal or internal use of specific clients. This consent is given on the condition, however, that the copier pay the stated per copy fee through the Copyright Clearance Center, Inc. (222 Rosewood Drive, Danvers, Massachusetts 01923), for copying beyond that permitted by Sections 107 or 108 of the U.S. Copyright Law. This consent does not extend to other kinds of copying, such as copying for general distribution, for advertising or promotional purposes, for creating new collective works, or for resale. Copy fees for pre-1997 chapters are as shown on the title pages, if no fee code appears on the title page, the copy fee is the same as for current chapters. 0083-6729/97 \$25.00

Academic Press

a division of Harcourt Brace & Company 525 B Street, Suite 1900, San Diego, California 92101-4495, USA http://www.apnet.com

Academic Press Limited 24-28 Oval Road, London NW1 7DX, UK http://www.hbuk.co.uk/ap/

International Standard Book Number: 0-12-709853-4

 PRINTED IN THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

 97
 98
 99
 00
 01
 02
 BB
 9
 8
 7
 6
 5
 4
 3
 2
 1

Former Editors

ROBERT S. HARRIS

Newton, Massachusetts

JOHN A. LORRAINE

University of Edinburgh Edinburgh, Scotland

PAUL L. MUNSON

University of North Carolina Chapel Hill, North Carolina

JOHN GLOVER

University of Liverpool Liverpool, England

GERALD D. AURBACH

Metabolic Diseases Branch National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases National Institutes of Health Bethesda, Maryland

KENNETH V. THIMANN

University of California Santa Cruz, California

IRA G. WOOL

University of Chicago Chicago, Illinois

EGON DICZFALUSY

Karolinska Sjukhuset Stockholm, Sweden

ROBERT OLSON

School of Medicine State University of New York at Stony Brook Stony Brook, New York

DONALD B. MCCORMICK

Department of Biochemistry Emory University School of Medicine Atlanta, Georgia This Page Intentionally Left Blank

Contents

PREFACE	 xi

Cell Cycle Checkpoints and Apoptosis: Potential for Improving Radiation Therapy

RUTH J. MUSCHEL, W. GILLIES MCKENNA, AND ERIC J. BERNHARD

Introduction	1
Apoptosis	2
Linkage of Cell Cycle Checkpoints to Apoptosis	4
Regulation of Cell Proliferation and the Control of Apoptosis	6
Effect of Oncogenes on Radiation-Induced Apoptosis	14
Therapeutic Implications	17
References	18
	Introduction Apoptosis Linkage of Cell Cycle Checkpoints to Apoptosis Regulation of Cell Proliferation and the Control of Apoptosis Effect of Oncogenes on Radiation-Induced Apoptosis Therapeutic Implications References

Structure and Function of Interleukin-1ß Converting Enzyme

MICHAEL J. TOCCI

I.	Introduction	27
II.	The IL-1 System	28
III.	Molecular and Biochemical Characterization of ICE	30
IV.	ICE Gene Family Members	48
V.	Biological Role of ICE	51
VI.	Summary	55
	References	56

The Role of the IGF-I Receptor in Apoptosis

Renato Baserga, Mariana Resnicoff, Consuelo D'Ambrosio, and Barbara Valentinis

I.	Introduction	65
II.	The IGF-I Receptor in Mitogenesis	67
III.	The Signal-Transducing Pathways of the IGF-I Receptor	68

CONTENTS

IV.	The IGF-I Receptor in Transformation	69
V.	Mutational Analysis of the IGF-I Receptor	71
VI.	The IGF-I Receptor and Its Ligands in Apoptosis	75
VII.	The in Vivo Method for Determining the Extent of Apoptosis	76
VIII.	The IGF-I Receptor Protects Tumor Cells from Apoptosis in Vivo	77
IX.	The IGF-I Receptor and Apoptosis in Normal Cells	81
Χ.	Dominant Negatives	82
XI.	Critique of Antisense Strategies	84
XII.	Mechanisms	86
XIII.	Host Response	88
XIV.	Significance	90
	References	91

Bcl-2 Family Proteins and the Hormonal Control of Cell Life and Death in Normalcy and Neoplasia

JOHN C. REED

I.	Introduction	99
II.	The Bcl-2 Protein Family	100
III.	Mechanisms of Bcl-2 Protein Action	102
IV.	Bcl-2 Family Proteins as Determinants of Tumor Resistance to	
	Chemotherapeutic Drugs, Glucocorticoids, Retinoids, Antiandrogens,	
	and Antiestrogens	112
V.	In Vivo Patterns of Bcl-2 Family Gene Expression in Hormone-	
	Dependent Tissues and Tumors Derived from Them	115
VI.	Conclusions	128
	References	128

Pathways of p53-Dependent Apoptosis

LUIGI GRASSO AND W. EDWARD MERCER

Introduction	139
Dual Personality of the p53 Tumor Suppressor Protein	140
Oncogene-Driven p53-Dependent Apoptosis	145
Coupling of p53-Dependent Cell Cycle Regulatory Pathways	
and Apoptosis	151
Downstream Effector Genes of p53-Dependent Apoptosis: The Bcl-2	
Bax Connection	156
Growth Factors, Cytokines, and Survival Factors	158
Role of p53-Mediated Modulation of Transcription	160
References	162
	Introduction Dual Personality of the p53 Tumor Suppressor Protein Oncogene-Driven p53-Dependent Apoptosis Coupling of p53-Dependent Cell Cycle Regulatory Pathways and Apoptosis Downstream Effector Genes of p53-Dependent Apoptosis: The Bcl-2 Bax Connection Growth Factors, Cytokines, and Survival Factors Role of p53-Mediated Modulation of Transcription References

CONTENTS

Viral Inhibitors of Apoptosis

ANTHONY G. UREN AND DAVID L. VAUX

I.	Introduction	17
II.	Viral Proteins That Resemble Bcl-2	178
III.	Viral Proteins That Inactivate p53	180
IV.	Inactivators of Apoptotic Cysteine Proteases	180
V.	Inhibitor of Apoptosis Proteins	183
VI.	Virus-Encoded Cytokine Regulators	184
VII.	Other Viral Inhibitors of Apoptosis	18
VIII.	Conclusions	186
	References	187

INDEX	195
-------	-----

This Page Intentionally Left Blank

Preface

This volume on Cell Death Proteins is timely in view of the explosive interest in programmed cell death or apoptosis, the obvious counterpart to cell proliferation. Although the field is progressing rapidly, this volume is a snapshot in time of several topics important to our knowledge of apoptosis.

Of the six contributions included here, some focus on apoptotic proteins and others on the inhibitors of apoptosis. The first paper is from the laboratory of R. Muschel and collaborators, who discourse on cell cycle checkpoints and apoptosis. M. Tocci reviews the structure and function of interleukin-1 β -converting enzyme, the prototypical protease involved in the mammalian cell death machine. R. Baserga and collaborators discuss the role of IGF-I receptor in apoptosis. J. Reed reviews the Bcl-2 family of proteins, and L. Grasso and W. E. Mercer review p53-dependent apoptosis. Finally, A. Uren and D. Vaux inform us about viral inhibitors of apoptosis.

Thus, the contents of this book provide an excellent overview of some of the major players in the cell death cascade and its controls. Interested readers will be found in every sector of modern biological research, including cancer research, signal transduction, and biochemistry.

GERALD LITWACK

This Page Intentionally Left Blank

Cell Cycle Checkpoints and Apoptosis: Potential for Improving Radiation Therapy

RUTH J. MUSCHEL,* W. GILLIES MCKENNA,[†] AND ERIC J. BERNHARD[†]

*Department of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine and ⁺Department of Radiation Oncology University of Pennsylvania Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 19104

- I. Introduction
- II. Apoptosis
- III. Linkage of Cell Cycle Checkpoints to Apoptosis
- IV. Regulation of Cell Proliferation and the Control of Apoptosis
 - A. p53 and Apoptosis
 - B. Myc and Apoptosis
 - C. Bcl-2 and Apoptosis
 - D. E1A and Apoptosis
- V. Effect of Oncogenes on Radiation-Induced Apoptosis
- VI. Therapeutic Implications References

I. INTRODUCTION

Current understanding of the events leading to cell death, including the induction of apoptosis, has suggested new approaches for enhancing the efficacy of cancer therapy. The thrust of this review is to consider some of the current information available about apoptosis and to assess its potential use to enhance the efficacy of radiation therapy. Radiation is used effectively for Hodgkin's lymphoma (Hoppe, 1990) and other lymphomas (Jacobs et al., 1993), squamous cell carcinomas of the head and neck (Harari and Kinsella, 1995) and cervix (Perez, 1993a,b), and prostate (Perez et al., 1993) and breast (Mansfield et al., 1991) cancer, but, unfortunately, in many cases treatment does not eliminate the tumor. There are two different avenues through which augmentation of apoptosis might improve cancer therapy. Since cancer cells may die by apoptotic processes after exposure to radiation (or to various chemotherapeutic agents), targeting the apoptotic process might be expected to alter the rapeutic success. If it were possible to increase apoptosis in the tumor after treatment, it might be possible to greatly enhance the death of the cancer cells after exposure to therapeutic agents. It is also possible to contemplate therapies that might directly induce apoptosis in tumor cells without the application of toxic agents, although we do not discuss this strategy here. This approach would include the application of various hormonal agents or blockage of autocrine growth factor loops. In this review we discuss the induction of apoptosis in cancer cells by therapeutic agents, especially ionizing radiation, and consider some of the genetic mechanisms known to control that induction and their link to cell proliferation. We also consider whether the data in fact support the idea that manipulation of apoptosis or of cellular proliferation checkpoints will affect survival of tumor cells after treatment with toxic agents such as radiation.

II. Apoptosis

In 1972, Kerr and colleagues distinguished between two forms of cell death, necrosis and apoptosis. Necrosis is the form of death that results from cellular metabolic collapse, when a cell can no longer maintain ionic homeostatis. Necrosis is not seen in normal development, but is a response to injury or toxic damage. Apoptosis, or programmed cell death, as it is also known, is a central part of normal development. It is a genetically mediated form of cell death that is involved in organogenesis. tissue homeostasis, and the editing of the immune system to remove autoreactive clones (Clarke et al., 1993; Kerr et al., 1972). In tissues, apoptosis characteristically affects scattered individual cells, in contrast to necrosis, which usually involves tracts of contiguous cells. Inflammation is typically absent in areas of tissue undergoing apoptosis. Apoptotic cells lose contact with their neighbors, decrease in size, and show condensation of chromatin (Kerr et al., 1972). In the past, many of the cells undergoing apoptosis were called pyknotic by pathologists on the basis of their morphology. In apoptotic cells, the DNA is often degraded at the internucleosomal linker sites, yielding DNA fragments in multiples of 180 bp and resulting in a nucleosomal ladder, although this does not always occur (Arends et al., 1990); sometimes the DNA is degraded into larger fragments (Walker and Sikorska, 1994). The cell membrane proteins are cross-linked, making the membrane more rigid (Dive et al., 1992), and the apoptotic cells are typically phagocytosed by adjacent cells or macrophages. Under some circumstances apoptosis can also be seen in response to abnormal stimuli, including hormonal or growth factor manipulations; aberrant gene expression, particularly of oncogenes or antioncogenes; and a number of toxic agents, including chemotherapeutic drugs and X-rays (D'Amico and McKenna, 1994).

It is for the latter reasons that apoptosis has generated great interest among oncologists and cancer biologists, both because of the potential insights it may yield into carcinogenesis and in the hope of generating new strategies for cancer treatment (see additional reviews by D'Amico and McKenna, 1994; Lane, 1992; Reed, 1994; Wyllie *et al.*, 1990).

While cells that are irradiated may undergo apoptosis, they may also die via other modes, sometimes called mitotic death (Hurwitz and Tolmach, 1969), or they may die by necrosis, although this is uncommon at lower doses. Primary lymphocytes or thymocytes readily undergo apoptosis within a relatively short time after irradiation, but primary fibroblasts die with little evidence of apoptosis. Tumor cells also may die after irradiation by an apoptotic process, but this varies depending upon the particular cell line (Meyn et al., 1993). At the present time, the determinants leading to apoptosis are not known. In the case of irradiated lymphocytes, apoptosis occurs rapidly after irradiation, within 6-8 hr. In some of the radiobiological literature this is called an interphase death (Hurwitz and Tolmach, 1969; Yamada and Ohyama, 1988). In contrast, radiation of tumor cells in culture may lead to apoptosis, but, when apoptosis occurs, it is usually seen after a longer time course, with initial evidence of apoptosis seen only after 12-24 hr and peaking at 48 hr (McKenna et al., 1996). Radiation of tumors in vivo, however, sometimes leads to rapid apoptosis (Meyn et al., 1993). Thus there appear to be kinetic distinctions in the induction of apoptosis reflecting differences in cell type and cellular milieu.

In terms of cancer therapy, the loss of replicative potential is the most important determinant of therapeutic outcome; loss of immediate viability is not a prerequisite for successful treatment. If cells do not undergo apoptosis, they may remain viable, as judged by trypan blue exclusion or maintenance of metabolic capabilities, but be unable to form colonies. Their nuclei do not fragment and they do not show other morphological features of apoptosis. This form of cell death is manifested not by an immediate loss of viability, but instead by the failure of clonogenic survival (Puck and Markus, 1956). The ultimate defect in the ability to replicate is not seen immediately in that several rounds of replication will often occur after irradiation. Thus clonogenic assays, in which the ability of each cell to continue successive rounds of replication is determined, are frequently used to evaluate the lethal potential of irradiation or treatment with chemotherapeutic drugs. Loss of viability will of course be accompanied by loss of clonogenic capacity, but loss of viability is in itself not sufficient to indicate whether cells have the capacity to continue to proliferate over many generations. For example, after treatment of cells with doses likely to lead to loss of 50–99% of clonogenic survival, the vast majority of the cells will complete one cell division and at least 70% will complete several more divisions yet will not be able to replicate sufficiently to form colonies (O'Reilly *et al.*, 1994). Thus the results of clonogenic survival assays may give different results from the immediate assessment of viability. There is now accumulating evidence that eventually some of the cells that stop dividing will undergo an apoptotic cell death many days after their first exposure to the toxic agent (Tauchi and Sawada, 1994).

III. LINKAGE OF CELL CYCLE CHECKPOINTS TO APOPTOSIS

After irradiation, normal cells greatly increase their transit time through the cell cycle due primarily to arrests at G1 and G2. These arrests were described in the first paper accurately defining the phases of the cell cycle (Howard and Pelc, 1953). This classic work described the G1, S, G2, and M components of the cell cycle and noted that both G1 and G2, but not S or M, were prolonged in irradiated cells. It was subsequently noted that all eukaryotic cells undergo a G2 delay after irradiation, but that only some cells undergo a G1 arrest (Yamada and Puck, 1961). It should also be noted that at higher doses S-phase perturbations can also be detected (Painter, 1962; Painter and Young, 1975; Watanabe, 1974). It is now known that expression of wild-type p53 is required for the G1 arrest (Kastan et al., 1991). It is interesting to note that many of the genes that affect the G1 arrest also influence whether cells undergo apoptosis. For example, overexpression of Myc leads cells to bypass the usual G1 arrest that is induced by serum starvation. Correlating with the loss of the G1 checkpoint is the induction of apoptosis (Evan et al., 1992). Cells with absent or mutated p53 do not undergo a G1 arrest, but the loss of the G1 arrest does not necessarily lead to apoptosis (Hermeking and Eick, 1994). In contrast, the expression of wild-type p53 can lead to apoptosis, but this is not always a consequence of overexpression of p53. In some cases cells with increased levels of wild-type p53 will undergo a G1 arrest, but in other cases the presence of wild-type p53 lead to apoptosis. For example, irradiated fibroblasts with wild-type p53 undergo a G1 arrest but do not die, at least over the first 72 hr after irradiation, by apoptotic mechanisms (Di Leonardo et al., 1994; McKenna et al., 1996), whereas thymocytes rapidly undergo apoptosis that is p53 dependent (Lowe et al., 1993). An important question under investigation is what determinants regulate whether a cell will arrest in G1 or will instead undergo apoptosis. Kastan has postulated in one system, that of a cell line dependent upon interleukin-3, that the absolute level of p21 (WAF1/CIP1) might contribute to this determination (Canman *et al.*, 1995), but, while intriguing, there is as yet no general support of this observation.

In many normal tissues there is a counterbalance between cell proliferation and programmed cell death, or apoptosis. A characteristic feature of many tumors is the loss of G1-specific regulators of proliferation (Hartwell and Kastan, 1994). However, if tumor cells are to continue to proliferate and to increase in cell number, then they must also lose the apoptotic response. Mutation of p53 appears to confer both properties during ultraviolet light-induced skin carcinogenesis. Thus cells with DNA damage may die by apoptosis after irradiation due to induction of wild-type p53, but cells that have p53 mutations will continue to proliferate and actually establish sectors of skin bearing the mutation (Zeigler et al., 1994). Zarbl's group has described similar sectors of cells with ras mutations in the mammary glands of mice that give rise to tumors upon N-nitroso-N-methylurea exposure (Cha et al., 1994). These mutations may also act to suppress apoptosis during mammary carcinogenesis, as Ras can inhibit apoptosis in some settings (McKenna et al., 1996; Nooter et al., 1995). These observations have led to the hypothesis that the loss of G1-specific regulation must be accompanied by suppression of apoptosis as a necessary step in carcinogenesis. Similar selection for p53 mutations may occur during severe hypoxia in tumors. Graeber et al. (1996) showed that cells with wild-type p53 undergo apoptosis at very low oxygen tensions, while cells with mutations in p53 do not. leading to a selection for cells with mutations in p53 under hypoxic conditions both in vitro and in vivo.

The loss of the G1 checkpoint in itself does not lead to the inability of cells to undergo apoptosis. In tumor cells the G1 checkpoint is frequently missing, perhaps because of ablation of antioncogene activity. such as loss of *Rb* of p53, or because it is overridden by the effects of other oncogenes such as myc. Many tumor cells that have lost components of G1 regulation, including loss of G1 arrest after serum starvation or irradiation, can nonetheless be induced to undergo apoptosis after treatment with a variety of other stimuli, including radiation and some chemotherapeutic drugs (Bernhard et al., 1996; Lock et al., 1994; McKenna et al., 1996). The study of human tumor cells in tissue culture and oncogene transfection of cells allows modeling of some of these situations. We have studied oncogene-transfected rat embryo fibroblasts and found that myc-transfected rat embryo fibroblasts lack a radiationinduced G1 block but are induced to undergo apoptosis by radiation or by serum withdrawal (McKenna et al., 1996). Co-transfection of ras with myc overrides the apoptotic effect of X-rays but not of serum withdrawal. Transfection of *ras* does not restore the G1 checkpoint but greatly increases the radiation-induced G2 delay (McKenna *et al.*, 1991). A similar situation is seen in HeLa cells, which are very resistant to radiation-induced apoptosis and lack a G1 checkpoint but have a pronounced G2 checkpoint after X-irradiation (Yamada and Puck, 1961). Thus, effects at the G1 checkpoint cannot be the sole determinants of apoptosis in tumor cells, and we have proposed the hypothesis that events controlling the G2 checkpoint also can impact the induction of apoptosis similar to the effects at G1 (McKenna *et al.*, 1996). This checkpoint, however, will only come into play in those situations when a G2 checkpoint is induced.

Finally, it should be noted that apoptosis is clearly independent of cell cycle effects in some cases. Treatment of thymocytes with steroids occurs while the cells are in G_0 , and the resulting apoptosis is a p53-independent process (Clarke *et al.*, 1993; Donehower *et al.*, 1992; Lowe *et al.*, 1993). There is also no evidence that apoptosis induced by hormone withdrawal from prostate or breast tissue is related to the cell cycle (Berges *et al.*, 1993; Kyprianou *et al.*, 1991).

IV. REGULATION OF CELL PROLIFERATION AND THE CONTROL OF APOPTOSIS

There are several instances in which control of apoptosis seems to be linked to some of the genes that also regulate cell cycle progression. Aberrant regulation of cell proliferation, both by subversion of tumor suppressor gene activity and by the action of dominant oncogenes, is now recognized to be the hallmark of most if not all malignancies. These changes might represent useful targets for therapeutic manipulation of apoptosis. This linkage has been recognized both for the tumor suppressor genes p53 and Rb and for the dominant oncogene myc (Hermeking and Eick, 1994; Morgenbesser et al., 1994; White, 1994). Additionally, it has been recognized that many transforming viruses exert their transforming function in part by abrogating apoptotic functions in the cell (Scheffner et al., 1990; White et al., 1992). This has been most fully studied for simian virus 40 and the herpes and adenoviruses, but similar mechanisms clearly are also found in polyomavirus, Epstein-Barr virus, and the baculoviruses (Shen and Shenk, 1995). In viruses these antiapoptotic functions presumably evolved to permit viral replication, which could be subverted by apoptosis, but they in turn promote the uncontrolled cellular proliferation that is similarly seen in both virally induced and spontaneous tumors (Nevins, 1995; White, 1993). We discuss some of this evidence for a few oncogenes, using them

as examples of the evidence relating apoptosis to cell proliferation rather than as an exhaustive review of the relationship of oncogenes to apoptosis.

A. p53 and Apoptosis

Mutations in the p53 gene are strongly implicated in human and animal carcinogenesis. The p53 protein can also be a significant regulator of the process of apoptosis. Thymocytes undergo apoptosis at the G_0 to G1 transition in response to glucocorticoids of X-rays (Telford *et al.*, 1991). For X-ray-induced apoptosis, but not for glucocorticoid-induced apoptosis, p53 expression is necessary (Lowe *et al.*, 1993). Thymocytes from p53-null mice are extremely resistant to induction of apoptosis in response to X-rays. After irradiation, the crypt cells of the large and small intestine are highly susceptible to apoptosis. Homozygous p53-null mice fail to show apoptosis in the colonic crypts after receiving a dose of 8 Gy, while the p53⁻/p53^{WT} heterozygous mice undergo substantial apoptosis after the same dose (Merritt *et al.*, 1994).

Mutations of p53 are now recognized to be the most common genetic changes in human cancer (Hollstein *et al.*, 1991). Mutant p53 was first isolated as what was believed to be a dominant cooperating oncogene that behaved in many ways like *myc* or the E1A gene of adenovirus in that it would cooperate with *ras* in transformation assays of 3T3 cells (Parada *et al.*, 1984). Subsequently it was realized that the form of p53 that was first isolated yielded a mutant, inactive, but long-lived form of the protein that displaced the wild-type but short-lived native form from its binding site, and because of this appeared to act dominantly. Thus p53 is now more properly thought of as a tumor suppressor gene.

The action of p53 is complex. It binds to many important cellular proteins and is involved in the control of gene expression (Miyashita *et al.*, 1994). The last several years have seen an intense focus on its roles in cell cycle delay in G1 phase and in apoptosis. It is now recognized that p53 can both regulate cell proliferation and induce apoptosis depending on the circumstances and cellular background (DiLeonardo *et al.*, 1994; Fan *et al.*, 1994; Oren, 1992). In some cases merely the introduction of an expression vector for wild-type p53 is sufficient to induce apoptosis (Liu *et al.*, 1994; Wang *et al.*, 1993), although, as noted later, in other cases overexpression of p53 leads to a G1 arrest.

An insight into the complex role of p53 can be derived from studies of its interaction with the Rb gene product. Two studies have demonstrated that, in the absence of retinoblastoma function, the apoptotic action of p53 can compensate for this loss and thus prevent malignant transformation (Morgenbesser *et al.*, 1994; Pan and Griep, 1994). The

Rb protein prevents cell cycle progression at G1-S by inhibiting members of the E2F family of transcription factors, thereby inhibiting the expression of many genes implicated in S phase, including TK, myc, myb, DHFR, and DNA polymerase a (Almasan et al., 1995; Chen et al., 1995). Normal expression of the Rb gene product in the developing lens causes the cells to undergo growth arrest and to terminally differentiate. Studies in *Rb* knockout mice have shown that, in the absence of Rb, the cells continue to enter S phase; however, an active p53 gene product causes the cells to undergo apoptosis. Such mice show abnormal eye development (micropthalmia) (Morgenbesser et al., 1994). Studies in p53 knockout mice show normal eye development since in these mice Rb functions normally (Donehower et al., 1992). Double-knockout mice cannot be studied since they die in midgestation, but an insight into the effect of the absence of both genes can be gained from the study of mice transgenic for the human papillomavirus E6 and E7 genes, which target and inactivate p53 (Scheffner et al., 1990) and Rb (Munger et al., 1989). Such transgenic mice develop eye tumors (Pan and Griep, 1994). In this case, therefore, the apoptotic action of p53 is essential for its tumor suppressor activity in the absence of Rb. It is of note that the functions of both gene products are tightly linked to cell cycle events in the G1 phase of the cell cycle. The *Rb* gene product is linked to events at the G0-G1 transition, while p53 is able to induce G1 arrest as well as apoptosis.

X-rays or other DNA-damaging agents have been shown to increase the levels of p53 by a posttranslational mechanism. Increased p53 is known to result in a G1 arrest (Kastan et al., 1991; Kuerbitz et al., 1992), and this arrest is mediated by WAF1/CIP1 (El-Diery et al., 1994). Increases in the level of p53 lead to transcriptional activation of promoters that contain a p53 consensus site (Kern et al., 1992). Increased levels of WAF1/CIP1 are induced via this mechanism, as well as being controlled by p53-independent pathways (Macleod et al., 1995). WAF1/CIP1 binds to cyclin-cyclin-dependent kinase (cdk) complexes, including cyclin D1-cdk 4 and cyclin E-cdk 1, resulting in inhibition of kinase activity and hence a G1 arrest (Xiong et al., 1993). Whether physiologically increased levels of WAF1/CIP1 lead to S-phase arrests has not been reported but might be expected since recombinant WAF1/CIP1 inhibits DNA replication in an in vitro system (Li et al., 1994). In that same in vitro system, while DNA replication was inhibited, DNA excision repair was unaltered, suggesting that repair could continue unabated in the presence of a DNA replication block, although there is one report indicating some conditions under which WAF1/CIP1 might also inhibit DNA excision repair (Hurwitz, 1995). The effect of WAF1/CIP1 on DNA replication may well be mediated by its ability to interact with proliferating cell nuclear antigen (PCNA), a component of DNA polymerase δ (Li *et al.*, 1994; Luo *et al.*, 1995).

Also, p53 has the ability to induce transcription of GADD45, another protein capable of binding to PCNA (El-Deiry *et al.*, 1992; Fornace *et al.*, 1989; Kastan *et al.*, 1992). GADD45 in *in vitro* systems actually stimulated excision repair, suggesting a mechanism through which activation of p53 might lead to increased DNA repair and hence increased survival. However, because p53 expression may also lead to apoptosis, in many systems expression of wild-type p53 actually leads to lessened survival, not increased survival.

A model is emerging to synthesize these data into an explanation of the role of p53 in response to DNA damage. After DNA damage occurs, the levels of p53 increase through posttranslational mechanisms. The increased levels of p53 activate WAF1/CIP1 transcription through direct action of p53 on the WAF1/CIP1 promoter, resulting in a G1 arrest. During this arrest the cell attempts to repair the damage, perhaps with enhanced repair capacity due to the induction of GADD45 and activation of other repair processes. If unable to repair the damage, the cell then undergoes apoptosis, and the organism thereby eliminates a damaged and potentially mutated cell. The role of the G1 arrest in this pathway is still not fully understood. Wang et al. (1995) showed that Bcl-2 inhibited the p53-induced apoptosis but not the G1 arrest, showing that the two processes are not obligatorily linked. This conclusion was also demonstrated by the properties displayed by WAF1/CIP1 knockout mice (Brugarolas et al., 1995; Deng et al., 1995). The cells from these mice have a complete lack of the G1 arrest after exposure to various DNA-damaging agents and an impaired G1 arrest after irradiation, demonstrating the importance of WAF1/CIP1 induction in the G1 arrest. After irradiation, these cells undergo levels of apoptosis comparable to the amount found in cells from the parental mice. It has not yet been reported whether other DNA-damaging agents induce apoptosis in this system. Cells in which WAF1/CIP1 has been eliminated by homologous recombination in tissue culture also display the loss of the DNA damage-induced G1 checkpoint (Waldman et al., 1995). These experiments also separate the p53-dependent pathways leading to G1 arrest and apoptosis.

B. Myc and Apoptosis

The *myc* oncogene has also been intensively studied for its roles in both cell proliferation and apoptosis. In nontransformed cells, Myc expression is tightly linked to mitogenic stimuli and is a prerequisite for cell growth. Myc expression has been shown to be both necessary and

sufficient to cause ${\rm G}_0$ fibroblasts to enter the cell cycle. Conversely, immortalized fibroblasts that constitutively express Myc are unable to exit the cycle upon serum withdrawal, and they then undergo apoptosis. Similar results are seen in lymphocytes expressing myc (Harrington et al., 1994a). The relationship of Myc-induced apoptosis to cell cycle progression is somewhat unclear. The myc oncogene is an early response gene whose expression rises rapidly at the G_0 -G1 transition and whose currently known functions are largely linked to G1 and early S. Unlike most early response genes, however, Myc expression is sustained throughout the cell cycle. In addition to its proliferative function, Myc can be shown to induce apoptosis in G₀ and G1, and Evan has argued that it can also do so in S phase (Evan et al., 1992). In the experiment he performed, cells carrying an estrogen-Myc chimeric protein, in which estrogen induces Myc activity, were held for 48 hr in high concentrations of thymidine to induce an S-phase arrest. When estrogen was added after 48 hr, 100% of the cells in the culture underwent apoptosis, from which Evan concluded that Myc could induce apoptosis in S phase. From this experiment Evan has argued that the apoptotic action of Myc is not cell cycle specific.

Evan has argued also that myc is a gene whose proliferative function is not linked to any specific phase of the cell cycle. Its continued, unregulated expression throughout the cycle would tend to support this point of view. However, multiple experiments point to roles for Myc at very specific points in the cell cycle. As was previously stated, Myc expression can cause G₀ cells to enter the cycle (Eilers et al., 1991). In continuously proliferating cells, a role for Myc can also be demonstrated in G1. Serum withdrawal from proliferating fibroblasts leads to rapid disappearance of Myc from all cells. Nevertheless, cells in S, G2, and M at the time of serum withdrawal continue to move through the cycle and the entire population accumulates in G1. Interferon- γ and transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β) lead to rapid downregulation of Myc, and these agents also lead to a G1 arrest (Pietenpol et al., 1990). [TGF-β also causes cell cycle arrest by inducing inhibitors of cdks (Hannon and Beach, 1994; Polyak et al., 1994; Toyoshima and Hunter, 1994).] These effects are not restricted to fibroblasts. Treatment of proliferating keratinocytes or hematopoietic cells with antisense oligonucleotides to c-Myc leads to an accumulation of cells in G1 (Heikkila et al., 1987). There is thus an abundance of evidence that Myc plays an essential role in G1. Evidence for its role in other parts of the cycle is much more limited. Shibuya et al. (1992) studied BAF-B03 pro-B cells expressing a transfected epidermal growth factor (EGF) receptor. These cells did not express c-Myc in response to EGF but entered S normally, only to block before entering G2. This led the authors to conclude that Myc was necessary for the S-G2 transition in these cells, although S-G2 blocks were not noted in the other experiments described earlier (Shibuya *et al.*, 1992). These experiments, taken together, provide a somewhat confusing view of the role of Myc in relationship to the cell cycle. They do, however, suggest that the actions of the *myc* oncogene are certainly not random with respect to the cell cycle, but they may be very specific with regard to the system under study.

Several models have been proposed to explain the apparently contradictory roles of Myc in both proliferation and apoptosis. Evan originally proposed what he termed the "conflict model." Myc is viewed in this model as promoting proliferation. In the presence of mitogens there is no conflict between the action of Myc and the other signals the cells are receiving via other mitogens. When mitogens are *absent*, however, as in serum withdrawal or when a cytostatic drug is added, there is a "conflict" between the signal from Myc to proliferate and the other signals the cells are receiving to cease proliferation. This "conflict" is viewed, in an unspecified manner, as leading to apoptosis. However, it is now thought that the functions of Myc in promoting proliferation and apoptosis may be inseparable. Myc is a transcriptional regulator acting via an amino-terminal transactivating domain that can be shown to be involved in both proliferation and apoptosis (Evan and Littlewood, 1993). Levels of Myc expression correlate with both proliferative capacity and susceptibility to apoptosis (Evan and Littlewood, 1993). Finally, Myc is known to form an active complex by heterologous dimerization with a partner protein named Max. Myc-Max dimerization has been shown to be necessary for both proliferation and apoptosis (Amati et al., 1993; Amati and Land, 1994; Evan and Littlewood, 1993). As evidence has accumulated that Myc is itself directly involved in the control of apoptosis, Evan has more recently modified the conflict model by proposing what he now terms the "dual signal" model. In this model, Myc simultaneously activates both a proliferative and an apoptotic pathway (Harrington et al., 1994b). Mitogens then stimulate the proliferative pathway while the apoptotic pathway is actively held in check by other antiapoptotic cellular factors. The most widely studied of these antiapoptotic factors is the oncogene bcl-2.

C. Bcl-2 AND APOPTOSIS

The *Bcl-2* oncogence was discovered as a gene whose expression was increased by chromosomal translocations in B-cell malignancies (this subject has been extensively reviewed by Reed, 1994). It is found to be activated in the majority of follicular non-Hodgkin's lymphomas. It has also been noted less commonly in other malignancies, such as prostate cancer and breast cancer. Its activation has also been seen in some benign conditions such as follicular hypertrophy of lymph nodes and tonsils. For several years the function of *bcl-2* was viewed, like that of many other oncogenes, as promoting proliferation or cooperating with other oncogenes in doing so. More recent years have seen attention focused on its function as an opponent of apoptosis or of cell death (Korsmever, 1992). In multiple systems-lymphocytes, fibroblasts, neurons, hematopoietic cells, and the like-expression of Bcl-2 can be shown to delay or even prevent apoptosis after most but not all stimuli (Sentman et al., 1991; Vanhaesebroek et al., 1993). Conversely, downregulation of Bcl-2 in many of these same systems can be shown to promote apoptosis. Its mechanism of action in this regard is poorly understood at this time. Bcl-2 is a membrane-associated protein that in the intact cell is largely found in the nuclear envelope, endoplasmic reticulum, and mitochondria (Akao et al., 1994; de Jong et al., 1994; Hockenbery et al., 1990). The bcl-2 gene is a member of a family of genes including bax, bcl-X (which gives rise to two protein products, Bcl-X, and Bcl-X_S), mcl-1, and Al. It is also similar to the ced-9 gene of Caenorhabditis elegans (Craig, 1995), and its gene product is related in function, and to some extent in sequence, to a number of viral proteins, such as p19-E1B of adenovirus, p30 of baculovirus, and BHFR-1 of Epstein-Barr virus (Oltvai et al., 1993; Williams and Smith, 1993). Some of the products of these genes function like Bcl-2 in preventing apoptosis (p19-E1B, Bcl-X₁); others (Bax, Bcl-X_s) oppose Bcl-2 action and hence promote apoptosis. It has been suggested that apoptosis is regulated not by Bcl-2 alone but by the ratio of Bcl-2 to Bax in the cells where both are found. Korsmeyer has suggested that the Bcl-2-Bax heterodimer constitutes a "pre-set rheostat within cells" determining the extent of apoptosis (Oltvai et al., 1993). Another Bcl-2 binding protein, BAD, may act in a similar way to Bax. Korsmeyer's group and others have suggested that Bcl-2 may be exerting its antiapoptotic action as a scavenger for oxidative free radicals (Hockenbery et al., 1993; Kane et al., 1993). Our own data (Muschel et al., 1995) and those of Jacobsen and Raff (1995) and of Shimizu *et al.* (1995) on the induction of apoptosis under hypoxia were not consistent with this model. Thus the mechanism of action of Bcl-2 remains unclear, but most data would place it downstream of p53, Myc, or Ras in the pathways of apoptosis. While Bcl-2 can block or at least delay the induction of apoptosis, in many cases its expression does not oppose all forms of apoptosis.

The effects of Bcl-2 on apoptosis appear to be independent of proliferation checkpoints. Bcl-2 specifically blocks the ability of c-Myc to induce apoptosis but does not affect its mitogenic properties (Bissonnette

et al., 1992; Fanidi et al., 1992; Wagner et al., 1993). Bcl-2 also blocks adenovirus E1A-induced apoptosis and can thus replace the antiapoptotic function of the adenovirus E1B protein (Rao et al., 1992). Expression of Bcl-2 can block Myc-induced apoptosis after serum withdrawal (Fanidi et al., 1992). Transgenic mice engineered to express Bcl-2 and Myc develop B-cell lymphomas at a much higher rate than mice engineered to express only one of the two proteins, perhaps because of the ability of Bcl-2 to block the Myc-induced apoptosis, thereby leading to unabated proliferation (Marin et al., 1995). Two things should be noted, however. Myc deregulation appears to be a more frequent event than Bcl-2 overexpression in human malignancies of many kinds. Deregulation of both genes together has not so far been commonly seen in human cancers. There may be many reasons for this. Bcl-2 expression is common in many tissues in the embryo but is uncommon in adult tissues, with a few exceptions such as B cells or intestinal crypt cells. Second, while myc and bcl-2 have been described as cooperating oncogenes based on experiments such as that described in transgenic mice, the nature of their cooperation is different from that seen between myc and ras, raf, and some of the kinase oncogenes, such as src. In fibroblasts, coexpression of Myc and Ras results in colonies that express morphological transformation, are focus forming, have lost contact inhibition, and are tumorigenic. Cells expressing Myc and Bcl-2 are not tumorigenic and have a flat, nontransformed morphology. These cells are resistant to the induction of apoptosis by serum deprivation. Of course, the expression of the other proteins that interact with Bcl-2 may be the critical element, and these studies are only beginning.

D. E1A AND APOPTOSIS

The adenovirus system has provided support for the interpretation that blocking apoptosis is important for tumorigenicity and is linked to expression of genes deregulating cell cycle controls. White (1993, 1994) proposed a model to explain the actions of the E1A and E1B oncogenes of adenovirus in apoptosis and transformation. The E1A gene product of adenovirus targets the Rb gene product and inactivates, it thereby leading to disruption of the G1 checkpoint. By White's model this leads, in the presence of normal p53 function, to apoptosis. Mymryk *et al.* (1994) have shown that E1A does not induce apoptosis in proliferating cells, suggesting that the disruption of a proliferation block in quiescent cells is a necessary component for the induction of apoptosis in this system. This finding is analogous to Evan's results using myc (Evan *et al.*, 1992). In similar experiments, Gibson *et al.* (1995) showed that Chinese hamster ovary cells overexpressing c-Myc underwent apoptosis during serum withdrawal, as expected from the experiments of Evan, but serum withdrawal did not induce apoptosis if the cells were arrested by confluence. These observations led to the prediction that E1A action as a cooperating oncogene in transformation requires the action of another gene that will alter the proliferation status of the cells; otherwise the E1A effect alone would kill the cells. The same is true in viral infections in which E1A action is supplemented by E1B, which acts to suppress the apoptosis that would be induced by the unopposed action of E1A (White et al., 1992). Lowe and Ruley (1993) have shown that expression of E1A can stabilize the p53 protein and so lead to increased levels of p53, and this may be a contributing mechanism to the induction of apoptosis. The E1B gene gives rise to two protein products, p55 and p19. The p55 protein targets and inactivates p53. However, the genes of adenovirus demonstrate an additional level of control over apoptosis. The second product of the E1B gene, p19, opposes apoptosis but does not target p53. It appears to oppose the apoptotic process directly in a manner analogous, and perhaps identical, to the effects of the bcl-2 oncogene. The ras oncogene can also oppose the apoptosis-inducing capacity of E1A (Lin et al., 1995), and this may account for the ability of E1A to cooperate with the ras oncogene in transformation of primary rodent fibroblasts.

V. EFFECT OF ONCOGENES ON RADIATION-INDUCED APOPTOSIS

As was noted earlier, fibroblasts generally do not undergo apoptosis after irradiation. However, irradiation of Myc-immortalized fibroblasts leads to apoptosis in a substantial number of the cells. We and others have shown that, at any tested dose of X-rays, there was substantially more apoptosis in the cells overexpressing Myc than in the cells transfected with the ras^H oncogene plus myc (Ling et al., 1994a,b; McKenna et al., 1996). This result contrasts with the induction of apoptosis by serum withdrawal, where apoptosis occurred at high levels equally in myc- and ras plus myc-transfected cells (McKenna et al., 1996). Other workers have evaluated the induction of apoptosis in H-ras-transformed cells. Evan et al. cite unpublished data that ras does not have an antiapoptotic effect after serum withdrawal (Harrington et al., 1994b). Arends et al. (1993) studied three cell lines derived from rat lung fibroblasts transfected with the myc and ras oncogenes after serum withdrawal. Two of the myc plus ras cell lines they examined showed significant apoptosis upon serum withdrawal while one did not. They related the effects on apoptosis to the level of available endonuclease in the cells, which was low in the cell line that did not undergo apoptosis. These data indicate that, while it can suppress induction of apoptosis after ionizing irradiation, Ras does not seem to inhibit apoptosis induction by serum withdrawal. Ras also suppresses apoptosis after the expression of E1A, as noted previously.

Neither *myc*-transfected fibroblasts nor ras^{H} plus *myc*-transformed cells undergo a G1 arrest after irradiation. However, after irradiation the ras^{H} plus *myc* cells undergo a substantial G2 delay while the *myc*immortalized cells do not (McKenna *et al.*, 1991). The result is a greater induction of apoptosis in the cells with the lesser G2 delay. These results have led us to suggest that the induction of a G2 block by radiation can also serve an antiapoptotic function and that this is influenced by the ras^{H} oncogene. When the G2 delay was reduced in the ras^{H} plus *myc*-transformed cells by caffeine, the effect was an increase in apoptosis, as would be predicted by this model. In contrast, after serum withdrawal both cell types fail to arrest in G1 or G2 and both are subject to equivalent induction of apoptosis (McKenna *et al.*, 1996).

Other experiments also provide evidence that abrogation of the G2 delay induced by either radiation or other DNA-damaging agents may lead to increased apoptosis. Lock et al. (1994) found that high doses of caffeine potentiated the toxicity of etoposide and that, at high doses of caffeine, increased apoptosis was seen. Demarcq et al. (1994) found that treatment of cells with cisplatin led to a G2 delay that caffeine reduced. and that increased apoptosis and decreased survival were the result. Palayoor et al. (1995) also found that drugs that reduced the G2 delay resulted in increased amounts of apoptosis in EL4 cells. In TK6 lymphoma cells, Zhen and Vaughan (1995) found caffeine to diminish the G2 delay but also diminish the extent of apoptosis induced by ionizing radiation, but not by serum withdrawal. Bernhard et al. (1996) showed that HeLa cells that do not undergo apoptosis after irradiation or after treatment with caffeine or staurosporine alone do die via apoptosis after irradiation plus treatment with caffeine, a treatment that abolishes the G2 delay.

As mentioned earlier, one difference between v-myc and H-ras plus myc embryo cell lines is that radiation induces a much more pronounced G2 delay in the ras^{H} -transfected cells (McKenna *et al.*, 1991). We have also shown that the radiation-induced G2 block in HeLa cells and in ras^{H} plus v-myc-transformed cells is accompanied by a depression in cyclin B1 accumulation, even though cyclin A levels rise at the expected times (Muschel *et al.*, 1991, 1993). Furthermore, drugs such as caffeine, which are known to diminish the radiation-induced G2 block, also decrease the delay in cyclin B1 accumulation in HeLa cells (Bernhard *et al.*, 1994). Datta *et al.* (1992) also found that cyclin B1 mRNA levels

were decreased after exposure of U937 cells to radiation. These data suggest that lowered levels of cyclin B1 contribute to the G2 delay that is induced by irradiation. In contrast, v-myc-immortalized rat embryo fibroblasts (REF) undergo a relatively short G2 delay after irradiation and show no depression in cyclin B1 mRNA accumulation after irradiation. This suggests that the prolongation of the G2 block can be influenced by cyclin B1 mRNA levels. Overexpression of cyclin B1 can reduce the G2 block after irradiation, confirming this suggestion (Kao *et al.*, 1997).

There are multiple mechanisms contributing to controlling the G2 delay after DNA damage, with several targets having being identified in addition to cyclin B1. Lock and Ross (1990) initially showed that p34^{cdc2} H1 kinase activity is depressed in HeLa cells after irradiation or treatment with etoposide (a topoisomerase II inhibitor), another DNA-damaging agent that results in a G2 delay. In the case of cells treated with etoposide, Lock (1992) found increased phosphorylation of cdc2 kinase during G2 in the arrested cells. O'Connor et al. (1993), using nitrogen mustard, another DNA-damaging agent, subsequently showed that this was an effect on the cdc2-cyclin B1 complexes. The cdc2-cyclin A complexes also showed decreased activity, but cdk2-cyclin A complexes were not inhibited (O'Connor et al., 1993). Further evidence that the phosphorylation of cdc2 might be one target comes from experiments in Schizosaccaromyces pombe, where mutants in Wee-1, a kinase capable of phosphorylating cdc2, eliminate the radiation-induced G2 delay at lower doses, suggesting that phosphorylation of cdc2 is a component of the block in this case (Rowley et al., 1992a), although other experiments implicated additional regulatory factors (Enoch et al., 1992). Jin et al. (1996) overexpressed cdc2 that could not be phosphorylated and shortened the G2 delay, a result supporting the involvement of phosphorylation. In lymphoma cells, O'Conner et al. (1994) found that increased phosphorylation occurs after treatment with nitrogen mustard and provided evidence that this increase in phosphorylation was mediated by inhibition of cdc25C, the phosphatase responsible for dephosphorylating both Thr-14 and Tyr-15. Karbanda et al. (1994) have shown that lyn kinase is activated in irradiated cells and have suggested that lyn may phosphorylate cdc2. In addition to mechanisms that lead to decreased cdc2-cyclin B1 kinase activity, a series of highly radiosensitive mutants in yeast, termed rad or MEC, have been identified in which the DNAdamage-induced G2 delay is eliminated. Many of these mutants, but not all, have proven to affect genes involved in DNA repair (Carr, 1995; Rowley, 1992, Rowley et al., 1992b; Weinert, 1992; Weinert and Hartwell, 1988; Weinert et al., 1994). Thus there appear to be several targets for control of the G2 delay.

VI. THERAPEUTIC IMPLICATIONS

We now return to the questions of whether it might be possible to increase the induction of apoptosis in tumor cells after radiation therapy and, second, of whether this might enhance therapeutic efficacy. In spite of the great interest in apoptosis as a mode of death in cancer cells. it is perhaps surprising that the data are still not available to decide whether enhancing apoptosis after treatment with a DNA-damaging agent will enhance its toxicity. Many of the genes discussed here in the context of their ability to regulate the induction of apoptosis are found to be altered in malignancy, and in some instances ways to manipulate these genes are beginning to be developed. The presence of high levels of Myc or mutations in *Rb* tend to lead to enhanced apoptosis, and in many systems it can be shown that this tendency must be opposed to lead to tumorigenesis. If in some cases apoptosis is blocked by Bcl-2, then perhaps drugs that block Bcl-2 action could be efficacious when used in combination with radiation or other DNA-damaging agents. Antisense Bcl-2 polynucleotides will block its expression (Reed et al., 1994), and these could potentially increase apoptosis in the tumor cells after radiation treatment. The normal host cells that express little Bcl-2 should be unaffected. However, while Bcl-2 blocks apoptosis and enhances viability, there are only a few studies examining the effect of Bcl-2 expression on clonogenic survival. While survival is prolonged in cells expressing Bcl-2 treated with certain cytotoxic drugs (Miyashita and Reed, 1992, 1993), it is not prolonged after irradiation (Ruholtz et al., unpublished data) or after aphidicolin treatment (Yin and Schimke, 1995). Activity of the ras oncogene has also been shown to oppose apoptosis after irradiation (McKenna et al., 1996). Blockade of ras action (e.g., by farnesylation inhibitors) could be predicted to enhance toxicity (Bernhard et al., 1996). Hematopoietic cells from mice lacking p53 do not undergo apoptosis after irradiation, but those cells from the mice with p53 do (Clarke et al., 1993; Lowe et al., 1993). This information might suggest that p53 would determine apoptosis in cancer cells. In this case clonogenic survival assays indicate that survival is prolonged in the cells without apoptosis (Lee and Bernstein, 1993). However, tumor cells with mutant p53 also undergo apoptosis. The extent to which p53 status can affect the response to therapy is under intensive investigation. Caffeine or a similarly acting drug, pentoxyphylline, has been shown to enhance apoptosis after irradiation of cells (Bernhard et al., 1996); Lock et al., 1994) or after treatment with chemotherapeutic agents (Shinomiya et al., 1994). Interestingly, caffeine only reduces the G2 delay after treatment with X-rays or with DNA-damaging chemotherapeutic agents if the cells lack p53 (Fan et al., 1995; Powell et al.,

1995; Russell *et al.*, 1995). Caffeine or pentoxyphylline does not appear to alter the cell cycle after DNA damage in cells with wild-type p53. While the mechanism for this effect is not understood, it raises the possibility of pharmacologically enhancing apoptosis in cancer cells with p53 mutations while not affecting the normal host cells. Although none of these approaches is close to actual clinical trials at present, they suggest at least the theoretical possibility of greatly enhancing the therapeutic effect of radiation or chemotherapeutic agents.

REFERENCES

- Akao, Y., Otsuki, Y., Katoaka, S., Ito, Y., and Tsujimoto, Y. (1994). Multiple subcellular localization of bcl-2: Detection in nuclear outer membrane, endoplasmic reticulum membrane, and mitochondrial membranes. *Cancer Res.* 54, 2468–2471.
- Almasan, A., Yin, Y., Kelley, R. E., Lee, E. Y., Bradley, A., Li, W., Bertino, J. R., and Wahl, G. M. (1995). Deficiency of retinoblastoma protein leads to inappropriate S-phase entry, activation of E2F-responsive genes, and apoptosis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 92, 5436–5440.
- Amati, A., Littlewood, T. D., Evan, G. I., and Land, H. (1993). The c-myc protein induces cell cycle progression and apoptosis through dimerization with Max. *EMBO J.* 12, 5083–5087.
- Amati, B., and Land, H. (1994). Myc-Max-Mad: A transcription factor network controlling cell cycle progression, differentiation and death. Curr. Biol. 4, 102–108.
- Arends, M. J., Morris, R. G., and Wyllie, A. H. (1990). Apoptosis: The role of the endonuclease. Am. J. Pathol. 136, 593–608.
- Arends, M. J., McGregor, A. H., Toft, N. J., Brown, E. J. H., and Wyllie, A. H. (1993). Susceptibility to apoptosis is differentially regulated by C-myc and mutated Ha-ras oncogenes and is associated with endonuclease availability. Br. J. Cancer 68, 1127-1133.
- Berges, R. R., Furuya, Y., Remington, L., English, H. F., Jacks, T., and Isaacs, J. T. (1993). Cell proliferation, DNA repair, and p53 function are not required for programmed death of prostatic glandular cells induced by androgen ablation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* **90**, 8910–8914.
- Bernhard, E. J., Maity, A., Muschel, R. J., and McKenna, W. G. (1994). Increased expression of cyclin B1 mRNA coincides with diminished G2-phase arrest in irradiated HeLa cells treated with staurosporine or caffeine. *Radiat. Res.* 140, 393–400.
- Bernhard, E. J., Muschel, R. J., Bakanauskas, V. J., and McKenna, W. G. (1996). Reducing the radiation-induced G2 delay causes HeLa cells to undergo apoptosis instead of mitotic death. Int. J. Radiat. Biol., 69, 575-584.
- Bissonnette, R. P., Echeverri, F., Mahboubi, A., and Green, D. R. (1992). Apoptotic cell death induced by *c-myc* is inhibited by *bcl-2*. *Nature (London)* **359**, 552–554.
- Brugarolas, J., Chandrasekaran, C., Gordon, J. I., Beach, D., Jacks, T., and Hannon, G. J. (1995). Radiation-induced cell cycle arrest compromised by p21 deficiency. Nature (London) 377, 552-557.
- Canman, C. E., Gilmer, T. M., Coutts, S. B., and Kastan, M. B. (1995). Growth factor modulation of p53 mediated growth arrest versus apoptosis. *Genes Dev.* 9, 600–611.
- Carr, A. M. (1995). DNA structure checkpoints in fission yeast. Semin. Cell Biol. 6, 65-72.
- Cha, R. S., Thilly, W. G., and Zarbl, H. (1994). N-nitroso-N-methylurea-induced rat mammary tumors arise from cells with preexisting oncogenic Hras-1 gene mutations. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 91, 3749–3753.

- Chen, P. L., Riley, D. J., and Lee, W. H. (1995). The retinoblastoma protein as a fundamental mediator of growth and differentiation signals. *Crit. Rev. Eukaryotic Gene Expression* 5, 79–95.
- Clarke, A. R., Purdie, C. A., Harrison, D. J., Morris, R. G., Bird, C. C., Hooper, M. L., and Wyllie, A. H. (1993). Thymocyte apoptosis induced by p53-dependent and independent pathways. *Nature (London)* **362**, 849-852.
- Craig, R. W. (1995). The bcl-2 gene family. Semin. Cancer Biol. 6, 35-43.
- D'Amico, A. V., and McKenna, W. G. (1994). Apoptosis and a re-investigation of the biologic basis for cancer therapy. *Radiother. Oncol.* 33, 3-10.
- Datta, R., Hass, R., Gunji, H., Weichselbaum, R., and Kufe, D. (1992). Down-regulation of cell cycle control genes by ionizing radiation. *Cell Growth Differ.* 3, 637–644.
- de Jong, D., Prins, F. A., Mason, D. Y., Reed, J. C., van Ommen, G. B., and Kluin, P. M. (1994). Subcellular localization of the bcl-2 protein in malignant and normal lymphoid cells. *Cancer Res.* 54, 256–260.
- Demarcq, C., Bunch, R. T., Creswell, D., and Eastman, A. (1994). The role of cell cycle progression in cisplatin-induced apoptosis in Chinese hamster ovary cells. *Cell Growth Differ.* 5, 983–993.
- Deng, C., Zhang, P., Harper, J. W., Harper, J. W., Elledge, S. J., and Leder, P. (1995). Mice lacking p21CIP1/WAF1 undergo normal development, but are defective in G1 checkpoint control. *Cell* 82, 675–684.
- Di Leonardo, A., Linke, S. P., Clarkin, K., and Wahl, G. M. (1994). DNA damage triggers a prolongued p53-dependent G1 arrest and long-term induction of Cip-1 in normal human fibroblasts. *Genes Dev.* 8, 2540–2551.
- Dive, C., Gregory, C. D., Phipps, D. J., Evans, D. L., Milner, A. E., and Wyllie, A. H. (1992). Analysis and discriminatino of necrosis and apoptosis (programmed cell death) by multiparameter flow cytometry. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1133, 275–285.
- Donehower, L. A., Harvey, M., Slagle, B. L., McArthur, M. J., Montegomery, C. A., Jr., Butel, J. S., and Bradley, A. (1992). Mice deficient for p53 are develomentally normal but susceptible to spontaneous tumours. *Nature (London)* **356**, 215-221.
- Eilers, M., Schirm, S., and Bishop, J. M. (1991). The myc protein activates transcription of the alpha-prothymosin gene. *EMBO J.* 10, 133–141.
- El-Deiry, W. S., Kern, S. E., Pietenpol, J. A., Kinzler, K. W., and Vogelstein, B. (1992). Definition of a consensus binding site for p53. *Nature Genet.* 1, 45–49.
- El-Diery, W. S., Harper, J. W., O'Connor, P. M., Verlculescu, V., Canman, C. E., Jackman, J., Pietenpol, J., Burrell, M., Hill, D. E., Winman, K. G., Mercer, W. E., Kastan, M. B., Kohn, K. W., Elledge, S. J., Kinzler, K. W., and Vogelstein, B. (1994). Waf1/ Cip1 is induced in p53 mediated G1 arrest and apoptosis. *Cancer Res.* 54, 1169–1174.
- Enoch, T., Carr, A. M., and Nurse, P. (1992). Fission yeast genes involved in coupling mitosis to completion of DNA replication. *Genes Dev.* 6, 2035–2046.
- Evan, G. I., and Littlewood, T. D. (1993). The role of c-myc in cell growth. Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev. 3, 44–49.
- Evan, G. I., Wyllie, A. H., Gilbert, C. S., Littlewood, T. D., Land, H., Brooks, M., Waters, C. M., Penn, L. Z., and Hancock, D. C. (1992). Induction of apoptosis in fibroblasts by c-myc protein. *Cell* **69**, 119–128.
- Fan, S., El-Deiry, W. S., Bae, I., Freeman, J., Jondel, D., Bhatia, K., Fornace, A. J., Magrath, I., Kohn, K. W., and O'Connor, P. M. (1994). p53 gene mutations are associated with decreased sensitivity of human lymphoma cells to DNA damaging agents. *Cancer Res.* 54, 5824–5830.
- Fan, S. J., Smith, M. L., Rivet, D. J., Duba, D., Zhan, Q. M., Kohn, K. W., Fornace, A. J., and O'Connor, P. M. (1995). Disruption of p53 function sensitizes breast cancer MCF 7 cells to cisplatin and pentoxifylline. *Cancer Res.* 55, 1649–1654.

- Fanidi, A., Harrington, E. A., and Evan, G. I. (1992). Cooperative interaction between cmyc and bcl-2 protooncogenes. *Nature (London)* 359, 554–556.
- Fornace, A. J., Nebert, D. W., Hollander, M. C., Leethy, J. D., Papathanasiou, J., Fargnoli, N., and Holbrook, J. (1989). Mammalian genes coordinately regulated by growth arrest signals and DNA-damaging agents. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 9, 4196–4203.
- Gibson, A. W., Cheng, T., and Johnston, R. N. (1995). Apoptosis induced by c-myc overexpression is dependent on growth conditions. *Exp. Cell Res.* 218, 351-358.
- Graeber, T. G., Osmanian, C., Jacks, T., Housman, D. E., Koch, C. J., Lowe, S. W., and Giaccia, A. J. (1996). Hypoxia-mediated selection of cells with diminished apoptotic potential in solid tumors. *Nature (London)* **379**, 88–91.
- Hannon, G. J., and Beach, D. (1994). p15(INK4B) is a potential effector of TGF-beta induced cell cycle arrest. *Nature (London)* 371, 257–261.
- Harari, P. M., and Kinsella, T. J. (1995). Advances in radiation therapy for head and neck cancer. Curr. Opin. Oncol. 7, 248–254.
- Harrington, E. A., Bennett, M. R., Fanidi, A., and Evan, G. I. (1994a). c-Myc-induced apoptosis in fibroblasts in inhibited by specific cytokines. *EMBO J.* 13, 3286–3295.
- Harrington, E. A., Fanidi, A., and Evan, G. I. (1994b). Oncogenes and cell death. Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev. 4, 120–129.
- Hartwell, L. H., and Kastan, M. B. (1994). Cell cycle control and cancer. Science 266, 1821–1828.
- Heikkila, R., Schwab, G., Wickstrom, E., Loke, S. L., Pluznik, D. H., Watt, R., and Neckars, L. M. (1987). A c-myc antisense oligodeoxynucleotide inhibits entry into S phase but not progress from G0 to G1. *Nature (London)* **328**, 445–449.
- Hermeking, H., and Eick, D. (1994). Mediation of c-myc-induced apoptosis by p53. Science 265, 2091–2093.
- Hockenbery, D., Nunez, G., Milliman, C., Schreiber, R. D., and Korsmeyer, S. J. (1990). Bcl-2 is an inner mitochondrial membrane protein that blocks programmed cell death. *Nature (London)* 348, 334–336.
- Hockenbery, D. M., Oltvai, Z. N., Yin, X. M., Milliman, C. L., and Korsmeyer, S. J. (1993). Bcl-2 functions in an antioxidant pathway to prevent apoptosis. *Cell* 75, 241–251.
- Hollstein, M., Sidransky, D., Vogelstein, B., and Harris, C. C. (1991). p53 mutations in human cancers. *Science* 253, 49-53.
- Hoppe, R. T. (1990). Radiation therapy in the management of Hodgkin's disease. Semin. Oncol. 17, 704–715.
- Howard, A., and Pelc, S. R. (1953). Synthesis of deoxyribonucleic acid in normal and irradiated cells and its relation to chromosome breakage. *Heredity (Suppl.)* 6, 261–273.
- Hurwitz, C., and Tolmach, L. J. (1969). Time lapse cinemicrographic studies of X-irradiated Hela S3 cells. I. Cell progression and cell disintegration. *Biophys. J.* 9, 607–633.
- Hurwitz, J. (1995). Inhibition of nucleotide excision repair by the cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor p21. J. Biol. Chem. **270**, 22008–22016.
- Jacobs, J. P., Murray, K. J., Schultz, C. J., Wilson, J. F., Goswitz, M. S., Stevens, C. W., and Cox, J. D. (1993). Central lymphatic irradiation for stage III nodular malignant lymphoma: Long-term results. J. Clin. Oncol. 11, 233–238.
- Jacobson, M. D., and Raff, M. C. (1995). Programmed cell death and Bcl-2 protection in very low oxygen. Nature (London) 374, 814-816.
- Jin, P., Gu, Y. and Morgan, D. O. (1996). Role of inhibitory CDC2 phosphorylation in radiation-induced G2 arrest in human cells. J. Cell. Biol. 134, 963–970.
- Kane, D. J., Safafian, T. A., Anton, R., Hahn, H., Gralla, E. B., Valentine, J. S., Ord, T., and Bredesen, D. E. (1993). Bcl-2 inhibition of neural death: Decreased generation of reactive oxygen species. *Science* 262, 1274–1277.

- Kao, G. D., McKenna, W. G., Maity, A., Blank, K., and Muschel, R. J. (1997). Cyclin B1 availability is a rate-limiting component of the radiation-induced G2 delay in HeLa cells. *Cancer Res.* 57, 753–758.
- Karbanda, S., Yuan, Z. M., Taneja, N., Weichselbaum, R., and Kufe, D. (1994). p56/p53 lyn tyrosine kinase activation in mammalian cells treated with mitomycin C. Oncogene 9, 3005–3011.
- Kastan, M. B., Onyekwere, O., Sidransky, D., Vogelstein, B., and Craig, R. (1991). Participation of p53 protein in the cellular response to DNA damage. *Cancer Res.* 511, 6304–6311.
- Kastan, M. B., Zhan, Q., El-Deiry, W. S., Carrier, F., Jacks, T., Walsh, W. V., Plunkett, B. S., Vogelstein, B., and Fornace, A. J. (1992). A mammalian cell cycle checkpoint pathway utilizing p53 and *GADD45* is defective in ataxia-telangiectasia. *Cell* **71**, 587–597.
- Kern, S. E., Kinzler, K. W., Bruskin, A., Jarosz, D., Friedman, P., Prives, C., and Vogelstein, B. (1992). Identification of p53 as a sequence-specific DNA-binding protein. *Science* 252, 1708–1711.
- Kerr, J. F. K., Wyllie, A. H., and Currie, A. H. (1972). Apoptosis, a basic biololgical phenomenon with wider implications in tissue kinetics. Br. J. Cancer 26, 239-245.
- Korsmeyer, S. J. (1992). Bcl-2 initiates a new category of oncogenes: Regulators of cell death. Blood 80, 879–886.
- Kuerbitz, S. J., Plunkett, B. S., Walsh, W. V., and Kastan, M. B. (1992). Wild-type p53 is a cell cycle checkpoint determinant following irradiation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 89, 7491-7495.
- Kyprianou, N., English, H. F., Davidson, N. E., and Isaacs, J. T. (1991). Programmed cell death during regression of the MCF-7 human breast cancer following estrogen ablation. *Cancer Res.* 51, 162–166.
- Lane, D. P. (1992). p53, guardian of the genome. Nature (London) 358, 15-16.
- Lee, J., and Bernstein, A. (1993). p53 mutations increase resistance to ionizing radiation. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. **90**, 5742–5746.
- Li, R., Waga, S., Hannon, G. J., Beach, D., and Stillman, B. (1994). Differential effects by the p21 CDK inhibitor on PCNA-dependent DNA replication and repair. *Nature (London)* 371, 534–537.
- Lin, H. J., Eviner, V., Prendergast, G. C., and White, E. (1995). Activated H-ras rescues E1A-induced apoptosis and cooperates with E1A to overcome p53-dependent growth arrest. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 15, 4536–4544.
- Ling, C. C., Chen, C. H., and Fuks, Z. (1994a). An equation for the dose-response of radiation-induced apoptosis—possible incorporation with the LQ model. *Radiother. Oncol.* 33, 17–22.
- Ling, C. C., Chen, C. H., and Li, W. X. (1994b). Apoptosis induced at different dose-rates implication for the shoulder region of cell-survival curves. *Radiother. Oncol.* 32, 129–136.
- Liu, T. J., Zhang, W. W., Taylor, D. L., Roth, J. A., Goepfert, H., and Clayman, G. L. (1994). Growth suppression of head and neck cancer cells by the introduction of a wild-type p53 gene via a recombinant adenovirus. *Cancer Res.* 54, 3662–3667.
- Lock, R. B. (1992). Inhibition of p34^{cdc2} kinase activation, p34^{cdc2} tyrosine dephosphorylation, and mitotic progression in Chinese hamster ovary cells exposed to etoposide. *Cancer Res.* 52, 1817–1822.
- Lock, R. B., and Ross, W. E. (1990). Possible role for p34^{cdc2} kinase in etoposide-induced cell death of Chinese hamster ovary cells. *Cancer Res.* 50, 3767-3771.
- Lock, R. B., Galperina, O. V., Feldhoff, R. C., and Rhodes, L. J. (1994). Concentration-

dependent differences in the mechanism by which caffeine potentiates etoposide cytotoxicity in Hela cells. *Cancer Res.* 54, 4933–4939.

- Lowe, S. W., and Ruley, H. E. (1993). Stabilization of the p53 tumor supressor is induced by adenovirus 5 E1A and accompanies apoptosis. *Genes Dev.* **7**, 535–545.
- Lowe, S. W., Schmitt, E. M., Smith, S. W., Osborne, B. A., and Jacks, T. (1993). p53 is required for radiation-induced apoptosis in mouse thymocytes. *Nature (London)* 362, 847–849.
- Luo, Y., Hurwitz, J., and Massague, J. (1995). Cell cycle inhibition by independent CDK and PCNA binding domains in p21^{Cip1}. Nature (London) 375, 159–161.
- Macleod, K. F., Sherry, N., Hannon, G., Beach, D., Tokino, T., Kinzler, K., Vogelstein, B., and Jacks, T. (1995). p53-dependent and independent expression of p21 during cell growth, differentiation, and DNA damage. *Genes Dev.* 9, 935–944.
- Mansfield, C. M., Krishnan, L., Komarnicky, L. T., Ayyangar, K. M., and Kramer, C. A. (1991). A review of the role of radiation therapy in the treatment of patients with breast cancer. Semin. Oncol. 18, 525-535.
- Marin, M. C., Hsu, B., Stephens, L. C., Brisbay, S., and McDonnell, T. J. (1995). The functional basis of c-myc and bcl-2 complementation during multistep carcinogenesis in vivo. Exp. Cell Res. 217, 240–247.
- McKenna, W. G., Iliakis, G., Weiss, M. C., Bernhard, E. J., and Muschel, R. J. (1991). Increased G2 delay in radiation-resistant cells obtained by transformation of primary rat embryo cells with the oncogenes H-ras and V-myc. *Radiat. Res.* 125, 283–287.
- McKenna, W. G., Bernhard, E. J., Markiewicz, D. A., Rudoltz, M. S., Maity, A., and Muschel, R. J. (1996). Regulation of radiation induced apoptosis in oncogene transfected fibroblasts: Influence of H-ras on the G2 delay. *Oncogene* 12, 237-245.
- Merritt, A. J., Potten, C. S., Kemp, C. J., Hickman, J. A., Balmain, A., Lane, D. P., and Hall, P. A. (1994). The role of p53 in spontaneous and radiation-induced apoptosis in the gastrointestinal tract of normal and p53-deficient mice. *Cancer Res.* 54, 614–617.
- Meyn, R. E., Stephens, L. C., Ang, K. K., Hunter, N. R., Brock, W. A., Milas, L., and Peters, L. J. (1993). Heterogeneity in the development of apoptosis in irradiated murine tumours of different histologies. *Int. J. Radiat. Biol.* 64, 583–591.
- Miyashita, T., and Reed, J. C. (1992). Bcl-2 gene transfer increases relative resistance of S49.1 and WEHI7.2 lymphoid cells to cell death and DNA fragmentation induced by glucocortoicoids and multiple chemotherapeutic drugs. *Cancer Res.* 52, 5407–5411.
- Miyashita, T., and Reed, J. C. (1993). Bcl-2 oncoprotein blocks chemotherapy-induced apoptosis in a human leukemia cell line. *Blood* 81, 151–157.
- Miyashita, T., Krajewski, S., Krajewska, M., Wang, H. G., Lin, H. K., Liebermann, D. A., Hoffman, B., and Reed, J. C. (1994). Tumor suppressor p53 is a regulator of bcl-2 and bax gene expression in vitro and in vivo. *Oncogene* **9**, 1799–1805.
- Morgenbesser, S. D., Williams, B. O., Jacks, T., and Depinho, R. A. (1994). p53 dependent apoptosis produced by rb deficiency in the developing mouse lens. *Nature (London)* 371, 72–74.
- Munger, K., Werness, B., Dyson, N., Phelps, W., Harlow, E., and Howley, P. (1989). Complex formation of human papillomavirus E7 proteins with the retinoblastoma tumor suppressor gene product. *EMBO J.* 8, 4099–4105.
- Muschel, R. J., Zhang, H. B., Iliakis, G., and McKenna, W. G. (1991). Cyclin B expression in HeLa cells during the G2 block induced by radiation. *Cancer Res.* 51, 5113– 5117.
- Muschel, R. J., Zhang, H. B., and McKenna, W. G. (1993). Differential effect of ionizing radiation on the expression of cyclin A and cyclin B in HeLa cells. *Cancer Res.* 5, 1128–1135.
- Muschel, R., Bernhard, E., Garza, L. McKenna, W., and Koch, C. (1995). Induction of

apoptosis at different oxygen tensions: Evidence that oxygen radicals do not mediate apoptotic signalling. Cancer Res. **55**, 995–998.

- Mymryk, J. S., Shire, K., and Bayley, S. T. (1994). Induction of apoptosis by adenovirus type 5 E1A in rat cells requires a proliferation block. *Oncogene* **9**, 1189–1193.
- Nevins, J. R. (1995). Adenovirus E1A: Transcription regulation and alteration of cell growth control. Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol. 199, 25-32.
- Nooter, K., Boersma, A. W. M., Oostrum, R. G., Burger, H., Jochemsen, A. G., and Stoter, G. (1995). Constitutive expression of the c-H-ras oncogene inhibits doxorubicininduced apoptosis and promotes cell survival in a rhabdomyosarcoma cell line. Br. J. Cancer 71, 556–561.
- O'Connor, P. M., Ferris, D. K., Pagano, M., Draetta, G., Pines, J., Hunter, T., Longo, D. L., and Kohn, K. W. (1993). G2 delay induced by nitrogen mustard in human cells affects cyclin A/cdk2 and cyclin B1 kinase complexes differently. J. Biol. Chem. 268, 8298–8308.
- O'Connor, P. M., Ferris, D. K., Hoffman, I., Jackman, J., Draetta, G., and Kohn, K. W. (1994). Role of the cdd25C phosphatase in G2 arrest induced by nitrogen mustard in human lymphoma cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* **91**, 9480–9484.
- Oltvai, Z. N., Milliman, C. L., and Korsmeyer, S. J. (1993). Bcl-2 heterodimerizes in vivo with a conserved homolog, bax, that accelerates programmed cell death. *Cell* 74, 609–619.
- O'Reilly, S., Mothersill, C., and Seymore, C. B. (1994). Postirradiation expression of lethal mutations in an immortalized human keratinocyte cell line. *Int. J. Radiat. Biol.* 66, 77–83.
- Oren, M. (1992). The involvement of oncogenes and tumor suppressor genes in the control of apoptosis. *Cancer Metast. Rev.* 11, 141-148.
- Painter, R. B. (1962). The direct effect of X-irradiation on HeLa S3 deoxyribonucleic acid synthesis. *Radiat. Res.* 16, 846–859.
- Painter, R. B., and Young, B. R. (1975). X-ray-induced inhibition of DNA synthesis in Chinese hamster ovary, human HeLa, and mouse L cells. *Radiat. Res.* 64, 648–656.
- Palayoor, S. T., Macklis, R. M., Bump, E. A., and Coleman, C. N. (1995). Modulation of radiation-induced apoptosis and G2/M block in murine T-lymphoma cells. *Radiat. Res.* 141, 235–243.
- Pan, H. C., and Griep, A. E. (1994). Altered cell cycle regulation in the lens of HPV-16 E6 or E7 transgenic mice—implications for tumor-suppressor gene function in development. Genes Dev. 8, 1285–1299.
- Parada, L. F., Land, H., Weinberg, R. A., Wolf, D., and Rotter, V. (1984). Cooperation between gene encoding p53 tumor antigen and ras in cellular transformation. Nature (London) 312, 649–651.
- Perez, C. A. (1993a). Radiation therapy in the management of cancer of the cervix (part 1). Oncology 7, 89–96.
- Perez, C. A. (1993b). Radiation therapy in the management of cancer of the cervix (part 2). Oncology 7, 61–76.
- Perez, C. A., Hanks, G. E., Leibel, S. A., Zeitman, A. L., Fuks, Z., and Lee, W. R. (1993). Localized carcinoma of the prostate (stages T1B, T1C, T2, and T3): Review of management with external beam radiation therapy. *Cancer* 72, 3156–3173.
- Pietenpol, J. A., Holt, J. T., Stein, R. W., and Moses, H. L. (1990). Transforming growth factor beta 1 suppression of c-myc gene transcription: Role in inhibition of Keratinocyte proliferation. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 87, 3758-3762.
- Polyak, K., Lee, M. H., Erdjument-Bromage, H., Koff, A., Roberts, J. M., Tempst, P., and Massague, J. (1994). Cloning of p27(Kip1), a cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor and a potential mediator of extracellular antimitogenic signals. *Cells* 78, 59–66.
- Powell, S. N., Defrank, J. S., Connell, P., Edgan, M., Preffer, F., Dombkowski, D., Tang, W., and Friend, S. (1995). Differential sensitivity of p53- and p53+ cells to caffeineinduced radiosensitization and override of G₂ delay. *Cancer Res.* 55, 1643–1648.
- Puck, T. T., and Markus, P. I. (1956). The action of x-rays on mammalian cells. J. Exp. Med. 103, 653-666.
- Rao, L., Debbas, M., Sabbatini, P., Hockenbery, D., and Korsemeyer, S. (1992). The adenovirus E1A proteins induce apoptosis, which is inhibited by the E1B 19-kDa and Bcl-2 p roteins. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 89, 7742–7746.
- Reed, J. C. (1994). Bcl-2 and the regulation of programmed cell death. J. Cell. Biol. 124, 1-6.
- Reed, J. C., Kitada, S., Takayama, S., and Miyashita, T. (1994). Regulation of chemoresistance by the bcl-2 oncoprotein in non-Hodgkin's lymphoma and lymphocytic leukemia cell lines. Ann. Oncol. 5(suppl. 1), 61-65.
- Rowley, R. (1992). Radiation-induced mitotic delay: A genetic characterization in the fission yeast. *Radiat. Res.* 132, 144–152.
- Rowley, R., Hudson, J., and Young, P. G. (1992a). The wee1 protein kinase is required for radiation-induced mitotic delay. *Nature (London)* **356**, 353–355.
- Rowley, R., Subramani, S., and Young, P. G. (1992b). Checkpoint controls in Schizosaccharomyces pombe: rad1. EMBO J. 11, 1335-1342.
- Russell, K. J., Wiens, L. W., Demers, G. W., Galloway, D. A., Plon, S. E., and Groudine, M. (1995). Abrogation of the G₂ checkpoint results in differential radiosensitization of G₁ checkpoint deficient and G₁ checkpoint-competent cells. *Cancer Res.* 55, 1639–1642.
- Scheffner, M., Werness, B. A., Huibregtse, J. M., Levine, A. J., and Howley, P. M. (1990). The E6 oncoprotein encoded by human papillomavirus types 16 and 18 promotes the degradation of p53. *Cell* **63**, 1129–1136.
- Sentman, C. L., Shutter, J. R., Hockenbery, D., Kanagawa, O., and Korsmeyer, S. J. (1991). Bcl-2 inhibits multiple forms of apoptosis but not negative selection in thymocytes. *Cell* 67, 879-888.
- Shen, Y., and Shenk, T. E. (1995). Viruses and apoptosis. Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev. 5, 105-111.
- Shibuya, H., Yoneyama, M., Ninomiya-Tsuji, J., Matsumoto, K., and Taniguchi, T. (1992). IL-2 and EGF receptors stimulate the hematopoietic cell cycle via different signaling pathways: Demonstration of a novel role for c-myc. Cell 70, 57-67.
- Shimizu, S., Eguchi, Y., Kosaka, H., Kamiike, W., Matsuda, H., and Tsujimoto, Y. (1995). Prevention of hypoxia-induced cell death by Bcl-2 and Bcl-xL. *Nature (London)* 374, 811–813.
- Shinomiya, N., Shinomiya, M., Wakiyama, H., Katsura, Y., and Rokutanda, M. (1994). Enhancement of CDDP cytotoxicity by caffeine is characaterized by apoptotic cell death. *Exp. Cell Res.* 210, 236-242.
- Tauchi, H., and Sawada, S. (1994). Analysis of mitotic cell death caused by radiation in mouse leukemia L5178Y cells: Apoptosis is the ultimate form of cell death following mitotic failure. Int. J. Radiat. Biol. 65, 449-455.
- Telford, W. G., King, L. E., and Fraker, P. J. (1991). Evaluation of glucocorticoid-induced DNA fragmentation in mouse thymocytes by flow cytometry. *Cell Prolif.* 24, 447–459.
- Toyoshima, H., and Hunter, T. (1994). A novel inhibitor of G1 cyclin-cdk protein kinase activity is related to p21. *Cell* **78**, 67–74.
- Vanhaesebroek, B., Reed, J. C., De Valck, D., Grooten, J., Miyashita, T., Tanaka, S., Beyaert, R., Van Roy, F., and Fiers, W. (1993). Effect of bcl-2 proto-oncogene expression on cellular sensitivity to tumor necrosis factor-mediated cytotoxicity. *Oncogene* 8, 1075–1081.

- Wagner, A. J., Small, M. B., and Nissim, H. (1993). Myc-mediated apoptosis is blocked by ectopic expression of Bcl-2. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 13, 2432–2440.
- Waldman, T., Kinzler, K. W., and Vogelstein, B. (1995). P21 is necessary for the p53mediated G1 arrest in human cancer cells. *Cancer Res.* 55, 5187–5190.
- Walker, P. R., and Sikorska, M. (1994). Endonuclease activities, chromatin structure, and DNA degradation in apoptosis. *Biochem. Cell Biol.* 72, 615–623.
- Wang, Y., Ramqvist, T., Szekely, L., Axelson, H., Klein, G., and Wiman, K. G. (1993). Reconstitution of wild-type p53 expression triggers apoptosis in a p53-negative v-myc retrovirus-induced T-cell lymphoma line. *Cell Growth Differ.* 4, 467–473.
- Wang, Y., Okan, I., Szenkely, L., Klein, G., and Wiman, K. G. (1995). Bcl-2 inhibits wildtype p53-triggered apoptosis but not G1 cell cycle arrest and transactivation of WAF1 and bax. *Cell Growth Differ.* 6, 1071–1075.
- Watanabe, I. (1974). Radiation effects on DNA chain growth in mammalian cells. Radiat. Res. 58, 541–556.
- Weinert, T. A. (1992). Dual cell cycle checkpoints sensitive to chromosome replication and DNA damage in the budding yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Radiat. Res. 132, 141–143.
- Weinert, T. A., and Hartwell, L. H. (1988). The RAD9 gene controls the cell cycle response to DNA damage in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Science 241, 317–322.
- Weinert, T. A., Kiser, G. L., and Hartwell, L. H. (1994). Mitotic checkpoint genes in budding yeast and the dependence of mitosis on DNA replication and repair. *Genes Dev.* 8, 652–665.
- White, E. (1993). Regulation of apoptosis by the transforming genes of the DNA tumor virus adenovirus. Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med. 204, 30-39.
- White, E. (1994). P53, guardian of rb. Nature (London) 371, 21-22.
- White, E., Sabbatini, P., Debbas, M., Wold, W. S. M., Kushner, D. I., and Gooding, L. R. (1992). The 19-kilodalton adenovirus E1B transforming protein inhibits programmed cell death and prevents cytolysis by tumor necrosis factor α. *Mol. Cell Biol.* 12, 2570–2580.
- Williams, G. T., and Smith, C. A. (1993). Molecular regulation of apoptosis: Genetic controls on cell death. *Cell* 74, 777-779.
- Wyllie, A. H., Kerr, J. F. R., and Currie, A. R. (1990). Cell death. The significance of apoptosis. Int. Rev. Cytol. 68, 251–303.
- Xiong, Y., Hannon, G. J., Zhang, H., Casso, D., Kobayashi, R., and Beach, D. (1993). P21 is a universal inhibitor of cyclin kinases. *Nature (London)* 366, 701–704.
- Yamada, M., and Puck, T. T. (1961). Action of radiation on mammalian cells, IV. Reversible mitrotic lag in the S3 HeLa cell produced by low doses of X-rays. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 47, 1181–1191.
- Yamada, T., and Ohyama, H. (1988). Radiation-induced interphase death of rat thymocytes is internally programmed (apoptosis). Int. J. Radiat. Biol. 53, 65-75.
- Yin, D. X., and Schimke, R. T. (1995). Bcl-2 expression delays drug-induced apoptosis but does not increase clonogenic survival after drug treatment in HeLa cells. *Cancer Res.* 55, 4922–4928.
- Zeigler, A., Jonason, A. S., Leffell, D. J., Simon, J. A., Sharma, H. W., Kimmelman, J., Remington, L., Jacks, T., and Brash, D. E. (1994). Sunburn and p53 in the onset of skin cancer. *Nature (London)* 372, 773–776.
- Zhen, W., and Vaughan, A. T. M. (1995). Effect of caffeine on radiation-induced apoptosis in TK6 cells. *Radiat. Res.* 141, 170–175.

This Page Intentionally Left Blank

Structure and Function of Interleukin-1ß Converting Enzyme

MICHAEL J. TOCCI

Department of Molecular Immunology Merck Research Laboratories Rahway, New Jersey 07065

- I. Introduction
- II. The IL-1 System
- III. Molecular and Biochemical Characterization of ICE
 - A. Substrate Specificity
 - **B.** Purification
 - C. ICE Enzymology
 - D. Molecular Biology
- **IV. ICE Gene Family Members**
- V. Biological Role of ICE
 - A. Role of ICE in IL-1β Processing and Secretion
 - B. ICE Knockout Mice
- VI. Summary References

I. INTRODUCTION

Cells employ specific processing enzymes to control a number of important physiological and pathophysiological processes. These enzymes modulate the biological activities of individual polypeptides by converting them from one form to another, thereby generating an active, an inactive, or an altered form of the original protein. Interleukin- 1β $(IL-1\beta)$ is an extremely potent and broad-acting proinflammatory cytokine whose production is regulated, in part, by proteolytic processing (Black et al., 1989; Kostura et al., 1989; Dinarello, 1994). Initially, IL-16 is synthesized as an inactive 31-kDa precursor protein (pIL-16). The precursor is cleaved by a highly specific proteinase, termed IL-1 β converting enzyme (ICE; EC 3.4.22.36), as it is released from the cell, generating the mature biologically active cytokine. ICE is a cysteine proteinase that cleaves pIL-1 β twice within the prodomain at aspartic acid residues (Thornberry, 1994; Tocci and Schmidt, 1996). The requirement for aspartic acid in the P₁ position of the substrate cleavage site is highly unusual, as is the finding that ICE is unrelated to all previously known cysteine proteinases (Black et al., 1989; Kostura et al., 1989; Sleath *et al.*, 1990; Howard *et al.*, 1991; Cerretti *et al.*, 1992; Thornberry *et al.*, 1992). Recent findings reveal that ICE is the prototype of a now rapidly growing family of novel cysteine proteinases that all appear to cleave at aspartic acid residues (Miller *et al.*, 1996). The development of potent inhibitors based on the unique substrate specificity of ICE and genetically engineered mice deficient in the enzyme confirmed the importance of the enzyme in pIL-1 β processing and suggested that inhibitors of the enzyme may be useful in the treatment of inflammatory disease. This article reviews our knowledge of the structure and function of this intriguing new proteinase based on its purification, molecular cloning, three-dimensional structure, and functional deletion in mice.

II. THE IL-1 SYSTEM

Two members of the *IL1* gene family, designated IL-1 α and IL-1 β , are produced by mammalian cells. Each is encoded by a separate gene that produces a 31-kDa polypeptide (Auron et al., 1984; March et al., 1985). The active forms of IL-1 α and IL-1 β are alike in several respects. Both bind with similar affinities to the same cell surface receptors and elicit virtually indistinguishable biological responses (Sims and Dower, 1994). The COOH-terminal portions of the proteins that bind to IL-1 receptors (IL-1R) are less than 30% identical in amino acid sequence yet possess nearly superimpossible three-dimensional structures (Priestle et al., 1988; Graves et al., 1990; Clore et al., 1991; Murzin et al., 1992). The need for two *IL1* genes is not readily apparent since on first approximation IL-1 α and IL-1 β appear functionally redundant. However, subtle differences in their subcellular localization and cellular distribution suggest that there is a division of labor among these two members of the *IL1* gene family. IL-1 α appears to remain cell associated, whereas IL-1ß is released from the cell (Tocci and Schmidt, 1996). This difference suggests that the two molecules serve different biological functions. Indeed, certain inflammatory responses are absent in IL-1βdeficient knockout mice, confirming this idea (Kozak et al., 1995; Zheng et al., 1995).

Most stimuli induce the coordinate expression of both *IL1* genes. Their expression is transcriptionally, translationally, and posttranslationally controlled (Fenton *et al.*, 1987, 1988; Schindler *et al.*, 1990a,b; Fenton, 1992). The *IL1* genes are activated transcriptionally in response to external stress or inflammatory stimuli and then translated into 31-kDa polypeptides on free polysomes in the cytosol of the cell. Many cell types are capable of producing IL-1 α and IL-1 β , but activated monocytes and macrophages are the major producers (Arend, 1993a; Tocci and Schmidt, 1996). In activated monocytes, the mRNAs for IL-1 α and IL-1 β can reach as much as 5% of the total polyadenylated RNA; however, under certain conditions not all of the mRNA is translated (Fenton *et al.*, 1987, 1988; Schindler *et al.*, 1990a,b; Fenton, 1992). Like many cytokines and early-phase response genes, the 3' untranslated regions (3'UTR) of the mRNAs for IL-1 α and IL-1 β contain AU-rich sequence elements that reportedly regulate mRNA half-life, transport, and translation (Caput *et al.*, 1986; Cosman, 1987; Decker and Parker, 1995).

In activated monocytes, the 31-kDa primary translation products are abundant in the cytoplasm and can be detected on the plasma membrane (Bayne *et al.*, 1986; Singer *et al.*, 1988, 1995). IL-1 proteins are not secreted by the conventional secretory pathway. Transport from the cytosol to the plasma membrane occurs by a poorly understood mechanism (Kuchler, 1993). Neither IL-1 α nor IL-1 β possesses typical hydrophobic secretory signal sequences, nor are they detected in classical secretory organelles, such as endoplasmic reticulum, Golgi vesicles, or secretory granules (Bayne *et al.*, 1986; Bakouche *et al.*, 1987; Bursten *et al.*, 1988; Hazuda *et al.*, 1988; Singer *et al.*, 1988, 1995; Rubartelli *et al.*, 1990; Stevenson *et al.*, 1992). In addition, fibroblasts transfected with the full-length IL-1 β (mIL-1 β) (Young *et al.*, 1988).

The targeting of IL-1 α to the plasma membrane is thought to be achieved by myristoylation on internal lysine residues (Bursten *et al.*, 1988; Stevenson *et al.*, 1992). The 31-kDa membrane-associated form of IL-1 α is biologically active and appears to remain associated with the intact cell (Mosley *et al.*, 1987). A 17.5-kDa COOH-terminal fragment of IL-1 α , which retains full biological activity, can be released from cells when their integrity is compromised, such as occurs during necrosis, apoptosis, or cell permeation (Hogquist *et al.*, 1991a,b; Haecker and Vaux, 1994; Watanabe and Kobayashi, 1994). The NH₂ termini of 17.5kDa IL-1 α released from human monocytes have been identified as Leu¹¹⁹ and Ser¹²¹, consistent with cleavage by calpain and other "bystander" proteases that are present in biological fluids (Cameron *et al.*, 1985; Kobayashi *et al.*, 1990; Watanabe and Kobayashi, 1994).

Unlike IL-1 α , IL-1 β is synthesized as an inactive 31-kDa precursor protein (pIL-1 β) and is processed to its active form by a specific processing enzyme (ICE) (Howard *et al.*, 1991, 1995). Processing is temporally coordinated with release from the cell (Chin and Kostura, 1993). Several observations support this conclusion. Mature 17.5-kDa IL-1 β is not detected inside intact cells. Immunoelectron microscopic studies of human monocytes show that IL-1 β is present in the cytosolic ground substance, but not on the plasma membrane of stimulated cells prior to secretion, and then translocates to the plasma membrane during the

Site 1	Site 2
EDDLFFEAD GPKOMK	VVHD APVRSL
ENELLFEAD DPKQMK	FLCD APVQSI
ENDLFFEAD GPNYMK	LECD A-VRSL
ENDLFFEAD RPQKIK	LVCD VPIRQL
	Site 1 EDDLFFEAD GPKQMK ENELLFEAD DPKQMK ENDLFFEAD GPNYMK ENDLFFEAD RPQKIK ENDLFFEAD RPQKIK

TABLE I EVOLUTIONARY CONSERVATION OF ICE-LIKE CLEAVAGE SITES IN PIL-1 β^a

^aData from Kostura et al. (1989) and Howard et al. (1991).

secretory phase (Singer *et al.*, 1995). The mechanism of targeting IL-1 β to the plasma membrane by posttranslational modifications such as myristoylation on lysine residues remains unknown at this time (Bursten *et al.*, 1988; Stevenson *et al.*, 1992). Human monocytes secrete the processed propiece as well as the mature COOH-terminal fragment of IL-1 β , indicating that the entire molecule transits through the membrane (Higgins *et al.*, 1994; Singer *et al.*, 1995). While temporally coordinated, the processing and release of mature IL-1 β are not mechanistically coupled. In human monocytes, inhibition of mIL-1 β production by a tetrapeptide ICE inhibitor results in the corresponding release of intact pIL-1 β (Thornberry *et al.*, 1992; Chin and Kostura, 1993). Thus the entire precursor can thread across the membrane if processing is blocked by a low-molecular-weight ICE inhibitor.

ICE catalyzes the cleavage of pIL-1 β at two sites, Asp²⁷-Gly²⁸ and Asp¹¹⁶-Ala¹¹⁷, which have been conserved evolutionarily (Table I). Cleavage at the latter site generates the mature biologically active cytokine with Ala¹¹⁷ at its NH₂ terminus (Black *et al.*, 1989; Kostura *et al.*, 1989). The purpose of the upstream site is unknown; however, expression of a pIL-1 β Ala¹¹⁶ cleavage site mutant in cells revealed that the upstream site is cleaved by ICE and that the 26-kDa product resulting from cleavage of the mutant precursor is released from the cell (Howard *et al.*, 1991). This observation suggests that processing of pIL-1 β in cells may occur via a processive mechanism.

III. MOLECULAR AND BIOCHEMICAL CHARACTERIZATION OF ICE

A. SUBSTRATE SPECIFICITY

One of the most distinguishing features of ICE is its requirement for aspartic acid in the P_1 position of the substrate cleavage site. Except for

ICE gene family members, the serine proteinase granzyme B from T lymphocytes is the only other mammalian enzyme that cleaves at aspartic acid residues, although it does not exhibit an absolute requirement for aspartic acid in P₁ (Odake *et al.*, 1991; Poe *et al.*, 1991). ICE cleaves pIL-1 β at Asp²⁷ and Asp¹¹⁶. Amino acid substitutions in sequences corresponding to either site showed that aspartic acid is required for cleavage of both protein and peptide substrates (Black *et al.*, 1989; Kostura *et al.*, 1989; Sleath *et al.*, 1990; Howard *et al.*, 1991). Mutation of one site does not affect cleavage at the other site (Howard *et al.*, 1991, 1995). Substitution of aspartic acid with any other amino acid reduces k_{cat}/K_m by more than 100-fold regardless of whether the substrate is a peptide or protein (Thornberry *et al.*, 1992).

The minimum peptide substrate for ICE consists of four amino acids NH₂-terminal to the cleavage site (P), Ac-Tyr-Val-Ala-Asp, and is similar to the sequence in the natural human substrate, Tyr¹¹³-Val-His-Asp¹¹⁶. Truncation at the P_4 position leads to >100-fold reduction in k_{cat}/K_m . Unlike other cysteine proteinases, ICE does not utilize important substrate recognition sites on the COOH-terminal side of the cleavage site (P'). Amino acid substitutions and deletions are tolerated on the P' side of the cleavage site in both peptide and pIL-1 β substrates. The best peptide substrate known, Ac-Tyr-Val-Ala-Asp-NHCH₃ (k_{cat}) $K_m = 4 \times 10^5 M^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1}$), is comparable to pIL-1 $\beta (k_{cat}/K_m = 1.5 \times 10^5 M^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1})$ and does not contain an amino acid on the P' side (Thornberry et al., 1992). Several enzymatic assays have been developed based on this minimal peptide substrate (Thornberry and Molineaux, 1995). A continuous fluorometric assay based on the tetrapeptide substrate (Ac-Tyr-Val-Ala-Asp-aminomethylcoumarin has been particularly useful in characterizing the enzyme (Thornberry et al., 1992). This elegant assay is described in detail elsewhere (Thornberry et al., 1994).

The enzyme prefers hydrophobic residues in the P_4 position, whereas broad substitutions are tolerated in both the P_2 and P_3 positions. As mentioned later, recent X-ray crystallographic studies of tetrapeptidebased inhibitors complexed with the enzyme indicate that the side chains of the residues in P_2 and P_3 are solvent exposed and do not play a significant role in substrate binding. The ability to make broad substitutions at these positions has been used to great advantage in the design of inhibitors and molecular probes of the enzyme.

B. PURIFICATION

Two very different approaches have been used to purify native human ICE from THP.1 cell cytosolic extracts: ion exchange-reversephase chromatography and ligand affinity chromatography (ThornberTABLE II

ICE SUBUNITS			
Subunit	${f Mass}^a$	M _r	
p22	21,456	24,000	
p20	19,866	22,000	
p10	10,248	12,000	

^aIn atomic mass units (amu).

ry et al., 1992; Miller et al., 1993). The latter is an extraordinarily powerful technique that employs a potent reversible tetrapeptide aldehyde inhibitor, Ac-Tyr-Val-Lys-Asp-CHO ($K_i = 3 \text{ nM}$) as an affinity chromatography ligand (Thornberry et al., 1992). This approach achieves >100,000-fold enrichment of catalytically active enzyme, enabling purification to homogeneity from crude cell lysates in a single step.

Both chromatographic approaches result in the isolation of three polypeptides that consistently track with ICE activity. The three polypeptides have been designated p22, p20, and p10 based on their respective mass values of 21,465, 19,866, and 10,248 atomic mass units as determined by liquid capillary electrospray ionization mass spectrometry. Amino acid sequences derived from each of the purified proteins proved to be novel at the time of their isolation. Additional sequence analysis showed that p20 was an NH₂-terminally truncated version of p22 that was missing the first 16 amino acids. On sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE), these three proteins exhibit corresponding apparent migration rates (M_{μ}) of 24,000, 22,000, and 12,000 (Table II). These proteins were eventually shown to be the individual subunits of the active enzyme, which consisted of a 1:1 stoichiometric complex of either p22-p10 or p20-p10 (Thornberry et al., 1992; Miller et al., 1993). The p20-p10 complex is the predominant form of the human enzyme isolated from THP.1 cell lysates.

C. ICE ENZYMOLOGY

1. Protease Classification

ICE was classified as a cysteine proteinase based on its sensitivity to known nonspecific competitive thiol aklylating agents such as iodoacetate and N-ethylmaleimide and its inhibition by a tetrapeptide diazomethylketone specific for ICE. Diazomethylketones are classical mechanism-based inhibitors of cysteine proteinases. The lack of inhibition by the epoxide E64, which inhibits other cysteine proteinases, is the one notable exception in this profile (Black *et al.*, 1989; Kostura *et al.*, 1989). As described later, this classification was subsequently confirmed by active site labeling and the identification of the catalytic cysteine residue (Thornberry *et al.*, 1992; Walker *et al.*, 1994; Wilson *et al.*, 1994).

2. Active Site Labeling

The catalytic cysteine of ICE was identified by competitive active site labeling using either a nonselective agent, [¹²⁵]iodoacetic acid (IAA), or a highly selective tetrapeptide acyloxymethylketone inhibitor, Ac-Tyr-Val-Ala-Asp-CH₂OC(O)-[2,6(CF₃)₂]Ph (Thornberry *et al.*, 1992, 1994). IAA reacts 10 times faster with the catalytic cysteine than with other cysteine residues, while the tetrapeptide inhibitor has a second-order inactivation rate constant of $9.5 \times 10^{-5} M^{-1} s^{-1}$. Both are competitive with substrate. IAA and the inhibitor both label the p20 subunit under competitive reaction conditions. Digestion of the p20 subunit with trypsin and purification of the labeled peptide show that the modified cysteine was contained within the tryptic peptide Val-Ile-Ile-Ile-Gln-Ala-Cys. This sequence has since been confirmed in the ICE cDNA sequence (Thornberry *et al.*, 1992).

3. Concentration Dependence of Catalytic Activity

The catalytic activity of ICE is a function of enzyme concentration. Dilution of the enzyme 1000-fold results in complete loss of enzyme activity within 3 hr. Activity is fully restored upon reconcentration of the enzyme. The enzyme is stabilized by saturating amounts of substrate or competitive inhibitors. Agents such as 10% sucrose, high glycerol concentrations, glutathione, and 0.1% CHAPS also stabilize ICE (Thornberry *et al.*, 1992). The loss of enzymatic activity is believed to result from dissociation of the individual subunits or higher order multimers of the heteromeric enzyme complex.

4. Catalytic Mechanism

In spite of its unique characteristics, ICE is catalytically a typical cysteine proteinase (Black *et al.*, 1989; Kostura *et al.*, 1989; Sleath *et al.*, 1990; Howard *et al.*, 1991; Thornberry *et al.*, 1992; Walker *et al.*, 1994; Wilson *et al.*, 1994). The crystal structure of ICE indicates that the active site of the enzyme contains a standard catalytic dyad, consisting of Cys^{285} and His²³⁷, that mechanistically perform a general acid-base function. As in other cysteine proteinases, Cys^{285} and Gly^{231} act to stabilize the oxyanion during catalysis (Walker *et al.*, 1994; Wilson *et al.*, 1994).

5. ICE Inhibitors

a. Synthetic Inhibitors. Inhibitors of cysteine proteinases employ two general chemical schemes involving reversible or irreversible inactivation of the catalytic cysteine. For reversible inhibitors the catalytic cysteine undergoes nucleophilic addition, forming a thiol adduct with the reactive group of the inhibitor. Inhibitors based on this mechanism are transition state analogs that appear to mimic the tetrahedral and acyl-enzyme intermediates formed during substrate hydrolysis. Peptide aldehydes, nitriles, and ketones, which form thiohemiacetals, thioimidates, and thiohemiketals, respectively, are examples of reversible inhibitors. Irreversible inhibitors typically employ an α-substituted ketone core structure of the type R-CO-CH₂-X, where X is a leaving group. X can be a halogen, a diazonium ion, or a carboxylate, corresponding to halomethylketones, diazomethylketones, and acyloxymethylketones, respectively. These inhibitors form a thiomethylketone with the active site cysteine through expulsion of the leaving group (X^{-}) , thereby irreversibly inactivating the enzyme.

Consistent with the substrate specificity of ICE, selective peptidebased inhibitors contain the sequence Ac-Tyr-Val-Ala-Asp. Inhibitors containing this sequence have relatively slow rates of association with the enzyme $(1 \times 10^6 M^{-1} s^{-1})$ (Thornberry *et al.*, 1994). It has been suggested based on recent results that binding of the inhibitor to the enzyme is diffusion controlled and requires a viscosity-dependent conformational change in either the enzyme or the inhibitor (Thornberry *et al.*, 1994). The topology of the active site determined from the crystal structure of ICE complexed with a tetrapeptide based inhibitor suggests that charge–charge interactions between the P₁ aspartic acid of the inhibitor and Arg¹⁷⁹ and Arg³⁴¹ in the S₁ binding pocket may also play a role in this process (Walker *et al.*, 1994; Wilson *et al.*, 1994). One unusual curiosity revealed by the structure of the inhibited enzyme was that the tetrapeptide aldehyde Ac-Tyr-Val-Ala-Asp-CHO was bound in the opposite configuration.

ICE inhibitors based on either of the mechanisms described here have been extremely useful tools. The reversible tetrapeptide aldehyde described earlier is an extremely powerful affinity ligand, while an irreversible acyloxymethylketone is an extraordinarily selective active site probe (Thornberry *et al.*, 1992, 1994; Singer *et al.*, 1995). Inhibitors from these two general classes have also been shown to prevent, dose dependently, the processing of pIL-1 β in both human monocytes *in vit*ro (IC₅₀ ~1 μ M) and murine macrophages *in vivo* (ED₅₀ ~1 mg/kg, ip) (Thornberry *et al.*, 1992; Molineaux *et al.*, 1993; Fletcher *et al.*, 1995; Miller *et al.*, 1995).

b. CrmA: the Vaccinia Virus Serpin Gene. Viruses have evolved a variety of ways to evade cellular responses to infection and thereby assure their propagation. Certain poxviruses (e.g., vaccinia virus) encode a 38kDa serpin protein known as the cytokine response modifier A (crmA) gene product, which is an extremely potent inhibitor $(K_i \leq 7 \text{ pM})$ of ICE (Ray et al., 1992; Komiyama et al., 1994). This finding is highly unusual since serpins were believed to interact only with serine proteinases. The crmA gene is the only serpin gene superfamily member known to inhibit a cysteine proteinase. Evolutionarily, viruses containing crmA possess a selective advantage by virtue of their ability to shut down the host's inflammatory response to infection (Ray et al., 1992). More recently, it has been shown that cells transfected with crmA do not exhibit the nuclear changes associated with apoptotic cell death, suggesting that the protein may also provide an advantage for the virus by prolonging the life of the infected cell. CrmA expression is first detected during the early phase of virus replication and continues throughout the late phase of replication. The protein is not secreted from infected cells and appears to act as an intracellular inhibitor. CrmA $(1 \mu M)$, when added to the medium of cultured human monocytes, has no effect on the processing and release of IL-1ß (Singer et al., 1995). Coexpression studies in insect Sf9 cells indicate that CrmA has the ability to inhibit activation of the proenzyme as well as the activity of the p20-p10-ICE complex (Howard et al., 1995).

The *crmA* gene has been an important tool for exploring the role of ICE-Ced-3-related proteases in cellular processes. Transfection of the *crmA* gene or microinjection of the protein blocks apoptosis in a variety of cell types (Gagliardini *et al.*, 1994). With the exception of ICE itself, though, the specificity of *crmA* for other members of the ICE-*ced-3* gene family is largely unknown. Interactions with other family members are likely since CrmA blocks apoptosis in a variety of cells, including some that do not contain detectable expression of ICE (Thornberry *et al.*, 1996). The *crmA* gene has been shown to be a weak inhibitor of apopain, also known as CPP32 β (Nicholson *et al.*, 1995; Tewari *et al.*, 1995).

The 38-kDa CrmA protein strongly resembles other members of the serpin gene family (Ray *et al.*, 1992). The region homologous to the reactive stress loop (RSL) contains the sequence Ala-Leu-Val-<u>Asp-Cys</u>-Ala-Ser-Thr, which has not been found in known serpins (Ray *et al.*, 1992). Amino acid substitutions at aspartic acid or cysteine elimi-

nate the ability of CrmA to inhibit ICE. Mechanistically, the RSL of serpins acts as a trap for the active site of the enzyme and enables the formation of an enzyme–serpin complex. The parameters for binding to ICE $(k_{on} = 1.7 \times 10^7 M^{-1} s^{-1})$ are among the fastest reported for a serpin interacting with a proteinase, whereas the dissociation constant for the final complex is <4 pM (Komiyama *et al.*, 1994). Unlike most enzyme–serpin interactions, however, the ICE–CrmA complex readily dissociates when subjected to SDS–PAGE (Komiyama *et al.*, 1994). CrmA is a weak inhibitor of the ICE family member CPP32 β , exhibiting a $K_i > 100$ nM. It also appears to inhibit granzyme B (Thornberry *et al.*, 1996).

c. Baculovirus p35 Protein. Baculovirus encodes a 35-kDa protein (p35) that blocks apoptosis (Clem *et al.*, 1991). Like CrmA, p35 probably confers a significant evolutionary advantage on the virus. This protein is an inhibitor and substrate of ICE as well as the *Caenorhabditis elegans* cell death gene product Ced-3 (Bump *et al.*, 1995; Xue and Horvitz, 1995). Coexpression of p35 in cells inhibits autoactivation of the proenzyme and prevents cell death due to overexpression of ICE. Inhibition of ICE activity correlates with the cleavage of p35 and the formation of a p35–ICE complex. In addition to ICE and Ced-3, this protein irreversibly inhibits several ICE family members, including Ich-1, CPP32 β , and ICE_{rel}-II (Bump *et al.*, 1995; Xue and Horvitz, 1995). Granzyme B is not inhibited by p35.

D. MOLECULAR BIOLOGY

1. Human ICE cDNA Sequences

Extensive amino acid sequence information and high-resolution molecular mass determinations obtained through analysis of purified p22, p20, and p10 played a major role in cloning the human ICE cDNA and in determining the primary and secondary structures of the enzyme (Fig. 1) (Thornberry *et al.*, 1992). The cDNA for human ICE was amplified by polymerase chain reaction (PCR) and molecularly cloned from the mRNA of the human monocytic cell line THP.1. Degenerate oligonucleotide primers derived from the amino acid sequence of the enzyme were used for PCR amplification (Cerretti *et al.*, 1992; Thornberry *et al.*, 1992). Analysis of the cloned cDNAs revealed that sequences from both p20 and p10 were contained within a single cDNA. The full-length ICE cDNA (1490 nucleotides) encodes a 404-amino-acid proenzyme (M_r 45,158) that has been designated p45. The regions within p45 that corresponded to p22, p20, and p10 were established using NH₂-terminal



FIG. 1. Line drawings depicting the primary structures of the known ICE–Ced-3 family members. (Adapted from Miller *et al.*, 1996; Thornberry *et al.*, 1996.)

and internal peptide sequence information and the molecular mass of each subunit.

Taken together, the information gained from the purification, characterization, and cloning revealed that the enzyme was a heterodimer consisting of two subunits, p20 and p10, that are present in a 1:1 ratio in the active enzyme. Both subunits are required for catalytic activity and are derived from a 45-kDa proenzyme by autoproteolysis at sites similar to those used in the processing of pIL-18. The sequences encoding p22/p20 and p10 are located in the central and COOH-terminal portions of p45, respectively. The catalytic Cys²⁸⁵, identified by active site labeling, is located at the COOH terminus of p22/p20. An 11.5-kDa prodomain (p11) that precedes the p22/p20 subunit and a 2.0-kDa connecting peptide (p2) that lies between p22/p20 and p10 are removed proteolytically during maturation of the heterodimeric p20-p10 and p22-p10 complexes. The primary sequence of p45 revealed Asp-X sequences at Asp¹⁰³, Asp¹¹⁹, Asp²⁸⁷, and Asp³¹⁶ that corresponded to the NH₂ and COOH termini of p22 and p20 and the NH₂ terminus of p10, strongly implying an autocatalytic mechanism is used to activate p45.

Cleavages at Asp¹⁰³ and Asp¹¹⁹ generate the NH₂ termini of p22 and p20, respectively. Three of the four Asp-X sites are conserved in the primary sequences of mouse and rat ICE (Table III) (Nett *et al.*, 1992; Molineaux *et al.*, 1993; Keane *et al.*, 1995). Substitution of the catalytic Cys²⁸⁵ or of Aspartic acid at all four cleavage sites prevents proteolytic processing of the proenzyme, functionally confirming the autoactivation hypothesis (Rolando *et al.*, 1994; Wilson *et al.*, 1994; Howard *et al.*, 1995). ICE is not homologous to any of the previously known cysteine proteinases and thus became the first member of an entirely distinct class of cysteine proteinase.

2. ICE mRNA Expression

The mRNA for ICE is constitutively expressed at very low levels in human monocytes (<1 in 50,000 transcripts per cell). Three ICE transcripts corresponding to 2.3, 1.6, and 0.5 kb are detected by Northern blot hybridization of total or poly(A) RNA (Cerretti *et al.*, 1992; Nett *et al.*, 1992; Thornberry *et al.*, 1992; Molineaux *et al.*, 1993; Keane *et al.*, 1995). ICE transcripts are also found in a variety of other cells, including T and B lymphocytes and cells of monocytic origin, such as astrocytes (Cerretti *et al.*, 1992; Thornberry *et al.*, 1992; Munday *et al.*, 1995). Certain stimuli such as lipopolysaccharide (LPS) or interferon- γ (INF- γ) increase steady state ICE mRNA levels by approximately two-fold (Nett *et al.*, 1992; Keane *et al.*, 1995).

The primary RNA transcript for human ICE is alternatively spliced, giving rise to five different mRNA species and potentially five different isoforms of the enzyme, designated $\alpha - \epsilon$ (Alnemri et al., 1995). The mRNAs for ICE δ , γ , and ϵ are generated in part by an unusual splicing event that occurs within the coding sequence of exon 2 (Fig. 2). In each of these three mRNAs, an atypical splice donor site in the codon for Gly²⁰ is used instead of the downstream splice site at the end of exon 2. Four of the isoforms— α , β , δ , and γ —contain the catalytic thiol residue Cys^{285} . However, neither ICE_{δ} nor ICE_{γ} appears to possess autocatalytic activity, even though both possess the catalytic cysteine residue. ICE, encodes a variant of p10 that is capable of complexing with the p20-p10 form of ICE (ICE_{α}). An alternatively spliced transcript corresponding to the ß isoform of human ICE has also been identified for murine ICE (Molineaux et al., 1993; Casano et al., 1994). Other ICE gene family members appear to use this mechanism as well, perhaps as a way of regulating the activity of these molecules. An alternatively spliced transcript that lacks the COOH-terminal coding region of ICE-Ced-3 homolog-1 (Ich-1) has been identified that, when transfected into cells, is capable of modulating the apoptotic activity of

EVOLUTIONARY CONSERVATION OF ICE-LIKE CLEAVAGE SITE IN P45				
Species	Cleavage Site 1 (p22N ^a)	Cleavage Site 2 (p20N)	Cleavage Site 3 (p22/p20C ^b)	Cleavage Site 4 (p10N)
Human	NYLNMQD SQGVL	QAVQD NPAMP	GVVWFKD SVGVS	EEFEDD AIKKA
Rat	TVFVTED SKGGH	NHS ^c	GVVLLKD SVGNS	AIFEDD GIKKA
Mouse	TFVATED SKGGH	NHS	GVVLLKD SVRDS	AIFEDD GIKKA

TABLE III D. 0. 0. a . -

^aN, NH₂ terminus. ^bC, COOH terminus. ^cNHS, no homologous site.



FIG. 2. Line drawings representing the structure of human ICE mRNA splice variants. (Adapted from Alnemri *et al.*, 1994.)

full-length Ich-1 (Wang *et al.*, 1994). Although the functional significance of each ICE isoform is not fully understood, it is now possible to ask if these splice variants are involved in regulating enzyme activity or altering its substrate specificity.

3. ICE Sequences from Other Species

ICE cDNAs have also been cloned from mouse and rat cells (Nett *et al.*, 1992; Molineaux *et al.*, 1993; Keane *et al.*, 1995). In contrast to human ICE, a single 1.6-kb transcript was detected by Northern blot hybridization in a panel of RNAs from murine cells, whereas 2.3- and 1.6-kb transcripts were found in various rat tissues. The rodent cDNAs encode proenzymes of 402 amino acids that display the same overall organization as human ICE: a prodomain, a large subunit, a short connecting peptide, and a small subunit. In both species, three of the four Asp-X cleavage sites are conserved. In the mouse and rat enzymes, the Asp-X processing site at the NH₂ terminus of p20 is missing due to the substitution of Asp¹¹⁹ by asparagine. The mouse enzyme, however, possesses an alternate processing site at Asp¹²²-Gly¹²³, while the rat does not. Thus the murine enzyme, like the human, can generate both p22–p10 and p20–p10 heterodimers, whereas the mature rat enzyme most likely consists solely of a p22–p10 complex (Keane *et al.*, 1995).

The rodent enzymes share over 90% amino acid sequence identity with one another and approximately 68% identity with human ICE (Nett *et al.*, 1992; Molineaux *et al.*, 1993; Keane *et al.*, 1995). The p10 subunit is the most highly conserved, possessing over 80% amino acid identity between all three species. The sequence identity shared between the p20 subunits is approximately 60%. One region of particular interest that is entirely conserved across species is a stretch of more than 19 residues in the p20 subunit that includes the active site Cys²⁸⁵ (Nett *et al.*, 1992; Molineaux *et al.*, 1993; Keane *et al.*, 1995).

4. ICE Expression in Cells

Meager amounts of inactive proenzyme are constitutively produced by monocytic cells (Ayala et al., 1994). The vast majority of proenzyme resides in the cytoplasm (Singer et al., 1995). A small pool of active enzyme is continuously drawn from the reservoir of cytosolic proenzyme. In virtually all cell types examined, the amount of active enzyme at any given time is so vanishingly small that it cannot be detected by immunoprecipitation or immunoblotting techniques (Ayala et al., 1994). Consequently, the catalytically active form of the enzyme that is used by cells is not known. It is worth noting that the mature active p20-p10 complex isolated from cells is derived from autoactivation of p45 during incubation of cytosolic extracts (Miller et al., 1993). Extremely sensitive immunoelectron microscopic staining techniques confirm the presence of the proenzyme in the cytoplasm of human monocytes and indicate that the active enzyme is localized on the external surface of their plasma membranes (Ayala et al., 1994; Singer et al., 1995). Epitopes to the p11 prodomain of human ICE were detected exclusively in the cytoplasm, whereas epitopes to the p20 subunit of ICE were detected both in the cytoplasm and on the plasma membrane. No differences in staining were observed between stimulated and resting cells. In addition, the staining patterns for an active site-directed biotinylated ICE inhibitor coincided with the staining for the p20 subunit (Singer et al., 1995). These observations, taken together, strongly support the conclusion that the active enzyme is localized on the plasma membrane of cells and the proenzyme in the cytoplasm.

Certain stimuli such as LPS and INF- γ increase ICE mRNA levels approximately two-fold; however, there is no evidence as yet that this results in increased proenzyme production (Nett *et al.*, 1992; Keane *et al.*, 1995). A variety of cell types express p45; ICE activity, though, has only been detected in extracts of cells that also produce IL-1 β , suggesting that activation of the enzyme is under strict control (Kostura *et al.*, 1989; Nett *et al.*, 1992; Molineaux *et al.*, 1993; Keane *et al.*, 1995; Munday *et al.*, 1995). Notable exceptions include neutrophils and keratinocytes (Tocci and Schmidt, 1996). Keratinocytes do not appear to express ICE but do express small amounts of pIL-1 β , which is not processed or secreted (Kupper *et al.*, 1986, 1988a,b; Blanton *et al.*, 1989; Tocci and Schmidt, 1996). In contrast, human neutrophils contain ICE mRNA but do not contain detectable levels of p45 (Tocci and Schmidt, 1996).

5. Structure and Regulation of the Human ICE Gene

ICE is encoded by a single gene in both the human and murine genomes (Casano *et al.*, 1994; Cerretti *et al.*, 1994). Both genes are approximately 10.5 kb in size and consist of nine introns and 10 exons (Fig. 3). The 10 exons are grouped into three clusters that are separated by the two largest introns. The first group of three exons (I–III) encodes the 5'UTR and the prodomain of the enzyme; the second group of three exons (IV–VI) encodes the majority of the p20 subunit; and the last group of four exons (VII–X) encodes the connecting peptide, the p10 subunit, and the 3'UTR. Individual exon boundaries generally parallel the functional domains in the enzyme (Table IV). The human gene, *IL1BC*, has been localized by fluorescence *in situ* hybridization on chromosome 11 to band q22.2–q22.3 (Cerretti *et al.*, 1994). This region of chromosome 11 contains the genes for the D2 dopamine receptor (*D2DR*) and the neuronal cell adhesion molecule (*NCAM*) and the ma-



FIG. 3. Diagram showing the intron-exon structure of the human ICE gene (IL1BC). (Adapted from Cerretti *et al.*, 1993.)

Exon	Size (bp)	Amino Acids	Coding Function
1	38	Met ¹ -Asp ³	5'UTR prodomain
II	267	Asp ³ –Asp ⁹²	Prodomain
III	63	Asp ⁹² –Ala ¹¹³	Prodomain-p20 junction
IV	116	Ala ¹¹³ –Glu ¹⁵¹	p20 subunit
V	174	Ile ¹⁵² –Ser ²⁰⁹	p20 subunit
VI	235	$Asp^{210} - Asp^{288}$	p20 subunit
VII	144	$Asp^{288} - Asp^{336}$	p20–p10 junction
VIII	110	Asp ³³⁶ –Lys ³⁷²	p10 subunit
IX	131	Val ³⁷³ -His ⁴⁰⁴	p10 subunit
Х	99	None	3'UTR

 TABLE IV

 FUNCTIONAL ORGANIZATION OF EXONS IN THE HUMAN IL1BC Gene^a

^aBased on data from Thornberry et al. (1992) and Cerretti et al. (1992, 1994).

trix metalloproteinase gene cluster, which includes fibroblast collagenase (*CLG*), stromelysin 1 (*STMY1*), and stromelysin 2 (*STMY2*). The murine gene (il1bc) is located on chromosome 9 (Nett *et al.*, 1992).

The mRNA for ICE is expressed constitutively (Cerretti et al., 1992; Nett et al., 1992: Thornberry et al., 1992: Molineaux et al., 1993; Keane et al., 1995) in a variety of human and murine cells. In monocytic cells, a single transcription start site has been identified at -33 bp upstream of the initiator Met codon for the human gene, while two start sites at -32 and -37 bp upstream of the ATG codon have been found for the murine gene (Casano et al., 1994; Cerretti et al., 1994). Neither the human nor the murine gene contains recognizable TATA, CAAT, or SP-1 consensus sequences. However, each contains a completely conserved 14-bp sequence (CTTTCAGTTTCAGT) that is located from -28 to -41nucleotides upstream of the transcription start site. This sequence is identical to the consensus interferon regulatory factor-1 (IRF-1) element (Tamura et al., 1995). The 14-bp sequence specifically binds IRF-1 and confers IRF-1 inducibility upon a transfected promoter element in mitogen-activated cells. The increased steady-state ICE mRNA levels observed upon stimulation of monocytes with LPS, INF- γ , or other mitogens are consistent with a role for IRF-1 in ICE gene expression (Nett et al., 1992; Molineaux et al., 1993; Casano et al., 1994; Cerretti et al., 1994; Keane et al., 1995; Tamura et al., 1995). Overexpression of IRF-1 in a pro-B cell line induced ICE mRNA, providing further support for this idea (Tamura et al., 1995). The 5' flanking region of the IL1BC gene also contains consensus binding sites for nuclear factor-KB,

activator protein-1, activator protein-3, and NFIL-6 within 600 bp of the transcription start site. The functional significance of these sites, though, has yet to be determined (Casano *et al.*, 1994; Cerretti *et al.*, 1994; Tamura *et al.*, 1995). Viable *il1bc*-deficient mice (ICE^{-/-}) have been generated through gene targeting techniques, demonstrating that ICE is not essential for growth and development (Kuida *et al.*, 1995; Li *et al.*, 1995).

6. Recombinant Enzymes

Recombinant forms of ICE (rICE) have been expressed in mammalian and insect cells and in *Escherichia coli* (Cerretti *et al.*, 1992; Thornberry *et al.*, 1992; Molineaux *et al.*, 1993; Walker *et al.*, 1994; Wang *et al.*, 1994b; Wilson *et al.*, 1994; Howard *et al.*, 1995; Ramage *et al.*, 1995). Both wild-type and mutant versions of the enzyme have been biochemically and functionally examined in several expression systems. These studies have provided interesting insights into the mechanism of proenzyme activation and the role of ICE in IL-1 β release and provided large quantities of enzyme for structural determinations (Molineaux *et al.*, 1993; Walker *et al.*, 1994; Wilson *et al.*, 1994; Howard *et al.*, 1995; Ramage *et al.*, 1995).

a. Expression in COS7 Cells. Most of the mammalian cell expression studies on ICE have been performed in COS7 cells (Cerretti *et al.*, 1992; Thornberry *et al.*, 1992; Wilson *et al.*, 1994). When transfected with the full-length ICE cDNA, COS7 cells produce significant amounts of p45 but little or no detectable active enzyme. As with monocytes, ICE activity may be generated by incubation of transfected COS7 cell lysates, but even this approach is inefficient and produces variable amounts of activity. A number of cDNAs containing amino acid substitutions or truncations have been expressed in this system. Prodomain deletion mutants are constitutively active, suggesting that this sequence is important in enzyme activation. This finding provides further evidence that the activation of p45 is strictly regulated. Not surprisingly, the expression of cDNAs containing substitutions of the active site Cys²⁸⁵ or deletions of the p10 subunit yield inactive enzyme (Cerretti *et al.*, 1992; Wilson *et al.*, 1994).

b. Expression in E. coli. Milligram quantities of active enzyme have been obtained by expressing either the full-length proenzyme or the individual subunits in E. coli (Molineaux et al., 1993; Walker et al., 1994; Wilson et al., 1994; Ramage et al., 1995). The recombinant enzyme from E. coli is identical in its catalytic properties to the native enzyme isolated from THP.1 cells (Thornberry, 1994). Enzyme produced in E. coli was used to determine the three-dimensional crystal structure of ICE by X-ray diffraction (Walker *et al.*, 1994; Wilson *et al.*, 1994). Proenzyme expressed in *E. coli* spontaneously converts to p20 and p10 during isolation and refolding (Ramage *et al.*, 1995). Incubation with a specific ICE inhibitor or refolding under nonreducing conditions prevents autoactivation of p45. Time-course studies indicate that the p10 subunit is released first during this activation process.

Active enzyme can also be produced by separately expressing the individual p20 and p10 subunits in *E. coli*. The purified subunits are refolded and combined in the presence of substrate to generate the active enzyme (Walker *et al.*, 1994). Thus the prodomain is not required for proper folding of the subunits, although in this case substrate could serve a role similar to that of the prodomain.

c. Recombinant Baculovirus Expression. Human ICE has been expressed in insect cells using recombinant baculovirus vectors (Wang et al., 1994; Alnemri et al., 1995; Howard et al., 1995). This expression system has been used to produce large quantities of rICE, examine the catalytic activities of mutant enzymes, and reconstitute IL-1ß processing and secretion in insect cells. The recombinant enzyme produced in insect Sf9 cells is identical to native ICE with regard to its subunit composition and catalytic properties and is produced in amounts suitable for biochemical characterization (Howard et al., 1995). The proenzyme is readily activated in baculovirus-infected Sf9 cells. In virus-infected cells, a portion of the ICE prodomain is removed by an adventitious protease; the resulting 32-kDa protein (p32) spontaneously autoactivates, generating the mature p20-p10 heterodimeric enzyme (Wang et al., 1994; Howard et al., 1995). Mutation of the catalytic Cys²⁸⁵ prevents conversion to p20-p10, providing definitive proof for autocatalytic activation of the proenzyme (Wang et al., 1994; Howard et al., 1995). Similar results are obtained with a mutant proenzyme lacking all four Asp-X processing sites (Rolando et al., 1994). Autocatalytic activation of p45 is also prevented by coexpression of *crmA* or the baculovirus p35 protein (Bump et al., 1995; Howard et al., 1995; Xue and Horvitz, 1995).

7. Crystal Structure of ICE

High-resolution structures of ICE (2.0 Å) complexed with tetrapeptide inhibitors have been determined by X-ray diffraction (Walker *et al.*, 1994; Wilson *et al.*, 1994). The tertiary structure of the enzyme bears no resemblance to the known class of cysteine proteinases and is unique. The core of the enzyme consists of six β -sheets that are protected from solvent exposure by six surrounding α -helices. Four of the β -sheets are contributed by p20 and the remaining two by p10. The structure reveals that both p20 and p10 contribute residues to the active site, explaining the earlier finding that both subunits are required for catalytic activity and confirming their intimate association (Cerretti *et al.*, 1992; Thornberry *et al.*, 1992). Like all cysteine proteinases, the active site contains a catalytic dyad consisting of the sulfhydryl group of Cys²⁸⁵ and the imidazole group His²³⁷. The crystal structure of human apopain (CPP32 β), a member of the ICE gene family, is similar in many of these respects (Rotonda *et al.*, 1996).

In the crystal structure, ICE is a tetramer (Fig. 4), consisting of two p20-p10 heterodimers arranged in a head-to-tail fashion along a two-fold axis of symmetry (Walker *et al.*, 1994; Wilson *et al.*, 1994). Crystals of apopain also form tetramers of this nature (Rotonda *et al.*, 1996). The two p20 subunits literally surround the two adjacent p10 subunits, which are buried in the center of the tetrameric complex. This finding may explain in part the difficulty in obtaining antibodies to the p10 subunits covers nearly 5200 Å². Residues at the homodimer interface are highly conserved (81%), and mutation of one of these (His³²²) inactivates the enzyme (Wilson *et al.*, 1994). This latter observation suggests that com-



axis of symmetry

FIG. 4. Drawing of the tetrameric structure of ICE. (Adapted from Walker *et al.*, 1994; Wilson *et al.*, 1994.)

pounds that prevent dimer association may be useful as non-active-sitedirected inhibitors. The distances between the subunits in the crystal structure further suggest that the p10 subunit from one p45 molecule interacts with the p20 subunit from the other p45 molecule in the homodimer (Walker et al., 1994; Wilson et al., 1994; Rotonda et al., 1996). This arrangement of subunits in the [p20-p10], homodimeric complex implies that activation of the proenzyme occurs via an intermolecular cleavage mechanism. Evidence supporting this mechanism has been obtained in cDNA transfection studies (Rolando et al., 1994; Alnemri et al., 1995; Gu et al., 1995). The results of these studies show that one proenzyme molecule can process the other, and in at least one instance that different ICE family members can activate one another. Given the dimeric quaternary structure of the enzyme, it may be possible for two different ICE family members to form a mixed heterodimeric tetramer. consisting of the p20-p10 subunits from one family member and the p20-p10 subunits from another (Walker et al., 1994; Wilson et al., 1994; Gu et al., 1995).

The active site of the enzyme resembles a shallow concave depression with a deep cavity at one end (Walker et al., 1994; Wilson et al., 1994). The deep cavity represents the S₁ subsite of the substrate binding groove where the P₁ aspartic acid residue of tetrapeptide-based inhibitors interacts. The S₁ pocket is formed by the catalytic dyad Cys²⁸⁵ and His²³⁷, and side chains contributed by Arg¹⁷⁹ and Gln²⁸³ from p20 and Arg³⁴¹ and Ser³⁴⁷ from p10. The oxyanion of the tetrahedral transition state intermediate is stabilized by hydrogen bonding to the amide backbone protons of Cys²⁸⁵ and Gly²³⁸. Residues from p10 make up the S_2 - S_4 binding subsites. The P_2 and P_3 amino acid side chains of bound inhibitors are exposed to solvent, explaining the promiscuous nature of substitutions at these positions. Peptide backbone interactions between the inhibitor and the enzyme are largely responsible for binding at the \mathbf{S}_2 and \mathbf{S}_3 subsites. The \mathbf{P}_4 tyrosine binds at the other end of the shallow substrate binding groove in a hydrophobic pocket (S₄ subsite) consisting of His³⁴², Pro³⁴³, and Arg³⁸³. Interestingly, the crystal structure shows that the bound conformation of the tetrapeptide aldehyde Ac-Tyr-Val-Ala-Asp-CHO does not mimic a transition state analog. Instead, the oxyanion of the inhibitor is stabilized by the active site His²³⁷ (Wilson et al., 1994).

The crystal structure of apopain (CPP32 β) has been determined by X-ray diffraction at 2.5-Å resolution (Rotonda *et al.*, 1996). The tertiary and quaternary structures of apopain and ICE are remarkably similar. The topology of the active site is highly conserved except for the S₄ subsite. Apopain prefers aspartic acid in the P₄ position of substrates and

Enzyme	Inhibitor $K_i (nM)^a$		
	CrmA	Ac-Tyr-Val-Ala-Asp-CHO	Ac-Asp-Glu-Val-Asp-CHO
ICE	$< 4.0 \times 10^{-3}$	$7.6 imes 10^{-1}$	$1.7 imes 10^1$
Apopain	$>1.0 imes 10^2$	$1.0 imes10^4$	$3.5 imes10^{-1}$

TABLE V Potency of Tetrapeptide Aldehyde Inhibitors against ICE and Apopain

^aData from Thornberry et al. (1992, 1994, 1996) and Nicholson et al. (1995).

is less tolerant than ICE to substitutions in this position (Nicholson *et al.*, 1995; Thornberry *et al.*, 1996). The residues that interact with the P_4 aspartic acid are quite different in apopain and ICE. This observation is consistent with the known substrate specificities and inhibitor profiles of both enzymes (Table V).

IV. ICE GENE FAMILY MEMBERS

A number of sequences that are related to ICE have now been identified. The first sequence shown to have significant identity (28%) to ICE was the cell death gene *ced-3* from *C. elegans* (Yuan *et al.*, 1993). The *ced-3* gene was identified genetically as one of several genes that were required for programmed cell death in the nematode. This finding, along with studies showing that ectopic overexpression of an ICE-LacZ fusion protein in cells induced apoptosis and subsequent studies showing that CrmA could prevent this process, led to the hypothesis that ICE was the mammalian equivalent of Ced-3 (Miura *et al.*, 1993; Gagliardini *et al.*, 1994).

The once-unique sequence of ICE is now the prototype for defining new members of this rapidly expanding family of novel cysteinyl proteinases (Miller *et al.*, 1996; Thornberry *et al.*, 1996). At least seven family members have now been identified. Phylogenetically their sequences fall into two subfamilies, exemplified by ICE and Ced-3 (Fig. 5). All members of the family resemble ICE in their overall organization, possessing prodomains as well as a large and a small subunit of various lengths. The large and small subunits range in size from 17 to 26 kDa and from 10 to 12 kDa, respectively (Fig. 1). The greatest sequence variability occurs within the prodomains, suggesting that they are tailored for different purposes in each of the family members. As in



ICE Cystienyl Proteinase Gene Family

FIG. 5. Dendrogram depicting the phylogenic relationship of sequences comprising the ICE-Ced-3 gene family. (Adapted from Miller *et al.*, 1996; Thornberry *et al.*, 1996.)

ICE, the subunits are flanked by Asp-X cleavage sites; however, not all family members contain linker sequences between the subunits. This finding suggests that all members of this family are activated in an ICE-like fashion, by cleavages at the Asp-X sites. Family members possess significant sequence identities, particularly in residues associated with catalysis. The sequence Lys-Pro-Lys-X₄-Gln-Ala-Cys-Arg-Gly, encompassing the active site cysteine of ICE, is entirely conserved in virtually all of the homologs, further supporting the idea that these sequences also encode novel thiol proteinases. Many of the other key residues that are required for catalysis are also conserved (Miller *et al.*, 1996).

At this time the ICE subfamily consists of ICE itself and two other cDNAs encoding putative ICE-related thiol proteinases, ICE_{rel}-II and ICE_{rel}-III, also known as TX and TY, respectively (Munday *et al.*, 1995). Both of these sequences are expressed in monocytic cells along with ICE. Coexpression experiments indicate that ICE can cleave both ICE_{rel}-II and ICE_{rel}-III and that ICE_{rel}-II can cleave ICE (Gu *et al.*, 1995; Munday *et al.*, 1995).

The Ced-3 subfamily currently consists of Ich-1, its murine counterpart Nedd-2, Ich-2, Ich-3, Mch, and CPP32 β (or YAMA) (Yuan *et al.*, 1993; Fernandes-Alnemri *et al.*, 1994; Kumar *et al.*, 1994; Wang *et al.*, 1994; Earnshaw *et al.*, 1995; Fearnhead *et al.*, 1995; Faucheau *et al.*, 1995; Nicholson *et al.*, 1995; Tewari *et al.*, 1995; Miller *et al.*, 1996; Thornberry *et al.*, 1996). All of these gene products are thought to be involved in apoptotic cells death due to their similarity to Ced-3 or their expression in apoptotic cells (Miller *et al.*, 1996; Thornberry *et al.*, 1996). Except for CPP32 β , the relative potency and specificity of CrmA or peptide-based inhibitors for these ICE-related gene products are not yet known. The rate of association of CrmA for apopain ($k_{on} < 1.0 \times 10^4$ M^{-1} s⁻¹) is over 1000-fold slower than it is for ICE ($k_{on} = 1.7 \times 10^7$ M^{-1} s⁻¹) (Nicholson *et al.*, 1995; Thornberry *et al.*, 1996).

CPP32 β cleaves the enzyme polyadenosine ribose polymerase (PARP), a marker of apoptosis at the sequence Asp-Glu-Val-Asp. The enzyme does not cleave pIL-1 β , nor does ICE cleave PARP efficiently (Nicholson *et al.*, 1995). Moreover, CrmA or inhibitors based on the ICE cleavage site in pIL-1 β (Ac-Tyr-Val-Ala-Asp-CHO) are significantly less effective against CPP32 β (Table V), indicating that these enzymes may be inhibited selectively (Nicholson *et al.*, 1995; Tewari *et al.*, 1995). The active site of CPP32 β , based on the X-ray structure of the enzyme, shows that the aspartic acid subsite (S₁) binding pocket is highly conserved. However, the residues that constitute the S₄ binding site and are critical in binding the P₄ residue are not conserved in CPP32 β (Ro-

tonda *et al.*, 1996). Computer modeling studies based on the crystal structures of ICE and CPP23 β suggest that differences in the S₄ subsites of the other ICE family members will allow even more diversity in substrate recognition.

V. BIOLOGICAL ROLE OF ICE

A. Role of ICE in IL-1 β Processing and Secretion

cDNA co-transfection experiments indicate that ICE not only processes pIL-1 β but is also required for the export of IL-1 β from cells (Wilson et al., 1994; Howard et al., 1995). These studies show that, as in human monocytes, insect Sf9 cells processed pIL-1 β and secreted mIL-1ß only when ICE was coexpressed. Moreover, as in monocytes, mIL-1 β is not detected within Sf9 cells, suggesting that processing occurs at the plasma membrane and is concomitant with secretion. The coexpression of CrmA in Sf9 cells blocks IL-1 β processing and secretion and prevents ICE proenzyme activation. CrmA appears to act only as an intracellular inhibitor of ICE in this system and in human monocytes, further supporting the idea that processing by ICE does not occur on the outside of the cell (Howard et al., 1995; Singer et al., 1995). The localization of active ICE to the plasma membrane of human monocytes, coupled with the reconstitution of processing and secretion by coexpression of ICE in insect cells, suggests that ICE is part of a transmembrane pore complex that is required for IL-1 β secretion (Fig. 6) (Howard et al., 1995; Singer et al., 1995). Evidence consistent with this idea has been obtained from ICE-deficient mice. Cells from *il1bc*-null mice do not process pIL-1ß via an ICE-dependent mechanism and resemble fibroblasts transfected with the IL-1ß cDNA in that they do not secrete IL-1β (Young et al., 1988; Kuida et al., 1995; Li et al., 1995). Neither the primary sequence nor the quaternary structure of ICE provides any clues as to how the enzyme is targeted or tethered to the plasma membrane. Interactions with other cellular proteins will clearly play an important role in both of these processes.

B. ICE KNOCKOUT MICE

Gene targeting techniques have been used to generate mice that are deficient in *il1b* and *il1bc*. Phenotypic analyses of these mice have begun to generate interesting data on the biological functions of these genes and the redundancy in the IL-1 system, confirming previous stud-



FIG. 6. (A) Drawing depicting the processing and secretion of IL-1 β at the plasma membrane by ICE. (B) Model of ICE inhibition by the serpin product of the vaccinia virus *crmA* gene. (C) Model of ICE inhibition by a potent tetrapeptide aldehyde. (Adapted from Thornberry *et al.*, 1992; Howard *et al.*, 1995; Singer *et al.*, 1995.)

C.



FIG. 6. (continued)

ies that used IL-1R antagonist or neutralizing antibodies to block the actions of IL-1.

The *il1b* gene was the first member of the *IL1* gene family to be targeted by homologous recombination in murine embryonic stem cells (Zheng *et al.*, 1995). As expected, *il1b*-null mice lack the ability to produce IL-1 β , but produce normal amounts of IL-1 α and tumor necrosis factor (TNF) when challenged with LPS or *Proprionibacterium acnes*. IL-1 β -deficient mice are fertile and show no developmental abnormalities. These mice remain healthy under specific pathogen-free conditions. While they do not exhibit increased susceptibility to infection with the intracellular pathogen *Listeria monocytogenes*, they do exhibit a slight increase in susceptibility to and more rapid mortality from influenza virus infection (Kozak *et al.*, 1995; Zheng *et al.*, 1995). In contrast to findings from previous studies using IL-1 β -neutralizing antibodies (Enk and Katz, 1991; Enk *et al.*, 1993), *il1b* knockout mice respond normally in models of contact or delayed-type hypersensitivity (Zheng *et al.*, 1995).

IL-1 β -neutralizing antibodies have been shown to block interleukin-6 (IL-6) production and the febrile response in a mouse model of

turpentine-induced sterile abscess formation (Kluger, 1991). In this model, IL-1B-deficient mice do not to develop the fever or anorexia associated with the turpentine injection, nor do they produce IL-6 or acute-phase reactant proteins in response to this challenge (Zheng et al., 1995). These studies confirm the central role of IL-1 β in IL-6 induction and fever. In stark contrast to the turpentine challenge, IL-1Bdeficient mice are not resistant to lethal LPS challenge. Unlike the turpentine challenge, the magnitude of the fever after LPS administration is reduced by only 50% in IL-1β-deficient mice, and there is no apparent difference in IL-6 or acute-phase protein synthesis compared to wild-type litter mates (Zheng et al., 1995). B10.RIII mice are highly susceptible to collagen-induced arthritis (CIA). IL-1ß-neutralizing antibodies block the onset as well as the progression of established CIA in B10.RIII mice (Geiger et al., 1993; Van den Berg et al., 1994). Studies show that IL-1B-deficient mice backcrossed (N3) onto the B10.RIII background fail to develop CIA, confirming the earlier neutralizing antibody studies (Christen et al., 1996). The disease can be initiated and sustained in the deficient mice by injection of recombinant IL-18.

The *il1bc*-null mice generated by gene targeting experiments have confirmed the role of ICE in IL-1 β processing (Kuida *et al.*, 1995; Li *et al.*, 1995). These mice lack the 45-kDa ICE proenzyme. Cells from homozygous *il1bc* knockout mice contain normal intracellular levels of pIL-1 β when activated, but the level of mature IL-1 β is reduced by more than 95%. In heterozygous knockout mice, the level of IL-1 β is 50% of that found in wild-type mice, indicating that mature IL-1 β production is determined by the amount of ICE. However, a small amount of biologically active mature IL-1 β is still generated in these animals. This material represents significantly less than 1% of the mature IL-1 β produced by normal mice, and its production is not inhibited by a potent ICE inhibitor. Surprisingly, IL-1 α levels in these mice are also reduced by >90% after LPS challenge. This observation suggests that IL-1 α and IL-1 β share a novel secretory pathway.

In stark contrast to IL-1 β -deficient mice, ICE-deficient mice develop normal fevers in response to LPS or turpentine but are resistant to lethal LPS challenge (Kuida *et al.*, 1995; Li *et al.*, 1995). In addition, preliminary studies suggest that ICE-deficient mice also develop CIA. There are two possible explanations for these seemingly disparate results. The fever, anorexia, and arthritis responses can most likely be attributed to the small amounts of active IL-1 β generated in these mice, while the resistance to LPS may result from a decrease in the levels of several major inflammatory cytokines, including IL-1 α , IL-1 β , and TNF (Kuida *et al.*, 1995; Li *et al.*, 1995; Zheng *et al.*, 1995). In the latter in-

	Phenotype		
Model	wt	il1b KO	il1bc KO
Turpentine-induced fever	+	_	+
Turpentine-induced anorexia	+	-	+
LPS-induced shock	+	+	~
Collagen-induced arthritis	+	-	+

 TABLE VI

 Phenotypes of Wild-Type (wt), illb-Deficient (KO), and illbc-Deficient (KO)

 Mice in Several Models of Inflammation^a

^a Data from Christen *et al.* (1996), Kuida *et al.* (1995), Li *et al.* (1995), and Zheng *et al.* (1995).

stance, the overall cytokine burden is reduced and the animal is better able to survive the stress. Table VI summarizes the phenotypes of il1b and il1bc knockout mice.

The facts that ICE-deficient mice develop normally and that the majority of apoptotic process are unaffected in them indicate that ICE itself is not required for programmed cell death. Cytotoxic T-lymphocytemediated cell killing, as well as T-cell and macrophage apoptosis, are virtually unaffected in ICE-deficient mice. There is a modest effect on Fas-ligand-mediated apoptosis in these mice. In cells from normal mice, this process is inhibitable by CrmA and to some extent by a tetrapeptide ICE inhibitor (Enari *et al.*, 1995a,b; Fearnhead *et al.*, 1995; Los *et al.*, 1995; Tewari and Dixit, 1995). However, Fas-mediated apoptosis appears to be restricted to an extremely small subset of T lymphocytes; the significance of this is not yet understood.

VI. SUMMARY

An overwhelming body of evidence has shown that IL-1 β is a major mediator of inflammatory disease (Tocci and Schmidt, 1996). The discovery of ICE, a unique processing enzyme involved in the production of active IL-1 β , has provided a new approach to specifically block the production of this potent cytokine. Consequently, the discovery and development of inhibitors against the enzyme could hold great promise therapeutically. Potent inhibitors of the enzyme would be useful in the treatment of a number of important inflammatory diseases and potentially in the management of leukemia (Arend, 1993b; Estrov and Talpaz, 1996). A number of key questions must be answered before the therapeutic potential of such inhibitors can be realized. The development of a pharmaceutically acceptable cysteine proteinase inhibitor will almost certainly involve new chemical strategies gauged at safely inactivating the enzyme. For such inhibitors, it will be necessary to achieve selectivity for ICE from among the growing number of ICE family members while retaining potency. It will also be important to establish the level of inhibition of IL-1 β required to achieve therapeutic efficacy. The studies comparing IL-1 β - and ICE-deficient mice suggest that complete abrogation of IL-1 β is required to achieve efficacy in models of inflammation. It is not known if this is the case in humans. Understanding the source of the residual IL-1 β produced in ICE-deficient mice will be important in order to ascertain if a similar mechanism could generate active IL-1 β in patients receiving an ICE inhibitor.

As for ICE itself, a number of formidable questions remain regarding its regulation and mechanism of activation. Answering these questions experimentally will present a major challenge due to the extremely low levels of enzyme present in cells. Studies on other family members may provide easier access to some of these questions and provide clues that can be applied to ICE. The components of the pathway involved in IL-1 trafficking and secretion are unknown, as are the mechanisms of ICE activation and regulation. Clearly other cellular proteins that have yet to be discovered will be involved in each of these processes, opening up new avenues of research in this field.

REFERENCES

- Alnemri, E. S., Fernandes-Alnemri, T., and Litwack, G. (1995). Cloning and expression of four novel isoforms of human interleukin-1β converting enzyme with different apoptotic activities. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 4312–4317.
- Arend, W. P. (1993a). IL-1 receptor antagonist., Adv. Immunol. 54, 167-227.
- Arend, W. P. (1993b). Interleukins and arthritis: IL-1 antagonism in inflammatory arthritis. Lancet 341, 155–156.
- Auron, P. E., Webb, A. C., Rosenwasser, L. J., Mucci, S. F., Rich, A., Wolff, S. M., and Dinarello, C. A. (1984). Nucleotide sequence of human monocyte interleukin-1 precursor. *Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 81, 7907–7912.
- Ayala, J., Yamin, T. T., Egger, L. A., Chin, J., Kostura, M. J. and Miller, D. K. (1994). Interleukin-1β converting enzyme is present in monocytes as an inactive precursor. J. Immunol. 153, 2592–2597.
- Bakouche, O., Brown, D. C., and Lachman, L. B. (1987). Subcellular localization of human monocyte interleukin-1: evidence for an inactive precursor molecular and possible mechanism for IL-1 release. J. Immunol. 138, 4249-4255.
- Bayne, E. K., Rupp, E. A., Limjuco, G. A., Chin, J., and Schmidt, J. A. (1986). Immunocytochemical detection of interleukin-1 within stimulated human monocytes. J. Exp. Med. 163, 1267–1273.
- Black, R. A., Kronheim, S. R., and Sleath, P. R. (1989). Activation of interleukin-1β by a co-induced protease. *FEBS Lett.* **247**, 386–390.

- Blanton, R., Kupper, T. J., McDougall, J. K., and Dower, S. (1989). Regulation of interleukin-1 and its receptor in human keratinocytes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 86, 1273-1277.
- Bump, N. J., Hackett, M., Hugunin, M., Seshagiri, S., Brady, K., Chen, P., Ferenz, C., Franklin, S., Ghayur, T., Li, P., Licari, P., Mankovich, J., Shi, L., Greenberg, A. H., Miller, L. K., and Wong, W. W. (1995). Inhibition of ICE family proteases by baculovirus antiapoptotic protein p35. *Science* 269, 1885–1888.
- Bursten, S. L., Locksley, R. M., Ryan, J. L., and Lovett, D. H. (1988). Acylation of monocyte and glomerular mesangial cell proteins: myristyl acylation of the interleukin-1 precursors. J. Clin. Invest. 82, 1479–1487.
- Cameron, P. M., Limjuco, G. A., Chin, J., Silberstein, L. and Schmidt, J. A. (1985). Purification to homogeneity and amino acid sequence analysis of two anionic species of human interleukin-1. J. Exp. Med. 164, 237–250.
- Caput, D., Beutler, B., Hartog, K., and Thayer, R., Brown-Shimmer, S. and Cerami, A. (1986). Identification of a common nucleotide sequence in the 3' untranslated region of mRNA molecules specifying inflammatory mediators. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 83, 1670–1674.
- Casano, F. J., Rolando, A. M., Mudgett, J. S., and Molineaux, S. M. (1994). The structure and complete nucleotide sequence of the murine gene encoding interleukin-1β converting enzyme (ICE). Genomics 20, 474–481.
- Cerretti, D. P., Hollingsworth, L. T., Kozlosky, C. J., Valentine, M. B., Shapiro, D. N., Morris, S. W., and Nelson, N. (1994). Molecular characterization of the gene for human interleukin-1β converting enzyme (*IL1BC*). *Genomics* 20, 468–473.
- Cerretti, D. P., Kozlosky, C. J., Mosley, B., Nelson, N., Van Ness, K., Greenstreet, T. A., March, C. J., Kronheim, S. R., Druck, T., Cannizzaro, L. A., Huebner, K., and Black, R. A. (1992). Molecular cloning of the interleukin-1β converting enzyme. *Science* 256, 97–100.
- Chin, J., and Kostura, M. J. (1993). Dissociation of IL-1β synthesis and secretion in human blood monocytes stimulated with bacterial cell wall products. J. Immunol. 151, 5574–5585.
- Christen, A., Mudgett, J. S., Shen, F., Kostura, M., and Visco, D. (1995) Lack of collagen induced arthritis in IL-1β knock-out mice. Orthopedic Research Association Annual Meeting. Miami, Florida.
- Clem, R. J., Fechheimer, M., and Miller, L. K. (1991) Prevention of apoptosis by a baculovirus gene during infection of insect cells. *Scienc*, 254, 1388-1390.
- Clore, G. M., Wingfield, P. T., and Groneborn, A. M. (1991). High-resolution three-dimensional structure of interleukin-1β in solution by three-and four-dimensional nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy. *Biochemistry* **30**, 2315–2323.
- Cosman, D. (1987). Control of mRNA stability. Immunol. Today 8, 16-17.
- Decker, C. J., and Parker, R. (1995). Diversity in the cytoplasmic functions for the 3' untranslated region of eukaryotic transcripts. *Current Opin. Cell Biol.* 7, 386–392.
- Dinarello, C. A. (1994). The IL-1 family: 10 years of discovery. FASEB J. 8, 1314-1325.
- Enari, M., Hase, A., and Nagata, S. (1995a). Apoptosis by a cytosolic extract from Fas-activated cells. *EMBO J.* 14, 5201–5208.
- Enari, M., Hug, H., and Nagata, S. (1995b). Involvement of an ICE-like protease in Fasmediated apoptosis. *Nature* 375, 78-81.
- Enk, A. H., Angeloni, V. L., Udey, M. C., and Katz, S. I. (1993). An essential role for Langerhans cell-derived IL-1 β in the initiation of primary immune responses in skin. J. Immunol. **150**, 3698–3704.
- Enk, A. H., and Katz, S. I. (1991). Early molecular events in the induction phase of contact sensitivity. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 89, 1398-1402.

- Estrov, Z., and Talpaz, M. (1996). Potential therapeutic utility of ICE inhibitors in leukemia. Drug N and P. 9, 5-12.
- Fearnhead, H. O., Dinsdale, D., and Cohen, G. M. (1995). An interleukin-1β-converting enzyme-like protease is a common mediator of apoptosis in thymocytes. FEBS Lett. 375, 283-288.
- Fenton, M. J. (1992). Transcriptional and posttranscriptional regulation of interleukin-1 gene expression. Int. J. Immunol. 14, 401–411.
- Fenton, M. J., Clark, B. D., Collins, K. L., Webb, A. C., Rich, A., and Auron, P. E. (1987). Transcriptional regulation of human prointerleukin 1β gene. J. Immunol. 138, 3972–3979.
- Fenton, M. J., Vermeullen, M. W., Clark, B. D., Webb, A. C., and Auron, P. E. (1988). Human pro-IL-1 beta gene expression in monocytic cells is regulated by two distinct pathways. J. Immunol. 140, 2267-2273.
- Fernandes-Alnemri, T., Litwack, G., and Alnemri, E. S. (1994). CPP32, a novel human apoptotic protein with homology to *Caenorahabitis elegans* cell death protein *ced-3* and mammalian interleukin-1β converting enzyme. J. Biol. Chem. **269**, 30761– 30766.
- Fernandes-Alnemri, T., Littwack, G., and Alnemri, E. S. (1995). MCH2 a new member of the apoptotic CED-3/ICE cysteine proteinase gene family. *Cancer Res.* 55, 2737–2742
- Fletcher, D. S., Agarwal, L., Chapman, K. T., Chin, J., Egger, L. A., Limjuco, G., Luell, S., MacIntyre, D. E., Peterson, E. P., Thornberry, N. A., and Kostura, M. J. (1995). A synthetic inhibitor of interleukin-1β converting enzyme prevents endotoxin-induced interleukin-1β production *in vitro* and *in vivo*. J. Interferon Cytokine Res. 15, 243–248.
- Gagliardini, V., Fernandez, P.-A., Lee, R., K., Drexler, H., C., A., Rotello, R. J., Fishman, M. C., and Yuan, J. (1994). Prevention of vertebrate neuronal death by the *crmA* gene. *Science* 263, 826–828.
- Geiger, T., Towbin, H., Consenti-Vargas, A., Zingel O, Arnold, J., Rordorf, C., Glatt, M., and Vosbeck, K. (1993). Neutralization of interleukin-1β activity in vivo with a monoclonal antibody alleviates collagen-induced arthritis in DBA/1 mice and prevents the associated acute-phase response. *Clin. Exp. Rheumatol.* 11, 515–522.
- Graves, B. J., Hatado, M. H., and Hendrickson, W. A. (1990). Structure of interleukin-1α at 2.7-A resolution. *Biochemistry* 29, 2679–2684.
- Gu, Y., Wu, J., Faucheu, C., Lalanne, J.-L., Diu, A., Livingston, D.J. and Su, S.-S. (1995). Interleukin-1β converting enzyme requires oligomerization for activity of processed forms in vivo. EMBO J. 14, 1923–1931.
- Haecker, G., and Vaux, D. L. (1994). Viral, worm and radical implications for apoptosis. TIBS 19, 99–100.
- Hazuda, D. J., Lee, J. C., and Young, P. R. (1988). The kinetics of interleukin-1 secretion from activated monocytes. Differences between interleukin-1α and interleukin-1β. J. Biol. Chem. 263, 8473-8479.
- Higgins, G. C., Foster, J. L., and Postlewaithe, A. E. (1994). Interleukin-1β propeptide is detected intracellularly and extracellularly when human monocytes are stimulated with LPS in vitro. J. Exp. Med. 180, 607–614.
- Hogquist, K. A., Unanue, E. R., and Chaplin, D. D. (1991a). Release of IL-1 from mononuclear phagocytes. J. Immunol. 147, 2181-2187.
- Hogquist, K. A., Nett, M. A., Unanue, E. R., and Chaplin, D. D. (1991b). Interleukin-1 is processed and released during apoptosis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 88, 8485–8489.
- Howard, A., Kostura, M., Thornberry, N., Ding, G. J.-F., Limjuco, G., Weidner, J., Salley, J. P., Hogquist, K. A., Chaplin, D. D., Mumford, R. A., Schmidt, J. A., and Tocci,

M. J. (1991). IL-1 β converting enzyme requires aspartic acid residues for processing of the IL-1 β precursor at two distinct sites and does not cleave 31-kDa IL-1 α . J. Immunol. **146**, 2964.

- Howard, A. D., Palyha, O. C., Griffin, P. R., Peterson, E. P., Lenny, A. B., Ding, G. J. F., Pickup, D. J., Thornberry, N. A., Schmidt, J. A., and Tocci, M. J. (1995). Human IL-1β processing and secretion in recombinant baculovirus-infected Sf9 cells is blocked by the cowpox virus serpin crmA. J. Immunol. 154, 2321–2332.
- Hughes, A. L. (1994). Evolution of the IL-1 gene family in Mammals. J. Mol. Evol. 39, 6-12.
- Keane, K. M., Giegel, D. A., Lipinski, W. J., Callahan, M. J., and Shivers, B. D. (1995). Cloning, tissue expression and regulation of rat interleukin 1β converting enzyme. *Cytokine* 7, 105–110.
- Kluger, M. J. (1991). Fever: the role of pyrogens and cryogens. Physiol. Rev. 71, 93-127.
- Kobayashi, Y., Yamamoto, K., Saido, T., Kawasaki, H., Oppenheim, J. J. and Matsushima, K. (1990). Identification of calcium-activated neutral proteases as a processing enzyme of human interleukin-1α. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 87, 5548-5552.
- Komiyama, T., Ray, C. A., Pickup, D. J., Howard, A. D., Thornberry, N. A., Peterson, E. P., and Salvesen, G. (1994). Inhibition of interleukin-1β converting enzyme by the cowpox virus serpin crmA: an example of cross-class inhibition. J. Biol. Chem. 269, 19331–19335.
- Kostura, M. J., Tocci, M. J., Limjuco, G., Chin, J., Cameron, P., Hillman, A. G., Chartrain, N. A. and Schmidt, J. A. (1989). Identification of a monocyte specific pre-interleukin-1β convertase activity. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 86, 5227–5231.
- Kozak, W., Zheng, H., Conn, C. A. Soszynski, D., Van der Ploeg, L., H., and Kluger, M. J. (1995). Thermal and behavioral effects of lipopolysaccharide and influenza in interleukin-1β deficient mice. Am. J. Physiol. 269, 969–977.
- Kuchler, K. (1993). Unusual routes of protein secretion: the easy way out. Trends Cell Biol. 3, 421–423.
- Kuida, K., Lippke, J. A., Ku, G., Harding, M. W., Livingston, D. J., Su, M. S.-S., and Flavell, R. A. (1995). Altered cytokine export and apoptosis in mice deficient in interleukin-1β converting enzyme. *Science* **267**, 2000–2003.
- Kumar, S., Kinoshita, M., Noda, M., Copeland, N. G. and Jenkins, N. A. (1994). Induction of apoptosis by the mouse *nedd2* gene, which encodes a protein similar to the products of the *Caenorahabitis elegans* cell death protein *Ced-1* and the mammalian inteleukin-1β converting enyme. *Genes Dev.* 8, 1613–1620.
- Kupper, T. S., Ballard, D. W., Chua, A. O., McGuire, J. S., Flood, P. M., Horowitz, M. C., Langdon, R., Lightfoot, L., and Gubler, U. (1986). Human deratinocytes contain mRNA indistinguishable from monocyte interleukin-1(and β mRNA. Keratinocyte epidermal cell-derived thymocyte activating factor is idential to interleukin-1. J. Exp. Med. 164, 2095-2100.
- Kupper, T. S., Chua, A. O., Flood, P., McGuire, J. S., and Gubler, U. (1987a). Interleukin-1 gene expression in cultured human keratinocytes is augmented by ultraviolet light. J. Clin. Invest. 80, 430–436.
- Kupper, T. S., Lee, F., Birchall, N., Clark, S., and Dower, S. (1988b). Interleukin-1 binds to specific receptors on human deratinocytes and induces granulocyte macrophage colony stimulating factor mRNA and protein. A potential autocrine role for interleukin-1 in epidermis. J. Clin. Invest. 82, 1787-1792.
- Li, P., Allen, H., Banerjee, S., Franklin, S., Herzog, L., Johnston, C., McDowell, J., Paskind, M., Rodman, L., Salfeld, J., Towne, E., Tracey, D., Wardwell, S., Wei, F.-Y., Wong, W., Kamen, R., and Seshadri, T. (1995). Mice deficient in IL-1β converting en-
zyme are defective in production of mature IL-1 β and resistant to endotoxic shock. *Cell* **80**, 401-411.

- Los, M., Van de Craen, M., Penning, L. C., Schenk, H., Westendorp, M., Baeuerle, P. A., Droge, W., Krammer, P. H., Fiers, W., Schulze-Osthoff, K. (1995) Requirement of an ICE/CED-3 protease for Fas/APO-1 mediated apoptosis. *Nature* 375, 81–83.
- March, C. J., Mosley, B., Larsen, A., Cerretti, D. P., Braedt, G., Price, V., Gillis, S., Henney, C. S., Kronheim, S. R., Grabstein, K., Conlon, P. J., Hopp, T. P., and Cosman, D. (1985). Cloning, sequence and expression of two distict human interleukin-1 cDNAs. *Nature* **315**, 641–645.
- Miller, B. E., Krasney, P. A., Gauvin, D. M., Holbrook, K. B., Koonz, D. J., Abruzzese, R. V., Miller, R. E., Pagani, K. A., Dolle, R. E., Ator, M. A., and Gilman, S. C. (1995). Inhibition of mature IL-1β production in murine macrophages and a murine model of inflammation by WIN 67694, an inhibitor of IL-1β converting enzyme. J. Immunol. 154, 1331–1338.
- Miller, D. K., Ayala, J. A., Egger, L. A., Raju, S.M., Yamin, T.-T., Ding, G.J.-F., Gaffney, E.P., Howard, A.D., Palyha, O.C., Rolando, A.M., Salley, J.P., Thornberry, N.A., Weidner, J.R., Williams, H., Chapman, K.T., Jackson, J., Kostura, M.J., Limjuco, G., Molineaux, S.M., Mumford, R.A., and Calaycay, J.R. (1993). Purification and characterization of active human interleukin-1β converting enzyme from THP.1 monocytic cells. J. Biol. Chem. 268, 18062–18073.
- Miller, D. K., Meyerson, J., and Becker, J. W. (1996). The ICE family of cysteine proteases. J. Cell. Biochem. 64, 2–10.
- Miura, M., Zhu, H., Rotello, R., Hartwieg, E. A., and Yuan, J. (1993). Induction of Apoptosis in fibroblasts by IL-1β converting enzyme, a mammalian homolog of the C. elegans cell death gene ced-3. Cell 75, 653–660.
- Molineaux, S. M., Casano, F. J., Rolando, A. M., Peterson, E.P., Limjuco, G., Chin, J., Griffin, P.R., Calaycay, J.R., Ding, G. J.-F., Yamin, T.-T., Palyha, O.C., Luell, S., Fletcher, D., Miller, D.K., and Howard, A.D. (1993). Interleukin-1β (IL-1β) processing in murine macrophages requires a structurally conserved homologue of human IL-1β converting enzyme. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* **90**, 1809–1813.
- Mosley, B., Urdal, D. L., Prickett, K. S., Larsen, A., Cosman, D., Conlon, P. J., Gillis, S. and Dower, S. K. (1987). The interleukin-1 receptor binds the human interleukin-1α precursor but not the interleukin-1β precursor. J. Biol. Chem. 262, 2941–2946.
- Munday, N. A., Vaillancourt, J. P., Ali, A., Casano, F. J., Miller, D. K., Molineaux, S. M., Yamin, T.-T., Yu, V. L., and Nicholson, D. W. (1995). Molecular cloning and pro-apoptotic activity of ICE_{rel}II and ICE_{rel}III, members of the ICE/CED-3 family. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 15870–15876.
- Murzin, A. G., Lesk, A. M., and Chotia, C. (1992). Patterns of structure and sequence in the Kunitz inhibitors interleukin-1 beta and -1 alpha and fibroblast growth factor. J. Mol. Biol. 22, 531–543.
- Nett, M. A., Cerretti, D. P., Berson, D. R., Seavitt, J., Gilbert, D. J., Jenkins, N. A., Copeland, N. G., Black, R. A., and Chaplin, D. D. (1992). Molecular cloning of the murine IL-1β converting enzyme cDNA. J. Immunol. 149, 3254–3259.
- Nicholson, D. W., Ali, A., Thornberry, N. A., Vaillancourt, J. P., Ding, C. K., Gallant, M., Gareau, Y., Griffin, P. R., Labelle, M., Lazebnik, Y. A., Munday, N. A., Raju, S. M., Smulson, M. E., Yamin, T. T., Yu, V. L., and Miller, D. K. (1995). Identification and inhibition of the ICE/CED-3 protease necessary for mammalian apoptosis. *Nature* 376, 37–43.
- Odake, S., Kam, C. M., Narasimham, L., Poe, M., Blake, J. T., Krahenbuhl, O., Tschopp, J., and Powers, C. (1991). Human and murine cytotoxic T lymphocyte serine pro-

teases: subsite mapping with peptide thioester substrates and inhibition of enzyme activity and cytolysis by isocoumarins. *Biochemistry* **30**, 2217–2227.

- Poe, M., Blake, J. T., Boulton, D. A., Gammon, M., Sigal, N. H., Wu, J. K., and Zweerink, H. J. (1991). Human cytotoxic lymphocyte granzyme B. J. Biol. Chem. 266, 98–103.
- Priestle, J. P., Schar, H. P., and Grutter, M. G. (1988). Crystallographic refinement of interleukin-1 beta at 2.0Å resolution. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 86, 9667–9671.
- Ramage, P., Cheneval, D., Chvei, M., Graff, P., Hemmig, R., Heng, R., Kocher, H. P., Mackenzie, A., Memmert, K., Revesv, L., and Wishart, W. (1995). Expression, refolding, and autocatalytic proteolytic processing of the interleukin-1β -converting enzyme precursor. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 9378–9383.
- Ray, C. A., Black, R. A., Kronheim, S.R., Greenstreet, T.A., Sleath, P.R., Salvesen, G.S., and Pickup, D.J. (1992). Viral inhibition of inflammation: cowpox virus encodes an inhibitor of the interleukin-1β converting enzyme. *Cell* **69**, 597–604.
- Rolando, A. M., Palyha, O. C., Ding, G. J.-F., Howard, A. D., and Molineaux, S. M. (1994). Intermolecular, autocatalytic processing of the proenzyme of IL-1β convervting enzyme in baculovirus-infected cells. J. Cell. Biochem. 18D, 147.
- Rotonda, J., Nicholson, D. W., Fazil, K. W., Gallant, M., Gareau, Y., Labelle, M., Peterson, E. P., Rasper, D. M., Ruel, R., Vaillancourt, J. P., Thornberry, N. A., and Becker, J. W. (1996). The three-dimensional structure of Apopain/CPP32β. *Nature Struct. Biol.* 3, 619–625.
- Rubartelli, A., Cozzalino, F., Talo, M., and Sitia, R. (1990). A novel secretory pathway for interleukin-1 beta, a protein lacking a signal swquence. *EMBO J.* 9, 1503-1510.
- Schindler, R., Clark, B. D., and Dinarello, C. A. (1990a). Dissociation between interleukin-1β mRNA and protein synthesis in human peripheral blood mononuclear cells. J. Biol. Chem. 264, 10232–10237.
- Schindler, R., Gelfand, J. A., and Dinarello, C. A. (1990b). Recombinant C5a stimulates transcription rather than translation of IL-1 and TNF; cytokine synthesis induced by LPS, IL-1 or PMA. *Blood* 76, 1631–1638.
- Sims, J. E., and Dower, S. K. (1994). Interleukin-1 receptors. Eur. Cytokine Netw. 5, 539-546.
- Singer, I., I., Scott, S., Hall, G. L., Limjuco, G., Chin, J., and Schmidt, J. A. (1988). Interleukin-1β is localized in the cytoplasmic ground substance but is largely absent from the golgi apparatus and plasms membranes of stimulated human monoctyes. J. Exp. Med. 167, 389–399.
- Singer, I. I., Scott, S., Chin, J., Bayne, E. K., Limjuco, G., Weidner, J., Miller, D. K., Chapman, K., and Kostura, M. J. (1995). The interleukin-1β -converting enzyme (ICE) is localized on the external cell surface membranes and in the cytoplasmic ground substance of human monocytes by immuno-electron microsopy. J. Exp. Med. 182, 1447–1459.
- Sleath, P. R., Hendrickson, R. C., Kronheim, S. R., March, C. J., and Black, R. A. (1990). Substrate specificity of the protease that processes human interleukin-1β. J. Biol. Chem. 265, 14526-14528.
- Stevenson, F. T., Torrano, F., Locksley, R. M., and Lovett, D. H. (1992). Interleukin-1: the pattersn of translation and intracellular distribution support alternative secretory mechanisms. J. Cell Physiol. 152, 223–229.
- Tamura, T., Ishihara, M., Lamphier, M. S., Tanaka, N., Oishi, I., Alzawa, S., Matsuyama, T., Mak, T. W., Taki, S., and Taniguchi, T. (1995). An IRF-1-dependent pathway of DNA damage-induced apoptosis in mitogen-activated T lymphocytes. *Nature* 376, 596–599.
- Tewari, M., and Dixit, V. M. (1995). Fas- and tumor necrosis factor-induced apoptosis is inhibited by the poxvirus *crmA* gene product. J. Biol. Chem. **270**, 3255–3260.

- Tewari, M., Quan, L. T., O'Rourke, K., Desnoyers, S., Zeng, Z., Beidler, D. R., Poirier, G. G., Salvesen, G. S., and Dixit, V. M. (1995). Yama/CPP32β, a mammalian homolog of CED-3, Is a CrmA-inhibitable protease that cleaves the death substrate Poly (ADP-Ribose) Polymerase. *Cell* **81**, 801–809.
- Thornberry, N. A. (1994). Interleukin-1β Converting Enzyme, *Methods in Enzymology* **244**, 615–631.
- Thornberry, N. A., Bull, H. G., Calaycay, J., Chapman, K.T., Howard, A.D., Kostura, M.J., Miller, D.K., Molineaux, S.M., Weidner, J.R., Aunins, J., Elliston, K.O., Ayala, J. M., Casano, F. J., Chin, J., Ding, G. J.-F., Egger, L. A., Gaffney, E. P., Limjuco, G., Palyha, O. C., Raju, S. M., Rolando, A. M., Salley, J. P., Yamin, T. T., Lee, T. D., Shively, J. E., MacCoss, M., Mumford, R. A., Schmidt, J. A., and Tocci, M.J. (1992). A novel heterodimeric cysteine protease is required for interleukin-1β processing in monocytes. *Nature* 356, 768–774.
- Thornberry, N. A., and Molineaux, S. M. (1995). Interleukin-1β converting enzyme: a novel cysteine proteinase required for IL-1β production and implicated in programmed cell death. *Protein Sci.* **4**, 3–12.
- Thornberry, N. A., Peterson, E. P., Zhao, J. J., Howard, A. D., Griffin, P. R., and Chapman, K. T. (1994). Inactivation of interleukin-1β converting enzyme by peptide (acyloxy)methyl ketones. *Biochemistry* 33, 3934-3940.
- Thornberry, N. A., Rosen, A. E., and Nicholson, D. W. (1996). Control of apoptosis by proteases. Adv. Pharmacol., in press.
- Tocci, M. J., and Schmidt, J. A. (1997). Structure and function of IL-1. Cytokines in Health and Disease, pp. 1–27.
- Van den Berg, W. B., Joosten, L. A. B., Helsen, M., and Van de Loo, F. A. J. (1994). Amelioratiion of established murine collagen-induced arthritis with anti-IL-1 treatment. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* **95**, 237–243.
- Walker, N. P. C., Talanian, R. V., Brady, K. D., Dang, L. C., Bump, N. J., Ferenz, C. R., Franklin, S., Ghayur, T., Hackett, M. C., Hammill, L. D., Herzog, L., Hugunin, M., Houy, W., Mankovich, J. A., McGuiness, L., Orlewicz, E., Paskind, M., Pratt, C. A., Reis, P., Summani, A., Terranova, M., Welch, J. P., Xiong, L., Moller, A., Tracey, D. E., Kamen, R., and Wong, W. W. (1994). Crystal structure of the cysteine protease interleukin-1β converting enzyme: a (p20/p10)., homodimer. Cell 78, 343-352.
- Wang, L., Miura, M., Bergeron, L., Zhu, H., and Yuan, J. (1994a). Ich-1, an Ice/ced-3-related gene, encodes both positive and negative regulators of programmed cell death. Cell 78, 739–750.
- Wang, W.-M., Helaszek, C. T., Winter, L. A., Lirette, R. P., Dixon, D. C., Ciccarelli, R. B., Kelley, M. M., Malinowski, J. J., Simmons, S. J., Huston, E. E., Koehn, J. A., Kratz, D., Bruckner, R. C., Graybill, T., Ator, M. A., Lehr, R. V., and Stevis, P. E. (1994b). Production of active human interleukin-1β converting enzyme in a baculovirus expression system. *Gene* 145, 273-277.
- Watanabe, N., and Kobayashi, Y. (1994). Selective release of a processed form of interleukin 1α. Cytokine 6, 597-601.
- Wilson, K. P., Black, J. F., Thomson, J. A., Kim, E. E., Griffith, J. P., Navia, M. A., Murcko, M. A., Chambers, S. P., Aldape, R. A., Raybuck, S. A., and Livingston, D. J. (1994). Structure and mechanism of interleukin-1β converting enzyme. *Nature* 370, 270-275.
- Xue, D., and Horvitz, H. R. (1995). Inhibition of the Caenorhabditis elegans cell-death protease CED-3 by a CED-3 cleavage site in baculovirus p35 protein. Nature 377, 248-251.
- Young, P., Hazuda, D. J., and Simon, P. L. (1988). Human interleukin-1ß is not secreted

from hamster fibroblasts when expressed constitutively from a transfected cDNA. J. Cell. Biol. 107, 447–456.

- Yuan, J., Shaham, S., Ledoux, S., Ellis, H. M., and Horvitz, H. R. (1993). The C. elegans cell death gene ced-3 encodes a protein similar to mammalian Interleukin-1β converting enzyme. Cell 75, 641–652.
- Zheng, H., Fletcher, D., Kozak, W., Jiang, M., Hofmann, K. J., Conn, C. A., Soszynski, D., Grabiec, C., Trumbauer, M. E., Shaw, A., Kostura, M. J., Stevens, K., Rosen, H., North, R. J., Chen, H. Y., Tocci, M. J., Kluger, M. J., and Van der Ploeg, L. H. T. (1995). Resistance to fever induction and impaired acute-phase response in interleukin-1βdeficient mice. *Immunity* 3, 9–19.

This Page Intentionally Left Blank

The Role of the IGF-I Receptor in Apoptosis

RENATO BASERGA, MARIANA RESNICOFF, CONSUELO D'AMBROSIO, AND BARBARA VALENTINIS

Kimmel Cancer Center Thomas Jefferson University Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 19107

- I. Introduction
- II. The IGF-I Receptor in Mitogenesis
- III. The Signal-Transducing Pathways of the IGF-I Receptor
- IV. The IGF-I Receptor in Transformation
- V. Mutational Analysis of the IGF-I Receptor
- VI. The IGF-I Receptor and Its Ligands in Apoptosis
- VII. The in Vivo Method for Determining the Extent of Apoptosis
- VIII. The IGF-I Receptor Protects Tumor Cells from Apoptosis in Vivo
 - IX. The IGF-I Receptor and Apoptosis in Normal Cells
 - X. Dominant Negatives
 - XI. Critique of Antisense Strategies
- XII. Mechanisms
- XIII. Host Response
- XIV. Significance
 - References

I. INTRODUCTION

The insulin-like growth factor-I receptor (IGF-IR) is a tyrosine kinase receptor (Ullrich and Schlessinger, 1990) with a 70% homology to the insulin receptor (IR) (Ullrich *et al.*, 1986). It is synthesized as a single precursor polypeptide of 1367 amino acids, including a 30-amino-acid signal peptide. The organization of the preproreceptor is NH_2 -signal peptide- α subunit- β subunit-COOH. After removal of the signal peptide, the proreceptor is cleaved at the tetrapeptide RKRR after residue 706, to form the α and β subunits, linked by disulfide bonds (Werner *et al.*, 1991). The α subunit, entirely extracellular, is involved in ligand binding (Schumacher *et al.*, 1993); the transmembrane β subunit has a tyrosine kinase domain that is entirely intracellular (Fig. 1). The highest homology between insulin and insulin-like growth factor-I (IGF-I) receptors is in the tyrosine kinase domain (84%), with the lowest in the cysteine-rich pockets of the α subunit (48%). [Following Ullrich *et al.*



FIG. 1. Diagram of the IGF-I receptor. (A) The complete receptor, as a dimer, with the extracellular α subunits bound by disulfide bonds while the β subunits are largely cytoplasmic, although they do have extracellular and transmembrane domains. Some of the important residues in the β subunit (discussed in the text) are indicated. (B) A receptor with a C-terminal truncation. Receptors like this are nontransforming, although the tyrosine kinase domain and the binding site for IRS-1 and Shc are preserved.

(1986), in this review the amino acid residues are numbered from the first amino acid of the mature peptide up to 1337. Other authors include the signal peptide (30 extra amino acids) in their numbering system.] When activated by its ligands [IGF-I, insulin-like growth factor-II (IGF-II) or insulin], the IGF-IR transmits a signal to its major substrates, insulin receptor substrate-1 (IRS-1), insulin receptor substrate-2 (IRS-2), and Shc (White and Kahn, 1994; Myers *et al.*, 1993; Araki *et al.*, 1994),

a signal that is subsequently transduced via the common signal-transducing pathway, through Ras and Raf, all the way to the nucleus (Hill and Treisman, 1995). The IGF-IR, like the IR, has several functions, including anabolic functions, but it has three properties that are absent or markedly attenuated in the insulin receptor: it is mitogenic, it is required for the establishment and maintenance of the transformed phenotype, and it protects cells from apoptosis.

This review examines the role of the IGF-IR in apoptosis, but, since cellular proliferation and transformation are clearly related to apoptosis, we first examine the role of the IGF-IR in mitogenesis and in transformation, and then focus on its role in apoptosis.

II. THE IGF-I RECEPTOR IN MITOGENESIS

For many years, the IGF-IR, activated by its ligands, has been known to be mitogenic to cells in culture. However, in growth-regulated cells (like mouse 3T3 cells and human diploid fibroblasts), IGF-I, by itself, cannot sustain growth of cells in serum-free medium, but requires the cooperation of other growth factors-for instance, platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) and/or epidermal growth factor (EGF)-that by themselves also fail to induce a mitogenic response (Scher et al., 1979; Stiles et al., 1979). The importance of the activated IGF-IR in cell growth has been rigorously demonstrated in vivo by Efstratiadis and co-workers, who showed that mouse embryos with a targeted disruption of the IGF-IR and IGF-II genes ($igfr^{-/-}$ mice) have a size at birth that is only 30% the size of wild-type litter mates (J. P. Liu et al., 1993; Baker et al., 1993). 3T3-like cells derived from these mouse embryos devoid of IGF-IRs (R⁻ cells) grow in 10% fetal bovine serum, albeit at a rate that is roughly 40% the rate of W cells, which are derived from mouse embryos of wild-type litter mates to the $igfr^{-/-}$ mice. In R⁻ cells, all phases of the cell cycle are equally elongated (Sell et al., 1994), indicating that, at variance with established wisdom, the activation of the IGF-IR is important in maintaining the flow of cells through all phases of the cell cycle.

 R^- cells do not grow at all in serum-free medium supplemented by a variety of growth factors that can sustain the growth of cells derived from wild-type litter mate embryos (W cells) and other 3T3 cells (Sell *et al.*, 1994). The important role of the IGF-IR and its ligands in cell proliferation seems to extend to a variety of cell types, which include fibroblasts, epithelial cells, mammary gland cells, hemopoietic stem cells and mature hemopoietic cells, osteoblasts, vascular smooth muscle

cells, and cells of the central nervous system. A list of cells requiring IGF-I for optimal growth can be found in Baserga and Rubin (1993). However, an important point to remember is that IGF-I is not essential for growth, as demonstrated by R^- cells that do grow in 10% serum (Sell *et al.*, 1994). What we should say is that the activated IGF-IR is required for *optimal* growth, *in vivo* and *in vitro*, in 10% serum but is not an absolute requirement. It becomes an absolute requirement only in serum-free medium supplemented with most of the known growth factor in the serum (and in the animal), and/or an unidentified growth factor receptor, that can at least partially overcome the IGF-I requirement for cell growth.

One important observation made possible by R^- cells is that overexpression of the EGF (Coppola *et al.*, 1994), PDGF (DeAngelis *et al.*, 1995), and insulin (Miura *et al.*, 1995b) receptors is not sufficient for ligand-dependent growth, unless a functional IGF-IR is present. On the contrary, an overexpressed IGF-IR renders cell capable of growing in IGF-I only (Pietrzkowski *et al.*, 1992a), without any activation of the PDGF and EGF receptors. This would suggest a central role of the IGF-IR in the mitogenic action of other growth factors.

III. THE SIGNAL-TRANSDUCING PATHWAYS OF THE IGF-I RECEPTOR

Although it has several features in common with the IR (see review by Tavaré and Siddle, 1993), the β subunit of the IGF-IR is 10 times more mitogenic than the β subunit of the IR (Lammers *et al.*, 1989). Both the IR and the IGF-IR use the Ras pathway, discussed later, but through the intermediate of their docking protein, the IRS-1 protein (Sun et al., 1992; Baltensperger et al., 1993; Keller and Lienhard, 1994; O'Neill et al., 1994). An excellent review on the insulin signaling system (including IRS-1), concise and clear and with important references, can be found in White and Kahn (1994). Myers et al. (1993) have also provided the evidence that the IGF-IR interacts with IRS-1, and Tobe et al. (1993) have shown that IRS-1 interacts with Grb2. The wellknown Ras pathway (Fig. 4 in the review by White and Kahn, 1994) derives from IRS-1. Several reports have appeared clearly indicating that IRS-1 plays an essential role in the mitogenicity of both insulin and IGF-I in cells in culture (Waters et al., 1993; Wang et al., 1993; Rose et al., 1994; Yamauchi and Pessin, 1994; D'Ambrosio et al., 1995; and the experiments of White and co-workers mentioned earlier). The IR and the IGF-IR have a second direct substrate in the Shc proteins (see, e.g., Yamauchi and Pessin, 1994; Pronk et al., 1993). There are three Shc proteins, all apparently derived from a single gene, with molecular masses of 66, 52, and 46 kDa (Pelicci *et al.*, 1992). Both IRS-1 and Shc are tyrosyl phosphorylated when the IR or the IGF-IR are stimulated by their respective ligands; IRS-1 phosphorylation, however, seems more specific than Shc, since the latter is also tyrosyl phosphorylated by other growth factor receptors, such as the PDGF and EGF receptors (Basu *et al.*, 1994; Li *et al.*, 1994; Ohmichi *et al.*, 1994). Recently, a third substrate of the IGF-IR and the IR has been identified and designated as IRS-2 (Araki *et al.*, 1994), which has a weak homology to IRS-1 and can partially replace it, but, at the moment of writing, little information is available on its functions.

As mentioned earlier, the IGF-IR, through IRS-1, IRS-2, and Shc, connects with the pathway that, for convenience, we shall call the Ras pathway, which is reviewed extensively in several papers and involves, among others, phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase, Grb2, Sos, and other transducing molecules (Matuoka et al., 1993; for reviews, see Mc-Cormick, 1993; Hill and Treisman, 1995). Blenis (1993) gives a list of the proteins involved in the signal transduction cascade, from Ras to c-Raf to MEK kinase, MEK, ERKK, p92, and finally transcription factors (see also Hill and Treisman, 1995). This pathway (schematized in Fig. 2) is used by the three growth factors, PDGF, EGF, and IGF-I, that together sustain the growth of wild-type mouse embryo cells. Although the evidence is overwhelming that Ras activation is required for optimal cell proliferation and transformation (Lu et al., 1989; Cai et al., 1992: Medema and Bos, 1993), our findings indicate that it is not sufficient, since a constitutively activated Ras fails to induce growth of R⁻ cells in serum-free medium supplemented with individual growth factors. Ras-independent pathways for growth (and transformation; see later) have also been suggested independently by others (Falco et al., 1988; Aaronson, 1991; Silvennoinen et al., 1993; Sakaue et al., 1995; Buscher et al., 1995). Barone and Courtneidge (1995) have reported that the oncogene v-src may bypass the Ras pathway in PDGF-induced activation of c-Myc expression. This pathway is a good candidate for the Ras-independent pathway originating from the IGF-IR, especially in view of the fact that v-Src can tyrosyl phosphorylate both the IGF-IR and IRS-1 (Peterson et al., 1994).

IV. THE IGF-I RECEPTOR IN TRANSFORMATION

Overexpression and/or constitutive activation of IGF-IR in a variety of cell types leads to ligand-dependent growth in serum-free medium and to the establishment of a transformed phenotype—that is, one ca-



FIG. 2. A simplified view of the signal-transduction pathway of the IGF-I and insulin receptors. This is essentially the Ras pathway common to other growth factor receptors, except that these two receptors use a docking protein, IRS-1 (and probably another one, IRS-2), to make a connection with the Ras pathway. As explained in the text, other unidentified substrates and pathways are necessary to explain all the functions of the IGF-I receptor.

pable of forming colonies in soft agar or producing tumors in nude mice (Kaleko *et al.*, 1990; McCubrey *et al.*, 1991; Pietrzkowski *et al.*, 1992; D. Liu *et al.*, 1993; Sell *et al.*, 1994; Coppola *et al.*, 1994; Rogler *et al.*, 1994). This by itself is not a unique property, since a great variety of overexpressed gene products can transform cells, including a number of growth factor receptors (for a list of these receptors, see Coppola *et al.*, 1994, and later).

The crucial finding that clearly pointed out the major role played by the IGF-IR in transformation was the demonstration that R⁻ cells are refractory to transformation by simian virus 40 (SV40) large T antigen, an activated Ras, or a combination of both (Sell *et al.*, 1993, 1994); by bovine papillomavirus E5 protein (Morrione *et al.*, 1995); or by overexpressed growth factor receptors, such as the EGF receptor (Coppola *et al.*, 1994), the PDGF β receptor (DeAngelis *et al.*, 1995), and the IR (Miura *et al.*, 1995b)—all conditions that readily transform cells from wild-type litter mate embryos or other 3T3-like cells with a physiological number of IGF-IRs. It would be exaggerated to claim that R^- cells are untransformable; we have been growing these cells in our laboratory for over 4 years, and we have observed spontaneous transformation, at a rate roughly three logarithms lower than mouse cells, with a physiological number of IGF-IRs. 3T3-like cells have such a propensity to chromosomal rearrangements and spontaneous transformation that it is easy to visualize how a gain-of-function mutation in a signaltransducing molecule downstream of the IGF-IR may bypass the IGF-IR requirement for transformation.

If deletion of the IGF-IR genes renders cells refractory to transformation, it is not surprising that a reversal of the transformed phenotype can be obtained in a variety of tumor cells by decreasing the number of IGF-IRs or by interfering with their function. For instance, antisense expression plasmids or antisense oligodeoxynucleotides (ODN) against either IGF-II (Christophori *et al.*, 1994), IGF-I (Trojan *et al.*, 1993), or the IGF-IR (Sell *et al.*, 1993; Resnicoff *et al.*, 1994a,b; Shapiro *et al.*, 1994; Neuenschwander *et al.*, 1995), antibodies to the IGF-IR (Arteaga, 1992; Kalebic *et al.*, 1994), and dominant negative mutants of the IGF-IR (Prager *et al.*, 1994; Li *et al.*, 1994; Burgaud *et al.*, 1995) can all reverse the transformed phenotype, inhibit tumorigenesis, and induce loss of the metastatic phenotype (Long *et al.*, 1995).

In theory, and possibly also in practice, targeting the IGF-IR may be more efficient than targeting its ligands. The adult rat has negligible plasma levels of IGF-II, but other animals, including humans, have substantial circulating concentrations of both IGFs (Conlon *et al.*, 1995). Interference with one of the ligands could leave the other one free to activate the IGF-IR.

V. MUTATIONAL ANALYSIS OF THE IGF-I RECEPTOR

Mutations in the various domains of the IGF-IR can affect its various functions; for instance, a single point mutation at K1003 (the ATP binding site) results in an IGF-IR that has essentially lost all its functions (Kato *et al.*, 1993; Coppola *et al.*, 1994). A triple mutation of the three tyrosines (1131, 1135, 1136) in the tyrosine kinase domain results in a markedly reduced level of autophosphorylation and in the abolition of both mitogenicity and transforming activity (Gronborg *et al.*, 1993; Li *et al.*, 1994). Similarly, R⁻ cells stably transfected with a human IGF-IR mutated at Y950 cannot grow in serum-free medium supplemented

solely with IGF-I and do not form colonies in soft agar, although the medium in this assay is 10% serum (Miura *et al.*, 1995a). These mutations affect both the mitogenic and transforming activities of the IGF-IR, but mitogenicity here must be defined as ability of cells in monolayers to respond to IGF-I only or to a combination of IGF-I, PDGF, and EGF (see earlier). Mitogenicity of a wild-type or mutant IGF-IR cannot be tested in serum, since R^- cells have shown that the IGF-IR is not an absolute requirement for growth in 5–10% serum (see earlier). The fact that the soft agar assay is done in 10% serum already suggests that the growth factor(s) in serum that can bypass the IGF-IR for growth in monolayers cannot replace it for colony formation in soft agar. A corollary of these findings is that inhibitors of IGF-IR function will have very little effect on the growth of cells in monolayers in serum-supplemented medium, while having much more dramatic effects on growth in soft agar of *in vivo*.

More interesting are those mutant receptors in which only selective functions are deleted. Using a constitutively activated IGF-IR, with a glycosaminoglycan protein in lieu of the α domain, D. Liu *et al.* (1993) found that truncations in the C-terminal domain of the receptor affected its ability to induce transformation. These authors, however, did not test for mitogenic activity. It was Surmacz et al. (1995) who clearly dissociated the mitogenic and transforming activities of the IGF-IR by showing that the deletion of the C-terminal 108 amino acids from the human IGF-IR resulted in a receptor that had conserved its ability to transmit an IGF-I-mediated mitogenic signal but was no longer capable of transforming activity. R⁻ cells stably transfected with this receptor, truncated at residue 1229, grow in serum-free medium supplemented solely with IGF-I but cannot form colonies in soft agar, although the soft agar assay is done in 10% serum. Subsequently Miura et al. (1995b) showed that a single point mutation at Y1251 (to phenylalanine) also greatly reduced the transforming activity of the IGF-IR, without affecting its mitogenicity. Interestingly, a Y1250F mutation had no effect on the receptor, which behaved essentially as a wild-type IGF-IR (Miura et al., 1995b). In these experiments, we transfected mutant receptors in R⁻ cells to generate stable cell lines with no other IGF-IR but the transfected one. The absence of endogenous receptors is a distinct advantage in a mutational analysis of this type because the intermolecular transactivation that often occurs among growth factor receptors and the possible formation of hybrid receptors (Ballotti et al., 1989; Lammers et al., 1990; Taouis et al., 1994; Takata and Kobayashi, 1994; Chantry, 1995; Burgaud and Baserga, 1996) can transactivate receptors that, per se, are inactive.

We have extended these investigations to other mutants of the IGF-IR (Hongo *et al.*, 1996; Li *et al.*, 1996), and the results are summarized in Table I.

The conclusions from these experiments can be summarized as follows: (1) mitogenicity and transforming activity of the IGF-IR can be separated (Surmacz *et al.*, 1995; Miura *et al.*, 1995b; Table I), clearly indicating that there is at least one pathway for transformation that is additional to and distinct from the mitogenic pathways, and is very likely an unidentified Ras-independent pathway (Sell *et al.*, 1994); (2) the transforming domain of the IGF-IR can be localized between residues 1245 and 1310 (Hongo *et al.*, 1996; see Table I); and (3) Y1251 and the serine quartet at 1280–1283 are very important for transformation (Miura *et al.*, 1995b; Table I), with the region around 1293 playing some

 TABLE I

 MUTATIONAL ANALYSIS OF THE IGF-I RECEPTOR IN GROWTH AND TRANSFORMATION

Receptor ^a	Reference	Mitogenicity ^b	Transformation	
	Ullrich <i>et al.</i> (1986)	+++	+++	
ATP-binding mutant	Kato <i>et al.</i> (1993)	-	_	
Y950*	Miura <i>et al.</i> (1995a)	_		
3Y*	Li et al. (1994)		_	
	Gronborg et al. (1993)			
Single Ys*	Li et al. (1994)	+ +	-	
Y1250*	Miura <i>et al</i> . (1995b)	+++	+ + +	
Y1251*	Miura <i>et al</i> . (1995b)	+ + +	-	
Serine mutant*	Li et al. (1996)	+ + +	-	
1293-1294*	Hongo <i>et al</i> . (1996)	+ +	+	
Y1316F*	Hongo et al. (1996)	+ + +	+ + +	
del. 1229	Surmacz et al. (1995)	+ + +	_	
del. 1245*	Hongo <i>et al</i> . (1996)	+ + +	-	
del. 1293*	Hongo et al. (1996)	+ +	+	
del. 1310*	Hongo et al. (1996)	+++	+ + +	

 a 3Y has Y-to-F mutations at 1131, 1135, and 1136 (kinase domain). We also made mutants at each single tyrosine. The serine mutant is a mutant in which the four serines at 1280–1283 have been mutated to alanine. The 1293–1294 mutant has the two basic amino acids at those residues replaced by alanine. del. indicates receptors that have been truncated at the indicated residue (the amino acid number is the one proposed by Ullrich *et al.*, 1986).

^b Mitogenicity is defined as ability to grow in serum-free medium supplemented solely with IGF-I.

^cTransformation is the ability to form colonies in soft agar.

*Indicates mutants developed in our laboratory.

role in it. When these residues are mutated, the transforming activity of the IGF-IR is severely impaired, whereas its mitogenic activity in response to IGF-I is perfectly normal. It should not be surprising that the transforming pathway is additional to and distinct from the mitogenic pathways, since transformed cells are anchorage independent, and this characteristic is not required by cells growing in monolayers. What is novel in these findings is that the two pathways originate from different domains of a single growth factor receptor.

An overexpressed IRS-1 can transform 3T3-like cells with a physiological number of IGF-IRs but cannot transform R^- cells (D'Ambrosio *et al.*, 1995). In our hands, Shc, which was reported to be a transforming protein (Pelicci *et al.*, 1992; Salcini *et al.*, 1994), is nontransforming, whether in R^- cells or in BALB/c 3T3 cells (Table II). We mentioned before that the SV40 large T antigen, singly transfected, cannot transform R^- cells; however, a combination of T antigen and IRS-1 is transforming. Interestingly, T antigen binds to IRS-1, and its binding is necessary for the co-transformation of R^- cells (Zhou-Li *et al.*, 1995).

Table II summarizes the transforming potential of the IGF-IR and its major substrates. It is significant that the wild-type IGF-IR, by itself, is fully transforming (R^+ and p6 cells), as already reported by several laboratories (see earlier), while its two major substrates, IRS-1 and Shc,

Cell Line and Receptor Number ^a	Colony Formation in Soft Agar	
\mathbf{R}^{-} cells (0)	0	
W cells (30×10^3)	0	
BALB/c 3T3 (25×10^3)	0	
R^+ (10 ⁶)	140	
p6 cells (5×10^5)	159	
W/IRS-1	35	
R ⁻ /IRS-1	0	
W/Shc (9 clones)	0	
BALB/c 3T3/Shc (5 clones)	0–5	
R ⁻ /IRS-1/Shc (4 clones)	0	

TABLE II Transforming Potential of the IGF-I Receptor and Its Major Substrates

 ${}^{a}R^{-}$ and W cells were established from litter mate embryos, with or without a targeted disruption of the IGF-IR genes (Sell *et al.*, 1993). R^{+} are R^{-} cells stably transfected with a wild-type human IGF-IR cDNA. p6 cells are like R^{+} but with a BALB/c background. All the IRS-1 and Shc clones markedly overexpressed the respective protein (D'Ambrosio *et al.*, 1995, unpublished data). singly or in combination, are not (W/IRS-1, W/Shc, Balb/Shc, and R^-/IRS -1/Shc cells). The latter observation is intriguing, especially in view of the fact that both Surmacz *et al.* (1995) and Miura *et al.* (1995b) reported an increased tyrosyl phosphorylation of IRS-1 and Shc in cells expressing the mutant IGF-IRs that are mitogenic but nontransforming. It indicates essentially two alternatives: Either (1) the transforming pathway of the IGF-IR C terminus is totally independent of IRS-1 and Shc (something also suggested by the fact that it is a Ras-independent pathway), or (2) the transforming domain of the IGF-IR causes in IRS-1 and Shc more subtle changes than can be detected by conventional techniques.

VI. THE IGF-I RECEPTOR AND ITS LIGANDS IN APOPTOSIS

A historical review of apoptosis and its morphological aspects is provided by Majno and Joris (1995), who also compare it to other forms of cell death. Steller (1995) has given a lucid discussion of the genetic basis of cellular suicide, and Fisher (1994) and Thompson (1995) have pointed out the possible therapeutic implications. Since apoptosis is the subject of this entire volume, we refer the reader to other articles for details and limit ourselves to the role of the IGF-IR in the process.

There have been sporadic reports that IGF-I may protect cells, in vivo or in vitro, from cell death in general and apoptosis in particular. For instance, Gluckman et al. (1992) reported a protective effect of IGF-I in ischemic injuries or the central nervous system, and D'Mello et al. (1993) found that IGF-I inhibited low-potassium-induced apoptosis of cerebellar granule neurons. There is also an intriguing report by Rodriguez-Tarduchy et al. (1992) that IGF-I inhibits apoptosis in interleukin (IL)-3-dependent hemopoietic cells. But the interest in the role of the IGF-IR in apoptosis received its impetus with the finding by Harrington et al. (1994) that IGF-I (and, to a lesser extent, PDGF, but not EGF or fibroblast growth factor) exerts a protective effect on c-Mycinduced apoptosis (Evan et al., 1992; Askew et al., 1992). Subsequently, our laboratory showed that an overexpressed IGF-IR protected cells in vitro from etoposide-induced apoptosis (Sell et al., 1995), and, even more dramatically, that a decrease in IGF-IR levels below wild-type levels caused massive apoptosis of tumor cells in vivo (Resnicoff et al., 1995a,b). These in vivo experiments are detailed in the next section. The role of the IGF-IR in apoptosis, and the possibility that it may discriminate between normal and tumor cells, have been discussed in two reviews by Baserga (1994, 1995).

RENATO BASERGA et al.

VII. THE IN VIVO METHOD FOR DETERMINING THE EXTENT OF APOPTOSIS

The reports mentioned earlier (see Section IV) on the role of the IGF-IR in tumorigenesis strongly suggested that tumor cells with an impaired IGF-IR function must have died when injected into rodents. The complete absence of tumor development in the first place suggests that the effect of interference with the action of the IGF-IR is not simply to slow down growth, but actually to kill cells, either by apoptosis or some other mechanism of cell death. The experiments in nude mice with human melanoma cells (Resnicoff et al., 1994a) further confirmed the role of cell death in IGF-IR-mediated inhibition of tumor growth. But it is difficult to demonstrate cell death in general (Fernandez et al., 1994), or apoptosis in particular, in vivo in cells injected into the subcutaneous tissue of rodents. If the cells die, one finds very little at the site of injection, certainly not enough to make a quantitative assessment of apoptosis. We therefore had to devise a method for demonstrating cell death in general, and apoptosis in particular, of tumor cells in vivo (Resnicoff et al., 1995a). For this purpose, we used a diffusion chamber implanted into the subcutaneous tissue of rats or mice. This diffusion chamber (Abraham et al., 1993) is a Lucite ring closed at both ends by a Millipore filter with pores 0.1 µm in diameter. The pore size allows the passage of proteins, nutrients, antibodies, and the like but not of cells (Lange et al., 1994), and it is essentially the same type of diffusion chamber that was used many years ago by tumor immunologists to prove rigorously that tumor cells in the immune animal could not be destroyed unless the cells of the host came in direct contact with the tumor cells used as antigen. It is still used by immunologists (Lange et al., 1994), although it is not as popular as it was many years ago. The cells to be studied are placed in the previously sterilized diffusion chamber, which is then inserted, under anesthesia, into the subcutaneous tissue of rats or mice. The diffusion chambers can then be removed at the desired intervals after insertion. Cells from several transplantable tumors of human or rodent origin, when placed in diffusion chambers, double in number in 24 hr during in vivo incubation, indicating that the conditions are optimal for their survival and proliferation. Because of the limited size of the chamber, there is crowding when the cells reach a certain number. For instance, 5×10^5 tumor cells double in number in 24 hr in vivo (Resnicoff et al., 1995a,b), but, if 10⁶ cells are loaded into the chamber, then the number of cells increases only by 50%. Conversely, if lower numbers of cells are used, they will grow in the chamber for several days until they reach a total of $1.5-1.6 \times 10^6$ cells per chamber. Not all cells grow or even survive in the chamber; for instance, 3T3 cells die in the chamber, just as they die when injected into the subcutaneous tissue of syngeneic or nude animals. However, all the transplantable rodent tumor cells we have tested so far do very well in the diffusion chamber. In short, cells in the diffusion chamber behave *in vivo* as cells injected into the subcutaneous tissue of rodents.

VIII. THE IGF-I RECEPTOR PROTECTS TUMOR CELLS FROM APOPTOSIS IN VIVO

While several rodent and human cell lines from transplantable tumors grow very well in diffusion chambers, a totally different result is obtained when the same cells are stably transfected with a plasmid expressing an antisense RNA to the IGF-IR RNA or are treated with antisense ODN to the IGF-IR RNA. These cells have a decreased number of IGF-IRs, and they undergo massive apoptosis when loaded into diffusion chambers that are then inserted into the subcutaneous tissue of either rats or mice (Resnicoff et al., 1995a,b). Apoptosis is almost complete within 4 hr after incubation in vivo. An illustration of the rapidity with which cells expressing an antisense plasmid to the IGF-IR RNA die is given in Fig. 3. The tumors tested included the C6 rat glioblastoma, a rat rhabdomyosarcoma, a human melanoma, and a mouse melanoma. In each instance, control cells (wild-type or "sense" cells) doubled in number in 24 hr, whereas cells expressing an antisense plasmid or antisense-treated wild-type cells died, with recovery ranging from 0 to 1-2% (Resnicoff et al., 1995a). Therefore, one can say that targeting the IGF-IR to induce apoptosis in tumor cells is not limited to a single cell type. Another advantage of this assay is that apoptosis is so rapid that one can also study nonsyngeneic cells, since everything is over before any immune response may set in. For the same reason, it makes no difference whether the diffusion chambers are inserted into the subcutaneous tissue of rats or of mice.

There is actually a correlation between concentration of antisense ODN, the IGF-IR numbers, apoptosis, growth in nude mice, and growth in syngeneic animals (Resnicoff *et al.*, 1995b). This correlation is summarized in Table III. In control cells (untreated or treated with a random ODN at very high concentrations), the number of receptors remain normal; the cells double in number in 24 hr in the diffusion chambers, produce tumors palpable after only 4 days in nude mice, and produce tumors in syngeneic rats. These tumors continuously increase in size and eventually kill the animals. Treatment with antisense ODN



FIG. 3. Induction of apoptosis *in vivo* by a decrease in the number of IGF-I receptors. The cells shown are C6 rat glioblastoma cells, stably transfected with a plasmid expressing an antisense RNA to the IGF-IR RNA. After preincubation *in vitro*, the cells were inoculated into a diffusion chamber (permeable to nutrients but not to cells), which was then inserted into the subcutaneous tissue of rats. Chambers were removed at the intervals indicated on the abscissa and the surviving cells counted. The percentage of surviving cells (recovery) is given on the ordinate. The controls are given in Resnicoff *et al.* (1995a); suffice it to say that wild-type cells or C6 cells expressing a sense RNA double in number in 24 hr (200% recovery).

against the IGF-IR RNA causes a concentration-dependent decrease in receptor number, which in turn causes a concentration-dependent extent of apoptosis *in vivo*. In nude mice, delay in tumor growth is proportional to the extent of apoptosis, indicating a close relationship between the ability to induce apoptosis *in vivo* and the retardation of tumor growth. In syngeneic rats, tumors develop at the lowest concentrations of antisense ODN, but the tumors eventually regress and never recur. At higher ODN concentrations, the tumors do not even appear. The difference between nude mice and syngeneic animals clearly indicates that there is also a host response, which is discussed later.

Another striking observation is that a decrease in the number of IGF-IRs is much more effective in inducing apoptosis *in vivo* than in monolayer cell cultures. Conditions that *in vitro*, in monolayer cultures, result only in inhibition of IGF-I-mediated growth, an inhibition often very modest, will cause massive apoptosis *in vivo* (Resnicoff *et al.*,

	Receptor Number	Recovery (%)	Tumorigenesis	
Concentration (µM)			Nude Mice (days)	Syngeneic rats
Control	100	>200	4	6/6
0.15	77	54	6	0/6
0.80	85	48	ND	0/3
1.50	80	35	11	0/3
2.50	82	35	ND	0/3
3.0	56	1.3	17	0/3
6.5	56	0.4	17	0/3
13.0	42	0.010	17	0/3
16.0	43	0.008	17	0/3
19.0	36	0.001	24	0/3

 TABLE III

 EFFECT OF A DECREASE IN THE NUMBER OF IGF-I RECEPTORS ON APOPTOSIS,

 TUMORIGENESIS IN NUDE MICE, AND TUMORIGENESIS IN SYNGENEIC RATS^a

^aC6 rat glioblastoma cells were treated for 24 hr at the indicated concentrations of antisense ODN to the IGF-IR RNA; controls were treated with 19 μ M random ODN or left untreated. The cells were then tested for receptor number (by Scatchard analysis), inoculated into diffusion chambers, or injected into nude mice (10⁵ cells) or into syngeneic BD IX rats (10⁷ cells subcutaneously). Receptor number is expressed as percentage of untreated (or random ODN-treated) cells. Apoptosis is expressed as percentage of cells recovered (from 5 × 10⁵ cells) after 24 hr in the diffusion chambers inserted into the subcutaneous tissue of rats. Growth in nude mice is expressed as time required in days for the appearance of palpable tumors. In the case of syngeneic rats, at the lowest concentrations of antisense ODN, tumors actually appeared after a few days but they completely regressed. (Modified from Resnicoff *et al.*, 1995b.)

1995a,b). Colony formation in soft agar is somewhat intermediate; reduction in the number of colonies in soft agar is much more pronounced than growth inhibition in monolayer cultures but not as dramatic as the extent of apoptosis *in vivo*. These findings have also been repeated on several cell types, and our two preferred explanations for this difference are (1) the fact that high concentrations of serum can also produce apoptosis *in vitro* (Kurita and Namiki, 1994), or (2) more likely, the fact that soft agar growth or growth in the subcutaneous tissue of animals requires anchorage independence, a property that is not tested in monolayers. The importance of the IGF-IR in protecting cells from high concentrations of serum is demonstrated in Fig. 4. Wild-type C6 cells, C6 cells expressing a sense, and C6 cells expressing an antisense RNA to the IGF-IR RNA were incubated in increasing concentrations of serum. Figure 4 shows that, whereas all three cell lines grow well in 10%



FIG. 4. Effect of high concentrations of serum on apoptosis of C6 cells. Wild-type C6 cells and C6 cells expression either a sense (C6-S) or an antisense (C6-AS) RNA to the IGF-IR RNA were plated in the concentrations of fetal bovine serum indicated on the abscissa. The number of cells in the plates were counted after 24 hr; the results are expressed as increase or decrease over numbers of cells plated. Note that all cells grow in 10% serum and all die in 80% serum. In 70% serum, wild-type and sense cells still grow while cells expressing the antisense plasmid die.

serum, at 80% serum the antisense-expressing cells dramatically decrease in number while the other two cell lines survive. This is reasonable because R cells do grow in 10% serum, which means that, under the usual culture conditions, the IGF-IR is not required for protection from apoptosis. It is in the absence of growth factors (Rodriguez-Tarduchy *et al.*, 1992; Harrington *et al.*, 1994) or in the presence of high concentrations of serum or plasma (as in the living animals and in Fig. 4), that the protective effect of the IGF-IR is strikingly evident. This raises some legitimate questions about the wisdom of using conventional cell culture techniques to test drugs and agents for their ability to kill cancer cells. The use of diffusion chambers would probably save a lot of time and money in the identification of drugs that are active *in vivo*.

Since the IGF-IR can induce the transformed phenotype and its functional ablation can induce apoptosis, it is legitimate to ask whether the two processes are the mirror images of the same function. If this were true, nontransforming IGF-IRs (see Table I) should not protect from apoptosis. Although the results are preliminary, this seems not to be the case. Certain IGF-IRs that are nontransforming are very good at protecting cells from apoptosis, and vice versa. The problem is therefore somewhat complex, and the two processes, while obviously overlapping, may be distinct, just as mitogenicity and transforming activity are distinct (see Table I).

IX. THE IGF-I RECEPTOR AND APOPTOSIS IN NORMAL CELLS

We have previously hypothesized (Baserga, 1994, 1995) that a decrease or a loss of function of the IGF-IR will cause massive apoptosis in tumor cells, while being much less effective on normal cells that can take refuge in the G_0 state. There are findings in the literature that support the hypothesis that normal cells may be more resistant to apoptosis due to loss of function of the IGF-IR than tumor cells. In mouse embryos with a targeted disruption of the IGF-IR genes (Baker *et al.*, 1993; J. P. Liu *et al.*, 1993), there is no evidence of increased apoptosis. Similarly, the cells derived from these mouse embryos, (R⁻ cells; (see earlier) grow more slowly but do not seem more prone to apoptosis by serum deprivation than the cells generated from wild-type litter mates. Indeed, even the observation by Harrington *et al.* (1994), already mentioned, indicates that, to induce apoptosis in the absence of IGF-I, one needs an overexpressed c-Myc (i.e., an oncogene) (Evan *et al.*, 1992).

Another experiment that supports this hypothesis is summarized in Table IV. WI-38 human diploid fibroblasts, untreated or treated with random or antisense ODN to the IGF-IR, were inoculated into diffusion chambers that were then inserted into the subcutaneous tissue of rats. The number of cells recovered after 24 hr was essentially the same in the three different conditions, suggesting that treatment with antisense ODN to the IGF-IR RNA (at a concentration of $19\mu M$) has little effect on normal fibroblasts. Uptake of ODN in WI-38 cells is somewhat less than in C6 cells, but one should remember that, with C6 cells, we already had extensive apoptosis with as little as 0.15 μM . There is, though, a caveat with this experiment: we cannot obtain a full recovery even from untreated cells. We do not know the reason why recovery of WI-38 cells from the diffusion chamber is low, but we can say, at least, that antisense strategies do not affect the extent of cell death in these cells. These experiments, in fact, are in agreement with the report by Wang (1995) that human diploid fibroblasts are more resistant to apoptosis induced by serum deprivation than 3T3 cells. The latter, although

RENATO BASERGA et al.

IN VIVO APOPTOSIS INDUCED BY ANTISENSE ODN TO THE IGF-I RECEPTOR RNA ^a		
Treatment	Percent Recovery	
Untreated	50	
Random ODN (120 µg/ml)	49	
Antisense ODN (120 µg/ml)	46	

TABLE IV Resistance of Human Diploid Fibroblasts to

^aWI-38 human diploid fibroblasts were treated as indicated above; 5×10^4 cells were then inoculated in diffusion chambers and the percent recovery determined after 24 hr incubation *in vivo*. The ODN used are the same as in Table III, and the recovery figures given are the mean of six determinations.

often considered normal cells, are in fact immortalized, aneuploid, and very prone to spontaneous transformation; human diploid fibroblasts, on the contrary, do not transform spontaneously and have a finite life span. If normal cells are indeed more resistant than cancer cells to apoptosis induced by a functional ablation of the IGF-IR, then targeting of the IGF-IR could truly have a unique therapeutic value in the treatment of tumors and metastases.

X. Dominant Negatives

There are many direct ways in which one can interfere with the function of a gene product. In the case of a growth factor receptor such as the IGF-IR, several approaches can be used. These are summarized in Table V. We discuss here the dominant negatives, first because dominant negatives have been used extensively with many other gene products, and second, because, in the case of growth factor receptors, they constitute a special case, as discussed later.

First of all, we can say that there are dominant negatives of the IGF-IR. Prager *et al.* (1994) have described one, an IGF-IR that was truncated at residue 952. Transfected into Rat-1 cells, this mutant receptor acted as a dominant negative, completely inhibiting tumorigenesis, when the stably transfected cells were injected into nude mice.

We have tested several other mutants of the IGF-IR for their ability to act as dominant negatives. Some of these mutants, listed in Table I,

THE ROLE OF THE IGF-I RECEPTOR IN APOPTOSIS

Method	Reference
Deletion of gene	JP. Liu <i>et al.</i> (1993)
Antisense to receptor	Pietrzkowski <i>et al.</i> (1992)
Dominant negatives Antisense to ligand(s)	Prager <i>et al</i> . (1994) Trojan <i>et al</i> . (1993)
Peptide analogs to ligand	Pietrzkowski et al. (1992c)

TABLE V
USE OF DIFFERENT METHODOLOGIES TO CAUSE LOSS
OF FUNCTION OF THE IGF-I RECEPTOR

were transfected into C6 rat glioblastoma cells, which grow in serumfree medium in monolayers and form many colonies in soft agar. When the transfectants were tested in soft agar, several mutant receptors acted as dominant negatives, including the triple tyrosine mutant at 1131, 1135, and 1136 (Li *et al.*, 1994), the K1003 mutant (Coppola *et al.*, 1994), the Y950F mutant, and the Y1251F mutant (Burgaud *et al.*, 1995). The Y1250F mutant, which is both mitogenic and transforming, did not act as a dominant negative in these assays.

However, when these same transfectants were tested for their ability to induce apoptosis in vivo in diffusion chambers, none of the mutants mentioned induced apoptosis (Burgaud et al., 1995). With some of them, growth in the diffusion chambers were decreased but no apoptosis was detectable. The only exception was observed in our laboratory when C6 cells were stably transfected with a plasmid that makes a soluble IGF-IR, that is, a receptor that has only the first 516 amino acids of the α domain, including the 30 amino acids of the signal peptide (D'Ambrosio et al., 1996). This receptor, which we call 486/STOP, engineered by a point mutation of the human IGF-IR cDNA that causes a frameshift, has 486 amino acids after cleavage of the signal peptide, but the correct sequence of the IGF-IR terminates at residue 481. This seouence comprises the binding domain for IGF-I, which has been localized between residues 135 and 315 (Schumacher et al., 1993). The 486/STOP receptor is secreted in the medium and inhibits IGF-IR function. C6 cells transfected with the 486/STOP receptor undergo massive apoptosis in the diffusion chamber in vivo. Accordingly, these cells are no longer tumorigenic in syngeneic rats.

Thus, one can say that there are different definitions of a dominant negative: there are those that inhibit growth in soft agar (the most numerous) and those that cause apoptosis (rare). We propose the following hypothesis to explain the different levels of dominant negative behavior. Growth factor receptors are known to be rather promiscuous, easily forming hybrid receptors and transactivating each other intracellularly (Ballotti et al., 1989; Lammers et al., 1990; Taouis et al., 1994; Chantry, 1995). In fact, Burgaud and Baserga (1996) have shown that crippled IGF-IRs, such as the triple tyrosine mutant and the Y950F mutant, which have lost both mitogenicity and transforming activity, can be transactivated by an overexpressed EGF receptor, their properties being fully restored. They can now tyrosyl phosphorylate IRS-1, which is a specific substrate of IR and the IGF-IR, after stimulation with EGF, something they cannot do when stimulated with IGF-I. They can even become transforming, while the truncated receptor (at residue 1229) still is nontransforming, regardless of the use of EGF or IGF-I, once more confirming that the C-terminus domain of the IGF-IR is required for transformation. Thus, only the Prager et al. mutant (1994) and our 486/STOP receptor, which is secreted in the medium, cannot be transactivated (or transactivate endogenous receptors) and therefore can act as dominant negatives in the apoptosis test. In growth assays, the mutant receptors simply act as competitors for the ligands, even in soft agar, but in apoptosis something more is required, perhaps more inhibition or perhaps something else that has yet to be identified.

XI. CRITIQUE OF ANTISENSE STRATEGIES

The use of antisense strategies in biology has been severely criticized, sometimes with very good reasons. In some instances, antisense ODN have caused inhibition of growth without reducing the amount of the target protein; in other instances, the effect on growth was aspecific and largely due to the reactivity of the ODN with cellular proteins (for the pitfalls of antisense strategies, see, e.g., Sainio *et al.*, 1994; Chiasson *et al.*, 1994; Giles *et al.*, 1995; Guieysse *et al.*, 1995). While recognizing these problems, the case for the IGF-IR in transformation and in protection from apoptosis remains strong for several reasons:

1. In the first place, there is evidence that is not based on antisense strategies. Thus, R^- cells, devoid of IGF-Is, are refractory to transformation by several agents that readily transform cells with a physiological number of IGF-IRs (see earlier), clearly indicating the importance of the receptor in the establishment and maintenance of the transformed phenotype.

2. Inhibition of growth and/or tumorigenesis has also been obtained by other methods, as discussed previously (i.e., use of dominant negatives or antibodies to the IGF-I). Thus, induction of apoptosis by interference with the function of the IGF-IR can also be obtained by methods that have no connection with antisense strategies.

3. The inhibition of IGF-I-mediated growth and tumorigenesis by antisense strategies has been obtained in two different ways: (1) with an expression plasmid coding for an antisense fragment to the IGF-IR RNA (Resnicoff *et al.*, 1994a,b; Shapiro *et al.*, 1994; Neuenschwander *et al.*, 1995) and (2) with antisense ODN (Resnicoff *et al.*, 1994a, 1995a,b). It would be difficult to believe that an antisense RNA and an antisense ODN would exert the same aspecific affects.

4. We have repeatedly shown that both the expression plasmid and the ODN cause a decrease in the target protein, the IGF-IR (Resnicoff *et al.*, 1994b, 1995a,b). The decrease is proportional to the concentration of antisense ODN used (see earlier). We have never been able to bring the receptor level down to zero, an observation confirmed by Neuenschwander *et al.* (1995), but the levels of IGF-IR protein are tightly regulated (Rubini *et al.*, 1994) and a decrease in receptor number promptly stimulates the synthesis of receptor RNA.

5. Different antisense ODN have different effects. We tested several antisense ODN both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. *In vitro*, we determined the effect of the antisense ODN on IGF-I-mediated growth, while *in vivo* we measured their effect on induction of apoptosis. The first sequence in Table VI is the sequence used in previous papers (Resnicoff *et al.*, 1994b, 1995a,b), which begins three nucleotides downstream from the methionine codon; the third sequence is an antisense beginning at the methionine codon, while the second sequence begins nine nucleotides downstream. They are all active in inhibiting cell growth *in vitro* or in inducing apoptosis *in vivo*, but the antisense of the second sequence is somewhat better, especially in inducing apoptosis at low concentrations. The sequence from the middle of the IGF-IR cDNA, under the same conditions, has no effect, confirming once more that sequences at the 5' end of an mRNA are more effective (Sainio *et al.*, 1994).

6. The differences between antisense ODN and random ODN (control) are dramatic. The antisense induces partial apoptosis of C6 cells at concentrations as low as 0.15 μM (see earlier), while the random ODN is totally ineffective even at concentrations as large as 32 μM . A 200-fold difference in effective concentration does not support the possibility of totally aspecific effects.

In short, apart from the many controls that have been used with antisense strategies, the role of the IGF-IR in transformation and apoptosis is sustained by the use of other methodologies unrelated to antisense ODN.

Sequence	% Growth Inhibition	% Apoptosis
From the 5' region:		
TCCTCCGGAGCCAGACTT	48	46
same, ends capped	43	46
GGACCCTCCTCCGGAGCC	58	67
same, ends capped	26	58
CCGGAGCCAGACTTCAT	52	52
same, ends capped	54	54
From the middle region:		
CTGCTCCTCCTCTAGGATGA	0	0
same, ends capped	0	0

 TABLE VI

 EFFECTS OF DIFFERENT ANTISENSE ODN TO THE IGF-IR RNA a

^aFor each sequence, the first is of fully thioate ODN and the second is the same sequence but with capped 3' and 5' ends. Percent growth inhibition was determined as described by Resnicoff *et al.* (1995a) and represents inhibition of IGF-I-mediated growth. Percent apoptosis was determined in a diffusion chamber (Resnicof *et al.*, 1995a). Both assays were carried out on C6 rat glioblastoma cells. *In vitro*, the concentration of ODN used was 120 μ g/ml, whereas for *in vivo* studies (apoptosis in the diffusion chamber) we used a concentration of 1 μ g/ml.

XII. MECHANISMS

While there is convincing evidence that the activated IGF-IR protects cells from apoptosis, very little is known about its mechanism. However, an important step in our understanding has been accomplished by Haim Werner (National Institutes of Health), who reported that the p53 tumor suppressor protein is a very efficient repressor of transcription from the IGF-IR promoter, causing a reduction in receptor number (Werner et al., 1996). This finding could have remarkable repercussions in the field of apoptosis, bringing together two major players, p53 and the IGF-IR. It seems indeed that p53 may be extensively involved with the IGF system, since Buckbinder et al. (1995) reported that p53 induces the growth-inhibitory IGF binding protein-3. Apart from this clue, very little is known about the mechanism(s) by which the IGF-IR protects tumor cells from apoptosis. It has been reported that tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- α inhibits the phosphorylation of the insulin receptor and its major substrate IRS-1 (Feinstein et al., 1993; Hotamisligil et al., 1994); presumably the IGF-IR will also be inhibited, but at this point it is still a tenuous connection. Yet the IGF-IR signaling must connect somewhere with the world of Bcl-2, Fas, integrins, TNF, and related proteins (Ruoslahti and Reed, 1994; Smith *et al.*, 1994; Cleveland and Ihle, 1995; Nicholson *et al.*, 1995; Whyte and Evan, 1995; Reed, this volume). At present, we can only suggest hypotheses.

One possibility is that the IGF-IR sends a signal that simply neutralizes the death signals originating through other receptors and other pathways that induce apoptosis. For instance, the TNF receptor may send a signal that induces apoptosis in tumor cells in the absence of the IGF-IR (see earlier). A second possibility is that loss of function of the IGF-IR results in the production of a peptide or peptides capable of inducing apoptosis, in a manner that is independent of the other apoptotic pathways.

A third possibility, suggested by the findings of Feinstein et al. (1993) and Hotamisligil et al. (1994), is that proteins with the death domain interact with the IGF-IR and/or its immediate substrates, causing the equivalent of a loss of function. For instance, Hotamisligil et al. (1996) have reported that TNF- α phosphorylates IRS-1 on serines, and that the serine-phosphorylated IRS-1 inhibits the IR activity. If this turns out to be true also for the IGF-IR, a mechanism for apoptosis by TNF would readily become apparent. Interestingly, IRS-1 also interacts with integrins (Vuori and Ruoslahti, 1994), and integrins are known to be involved in apoptosis (Brooks et al., 1994; Montgomery et al., 1994). It should also be noted that IRS-1 by itself is nontransforming, but it binds to SV40 T antigen (Zhou Li et al., 1995), and together they can transform cells in the absence of an IGF-IR (D'Ambrosio et al., 1995). These three possibilities envisage completely different roles for the IGF-IR in apoptosis. In the first two instances, it would act independently of other pathways, as an antidote in the first case and an active inducer of apoptosis in the second case. In the last possibility, it would cooperate closely with the other mechanism of apoptosis in causing it. A similar cooperation may be true also in the case of p53, if the results of Haim Werner (see earlier) can be extended.

Another clue is given by the fact that the activated IGF-IR protects cells from apoptosis induced by withdrawal of IL-3 (McCubrey *et al.*, 1991; Rodriguez-Tarduchy *et al.*, 1992). It suggests that the IGF-IR may activate the pathway originally activated by the IL-3 receptor. The elucidation of the mechanism involved in IGF-I-modulated apoptosis is, of course, crucial to a rational development of therapeutic approaches to either induction or prevention of apoptosis. For the moment, we can say that the IGF-IR is obviously central to the various pathways that lead to cell death in general and apoptosis in particular.

RENATO BASERGA et al.

XIII. HOST RESPONSE

For simplicity, we limit ourselves to the host response elicited in BD IX rats, host response that confers protection to a challenge with 10^7 wild-type C6 rat glioblastoma cells. In all instances the rats were pretreated with different types of cells, either injected subcutaneously or incubated in a diffusion chamber that was subsequently removed. The cells used were wild type, expressed sense or antisense plasmids against the IGF-IR RNA, or were treated with ODN or other agents. Details on these cells and the induction of apoptosis are given in previous papers (Resnicoff *et al.*, 1994a,b, 1995a). In each case, after appropriate pretreatment, all rats were challenged with 10^7 wild-type C6 cells injected subcutaneously. The challenge was carried out usually 1 week after the pretreatment, but we have gone for periods as short as 1 day or as long as 90 days; there were no significant differences in the host response within this range.

The results are summarized in Table VII, where the cells and the modalities used for the pretreatment are given in the first two columns. The last column, Tumor Development, notes the appearance (+) or lack of appearance (-) of tumors following a challenge with 10^7 wild-type C6 cells. (The challenge was always done with wild-type C6 cells, regardless of the type and species of cells used for the pretreatment.) When there was no protection (Table VII), the tumors appeared in 4–5 days; when there was protection, tumors never appeared. In some cases we kept the rats for as long as 1 year, and we never observed a tumor in animals with a positive host response. It is clear from Table VII that

- 1. When cells with a decreased number, or an impaired function, of the IGF-IR are injected into the subcutaneous tissue of rats or mice, the animals invariably develop a host response that makes them completely resistant to subsequent challenge with wild-type C6 cells.
- 2. The same results can be obtained if the cells are placed into a diffusion chamber that is subsequently removed. We could not find any difference in host response whether the cells used for pretreatment were injected subcutaneously or placed in a diffusion chamber.
- 3. There is cross-reaction between tumors and even species. Several types of cells, even WI-38 human diploid fibroblasts, when treated with antisense strategies, elicit a complete host response (i.e., resistance to subsequent challenge with wild-type C6 cells).
- 4. R⁻ cells, with no IGF-IRs (Sell *et al.*, 1993, 1994), elicit a host response but 3T3 cells do not.

Cell Type ^a	Strategy ^b	Tumor Development
C6 wild-type	SC, CH	+
C6, sense plasmid or random ODN	SC, CH	+
C6, antisense plasmid		
45 min	CH	+
3 h r	\mathbf{CH}	—
24 hr	CH	-
C6, antisense ODN	SC, CH	
Human melanoma cells	CH	+
do, with antisense	CH	
Mouse melanoma, wt	СН	+
do. antisense	CH	_
Rat rhabdomyosarcoma (AS)	CH	_
BALB/c 3T3	СН	+
R	СН	_
R ⁺	СН	+
C6 plus etoposide	CH	-
C6 with soluble receptor	СН	-
WI-38 human diploid fibroblasts		
+ random ODN	СН	+
+ antisense ODN	CH	-

TABLE VII Host Response Elicited in Rats by Treatment of Cells with Agents That Induce Apoptosis by Targeting the IGF-I Receptor

^{*a*} In each instance, the rats were treated with the type of cells indicated; information is also included on the use of antisense, random, or sense ODN. Plasmid means that the cells were stably transfected with a plasmid expressing a sense or an antisense RNA to the IGF-IR RNA (Resnicoff *et al.*, 1995a).

^bThe strategy used to induce apoptosis: the cells either were injected subcutaneously (SC) or placed in the diffusion chamber (CH). In every case, the pretreated rats were subsequently challenged with 10^7 wild-type C6 cells injected subcutaneously from 1 to 30 days after the first treatment.

^c +, Appearance of tumors; -, protection (no tumor).

- 5. A soluble IGF-IR (D'Ambrosio *et al.*, 1996) induces apoptosis and a protective host response, indicating that this host response is independent from antisense strategies.
- 6. Induction of apoptosis with etoposide also induces a host response.
- 7. In no case did untreated wild-type cells or cells treated with a sense plasmid or a random ODN ever elicited a host response.

We are perfectly aware that these results are somewhat unorthodox and difficult to explain by current immunological rules. But these are the results we have obtained, repeatedly and repeatably through at least 2 years of experimentation. When cells (many kinds of cells) undergo apoptosis, either in subcutaneous tissue or in a diffusion chamber, they elicit a host response that renders the rat completely immune to subsequent challenge with wild-type C6 cells. This host response is especially vigorous when there is interference with the IGF-IR. The mechanism by which this host response is elicited is obviously one of the priorities in our future studies.

XIV. SIGNIFICANCE

There are some interesting conclusions that can be drawn from the literature discussed in the preceding pages, and also some intriguing implications. The conclusions can be summarized as follows:

- 1. The IGF-IR, activated by its ligands, plays a major role in cell proliferation in at least three ways: it participates in mitogenesis, it is required for the establishment and maintenance of transformation (at least in several cell types), and it regulates the extent of apoptosis.
- 2. The transforming domain of the IGF-IR can be separated from its mitogenic signaling.
- 3. The IGF-IR protects tumor cells from apoptosis, and its protective role is much more evident *in vivo* than *in vitro*. In fact, cells in monolayers in serum-supplemented medium are very little affected by impaired function or even the absence of an IGF-IR.
- 4. Tumor cells and oncogene (e.g., c-*myc*)-driven cells are more sensitive to IGF-IR-mediated apoptosis than normal, growth-regulated cells.
- 5. When tumor cells with a loss of function of the IGF-IR undergo apoptosis, they elicit a host response that seems to be able to eliminate the surviving cells.
- 6. In some cases—for instance, with peptide analogs of IGF-I (but also with some dominant negatives; see earlier)—inhibition of IGF-IR function does not produce apoptosis but only inhibition of growth. This effect could be used to advantage in certain situations that do not require apoptosis but only temporary inhibition of growth (e.g., in re-stenosis of the coronary arteries [Hayry *et al.*, 1995]).
- 7. The literature indicates that the IGF-IR may be involved in the genesis and growth of certain human tumors (see reviews by Macaulay, 1992; Baserga, 1995; see also Bergmann *et al.*, 1995).

90

The implications are obvious. We are perfectly cognizant of the fact that results obtained in animals are very rarely reproduced in humans, especially when the animal results have been provided by transplantable tumors. We are also painfully aware of the difficulties encountered in delivering plasmids, peptides, or ODN to tumors in vivo. But, having made these disclaimers, we can say that, at least in animals, the targeting of the IGF-IR has some aspects that are unique. In the first place, interference with the IGF-IR causes extensive apoptosis of tumor cells while being much less effective on normal cells; second, the apoptotic cells induce a host response that, in syngeneic animals, eliminates the surviving tumor cells. The fact that cells overexpressing the IGF-IR do not need the activation of other growth factor receptors for growth, whereas an activated IGF-IR is still required for the mitogenic action of other growth factors (see earlier), also suggests that the IGF-IR is, so to speak, downstream from other growth factors, making it a more vulnerable target. If the animal results were to be reproducible in humans, the IGF-IR would indeed become a target for an intelligent bullet, since it is a two-edge sword (it induces apoptosis and a host response) and can apparently discriminate between normal and tumor cells.

REFERENCES

Aaronson, S. (1991). Growth factors and cancer. Science 254, 1146-1153.

- Abraham, D., Lange, A. M., Yutanaviboonchai, W., Trpis, M., Dickerson, J. W., Swenson, B., and Eberhard, M. L. (1993). Survival and development of larval Onchocerca volvulus in primate and rodent hosts. J. Parasitol. 79, 571–582.
- Araki, E., Lipes, M. A., Patti, M. E., Bruning, J. C., Haag, B., III, Johnson, R. S., and Kahn, C. R. (1994). Alternative pathway of insulin signalling in mice with targeted disruption of the IS-1 gene. *Nature (London)* **372**, 186–190.
- Arteaga, C. L. (1992). Interference of the IGF system as a strategy to inhibit breast cancer growth. Breast Cancer Res. Treat. 22, 101-106.
- Askew, D. S., Ashmun, R. A., Simmons, B. C., and Cleveland, J. L. (1992). Constitutive cmyc expression in an IL-3-dependent myeloid cell line suppresses cell cycle arrest and accelerates apoptosis. Oncogene 6, 1915–1922.
- Baker, J., Liu, J.-P., Robertson, E. J., and Efstratiadis, A. (1993). Role of insulin-like growth factors in embryonic and postnatal growth. *Cell* **73**, 73–82.
- Ballotti, R., Lammers, R., Scimeca, J. C., Dull, T., Schlessinger, J., Ullrich, A., and Van Obberghen, E. (1989). Intermolecular transphosphorylation between insulin receptors and EGF-insulin receptor chimerae. *EMBO J.* 8, 3303–3309.
- Baltensperger, K., Kozma, L. M., Cherniack, A. D., Klarlund, J. K., Chawla, A., Banerjee, U., and Czech, M. P. (1993). Binding of the ras activator son of sevenless to insulin receptor substrate-1 signaling complexes. *Science* 260, 1950–1952.
- Barone, M. V., and Courtneidge, S. A. (1995). Myc but not Fos rescue of PDGF signalling block caused by kinase-inactive Src. *Nature (London)* **378**, 509–512.
- Baserga, R. (1994). Oncogenes and the strategy of growth factors. Cell 79, 927-930.
- Baserga, R., (1995). The insulin-like growth factor 1 receptor: A key to tumor growth? Cancer Res. 55, 249-252.

- Baserga, R., and Rubin, R. (1993). Cell cycle and growth control. Crit. Rev. Eukaryotic Gene Expression 3, 47-61.
- Basu, T., Warne, P. H., and Downward, J. (1994). Role of Shc in the activation of Ras in response to epidermal growth factor and nerve growth factor. Oncogene 8, 3483-3491.
- Bergmann, U., Funatomi, H., Yokoyama, M., Beger, H. G., and Korc, M. (1995). Insulinlike growth factor I overexpression in human pancreatic cancer: Evidence for autocrine and paracrine roles. *Cancer Res.* 55, 2007–2011.
- Blenis, J. (1993). Signal transduction via the MAP kinases: Proceed at your own RSK. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 90, 5889–5892.
- Brooks, P. G., Montgomery, A. M. P., Rosenfeld, M., et al. (1994). Integrin alpha/v beta/3 antagonists promote tumor regression by inducing apoptosis of angiogenic blood vessels. Cell 79, 1157–1164.
- Buckbinder, L., Talbott, R., Velasco-Miguel, S., Takenaka, I., Faha, B., Seizinger, B. R., and Kley, N. (1995). Induction of the growth inhibitor IGF-binding protein 3 by p53. *Nature (London)* **377**, 646–649.
- Burgaud, J.-L., and Baserga, R. (1996). Intracellular transactivation of the insulin-like growth factor I receptor by an epidermal growth factor receptor. *Exp. Cell Res.*, **223**, 412–419.
- Burgaud, J.-L., Resnicoff, M., and Baserga, R. (1995). Mutant IGF-I receptors as dominant negatives for growth and transformation. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 214, 475–481.
- Buscher, D., Hipskind, R. A., Krautwald, S., Reimann, T., and Baccarini, M. (1995). Rasdependent and -independent pathways target the mitogen activated protein kinase network in macrophages. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 15, 466–475.
- Cai, H., Erhardt, P., Szeberenyi, J., Diaz-Meco, M. T., Johansen, T., Moscat, J., and Cooper, G. M. (1992). Hydrolysis of phosphatidylcholine is stimulated by ras proteins during mitogenic signal transduction. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **12**, 5329–5335.
- Chantry, A. (1995). The kinase domain and membrane localization determine intracellular interactions between epidermal growth factor receptors. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 3068-3073.
- Chiasson, B. J., Armstrong, J. N., Hooper, M. L., Murphy, P. R., and Robertson, H. A. (1994). The application of antisense technology to the brain: Some pitfalls. *Cell. Mol. Neurobiol.* 14, 507–521.
- Christophori, G., Naik, P., and Hanahan, D. (1994). A second signal supplied by insulinlike growth factor II in oncogene-induced tumorigenesis. *Nature (London)* 369, 414-418.
- Cleveland, J. L., and Ihle, J. N. (1995). Contenders in FasL/TNF death signaling. *Cell* 81, 479–482.
- Conlon, M. A., Tomas, F. M., Owens, P. C., Wallace, J. C., Howarth, G. S., and Ballard, F. J. (1995). Long R/3 insulin-like growth factor I (IGF-I) infusion stimulates organ growth but reduces plasma IGF-I, IGF-II and IGF binding protein concentrations in the guinea pig. J. Endocrinol. 146, 247–253.
- Coppola, D., Ferber, A., Miura, M., Sell, C., D'Ambrosio, C., Rubin, R., and Baserga, R. (1994). A functional insulin-like growth factor I receptor is required for the mitogenic and transforming activities of the epidermal growth factor receptor. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 14, 4588–4595.
- D'Ambrosio, C., Keller, S. R., Morrione, A., Lienhard, G. E., Baserga, R., and Surmacz, E. (1995). Transforming potential of the insulin receptor substrate 1. *Cell Growth Differ.* 6, 557–562.
- D'Ambrosio, C., Ferber, A., Resnicoff, M., and Baserga, R. (1996). A soluble insulin-like

growth factor 1 receptor that induces apoptosis of tumor cells in vivo and inhibits tumorigenesis. *Cancer Res.* **56**, 4013–4020.

- DeAngelis, T., Ferber, A., and Baserga, R. (1995). The insulin-like growth factor I receptor is required for the mitogenic and transforming activities of the platelet-derived growth factor receptor. J. Cell. Physiol. 164, 214–221.
- D'Mello, S. R., Galli, C., Ciotti, T., and Calissano, P. (1993). Induction of apoptosis in cerebellar granule neurons by low potassium: Inhibition of death by insulin-like growth factor I and cAMP. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 90, 10989–10993.
- Evan, G., Wyllie, A., Gilbert, C., Littlewood, T., Land, H., Brooks, M., Waters, C., Penn, L., and Hancock, D. (1992). Induction of apoptosis in fibroblasts by the c-myc protein. *Cell* 69, 119–125.
- Falco, J. P., Taylor, W. G., DiFiore, P. P., Weissman, B. E., and Aaronson, S. A. (1988). Interaction of growth factors and retroviral oncogenes with mitogenic signal transduction pathways of Balb/MK keratinocytes. *Oncogene* 2, 573–578.
- Feinstein, R., Kanety, H., Papa, M. Z., Lunenfeld, B., and Karasik, A. (1993). Tumor necrosis factor alpha suppresses insulin-induced tyrosine phosphorylation of insulin receptor and its substrates. J. Biol. Chem. 268, 26055–26058.
- Fernandez, P. A., Rotello, R. J., Rangini, Z., Doupe, A., Drexler, H. C. A., and Yuan, J. (1994). Expression of a specific marker of avian programmed cell death in both apoptosis and necrosis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* **91**, 8641–8645.
- Fisher, D. E. (1994). Apoptosis in cancer therapy: Crossing the threshold. *Cell* 78, 539-542.
- Giles, R. V., Spiller, D. G., and Tidd, D. M. (1995). Detection of ribonuclease H-generated mRNA fragments in human leukemia cells following reversible membrane permeabilization in the presence of antisense oligodeoxynucleotides. *Antisense Res. Dev.* 5, 23-31.
- Gluckman, P., Klempt, N., Guan, J., Mallard, C., Sirimanne, E., Dragunow, M., Klempt, M., Singh, K., Williams, C.,and Nikolics, K. (1992). A role for IGF-1 in the rescue of CNS neurons following hypoxic-ischemic injury. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 182, 593-599.
- Gronborg, M., Wulff, B. S., Rasmussen, J. S., Kjeldsen, T., and Gammeltoft, S. (1993). Structure-function relationship of the insulin-like growth factor I receptor tyrosine kinase. J. Biol. Chem. 268, 23435–23440.
- Guieysse, A. L., Praseuth, D., Grigoriev, M., Harel-Bellan, A., and Helene, C. (1995). Oligonucleotide-directed switching of DNA polymeraes to a dead-end track. *Bio-chemistry* 34, 9193-9199.
- Harrington, E. A., Bennett, M. R., Fanidi, A., and Evan, G. I. (1994). c-myc induced apoptosis in fibroblasts is inhibited by specific cytokines. *EMBO J.* 13, 3286–3295.
- Hayry, P., Millarniemi, M., Aavik, E., Alatalo, S., Aho, P., Yilmaz, S., Haisanen-Sokolowski, A., Cozzone, G., Jameson, B. A., and Baserga, R. (1995). Stable D-peptide analog on insulin-like growth factor 1 inhibits smooth mucle cell proliferation after carotid ballooning injury in the rat. *FASEB J.* 9, 1336–1344.
- Hill, C. S., and Treisman, R. (1995). Transcriptional regulation by extracellular signals: Mechanisms and specificity. *Cell* 80, 199–211.
- Hongo, A., D'Ambrosio, C., Miura, M., Morrione, A., and Baserga, R. (1996). Mutational analysis of the mitogenic and transforming activities of the insulin-like growth factor I receptor. *Oncogene*, in press.
- Hotamisligil, G. S., Murray, D. L., Choy, L. N., and Spiegelman, B. M. (1994). Tumor necrosis factor alpha inhibits signaling from the insulin receptor. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 91, 4854–4858.
- Hotamisligil, G. S., Peraldi, P., Budavari, A., Ellis, R., White, M. F., and Spiegelman,

B. M. (1996). IRS-1-mediated inhibition of insulin receptor tyrosine kinase activity in TNF alpha and obesity-induced insulin resistance. *Science* **271**, 665–668.

- Kalebic, T., Tsokos, M., and Helman, L. J. (1994). In vivo treatment with antibody against the IGF-I receptor suppresses growth of human rhabdomyosarcoma and down regulates p34/cdc2. *Cancer Res.* 54, 5531–5534.
- Kaleko, M., Rutter, W. G., and Miller, A. D. (1990). Overexpression of the human insulinlike growth factor 1 receptor promotes ligand-dependent neoplastic transformation. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 10, 464–473.
- Kato, H., Faria, T. N., Stannard, B., Roberts, C. T., Jr., and LeRoith, D. (1993). Role of the tyrosine kinase domain in signal transduction by the insulin-like growth factor 1 IGF-1 receptor. J. Biol. Chem. 268, 2655-2661.
- Keller, S., and Lienhard, G. (1994). Insulin signalling: The role of insulin receptor substrate 1. Trends Cell Biol. 4, 115–119.
- Kurita, T., and Namiki, H. (1994). Apoptotic cell death induced by serum and its prevention by thiols. J. Cell. Physiol. 161, 63-70.
- Lammers, R., Gray, A., Schlessinger, J., and Ullrich, A. (1989). Differential signalling potential of insulin- and IGF-I receptor cytoplasmic domain. *EMBO J.* 8, 1369–1375.
- Lammers, R., Van Obberghen, E., Ballotti, R., Schlessinger, J., and Ullrich, A. (1990). Transphosphorylation as a possible mechanism for insulin and epidermal growth factor activation. J. Biol. Chem. 265, 16886–16890.
- Lange, A. M. Yutanawiboonchai, W. Scott, P., and Abraham, D. (1994). IL-4 and IL-5 dependent protective immunity to Onchocerca volvulus infective larvae in Balb/cBYJ mice. J. Immunol. 153, 205–221.
- Li, S., Ferber, A., Miura, M., and Baserga, R. (1994). Mitogenicity and transforming activity of the insulin-like growth factor I receptor with mutations in the tyrosine kinase domain. J. Biol. Chem. 269, 32558–32564.
- Li, S., Resnicoff, M., and Baserga, R. (1996). Effect of mutations at serine 1280–1283 on the mitogenic and transforming activities of the insulin-like growth factor 1 receptor. J. Biol. Chem. 271, 12254–12260.
- Liu, D., Zong, C., and Wang, L. H. (1993). Distinctive effects of the carboxyl-terminal sequence of the insulin-like growth factor I receptor on its signaling functions. J. Virol. 67, 6835–6840.
- Liu, J.-P., Baker, J., Perkins, A. S., Robertson, E. J., and Efstratiadis, A. (1993). Mice carrying null mutations of the genes encoding insulin-like growth factor I (igf-1) and type 1 IGF receptor (igflr). *Cell* 75, 59–72.
- Long, L., Rubin, R., Baserga, R., and Brodt, P. (1995). Loss of the metastatic phenotype in murine carcinoma cells expressing an antisense RNA to the insulin-like growth factor I receptor. *Cancer Res.* **55**, 1006–1009.
- Lu, K., Levine, R. A., and Campisi, J. (1989). c-ras-Ha gene expression is regulated by insulin or insulin-like growth factor and by epidermal growth factor in murine fibroblasts. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 9, 3411–3417.
- Macaulay, V. M. (1992). Insulin-like growth factors and cancer. Brt. J. Cancer 65, 311-320.
- Majno, G., and Joris, I. (1995). Apoptosis, oncosis and necrosis. Am. J. Pathol. 146, 3-15.

Matuoka, K., Shibasaki, F., Shibata, M., and Takenawa, T. (1993). Ash/Grb2, a SH2/SH3containing protein, couples to signaling for mitogenesis and cytoskeletal reorganization by EGF and PDGF. *EMBO J.* 12, 3467–3473.

- McCormick, F. (1993). How receptors turn Ras on. Nature (London) 363, 15-16.
- McCubrey, J. A., Stillman, L. S., Mayhew, M. W., Algate, P. A., Dellow, R. A., and Kaleko, M. (1991). Growth promoting effects of insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1) on

hematopoietic cells: Overexpression of introduced IGF-1 receptor abrogates interleukin-3 dependency of murine factor dependent cells by ligand dependent mechanism. *Blood* **78**, 921–929.

- Medema, R. H., and Bos, J. L. (1993). The role of p21 ras in receptor tyrosine kinase signaling. Crit. Rev. Oncogen. 4, 615–661.
- Miura, M., Li, S., and Baserga, R. (1995a). Effect of a mutation at tyrosine 950 of the insulin-like growth factor I receptor on the growth and transformation of cells. *Cancer Res.* 55, 663–667.
- Miura, M., Surmacz, E., Burgaud, J. L., and Baserga, R. (1995b). Different effects on mitogenesis and transformation of a mutation at tyrosine 1251 of the insulin-like growth factor I receptor. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 22639-22644.
- Montgomery, A. M. P., Reisfeld, R. A., and Cheresh, D. A. (1994). Integrin alpha/v beta/3 rescues melanoma cells from apoptosis in three-dimensional dermal collagen. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.91, 8856-8860.
- Morrione, A., DeAngelis, T., and Baserga, R. (1995). Failure of the bovine papilloma virus to transform mouse embryo fibroblasts with a targeted disruption of the insulin-like growth factor I receptor gene. J. Virol. 69, 5300–5303.
- Myers, M. J., Sun, X. J., Cheatham, B., Jachna, B. R., Glasheen, E. M., Backer, J. M., and White, M. F. (1993). IRS-1 is a common element in insulin and insulin-like growth factor-I signaling to the phosphatidylinositol 3'-kinase. *Endocrinology* 132, 1421–1430.
- Neuenschwander, S., Roberts, C. T., Jr., and LeRoith, D. (1995). Growth inhibition of MCF-7 breast cancer cells by stable expression of an insulin-like growth factor 1 receptor antisense ribonucleic acid. *Endocrinology* 136, 4298–4303.
- Nicholson, D. W., All, A., Thornberry, N. A., et al. (1995). Identification and inhibition of the ICE/CED-3 protease necessary for mammalian apoptosis. Nature (London) 376, 37-43.
- Ohmichi, M., Matuoka, K., Takenawa, T., and Saltiel, A. R. (1994). Growth factors differentially stimulate the phosphorylation of Shc proteins and their association with Grb2 in PC-12 pheochromocytoma cells. J. Biol. Chem. 269, 1143-1148.
- O'Neill, T. J., Craparo, A., and Gustafson, T. A. (1994). Characterization of an interaction between insulin receptor substrate-1 and the insulin receptor by using the twohybrid system. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **14**, 6433–6442.
- Pelicci, G., Lanfrancone, L., Grignani, F., McGlade, J., Cavallo, F., Forni, G., Nicoletti, I., Grignani, F., Pawson, T., and Pelicci, G. (1992). A novel transforming protein (SHC) with an SH2 domain is implicated in mitogenic signal transduction. *Cell* 70, 93-104.
- Peterson, J. E., Jelinek, T., Kaleko, M., Siddle, K., and Weber, M. J. (1994). Phosphorylation and activation of the IGF-I receptor in src-transformed cells. J. Biol. Chem. 269, 27315-27321.
- Pietrzkowski, Z., Lammers, R., Carpenter, G., Soderquist, A. M., Limardo, M., Phillips, P. D., Ullrich, A., and Baserga, R. (1992a). Constitutive expression of insulin-like growth factor 1 and insulin-like growth factor 1 receptor abrogates all requirements for exogenous growth factors. *Cell Growth Differ.* **3**, 199–205.
- Pietrzkowski, Z., Sell, C., Lammers, R., Ullrich, A., and Baserga, R. (1992b). Roles of insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-I) and the IGF-I receptor in epidermal growth factorstimulated growth of 3T3 cells. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 12, 3883–3889.
- Pietrzkowski, Z., Werniche, D., Porcu, P., Jameson, B. A., and Baserga, R. (1992c). Inhibition of cellular proliferation by peptide analogues of insulin-like growth factor 1. Cancer Res. 52, 6447-6451.
- Prager, D., Li, H. L., Asa, S., and Melmed, S. (1994). Dominant negative inhibition of tumorigenesis in vivo by human insulin-like growth factor receptor mutant. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 91, 2181–2185.
- Pronk, G. J., McGlade, J., Pelicci, G., Pawson, T., and Bos, J. L. (1993). Insulin-induced phosphorylation of the 46- and 52-kDa Shc proteins. J. Biol. Chem. 268, 5748–5753.
- Resnicoff, M., Coppola, D., Sell, C., Rubin, R., Ferrone, S., and Baserga, R. (1994a). Growth inhibition of human melanoma cells in nude mice by antisensense strategies to the type 1 insulin-like growth factor receptor. *Cancer Res.* 54, 4848–4850.
- Resnicoff, M., Sell, C., Rubini, M., Coppola, D., Ambrose, D., Baserga, D., and Rubin, R. (1994b). Rat glioblastoma cells expressing an antisense RNA to the insulin-like growth factor I (IGF-I) receptor are non-tumorigenic and induce regression of wildtype tumors. *Cancer Res.* 54, 2218–2222.
- Resnicoff, M., Abraham, D., Yutanawiboonchai, W., Rotman, H., Kajstura, J., Rubin, R., Zoltick, P., and Baserga, R. (1995a). The insulin-like growth factor I receptor protects tumor cells from apoptosis *in vivo. Cancer Res.* 55, 2463–2469.
- Resnicoff, M., Burgaud, J.-L., Rotman, H. L., Abraham, D., and Baserga, R. (1995b). Correlation between apoptosis, tumorigenesis and levels of insulin-like growth factor I receptors. *Cancer Res.* 55, 3739–3741.
- Rodriguez-Tarduchy, G., Collins, M. K. L., Garcia, I., and Lopez-Rivas, A. (1992). Insulinlike growth factor I inhibits apoptosis in IL-3 dependent hemopoietic cells. J. Immunol. 149, 535-540.
- Rogler, C. E., Yang, D., Rossetti, L., Donohoe, J., Alt, E., Chang, C. J., Rosenfeld, R., Neely, K., and Hintz, R. (1994). Altered body composition and increased frequency of diverse malignancies in insulin-like growth factor II transgenic mice. J. Biol. Chem. 269, 13779–13784.
- Rose, D. W., Satiel, A. R., Majumdar, M., Decker, S. J., and Olefsky, J. M. (1994). Insulin receptor substrate 1 is required for insulin-mediated mitogenic signal transduction. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 91, 797–801.
- Rubini, M., Werner, H., Gandini, E., Roberts, C. T., Jr., LeRoith, D., and Baserga, R. (1994). Platelet-derived growth factor increases the activity of the promoter of the insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1) receptor gene. *Exp. Cell Res.* 211, 374–379.
- Ruoslahti, E., and Reed, J. C. (1994). Anchorage dependence, integrins, and apoptosis. Cell 77, 477–478.
- Sainio, K., Saarma, M., Nonclercq, D., Paulin, L., and Sariola, H. (1994). Antisense inhibition of low-affinity nerve growth factor receptor in kidney cultures: Power and pitfalls. *Cell. Mol. Neurobiol.* 14, 439–457.
- Sakaue, M., Botwell, D., and Kasuga, M. (1995). A dominant-negative mutant of mSOS1 inhibits insulin-induced ras activation and reveals ras-dependent and -independent insulin signaling pathways. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 15, 379–388.
- Salcini, A. E., McGlade, J., Pelicci, G., Nicoletti, I., Pawson,, T., and Pelicci, P. G. (1994). Formation of Shc-Grb2 complexes is necessary to induce neoplastic transformation by overexpression of Shc proteins. Oncogene 9, 2827–2836.
- Scher, C. D., Shephard, R. C., Antoniades, H. N., and Stiles, C. D. (1979). Platelet derived growth factor and the regulation of the mammalian fibroblasts cell cycles. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 560, 217–241.
- Schumacher, R., Soos, M. A., Schlessinger, J., Brandenburg, D., Siddle, K., and Ullrich, A. (1993). Signaling-competent receptor chimeras allow mapping of major insulin receptor binding domain determinants. J. Biol. Chem. 268, 1087–1094.
- Sell, C., Rubini, M., Rubin, R., Liu, J.-P., Efstratiadis, A., and Baserga, R. (1993). Simian virus 40 large tumor antigen is unable to transform mouse embryonic fibroblasts lacking type-1 IGF receptor. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* **90**, 11217–11221.

- Sell, C., Dumenil, G., Deveaud, C., Miura, M., Coppola, D., DeAngelis, T., Rubin, R., Efstratiadis, A., and Baserga, R. (1994). Effect of a null mutation of the type 1 IGF receptor gene on growth and transformation of mouse embryo fibroblasts. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 14, 3604–3612.
- Sell, C., Baserga, R., and Rubin, R. (1995). Insulin-like growth factor (IGF-I) and the IGF-I receptor prevent etoposide-induced apoptosis. *Cancer Res.* 55, 303-306.
- Shapiro, D. N., Jones, B. G., Shapiro, L. H., Dias, P., and Houghton, P. J. (1994). Antisense-mediated reduction in insulin-like growth factor 1 receptor expression suppresses the malignant phenotype of a human alveolar rhabdomyosarcoma. J. Clin. Invest. 94, 1235-1242.
- Silvennoinen, O., Schindler, C., Schlessinger, J., and Levy, D. E. (1993). Ras-independent growth factor signaling by transcription factor tyrosin phosphorylation. *Science* 261, 1736–1739.
- Smith, C. A., Farrah, T., and Goodwin, R. G. (1994). The TNF receptor superfamily of cellular and viral proteins: Activation, co-stimulation and death. *Cell* 76, 959–962.
- Steller, H. (1995). Mechanisms and genes of cellular suicide. Science 267, 1445–1449.
- Stiles, C. D., Capone, G. T., Scher, C. D., Antoniades, N. H., Van Wyk, J. J., and Pledger, W. J. (1979). Dual control of cell growth by somatomedins and platelet derived growth factor. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* **76**, 1279–1283.
- Sun, X. J., Miralpeix, M., Myers, M., Glasheen, E. M., Backer, J. M., Kahn, C. R., and White, M. F. (1992). Expression and function of IRS-1 in insulin signal transmission. *J. Biol. Chem.* 267, 22662–22672.
- Surmacz, E., Sell, C., Swantek, J., Kato, H., Roberts, C. T., Jr., LeRoith, D., and Baserga, R. (1995). Dissociation of mitogenesis and transforming activity by C-terminal truncation of the insulin-like growth factor I receptor. *Exp. Cell Res.* 218, 370–380.
- Takata, Y., and Kobayashi, M. (1994). Insulin-like growth factor I signalling through heterdimers of insulin and insulin-like growth factor I receptors. *Diabetes Metab.* 20, 331–36.
- Taouis, M., Levy-Toledano, R., Roach, P., Taylor, S. L., and Gorden, P. (1994). Rescue and activation of a binding-deficient insulin receptor. J. Biol. Chem. 269, 27762–27766.
- Tavaré, J. M., and Siddle, K. (1993). Mutational analysis of insulin receptor function: consensus and controversy. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1178, 21–39.
- Thompson, C. B. (1995). Apoptosis in the pathogenesis and treatment of disease. *Science* **267**, 1456–1462.
- Tobe, K., Matuoka, K., Tamemoto, H., Ueki, K., Kaburagi, Y., Asai, S., Noguchi, T., Matsuda, M., Tanaka, S., Hattori, S., Fukui, Y., Akanuma, Y., Yazaki, Y., Takenawa, T., and Kadowaki, T. (1993). Insulin stimulates association of insulin receptor substrate-1 with the protein abundant Src homology/growth factor receptor-bound protein 2. J. Biol. Chem. 268, 11167-11171.
- Trojan, J., Johnson, T. R., Rudin, S. D., Ilan, J., Tykocinski, M. L., and Ilan, I. (1993). Treatment and prevention of rat glioblastoma by immunogenic C6 cells expressing antisense insulin-like growth factor I RNA. Science 256, 94–97.
- Ullrich, A., and Schlessinger, J. (1990). Signal transduction by receptors with tyrosine kinase activity. *Cell* **61**, 203–212.
- Ullrich, A., Gray, A., Tam, A. W., Yang-Feng, T., Tsubokawa, M., Collins, C., Henzel, W., Le Bon, T., Kahuria, S., Chen, E., Jakobs, S., Francke, U., Ramachandran, J., and Fujita-Yamaguchi, Y. (1986). Insulin-like growth factor I receptor primary structure: comparison with insulin receptor suggests structural determinants that define functional specificity. *EMBO J.* 5, 503–512.
- Vuori, K., and Ruoslahti, E. (1994). Association of insulin receptor substrate-1 with integrins. Science 266, 1576–1578.

- Wang, E. (1995). Senescent human fibroblasts resist programmed cell death, and failure to suppress bcl-2 is involved. *Cancer Res.* 55, 2284–2292.
- Wang, L. M., Myers, M. G., Jr., Sun, X. J., Aaronson, S. A., White, M., and Pierce, J. (1993). IRS-1: Essential for insulin and IL-4-stimulated mitogenesis in hemopoietic cells. *Science* 261, 1591–1594.
- Waters, S. B., Yamauchi, K., and Pessin, J. E. (1993). Functional expression of insulin receptor substrate-1 is required for insulin-stimulted mitogenic signaling. J. Biol. Chem. 268, 22231-22234.
- Werner, H., Woloschak, M., Stannard, B., Shen-Orr, Z., Roberts, C. T., and LeRoith, D. (1991). The insulin-like growth factor receptor. In "Insulin-Like Growth Factors: Molecular and Cellular Aspects" (D. LeRoith, Ed.), pp. 17–47. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL.
- Werner, H., Karnieli, E., Rauscher, F. J., III, and LeRoith, D. (1996). Wild type and mutant p53 differentially regulate transcription of insulin-like growth factor 1 receptor gene. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 93, 8318–8323.
- White, M. F., and Kahn, C. R. (1994). The insulin signaling system. J. Biol. Chem. 269, 1-4.
- Whyte, M., and Evan, G. (1995). The last cut is the deepest. Nature (London) 376, 17-18.
- Yamauchi, K., and Pessin, J. E. (1994). Enhancement or inhibition of insulin signaling by insulin receptor substrate 1 is cell context dependent. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 14, 4427–4434.
- Zhou-Li, F., D'Ambrosio, C., Li, S., Surmacz, E., and Baserga, R. (1995). Association of insulin receptor substrate 1 with simian virus 40 large T antigen. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 15,4232-4239.

Bcl-2 Family Proteins and the Hormonal Control of Cell Life and Death in Normalcy and Neoplasia

JOHN C. REED

The Burnham Institute Cancer Research Center La Jolla, California 92037

- I. Introduction
- II. The Bcl-2 Protein Family
- III. Mechanisms of Bcl-2 Protein Action
 - A. Identification of Functionally Important Domains in Bcl-2 Family Proteins: Correlations with Homo-Heterodimerization and Function
 - B. Interactions of Bcl-2 with Nonhomologous Proteins
- IV. Bcl-2 Family Proteins as Determinants of Tumor Resistance to Chemotherapeutic Drugs, Glucocorticoids, Retinoids, Antiandrogens, and Antiestrogens
- V. In Vivo Patterns of Bcl-2 Family Gene Expression in Hormone-Dependent Tissues and Tumors Derived From Them
 - A. Breast
 - B. Endometrium
 - C. Ovary
 - D. Prostate
 - E. Thyroid
 - F. Thymus
- VI. Conclusions References

I. INTRODUCTION

A continuous cycle of cell birth and death occurs in essentially all tissues with self-renewal capacity, with new cells being produced through cell division and old cells dying principally through programmed cell death and its morphological counterpart, apoptosis. So massive is this flux of cells through our bodies that, in the course of a typical year, it has been estimated each of us will produce and simultaneously eradicate a mass of cells equivalent to nearly our entire body weight. This delicate balance between cell production and cell death ensures that overall numbers of cells are maintained within physiologically appropriate ranges. Consequently, disturbances in the homeostatic mechanisms that normally balance cell production with cell death can contribute to the origins of cancer, imparting neoplastic cells with a selective growth advantage because of accelerated rates of cell proliferation, decreased rates of cell demise, or both. Moreover, while defects in cell cycle checkpoint mechanisms and other disturbances in cell proliferation often render tumor cells relatively more susceptible to the cytotoxic effects of chemotherapeutic drugs and radiation compared to normal cells, defects in the cell death pathway can promote chemo- and radioresistance by allowing tumor cells to survive despite having been damaged by drugs or radiation. Thus, the same genetic and biochemical disturbances in the physiological cell death pathway that contribute to the pathogenesis of tumors in the first place can also endow tumors with resistance to cytotoxic chemotherapeutic drugs, antihormonal agents, and X-irradiation, possibly explaining the "intrinsic" resistance of many types of solid tumors to currently available treatment.

Among the more prominent regulators of apoptosis are members of the Bcl-2 family of proteins. These proteins appear to regulate a distal step in an evolutionarily conserved pathway for physiological cell death and apoptosis, with some members functioning as suppressors of apoptosis and others as promoters of cell death. The expression of Bcl-2 can be regulated by steroid hormones under some circumstances, providing a potential mechanistic link between these factors and the control of cell life and death. Aberrant expression of Bcl-2 and some of its homologs has been observed in several types of human cancer, and may contribute to hormone-independent growth or impart resistance to retinoid- and glucocorticoid-induced cell death in certain subgroups of solid tumors, lymphomas, and leukemias. Though the biochemical mechanisms of action of Bcl-2 family proteins remain enigmatic, studies of the physical interactions of these apoptosis-regulating proteins with each other as well as with other nonhomologous partner proteins are beginning to provide insights into the molecular biology of apoptosis regulation and may reveal novel approaches to the treatment of cancer.

II. THE Bcl-2 PROTEIN FAMILY

The Bcl-2 gene was discovered by virtue of its involvement in the t(14;18) chromosomal translocations commonly found in non-Hodgkin's B-cell lymphomas, thus the name B-cell lymphoma/leukemia-2 (BCL-2) (Tsujimoto et al., 1985). The protein encoded by the BCL-2 gene is a potent blocker of programmed cell death (Vaux et al., 1988; Hockenbery et al., 1990; Reed et al., 1990). Deregulation of the production of this protein as a result of t(14;18) translocations contributes to neoplastic

B-cell expansion by preventing cell turnover rather than by accelerating rates of cell division (McDonnell *et al.*, 1989, 1990; Katsumata *et al.*, 1992), making *BCL-2* the first example of a human proto-oncogene that functions through effects on cell death rather than cell cycle.

Since the discovery of Bcl-2 over a decade ago, several proteins with significant amino acid sequence homology have subsequently been identified that comprise the Bcl-2 protein family (Table I). Interestingly, some of these proteins block apoptosis when overexpressed by gene transfer methods, whereas others promote cell death. To date, at least nine mammalian homologs of Bcl-2 have been described, including the antiapoptotic proteins Bcl-X1, Mcl-1, and A1/Blf-1; the proapoptotic proteins Bax, Bcl-X_S, Bad, Bak, and Bik; and an additional homolog BRAG-1 that is overexpressed in glioblastomas and presumably functions as a cell death blocker (Oltvai et al., 1993; Boise et al., Kozopas et al., 1993; E. Y. Lin et al., 1993, 1996; Das et al., 1996; Choi et al., 1995; Reynolds et al., 1994; Kiefer et al., 1995; E. Yang et al., 1995; Chittenden et al., 1995b; Farrow et al., 1995; Boyd et al., 1995). An additional homolog of Bcl-2, called Nr-13, has also been identified in avian cells transformed with v-src and has been speculated to function as a blocker of cell death (Gillet et al., 1995). Moreover, several of the genes

Protein	Source	Primary Function
Bcl-2	Mammalian	Antiapoptotic
Bcl-X,	Mammalian	Antiapoptotic
Bcl-X	Mammalian	Proapoptotic
Bax	Mammalian	Proapoptotic
Mcl-1	Mammalian	Antiapoptotic
A1/Bfl-1	Mammalian	Antiapoptotic
Brag-1	Mammalian	Antiapoptotic ^a
Bad	Mammalian	Proapoptotic
Bak	Mammalian	Proapoptotic
Bik	Mammalian	Proapoptotic
Nr13	Avian	Antiapoptotic ^a
Ced-9	Nematode	Antiapoptotic
E1b-19 kDa	Adenovirus	Antiapoptotic
BHRF1	Epstein–Barr virus	Antiapoptotic
LMW5-HL	African swine fever virus	Not tested
ORF-16	Herpes virus Saimiri	Not tested

TABLE I BCL-2 Family Proteins

 $^a{\rm Function}$ not formally tested but over expression in tumors and presence of BH4 domains suggest antiapoptotic. encoding these apoptosis-regulating proteins can also generate less abundant additional protein isoforms through alternative splicing mechanisms. Among the most striking examples are the Bcl- X_L and Bcl- X_S proteins, which arise through alternative mRNA splicing mechanisms from a common gene and which function in diametrically opposed fashions as cell death blockers and promoters, respectively (Boise *et al.*, 1993). In addition, four homologs of Bcl-2 have been discovered in viruses: 19-kDa E1b (adenovirus), BHRF-1 (Epstein-Barr virus), LMH-5W (African swine fever virus), and ORF-16 (herpesvirus Saimiri) (Rao *et al.*, 1992; Golemis *et al.*, 1994; Neilan *et al.*, 1993; Smith, 1995). An antiapoptotic homolog has also been identified in the nematode *Caenorhabditis elegans* that has been termed Ced-9 (Hengartner and Horvitz, 1994).

Several of these homologous proteins can interact with each other, thus constituting a network of homo- and heterodimers that regulate programmed cell death (Oltvai et al., 1993; Sato et al., 1994a; Yin et al., 1994; Hanada et al., 1995; Bodrug et al., 1995; Sedlak et al., 1995). The relative ratios of these various pro- and antiapoptotic members of the Bcl-2 family have been shown to determine the ultimate sensitivity or resistance of cells to diverse apoptotic stimuli, including chemotherapeutic drugs and radiation, growth factor deprivation, loss of cell attachment to extracellular matrix proteins (an issue of potential relevance to mechanisms of tumor metastasis), hypoxia (a common occurrence in the centers of large tumors), and lysis by cytolytic T- cells (reviewed in Reed, 1994, 1995). The cell death pathway regulated by Bcl-2 family proteins appears to be evolutionarily conserved, based on the observations that (a) the human Bcl-2 protein can partially substitute for the endogenous homolog Ced-9 in preventing developmental cell death in the nematode C. elegans (Vaux et al., 1992; Hengartner and Horvitz, 1994); (b) Bcl-2 can rescue superoxide dismutase (sod)deficient strains of budding yeast from the growth-inhibitory effects of aerobic conditions (Kane et al., 1993); (c) the proapoptotic protein Bax confers a lethal phenotype on yeast, which can be reversed by coexpression of the antiapoptotic proteins Bcl-2, Bcl-X₁, or Mcl-1 (Sato et al., 1994a, 1995; Bodrug et al., 1995); and (d) Bcl-2 can protect insect cells from baculovirus-induced apoptosis (Alnemri et al., 1992b).

III. MECHANISMS OF Bcl-2 PROTEIN ACTION

The mechanism by which Bcl-2 and its homologs control the programmed cell death pathway remains enigmatic to date, due mostly to the lack of any significant homology between Bcl-2 family proteins and other proteins whose biochemical mechanism of action is know. The human Bcl-2 protein has a molecular mass of ~ 26 kDa and contains a stretch of hydrophobic amino acids at its C terminus that allows it to posttranslationally insert into intracellular membranes, primarily the outer mitochondrial membrane, nuclear envelope, and endoplasmic reticulum (Krajewski *et al.*, 1993; Jacobson *et al.*, 1993; Monaghan *et al.*, 1992; Silvestrini *et al.*, 1994). Most other members of the Bcl-2 family also contain a transmembrane domain near the C termini and, where examined to date, appear to reside within approximately in the same intracellular membrane compartments (T. Yang *et al.*, 1995; González-Garcia *et al.*, 1994).

Several theories have been advanced as to how Bcl-2 and its homologs control cell life and death. Data have been presented, for example, that argue both in favor and against the possibility of an effect of Bcl-2 on an antioxidant pathway in cells (Kane et al., 1993; Hockenbery et al., 1993; Jacobson and Raff, 1995; Shimizu et al., 1995). It has also been suggested that Bcl-2 may regulate the homeostasis of Ca^{2+} in cells, based on experiments that have shown an ability of Bcl-2 overexpression to influence the sequestration of Ca^{2+} within the endoplasmic reticulum and (in some cases) to prevent the accumulation of Ca^{2+} in mitochondria of cells subjected to an apoptotic stimulus (Baffy et al., 1993; Lam et al., 1994). Evidence has also been presented suggesting that Bcl-2 can control the transport of proteins across biological membranes, particularly the nuclear envelope (Ryan et al., 1994; Meikrantz et al., 1994). In this regard, electron microscopic studies have demonstrated the presence of Bcl-2 protein in association with what appear to be nuclear pore complexes (Krajewski et al., 1993). It has been hypothesized that Bcl-2 may control the activity of a family of cysteine proteases with homology to the interleukin-1 β converting enzyme (ICE), based on genetic arguments from studies of cell death genes in the nematode C. elegans (Yuan et al., 1993). Indeed, biochemical evidence supporting this idea has been obtained through experiments that have demonstrated that overexpression of Bcl-2 can prevent the proteolytic processing and activation of the ICE homolog CPP32B/YAMA in mammalian cells (Chinnaiyan et al., 1996; Boulakia et al., 1996). Moreover, Bcl-2 may influence the activities of certain transcription factors under some circumstances, including p53 and nuclear factor-kB (Upadhyay et al., 1995; K.-I. Lin et al., 1995; Albrecht et al., 1994; Shen and Shenk, 1994). Finally, the association of Bcl-2 with the kinase Raf-1 and reports of interactions with the GTPases R-Ras and H-Ras have raised the possibility that Bcl-2 may control a signal transduction pathway that is focused on the intracellular membrane compartments where Bcl-2 resides, rather than the plasma membrane, where such enzymes are associated with growth factor receptor function (Wang *et al.*, 1994, 1995; Fernandez-Sarbia and Bischoff, 1993; Chen and Faller, 1996). In no case, however, has a direct cause-and-effect relation been demonstrated between Bcl-2 and these processes, and at this point it is unknown whether the effects of Bcl-2 on redox state, Ca^{2+} compartmentalization, protein transport, transcription factors, and protease activation represented direct effects of Bcl-2 or downstream events that are hundreds of steps removed from Bcl-2.

A. Identification of Functionally Important Domains in Bcl-2 Family Proteins: Correlations with Homo-Heterodimerization and Function

In the absence of a clear function for the Bcl-2 protein, several groups have attempted to map functionally important domains in the Bcl-2 protein, asking what the roles of these domains are both for antiapoptotic function and for interactions with other proteins. At present, at least four well-conserved domains can be recognized in the Bcl-2 protein based on sequence comparisons with the Bcl-2 proteins derived from various species (human, rat, mouse, chicken, worm) and from other Bcl-2 family proteins, as well as from functional analysis of the repercussions of deleting or mutating these domains. Though various names for these domains can be found in the literature, we have recently proposed the terms BH1, BH2, BH3, and BH4, where BH stands for Bcl-2 homology domain as originally suggested by Oltvai *et al.* (1993; Zha *et al.*, 1996a). For historical reasons, these fours domains are unfortunately not ordered sequentially along the protein from the N to the C terminus.

Figure 1 depicts the structures of Bcl-2 and its cellular homologs. In the human Bcl-2 protein, the BH1, BH2, BH3, and BH4 domains reside at amino acid positions 136–155 (BH1), 187–202 (BH2), 93–107 (BH3), and 10–30 (BH4). The transmembrane domain (TM) of Bcl-2 resides at positions 219–237. Of interest, the BH4 domain (also known as the Abox) (Sato *et al.*, 1994a,b; Hanada *et al.*, 1995) is not found in most proapoptotic Bcl-2 family proteins, including Bax, Bak, Bik, and Bad, suggesting that this domain may play a unique role in the function of the antiapoptotic proteins such as Bcl-2, Bcl-X_L, Mcl-1, A1/Bfl-1, and Ced-9. The BH4 domain, however, is found in the cell death-promoting protein Bcl-X_S, which suggests either that the BH4 domain is not directly involved in the antiapoptotic function of Bcl-2 family proteins or,



FIG. 1. Structures of Bcl-2 family proteins.

more likely, that the Bcl- X_S protein can function at least in part as a dominant inhibitor of Bcl-2 and its antiapoptotic homologs by competing for whatever proteins or protein domains might normally interact with BH4. Also of note in Fig. 1 is the observation that one of the proapoptotic proteins, Bik, contains only the BH3 domain, implying that this particular domain may be uniquely important in the promotion of apoptosis (Boyd *et al.*, 1995). Indeed, deletional analysis of the Bax and Bak proteins suggests that this is the case, as is discussed later in more detail (Zha *et al.*, 1996a; Chittenden *et al.*, 1995a). Though some antiapoptotic proteins do contain regions with homology to BH3,

there exist clear sequence differences that distinguish the BH3 domains of the proapoptotic proteins Bax, Bak, and Bik from the antiapoptotic proteins Bcl-2, Bcl-X_L, and Mcl-1 (Zha *et al.*, 1996a). Moreover, it has been demonstrated that substituting the BH3 domain of Bax for the corresponding domain in Bcl-2 converts the Bcl-2 protein from a cell death blocker to a cell death promoter (Hunter and Parslow, 1996).

Deletion of the N-terminal BH4 domain of Bcl-2 as well as the downstream BH1 and BH2 domains prevents the resulting mutant Bcl-2 proteins from forming homodimers with themselves, though they can still bind the wild-type Bcl-2 protein, forming mutant-wild-type heterodimers (Hanada *et al.*, 1995). These mutants also are deficient in antiapoptotic function in mammalian cells (Borner *et al.*, 1994), suggesting the possibility that Bcl-2-Bcl-2 homodimerization is important for function. In this regard, data suggest that deletion of the BH4 domain of Bcl-2 converts the protein to a dominant inhibitor of the wild-type Bcl-2 protein, suggesting that mutant-wild-type heterodimers of Bcl-2 may be dysfunctional dimers (Hunter *et al.*, 1996). This observation also provides insights into the potential mechanism by which the Bad protein may promote cell death, since it contains the BH1 and BH2 domains but lacks the BH4 domain (Fig. 1).

The capacity of deletion mutants of Bcl-2 to retain their ability to bind the wild-type Bcl-2 protein can be explained by data that suggest that Bcl-2-Bcl-2 homodimerization involves a head-to-tail association in which sequences located in the first ~ 80 amino acids of the protein, where the BH4 domain resides, form an interaction with sequences located in the more distal portions of the protein (from approximately amino acid 85 to the TM), where the BH1, BH2, and BH3 domains are located (Sato et al., 1994b). Thus, a Bcl-2 mutant protein in which the BH1 and/or BH2 domains have been deleted, for example, can still bind via its BH4 domain to the wild-type Bcl-2 protein or to Bcl-2 protein fragments that retain an intact distal region (from approximately amino acid 85 to the TM) where BH1, BH2, and BH3 reside. This observation may provide some insights into the mechanism by which the Bcl-X_s protein promotes apoptosis, given that it contains the BH4 domain but is lacking the BH1 and BH2 domains and can therefore bind to Bcl-2, presumably sequestering the protein in dysfunctional Bcl-2-Bcl-X_c heterodimer (Sato et al., 1994b).

It should be noted, however, that it has been suggested that the headto-tail interaction between the N-terminal region where BH4 lies and the more distal region where BH1 and BH2 reside may occur intramolecularly versus intermolecularly in the case of at least some Bcl2 family proteins (Minn *et al.*, 1996). These proteins may have little capacity for homodimerization but are still able to heterodimerize with certain other members of the Bcl-2 protein family.

In contrast to Bcl-2-Bcl-2 homodimerization, the BH4 domain of the Bcl-2 protein is completely expendible for dimerization with Bax. Indeed, the first ~80 amino acids of Bcl-2 can be removed without impairing heterodimerization with Bax (Hanada et al., 1995). Given that the Bax protein lacks a BH4 domain, this observation suggests that the structural features by which Bcl-2 interacts with Bax versus with itself are considerably different. Though BH4 is not required for heterodimerization with Bax, the BH1 and BH2 domains are needed (BH3 has not been tested to date) (Yin et al., 1994; Hanada et al., 1995). Indeed, single amino acid substitutions in the BH1 and BH2 domains of Bcl-2 have been shown to impair binding to Bax and abrogate antiapoptotic function in lymphoid cells (Yin et al., 1994). These data argue that, for Bcl-2 to suppress cell death, it must be capable of heterodimerizing with Bax. (It is important to note, however, that while we describe the interactions of Bcl-2 with itself and Bax as dimers, in fact the stoichiometry of these protein-protein interactions is unknown at present.) Notwithstanding these data implying an essential role of heterodimerization of Bcl-2 with Bax, the finding that the N-terminal region of Bcl-2. where BH4 resides, is needed for function but not for dimerization with Bax argues that Bcl-2-Bax heterodimer formation is insufficient by itself for blocking apoptosis and that the Bcl-2 protein must fulfill other functions as well. In this regard, not only are deletion mutants of Bcl-2 lacking the BH4 domain incapable of suppressing apoptosis in mammalian cells, but they also fail to rescue yeast from Bax-induced lethality despite binding to Bax (Sato et al., 1994a; Hanada et al., 1995). Thus, whatever the role of the N-terminal domain in suppressing Baxmediated cell death, it appears to be evolutionarily conserved.

One idea is that BH4 domain of Bcl-2 may be required to sterically interfere with the binding of Bax to some other death effector protein or to somehow modulate posttranslational modifications of the Bax protein. It is also possible, however, that this domain is required for Bcl-2–Bcl-2 homodimerization or for interactions of Bcl-2 with other proteins that require the BH4 domain for their association with Bcl-2–Bax complexes. In this regard, data indicate that the association of BAG-1 and Raf-1, two proteins that have been demonstrated to associate with protein complexes containing Bcl-2 and that cooperate with Bcl-2 in cotransfection assays to suppress apoptosis (Takayama *et al.*, 1995; Wang *et al.*, 1994), is dependent on the BH4 domain. Thus, to some extent, the N-terminal region of Bcl-2, where BH4 resides, can be thought of as an effector domain that may link Bcl-2 to other proteins such as BAG-1 and Raf-1, whereas the distal portion of Bcl-2, where the BH1 and BH2 domains reside, may represent a dimerization domain that serves to target Bcl-2 and its associated proteins to Bax. Alternatively, it is possible that the dependence on the BH4 domain for associations with BAG-1 and Raf-1 is an indirect consequence of the need for this domain for formation of functional Bcl-2–Bcl-2 homodimers.

In an effort to understand some of the structural features of the Bax protein that allow it to homodimerize with itself and heterodimerize with Bcl-2, we have tested the ability of deletion mutants of Bax lacking the BH1, BH2, or BH3 domains to interact with the wild-type Bax and Bcl-2 proteins using yeast two-hybrid assays (Zha *et al.*, 1996b). These studies showed that the BH1 and BH2 domains of Bax are expendible for both homodimerization with Bax and heterodimerization with Bcl-2. In addition, Bax deletion mutants lacking BH1 or BH2 are also able to bind to themselves (i.e., mutant to mutant) as well as to the wild-type Bax protein. In contrast, the BH3 domain of Bax is absolutely required for binding to both wild-type Bax and Bcl-2.

The structural features of Bax that permit it to homodimerize with itself and to heterodimerize with Bcl-2 therefore are considerably different from those required for Bcl-2 protein function in terms of dimerization events. These data suggest that, despite their amino acid sequence homology, the Bax and Bcl-2 proteins are probably extensively different in their three-dimensional structures, but X-ray crystallographic or nuclear magnetic resonance studies are required to confirm this idea. Consistent with this idea, however, we have also explored the effect of deleting the N-terminal domains of Bcl-2 and Bax on their dimerization with each other. As mentioned earlier, removal of the Nterminal first ~80 amino acids of Bcl-2 does not impair its ability to bind to wild-type Bax. Moreover, a Bcl-2 (ΔN) mutant of this type can also form heterodimers with an N-terminal truncation mutant of Bax that lacks the first 58 amino acids (i.e., everything upstream of BH3). Thus, unlike Bcl-2-Bcl-2 homodimerization, which involves a head-totail interaction. Bax–Bcl-2 heterodimerization appears to occur through a tail-to-tail interaction. N-terminal truncation mutants of Bax can also homodimerize with themselves, indicating that Bax-Bax homodimerization also occurs via a tail-to-tail interaction that is independent of the proximal region of the Bax protein upstream of BH3 (Zha et al., 1996b).

Studies indicate that mutants of Bax that have altered BH3 domains and that fail to homodimerize are incapable of promoting cell death in both mammalian cells and yeast (Zha *et al.*, 1996b). Interestingly, however, the BH3 domain of Bak was shown to be not only necessary but also sufficient for Bak-induced apoptosis and for dimerization with Bcl-X₁ (Chittenden et al., 1995a). (Bak homodimerization was not explored.) Moreover, the proapoptotic protein Bik contains a BH3 domain but lacks the BH1, BH2, or BH4 domains, suggesting that BH3 in Bik is also functionally important for this protein's interactions with Bcl-2 and other antiapoptotic Bcl-2 family proteins (Boyd et al., 1995). Taken together, these observations concerning the BH3 domains of proapoptotic proteins such as Bax, Bak, and Bik can be interpreted in at least three ways. First, BH3-mediated homodimerization of Bax with some unknown cell death effector protein may be required for promotion of apoptosis by Bax. Second, it could be that the BH3 domain of proapoptotic proteins such as Bak, Bax, and Bik engages directly some unknown effector protein that promotes cell death, and that the dependence on the BH3 domain for homodimerization is merely a misleading coincidence. Third, expression of this domain may act as a "decoy," binding to Bcl-X₁, Bcl-2, or other antiapoptotic proteins and thereby preventing them from interacting with the endogenous wildtype Bak, Bax, or Bik proteins and thus leaving these proapoptotic proteins unopposed.

Taken together, the data currently available about Bcl-2, Bax, and other Bcl-2 family proteins fail to provide conclusive information about the functional significance of Bcl-2–Bcl-2, Bcl-2–Bax, and Bax–Bax dimers. However, several models can be imagined, most of which are not mutually exclusive (Fig. 2). For example, Bax–Bax homodimers can be envisioned as the active moiety that promotes cell death, with Bcl-2 functioning essentially as a dominant inhibitor of Bax by sequestering the protein in a heteromeric Bax–Bcl-2 complex. Alternatively, Bcl-



FIG. 2. Models of Bcl-2 family protein dimerization.

2-Bcl-2 homodimers may actively provide "signals" for cell survival, with Bax functioning as a dominant inhibitor that prevents Bcl-2-Bcl-2 dimerization. It is also formally possible that the Bcl-2-Bax heterodimers represent the most critical structure, with the proteins functioning as equal partners in suppressing cell death by analogy to the α and B-chains of many growth factors or dimeric transcription factors such as Myc-Max. Though bax knockout experiments argue against this co-partner model, it cannot be formally excluded because of the possibility of redundancy among known and perhaps currently undiscovered proapoptotic members of the Bcl-2 family. Indeed, the paradoxical observation that loss of bax can result in excessive cell death in the developing spermatocytes of the testes raises the possibility of a need for Bax for suppression of apoptosis in some contexts (Knudson et al., 1995). A similar phenomenon has been observed for the proapoptotic protein Bak, in that overexpression of Bak paradoxically enhances cell survival in a particular Epstein–Barr virus-immortalized lymphoblastoid cell line (Kiefer et al., 1995). Finally, because Bcl-2 can dimerize with itself through a head-to-tail interaction and yet bind to Bax via a tail-to-tail interaction, there exists the potential for Bcl-2 to simultaneously bind to Bax via is distal domain, where BH1 and BH2 reside, and bind another molecule of Bcl-2 via its BH4 domain-containing proximal domain, thus complexing with Bax in a 2:1 ratio (Fig. 2). This last model would provide the advantage that both Bcl-2-Bax heterodimerization and Bcl-2-Bcl-2 homodimerization are simultaneously required for antiapoptotic function, which fits well with the currently available data suggesting that both Bcl-2-Bcl-2 homodimerization and Bcl-2-Bax heterodimerization are necessary but insufficient for Bcl-2 protein function.

One caveat about the models presented in Fig. 2, however, is that a report involving an analysis of various single amino acid substitution mutants in the BH1 and BH2 domains of the $Bcl-X_L$ protein has suggested that this protein can suppress apoptosis without necessity for binding to Bax or Bak (Cheng *et al.*, 1996). Thus, it is possible that our current concepts about the significance of interactions of antiapoptotic proteins such as Bcl-X_L and Bcl-2 with proapoptotic proteins such as Bax and Bak are erroneous. It should be borne in mind, however, that while some substitution mutants of Bcl-X_L that retain cell death-blocking activity are apparently defective in binding to Bax or Bak *in vitro* and could not be detectably coimmunoprecipitated with Bax or Bak from cells, it cannot be excluded that such mutants do retain at least weak affinity for Bax and Bak and that this reduced affinity is nevertheless sufficient for function. Clearly, some direct comparisons of the

affinities (K_d) , as well as kinetics $(k_{on}, k_{off} \text{ rates})$, of the interactions of wild-type and mutant Bcl-X_L proteins with Bax and Bak would shed some light on this controversial issue. The effects of these substitution mutants on Bcl-X_L-Bcl-X_L homodimerization were not explored, leaving open the possibility that homodimerization is critical for the anti-apoptotic function of this protein.

B. INTERACTIONS OF Bcl-2 WITH NONHOMOLOGOUS PROTEINS

To date, at least nine proteins have been described that can interact with Bcl-2, either directly or indirectly, as determined by yeast twohybrid assays or coimmunoprecipitation studies. Among these potential interacting proteins are (1) Raf-1, a serine/threonine kinase (Wang et al., 1994); (2) p21H-Ras and p23R-Ras, members of the Ras family of small-molecular-weight GTPases (Fernandez-Sarbia and Bischoff, 1993; Chen and Faller, 1995, 1996); (3) Nip-1, -2, and -3, a group of proteins that bind to both Bcl-2 and the 19-kDa E1b protein of adenovirus and that encode proteins with domains that share homology with the catalytic domain of phosphodiesterase, Ca²⁺-binding proteins, and calbindin-D, respectively (Boyd et al., 1993); (4) PrP, a cellular prion protein that has been implicated in neurodegenerative diseases (Kurschner and Morgan, 1995); (5) p53BP2, a protein that binds to wild-type but not mutant p53 (Naumovski and Cleary, 1996); and (6) BAG-1, a novel protein that contains a ubiquitin-like domain (Takayama et al., 1995). It should be noted, however, that no data exist to date that demonstrate a dependence on any of these interacting proteins for Bcl-2 function.

Of these Bcl-2-interacting proteins, functional data that suggest a regulatory effect on apoptosis are available thus far only for Raf-1 and BAG-1. In co-transfection studies, both BAG-1 and activated versions of Raf-1 that have constitutively high kinase activity can cooperate with Bcl-2, providing synergistic protection from apoptotic stimuli (Takaya-ma *et al.*, 1995; Wang *et al.*, 1994). Both BAG-1 and Raf-1 depend on the BH4 domain for their interactions with Bcl-2. Moreover, BAG-1 can also bind Raf-1, suggesting that these proteins may interact with Bcl-2 as a complex. In addition, we have shown that BAG-1 can activate this kinase, presumably through a protein-protein interaction that involves binding of BAG-1 to the kinase domain of Raf-1 (Razin and Gromova, 1995). Since Bcl-2 is primarily found integrated via its C-terminal TM into the outer membrane of mitochondria, nuclear envelope, and parts of the endoplasmic reticulum, with the protein exposed to the cytosol (Krajewski *et al.*, 1993; Lithgow *et al.*, 1994), presumably interactions

with Bcl-2 help to target BAG-1 and Raf-1 to these intracellular membranes. Thus, at least one function of Bcl-2 may be to serve as an adaptor protein that helps to target Raf-1 to unique substrates involved in the control of programmed cell death. These substrates presumably are different from MEK or other substrates normally associated with Raf-1's role as a transducer of signals from growth factor receptors in the plasma membrane. It is hoped that discovery of those substrates will provide new insights into the function of Bcl-2 and its homologs. At present, we have been unable to find evidence that Raf-1 phosphorylates Bcl-2, Bax, or BAG-1 under normal circumstances (Wang et al., 1994: Razin and Gromova, 1995), but evidence that the antimicrotubule drug taxol can induce phosphorylation of Bcl-2 through what may be a Raf-1-dependent mechanism suggests that perhaps Raf-1 can phosphorylate Bcl-2 in some contexts (Blagosklonny et al., 1995a.b; Haldar et al., 1996). Interestingly, though conclusive evidence has yet to be obtained, it has been suggested that the phosphorylated form of Bcl-2 may be inactive, in part due to a reduced ability to homodimerize with Bax (Haldar et al., 1995, 1996).

IV. Bcl-2 Family Proteins as Determinants of Tumor Resistance to Chemotherapeutic Drugs, Glucocorticoids, Retinoids, Antiandrogens, and Antiestrogens

Gene transfer-mediated elevations in Bcl-2 protein levels were first shown to protect a murine lymphoma and a leukemia cell line from cell death induced by a wide variety of anticancer drugs, including dexamethasone, etoposide (VP-16), methotrexate, cisplatin, cyclophosphamide, vincristine, and Ara-C (Miyashita and Reed, 1992). Since then, these observations have been extended to a wide variety of cancer cell lines and anticancer drugs (reviewed in Reed, 1995). The protection afforded by Bcl-2 against chemotherapeutic agents defines a novel type of drug resistance, in that high levels of Bcl-2 do not prevent drugs from entering cells, finding their biochemical targets, or inducing damage to DNA and other molecules. Nor does Bcl-2 alter the rates of repair of drug-induced damage. Rather, Bcl-2 prevents the translation of drug-induced damage into effective signals for cell death, thus allowing neoplastic cells to survive for longer periods of time after becoming injured. This prolonged survival could then provide additional time for development of biochemical or genetic alterations that then allow cancer cells to acquire classical resistance to pharmacophores, or simply allow drug-damaged tumor cells to live until chemotherapeutic drugs are discontinued (such as between cycles of chemo- or radiotherapy), when they can repair the damage and resume normal functions. Because drug- or radiation-induced damage often causes malignant cells to arrest in cell cycle, Bcl-2 essentially converts anticancer drugs from cytotoxic to cytostatic, thus leaving a reservoir of viable tumor cells from which relapses may arise.

Probably some of the best examples of the selectivity with which Bcl-2 affects cell death pathways, as opposed to cell proliferation and differentiation, come from investigations of the effects of steroid hormones on leukemia and lymphoma cells. For example, when Bcl-2 is overexpressed in lymphoid leukemia and lymphoma cell lines by gene transfer techniques, apoptosis induced by glucocorticoids is completely prevented but Go-G1 cell cycle arrest occurs unimpeded (Miyashita and Reed, 1992, 1993). Indeed, in the pre-B-cell acute lymphocytic leukemia cell line 697, we have observed that gene transfer-mediated increases in Bcl-2 can allow these cells to sit in a quiescent G_0-G_1 state with \sim 99% cell viability for over 1 month in culture when exposed to dexamethasone. Upon washing out the synthetic glucocorticoid, these Bcl-2-overexpressing leukemia cells then resume proliferation and give rise to clonigenic cells at normal frequencies (unpublished data). Thus, Bcl-2 does not prevent glucocorticoids from entering lymphoid cells, binding glucocorticoid receptors, and altering gene expression, but rather acts downstream of these effects of glucocorticoids and selectively prevents the apoptotic response that normally would ensue. Interestingly, glucocorticoids have been reported to cause a depletion of Ca^{2+} from the endoplasmic reticulum of lymphoid leukemia cells; overexpression of Bcl-2 prevents this alteration in Ca²⁺ storage (Lam et al., 1993, 1994). Since enhancing Ca^{2+} sequestration in the endoplasmic reticulum by overexpressing the Ca²⁺-binding protein calbindin-D can delay glucocorticoid-induced apoptosis (Dowd et al., 1992), these findings suggest the possibility that Bcl-2 may prevent glucocorticoid-induced apoptosis by helping to maintain the endoplasmic reticulum pools of Ca^{2+} . In this regard, Bcl-2 has been reported to decrease the rate of spontaneous Ca^{2+} efflux from the endoplasmic reticulum (Lam *et al.*, 1994), but whether this is a direct effect of Bcl-2 or reflects an event hundreds of steps downstream remains to be determined.

Similarly, the induction of apoptosis by certain retinoids, such as alltrans-retinoic acid and 4-hydroxyphenyl-retinamide, in the acute myelogenous leukemia cell line HL-60 can be prevented by gene transfermediated overexpression of Bcl-2 (Naumovski and Cleary, 1994; Benito *et al.*, 1995; Delia *et al.*, 1995). At the same time, however, the effects of these retinoids on cell cycle arrest and differentiation are not prevented by Bcl-2. Indeed, elevated Bcl-2 can give the appearance of enhanced differentiation, probably because it helps to maintain the survival of terminally differentiated cells that would otherwise die.

Further evidence that Bcl-2 family proteins play an important role in controlling the relative resistance of neoplastic cells to apoptosis induction by steroid hormone agonists and antagonists, as well as other types of cytotoxic anticancer drugs, has come from antisense experiments and studies where proapoptotic Bcl-2 homologs have been overexpressed in tumor cell lines. For example, experimental reductions in Bcl-2 protein levels achieved through use of antisense oligonucleotides or antisense expression plasmids can render leukemia and lymphoma cell lines more sensitive to the cytotoxic effects of anticancer drugs as well as glucocorticoids (Kitada et al., 1994; Campos et al., 1994). In addition, gene transfer-mediated elevations in the proapoptotic protein Bcl-X_s were reported to increase the sensitivity of MCF-7 breast cancer cells to chemotherapeutic drugs (Sumantran et al., 1995). Interestingly, estrogens upregulate BCL-2 gene expression in MCF-7 cells. whereas antiestrogens reduce Bcl-2 protein levels and render these breast cancer cells more sensitive to Adriamycin (Teixeira et al., 1995). Similarly, and rogens increase BCL-2 expression in the LNCaP prostate cancer line, whereas BCL-2 antisense oligonucleotides prevent the androgen-induced increase in Bcl-2 protein levels and thereby increase sensitivity to etoposide (Berchem et al., 1995). These observations provide further evidence that Bcl-2 family proteins are important regulators of chemosensitivity and resistance, including resistance to steroid hormone analogs. They also provide proof-of-concept evidence that agents that manipulate the levels or function of Bcl-2 and its homologs could potentially offer new approaches to the treatment of at least some types of cancer.

High levels of *BCL-2* expression have been correlated with low response rates, faster time to relapse, shorter survival, or other indicators of poor clinical outcome in patients with several types of cancer. The implication, therefore, is that this antiapoptotic gene is clinically relevant for at least some subgroups of cancer patients, including those with some types of non-Hodgkin's lymphoma, acute myelogenous leukemia, and prostate cancer (Yunis *et al.*, 1989; Piris *et al.*, 1994; Offit *et al.*, 1989; Hermine *et al.*, 1996; Campos *et al.*, 1993; McDonnell *et al.*, 1992; Maung *et al.*, 1994; Bubendorf *et al.*, 1996). Though some clinical-correlative studies have paradoxically suggested an association between Bcl-2 and favorable prognosis, the treatment of these patients was primarily or even exclusively surgical in most of these studies, and thus the findings are not relevant to the issue of regulation of chemoresponses by Bcl-2. In other instances (e.g., breast cancer), the association of Bcl-2 with good prognosis may be misleading because of lack of information about other Bcl-2 family proteins such as Bax (Krajewski *et al.*, 1995a) (discussed later). At this juncture, additional studies involving large groups of patients who received uniform therapy are needed to unequivocally establish the prognostic significance of Bcl-2, Bax, and other members of the Bcl-2 protein family for various types of cancer.

V. IN VIVO PATTERNS OF BCL-2 FAMILY GENE EXPRESSION IN HORMONE-DEPENDENT TISSUES AND TUMORS DERIVED FROM THEM

The expression of Bcl-2 and several of its mammalian homologs has been examined by immunohistochemical and other techniques in hormone-dependent tissues and the tumors that arise from these organs. Some of the currently available information is summarized here.

A. BREAST

In the adult breast, the numbers of mammary epithelial cells expand and contract in response to estrogens and other hormones. In fact, one of the classical examples of programmed cell death is the involution of the postlactating mammary gland, where the loss of lactogenic hormones results in collapse of the gland in large part because of elimination of differentiated mammary epithelial cells by apoptosis (Daniel and Silberstein, 1987; Li et al., 1996a). Several Bcl-2 family proteins are expressed in normal mammary epithelium, including the antiapoptotic proteins Bcl-2, Bcl-X, and Mcl-1 and the proapoptotic protein Bax (Krajewski et al., 1994a,b, 1995b). The proapoptotic protein Bak is also expressed in normal breast but primarily is found in the myoepithelial cells that line the basement membranes of the tubuloalveolar glands, rather than in the differentiated luminal epithelial cells (Krajewski et al., 1996). These long-lived stem cells, however, also express Bcl-X, which presumably offsets the death-promoting effects of Bak (Krajewski et al., 1994b). Bcl-2, in contrast, is not expressed in the myoepithelial cells (Krajewski et al., 1994a,b; Nathan et al., 1993).

Expression of Bcl-2 in breast cancer cell lines has been shown to be dependent on estrogen, whereas Bax and Bcl-X are not (Teixeira *et al.*, 1995; Wang and Phang, 1995). In the breast carcinoma cell line MCF-7, estradiol upregulates the relative levels of Bcl-2 mRNA and protein, whereas the pure antiestrogen ICI-164,384 reduces Bcl-2 expression at both the mRNA and protein levels (Teixeira et al., 1995). The levels of Bcl-2 protein in MCF-7 cells, as determined by immunoblotting, have been reported to be comparable to those found in the B-cell lymphoma cell line Karpas 231, which contains a t(14;18) chromosomal translocation (Nathan et al., 1994), implying that functionally significant levels of this protein can be found in breast cancers. In this regard, several studies have documented very strong correlations between estrogen receptor (ER) positivity and higher percentages of Bcl-2-immunopositive tumor cells in primary adenocarcinomas of the breast (Silvestrini et al., 1994; Nathan et al., 1994; Leek et al., 1994; Hellemans et al., 1995; Gasparini et al., 1995; Joensuu et al., 1994; Doglioni et al., 1994; Binder et al., 1995). Furthermore, consistent with the generally more aggressive nature of tumors that have progressed to an ER⁻, hormone-independent state, tumors with an ER⁺ and Bcl-2-immunopositive phenotype have been associated with longer disease-free and overall survival in several clinical-correlative studies. Some of these clinical-correlative studies involved surgery with or without local radiation as the primary therapy, thus rendering the data potentially irrelevant to the issue of Bcl-2 and its role as a chemoresistance protein (Silvestrini et al., 1994; Joensuu et al., 1994). However, in two other studies where higher percentages of Bcl-2-immunopositive tumors cells were associated with better outcome, patients with node-positive disease were treated with either combination chemotherapy (cyclophosphamide-methotrexate-5-fluorouracil) or tamoxifen (Gasparini et al., 1995; Hellemans et al., 1995).

Though at first glance these data may seem paradoxical, given the overwhelming evidence that Bcl-2 can promote cell survival and provide protection from apoptosis induced by cytotoxic drugs and estrogen deprivation, it should be remembered that the immunohistochemical analysis of Bcl-2 provides only a single snapshot in time of what surely must be a dynamic process of *in vivo* fluctuations in Bcl-2 expression in response to endogenous estrogens and other stimuli. Thus, these correlations may represent little more than a reflection of the estrogendependent status of the tumors, with the most estrogen-responsive tumors having the highest Bcl-2 expression. Evidence supporting the idea that estrogen analogs can influence Bcl-2 expression in vivo has come from a longitudinal study of breast cancer patients whose tumors were biopsied before and then again after treatment with tamoxifen for $\sim 1-5$ weeks (Johnston et al., 1994). Among the 12 tumors that were ER⁺, 3 were deemed to be Bcl-2 immunopositive (i.e., >10% invasive cancer cells immunostained) prior to tamoxifen, compared to 8 after treatment (Johnston et al., 1994). In contrast, tamoxifen had no impact on Bcl-2 expression in 6 of 6 ER⁻ tumors. It was speculated that these results may have reflected an agonistic effect of tamoxifen, resulting in increased rather than decreased Bcl-2 expression (Johnston *et al.*, 1994), and suggested a need for investigations of compounds with purer antiestrogenic activity as clinical tools for downregulating Bcl-2 protein levels in ER⁺ breast cancers. Alternatively, the *in vivo* influence of estrogens and antiestrogens on Bcl-2 expression in breast tumors may be more complex than suggested by *in vitro* studies of cell lines, as evidenced by a report that the patterns of Bcl-2 immunostaining in normal breast do not vary with the menstrual cycle (Nathan *et al.*, 1993).

Another potential contributing factor to the association of Bcl-2 with favorable prognosis in breast cancer has been revealed by studies of Bax expression in human mammary carcinomas. Using immunohistocemical techniques to evaluate Bax protein levels in primary tumors derived from 119 women with metastatic breast cancer, Krajewski et al. (1995a) demonstrated heterogeneous percentages of Bax-immunopositive invasive malignant cells among tumor specimens, with 34% of cases having <10% Bax-positive cells. The subgroup of patients whose tumors contained <10% Bax-positive invasive cells also generally did not respond to therapy (21% vs. 43%; P < 0.02) and typically experienced shorter time to tumor progression (median 3.7 vs. 9.0 months) and shorter overall survival (10.7 vs. 17.1 months), which were statistically significant in both univariate and multivariate analyses (Krajewski et al., 1995a). Interestingly, a strong positive correlation was found (P = 0.005) between the percentages of Bcl-2- and Bax-immunopositive tumor cells, implying that the same tumor cells that had lost Bcl-2 expression were also the ones with reduced Bax levels. Similarly, Bargou et al. (1995a) reported that Bax mRNA levels were reduced compared to normal breast tissue in 10 of 10 breast cancer specimens, whereas levels of mRNA for the antiapoptotic proteins Bcl-2 and Bcl- X_L were similar in tumor and normal breast tissue. Moreover, a correlation was observed in vitro in human breast cancer cell lines between lower Bax mRNA levels and resistance to apoptosis induction by serum growth factor deprivation and anti-Fas antibody treatment. In a subsequent study, these investigators extend this analysis, showing reductions in Bax mRNA levels in 35 of 36 malignant breast cancer specimens and demonstrating that gene transfer-mediated restoration of Bax protein levels in two breast cancer lines promoted apoptosis induced by growth factor deprivation and slowed the growth of these lines as tumors in immunocompromised (severe combined immunodeficiency) mice (Bargou et al., 1995b).

The hypothesis that can be raised, therefore, is that, while Bcl-2 lev-

els tend to decline during progression of breast cancers, so too do the levels of Bax. Furthermore, since it is the ratio of Bcl-2 to Bax that presumably determines sensitivity to apoptosis, rather than the absolute levels of either protein, these findings suggest that advanced breast cancers with reduced Bcl-2 are probably no more sensitive to apoptosis than their Bcl-2-immunopositive, less aggressive counterparts, and indeed may be more resistant to apoptosis when one considers that other antiapoptotic Bcl-2 family proteins, including Bcl-X_L and Mcl-1, are usually present in these breast cancers (unpublished observations).

In addition to the pathogenesis and progression of breast cancers, a potential role for changes in the expression of Bcl-2 family proteins has also been suggested in the involution of the mammary gland following cessation of nursing, when lactogenic hormone levels plummet (Daniel and Silberstein, 1987). For example, increases in the relative levels of Bax and Bcl-X_s mRNA have been reported during postlactation-associated apoptosis in the involuting mammary glands of mice (Li et al., 1996b). Interestingly, these increases in Bax mRNA accumulation occurred equally well in p53 knockout and normal mice, indicating that p53 is not required for induction of Bax in this circumstance. Involution of the mammay glands at weaning was also p53 independent. Conversely, in transgenic mice that carried a simian virus 40 large-T antigen (TAg) under the control of the hormone-responsive whey acidic protein gene promoter, where a >100-fold increase in the percentage of apoptotic mammary epithelial cells was detected during late pregnancy compared to normal litter mate control mice, the levels of Bax mRNA and protein were elevated, as well as the ratio of Bcl-X_S to Bcl-X_L mRNA (Li et al., 1996b). Thus, simultaneous loss of both p53 and Rb function in these TAg-expressing mammary cells appears to create conditions that promote expression of Bax and Bcl-X_S. In the future, it will undoubtedly be informative to evaluate mammary gland function during pregnancy and after lactation in the Bcl-2 and Bax knockout mice.

B. ENDOMETRIUM

The expression of several Bcl-2 family proteins has been reported in endometrial tissues, based on immunohistochemical analysis. Based on relative immunointensity, Bcl-2 and Bak appear to be expressed at high levels in the endometrium, Bcl-X at moderate levels, Mcl-1 at low levels, and Bax at low to undetectable levels (Krajewski *et al.*, 1994a,b, 1995a, 1996). The smooth muscle cells of the myometrium contain relatively high levels of immunostaining for Mcl-1, Bax, and Bak but more modest levels of Bcl-2 and Bcl-X. The effects of hormonal fluctations on expression of Bcl-2 family proteins during the menstrual cycle has been examined to date only for Bcl-2. High levels of Bcl-2 immunostaining are seen in the endometrial epithelium during the proliferative phase of the cycle, when estrogen levels are on the rise, and levels then decline during the secretory phase, when progesterone is produced (Gompel *et al.*, 1994; Tabibzadeh *et al.*, 1995). In contrast, Bcl-2 immunoreactivity reportedly increases in the endometrial stromal cells during the latter half of the menstrual cycle, as the predecidualization changes occur. Taken together, these findings suggest that Bcl-2 expression is under hormonal control in the endometrium. The expression of Bcl-2 and its homologs in uterine cancers has not been examined to date.

C. OVARY

Though a detailed time course of changes with the ovulatory cycle has not been developed, expression of several Bcl-2 family proteins has been immunolocalized in the granulosa cells of the developing ovarian follicles and in the granulosa-lutein and thecalutein cells of the corpus luteum in the ovaries of mice and humans (Krajewski et al., 1994a,b, 1995b, 1996). Gonadotrophin is known to be important for supporting the survival and follicular development of ovarian germ cells (reviewed in Tilly, 1993). In rats, administration of exogenous gonadotrophin reportedly had no effect on the constitutive expression of Bcl-2 and Bcl-X but produced marked reductions in Bax mRNA levels, to approximately one-third of control, based on Northern blot analysis of RNA isolated from whole ovaries (Tilly et al., 1995). Moreover, antral follicles cultured in vitro without hormonal support displayed an approximate doubling of their levels of Bax mRNA, while Bcl-X, mRNA levels became reduced slightly to $\sim 70\%$ of control. Supplying gonadotrophin to these cultures resulted in reduced levels of Bax mRNA while the pretreatment expression of Bcl-2 and Bcl-X_L was sustained, thus altering the ratio of Bax relative to Bcl-2 and Bcl- X_L and rescuing the cells from apoptosis.

Bcl-2 expression was reported in 60% of ovarian carcinomas in a study where immunohistochemical methods were used to detect Bcl-2 protein in primary tumor specimens (Eliopoulos *et al.*, 1995). The expression, however, was heterogeneous among the tumor cells, suggesting either that local factors control expression of Bcl-2 or that activation of the *BCL-2* gene represents a relatively late event in the progression of these tumors. In another report where Bcl-2 immunostaining was assessed in ovarian adenocarcinomas derived from 70 patients, Bcl-2 immunopositivity was found in 57% of cases. Higher percentages of Bcl-2-immunopositive tumors cells had a slight tendency to be associated with improved survival (Herod *et al.*, 1996). Since other Bcl-2 family proteins have yet to be analyzed in primary ovarian cancers, it is difficult to interpret the biological significance of this observation, particularly since it is the ratios of anti- and proapoptotic Bcl-2 family proteins that ultimately determine relative resistance to apoptosis.

Gene transfer-mediated elevations of Bcl-2 protein levels in the ovarian cancer cell line A2780 resulted in enhanced resistance to the cytotoxic effects of cisplatin (Eliopoulos et al., 1995). Interestingly, increased Bcl-2 caused a delay and a reduction in the total amount of endogenous p53 protein accumulation after exposure of A2780 cells to cisplatin, suggesting that Bcl-2 affects a step in the DNA damage response pathway upstream of p53. Cisplatin-induced increases in Bax protein levels also were impaired in the Bcl-2 transfectants compared to control transfectants, with Bax protein levels increasing only \sim 3-fold in the Bcl-2 transfectants versus >10-fold in the control cells. These findings are consistent with evidence that Bax is a p53 response gene in at least some types of tumors and normal tissues (Miyashita et al., 1994b; Selvakumaran et al., 1994; Miyashita and Reed, 1995; Kitada et al., 1996). DNA-damaging drugs, radiation, and other inducers of genotoxic stress are known to stimulate increases in the levels of p53, a DNA binding protein that stimulates transcription of target genes through specific interactions with a 10-bp consensus DNA sequence (Vogelstein and Kinzler, 1992). DNA sequence analysis of the BAX gene promoter has revealed the presence of at least four sites with homology or identity to the 10-bp consensus sequence for p53 binding. Furthermore, functional studies of the BAX promoter have demonstrated that p53 directly binds to and transactivates this gene (Miyashita and Reed, 1995). However, the ability of p53 to stimulate increases in Bax expression appears to be highly tissue and tumor type specific (Kitada et al., 1996; Zhan et al., 1994), suggesting that the response is under genetic control and modulated by other as-yet unidentified factors that may operate at either the transcriptional or posttranscriptional levels.

Of relevance to the potential role of p53 in controlling Bax expression, analysis of another ovarian cancer cell line, IGROV-1, and two cisplatin-resistant sublines derived from it after continuous culture in the presence of drug revealed striking reductions in Bax mRNA and protein levels in both of the drug-resistant sublines compared to the parental drug-sensitive cells (Perego *et al.*, 1996). These drug-resistant sublines also contained mutations in both alleles of p53, whereas p53 was determined by single-strand conformation polymorphism analysis to be wild type in the parental cells. Experiments involving use of *BAX* promoter-reporter gene plasmids confirmed reduced transactivation of the *BAX* promoter in the drug-resistant lines. Though Bax expression was markedly reduced in the cisplatin-resistant sublines, the relative levels of mRNA and protein for Bcl-2, Bcl-X, and Mcl-1 were not altered. Taken together, these data suggest that mutations in p53 resulted in reduced expression of Bax, thereby contributing to the emergence of cisplatin resistance in this *in vitro* model system. It remains to be determined, however, whether similar events occur in ovarian cancers *in vivo* in patients treated with cisplatin.

D. PROSTATE

The patterns of Bcl-2 expression in the normal prostate gland correlate with the androgen-dependent and androgen-independent phenotypes of the secretory epithelial and basal cells, respectively. By immunostaining, high levels of Bcl-2 protein appear to be present selectively in the basal cells that line the basement membrane, whereas no Bcl-2 immunoreactivity is seen in the differentiated epithelial cells that face the lumina of the gland (Hockenbery *et al.*, 1991; Krajewski *et al.*, 1994a,b; McDonnell *et al.*, 1992). In castration models, it is the Bcl-2-negative epithelial cells that undergo rapid programmed cell death, thus demonstrating the androgen dependence of these cells (Kyprianou and Isaacs, 1988). In contrast, the Bcl-2-positive basal cells, which differentiate to give rise to the luminal secretory epithelial cells, represent a long-lived population of stem cells that lack androgen receptors and that display no dependence on testosterone for survival.

Like Bcl-2, expression of the proapoptotic protein Bak is found primarily in the basal cells. Thus, a delicate balance between the antiapoptotic effects of Bcl-2 and the proapoptotic actions of Bak may help to regulate the overall numbers of basal cells. It will be of interest in the future, therefore, to contrast the expression of Bcl-2 and Bak in basal cell hyperplasia. Intense immunostaining for Bcl-2 has been reported in basal cell hyperplasia, but Bak has yet to be evaluated (Shabaik *et al.*, 1994). In contrast to Bcl-2 and Bak, expression of the proapoptotic protein Bax is higher in the secretory cells than in the basal cells, consistent with the differential apoptotic tendencies of these two types of cells (Krajewski *et al.*, 1994a). However, the antiapoptotic protein Mcl-1 is also expressed at higher levels in the secretory than the basal cells, whereas Bcl-X immunostaining is fairly evenly distributed between these two cell populations (Krajewski *et al.*, 1994b,

1995b). The normal prostate therefore expresses several members of the BCL-2 gene family, thus affording opportunities for several interactions among these homologous proteins and thereby presumably allowing for fine tuning of the regulation of apoptosis by hormones and other agents in this gland. Interestingly, in p53 knockout mice, the relative intensity of immunostaining was reported to be increased for Bcl-2 and decreased for Bax, suggesting that p53 may regulate the expression of these genes in prostate tissue (Miyashita et al., 1994a). These findings are consistent with reports that p53 can function as a transcriptional repressor of Bcl-2 and an activator of Bax (Miyashita et al., 1994b; Miyashita and Reed, 1995). However, p53 gene ablation in transgenic mice only delays and does not prevent programmed cell death in the prostate due to castration (Berges et al., 1993). Thus, programmed cell death induced by androgen deprivation is p53 independent, despite the apparent changes in the basal steady-state levels of Bcl-2 and Bax seen in p53 knockout mice.

McDonnell *et al.* (1992) reported that, after castration, Bcl-2 mRNA levels slowly rise in the rat prostate and showed that this increase in Bcl-2 expression can be suppressed by administration of exogenous testosterone. The implications of this observation, however, remain unclear and could reflect either a suppressive effect of androgens on Bcl-2 expression or a compensatory expansion of the population of Bcl-2expressing basal cells after castration. Similarly, in the G-subline of the Dunning rat prostate carcinoma tumor R-3327, castration resulted in upregulated expression of Bcl-2 (Furuya *et al.*, 1996). It was speculated that this ability of the G-subline to upregulate Bcl-2 might account for its androgen-sensitive but not androgen-dependent phenotype where *in vivo* tumor growth is concerned.

Immunohistochemical studies of Bcl-2 expression in adenocarcinomas of the prostate have suggested that Bcl-2 expression is generally, but not always, associated with androgen independence and progression to metastatic disease. For example, McDonnell, *et al.* (1992) reported Bcl-2 immunostaining in only 6 of 19 primary tumors that displayed androgen dependence based on clinical response after administration of androgen-ablative therapy, compared to Bcl-2 immunopositivity in 10 of 13 androgen-independent primary tumors. Similarly, Colombel *et al.* (1993) reported Bcl-2 immunopositivity in 62% of 37 primary adenocarcinomas of the prostate, compared to 100%of 9 primary tumors and metastatic lesions derived from men with hormone-refractory tumors. Shabaik *et al.* (1994) found Bcl-2 immunopositivity in only 3 of 41 cases of primary adenocarcinoma of the prostate. All three of these Bcl-2-immunopositive cases were poorly differentiat-

ed tumors (Gleason histological grade 9 or 10), suggesting that Bcl-2 gene expression generally becomes upregulated in prostate cancers as a relatively late event. Consistent with this idea, none of 20 cases of high-grade prostate intraepithelial neoplasia (PIN) were found to be Bcl-2 immunopositive in the same study (Shabaik et al., 1994). Furuva et al. (1996) studied Bcl-2 expression in lymph node and bone metastases from men with prostate cancer who either had been previously untreated (n = 45) or had failed and rogen-ablative therapy (n = 12). Homogeneous Bcl-2 immunostaining was detected in 5 of 30 (17%) nodal metastases and 14 of 27 (52%) bone metastases. No significant difference, however, was noted between the frequency of Bcl-2-immunopositive specimens when comparing bone metastases derived from previously untreated men (n = 15) with those of patients who had failed and rogen-ablative therapy (n = 12) (53% vs. 42% Bcl-2-immunopositive cases) (Furuya et al., 1996). In a report by Krajewska et al., (1996a) that involved an immunohistochemical analysis of Bcl-2 expression in 64 adenocarcinomas and 24 cases of PIN, Bcl-2 immunopositivity (i.e., >1% immunopositive cells) was observed more frequently in high-grade primary tumors (Gleason grade 8-10) and lymph node metastases compared to low-grade (Gleason grade 2-7) primary tumors (p < 0.05). Higher levels of Bcl-2 expression were also confirmed for high-grade primary tumors and nodal metastases compared to lowgrade primary tumors and PIN lesions by use of a method for scoring immunostaining that incorporated both percentage immunopositive tumor cells and immunointensity (P = 0.05). However, when the analysis excluded metastatic disease, neither this study nor any of the others cited previously found significant correlations of Bcl-2 immunostaining with histology (Gleason grade) among primary prostate cancers.

The absence of an association between Bcl-2 and histological grade raises the possibility that Bcl-2 may provide a novel independent prognostic marker for men with prostate cancer. To date, only one study has attempted to correlate Bcl-2 expression in prostate cancer with clinical outcome (Bubendorf *et al.*, 1996). Based on an analysis of 115 men with prostate cancer for whom follow-up data were available (median 5.2 years), Bcl-2 immunopositivity (i.e., >10% immunopositive tumor cells) was more frequently associated with advanced clinical stage (P = 0.001) and shorter survival (P = 0.03). Bcl-2 lost its prognostic significance, however, in multivariate analysis, which identified Ki67 immunopositivity and advanced stage (pT3) as independent indicators of poor prognosis. Interestingly, tumors that were both Bcl-2 and Ki67 positive defined a subgroup of patients with particularly short survival. The results of this study, however, may have little relevance to the issue of androgen dependence, since only 6 of the patients underwent antiandrogen therapy. However, they may be of importance for predicting progression of prostate cancers to metastatic disease, inasmuch as BCL-2gene transfer can protect epithelial cells from apoptosis that results from loss of integrin attachments to extracellular matrix proteins (Frisch and Francis, 1994; Ruoslahti and Reed, 1994; Zhang *et al.*, 1995).

Support for the hypothesis that Bcl-2 can contribute to androgen resistance in at least some circumstances, however, has come from immunohistochemical analysis of Bcl-2 expression in Dunning rat prostate cancer sublines that had progressed to an androgen-independent state. High levels of Bcl-2 immunostaining were detected in four of six such sublines, whereas the androgen-dependent R-3327 parental line was evidently Bcl-2 negative (Furuya et al., 1996). Moreover, gene transfer-mediated elevations in Bcl-2 protein levels in the human prostate cancer line LNCaP abrogate the dependence of these tumor cells on androgens for tumor formation in mice (Raffo et al., 1995). In addition, transfection of Bcl-2 expression plasmids into the androgenindependent rat prostate cancer line AT-3 increases the resistance of these cells to the cytotoxic effects of the chemotherapeutic drugs 5fluorouracil and 4-hydroxycyclophosphamide, as well as the Ca^{2+} ionophore ionomycin and the Ca²⁺ ATPase inhibitor thapsigargin (Furuya et al., 1996). Bcl-2, however, did not prevent DNA-damaging drugs from inducing increases in the relative levels of GRP-78 and tissue transglutaminase (TTG) and clusterin mRNAs. Elevated Bcl-2 also did not prevent the Ca²⁺-altering agents from inducing increases in cytosolic free Ca²⁺ concentrations, or increases in the expression of GRP-78, TTG, calmodulin, or α -prothymosin (Furuya *et al.*, 1996). Thus, as in other studies, Bcl-2 appears to block a downstream step in the cell death pathways through which disturbances in Ca²⁺ homeostasis and DNA-damaging drugs trigger apoptosis in these prostate cancer cells.

To date, relatively little is known about the expression of other members of the *BCL-2* gene family in prostate cancers and the influence that androgens may have on them. Krajewska *et al.* (1996b) reported that most primary tumors express Bcl-X (100%), Mcl-1 (79%), and Bax (100%), as defined by >1% immunopositive tumor cells. In general, progression to more advanced histology (Gleason grade 8–10) and metastatic disease were associated with increases in Bcl-X and Mcl-1 immunostaining, with relatively little change in Bax. For example, comparisons of high-grade (Gleason grade 8–10; n = 17) primary tumors with low-grade (grade 2–7; n = 31) cancers revealed significantly higher intensity of Bcl-X immunoreactivity (P < 0.001), higher proportions of cases with >50% Bcl-X-immunopositive tumor cells (P < 0.03), and higher overall immunostaining scores (intensity \times percentage) (P = 0.002) in the more histologically advanced neoplasms. Immunostaining for Bcl-X was also significantly higher in lymph node and bone metastases than in low-grade primary tumors. Immunoblot analysis of normal prostate, human prostate cancer cell lines, and rat Dunning tumors suggests that most, if not all, of the Bcl-X immunoreactivity seen in prostate cancers can probably be ascribed to the antiapoptotic Bcl-X₁ protein, as is typically the case for all other normal tissues and tumors (Krajewski et al., 1994b; Krajewska et al., 1996a; González-Garcia et al., 1994). Similarly, the proportion of specimens with Mcl-1 immunopositivity (i.e., >1% immunopositive tumor cells) was greater among primary tumors than PIN lesions (70% of 10 vs. 38% of 24; P < 0.001), and the percentages of Mcl-1 immunopositive tumor cells (P < 0.05) as well as the overall Mcl-1 immunostaining scores (P = 0.03)were significantly higher among high-grade tumors compared to lowgrade primary cancers. Mcl-1 immunostaining was also higher for lymph node and bone metastases than PIN lesions and low-grade primary tumors (Krajewska et al., 1996a).

Taken together, the data available to date suggest that an upregulation of the expression of some antiapoptotic members of the Bcl-2 family, including Bcl-2, Bcl-X_L, and Mcl-1, occurs during the pathogenesis and/or progression of adenocarcinomas of the prostate. The increased levels of these proteins relative to proapoptotic Bcl-2 family proteins such as Bax may contribute to the development of hormone-refractory metastatic disease. However, conclusive proof of this idea and evidence that Bcl-2, Bcl-X_L, Mcl-1, or other Bcl-2 family proteins provide prognostically useful information for patients with prostate cancer await further experimental analysis.

E. Thyroid

The normal thyroid gland expresses Bcl-2 at high levels, whereas Bax immunostaining is only weak or entirely absent from most follicular thyroid cells (Pilotti *et al.*, 1994; Krajewski *et al.*, 1994a). Bcl-X and Mcl-1 immunoreactivity have also been reported to be rather weak or absent from thyroid epithelium (Krajewski *et al.*, 1994b, 1995b). It has yet to be determined what the effects of thyroid-stimulating hormone are on the expression of Bcl-2 and other *BCL-2* family genes in the normal thyroid.

Bcl-2 expression has been evaluated by immunohistochemical methods in 135 carcinomas of the thyroid. Expression of Bcl-2 was detected in ~79% of 94 well-differentiated (90% of 20 follicular; 76% of 74 papillary) and 84% of 19 poorly differentiated thyroid cancers but in only ~14% of 22 undifferentiated tumors (Pilotti *et al.*, 1994). Moreover, Bcl-2 immunopositivity was significantly correlated with thryoglobulin immunostaining. Thus, Bcl-2 tends to be expressed at high levels in differentiated thyroid cancers.

In another study by Branet et al. (1996), expression of Bcl-2, Bcl-X, Bax, and Mcl-1 was evaluted by immunohistochemical methods in 23 papillary and 10 follicular thyroid cancers. Among well-differentiated thyroid cancers, the intensity of Bcl-2 immunostaining was typically higher in follicular than in papillary carcinomas. Bax was expressed in all papillary carcinomas examined (n = 23) and most (80%) follicular tumors (n = 10). Interestingly, the intensity of both Bcl-2 and Bax immunostaining was generally lower in undifferentiated than differentiated tumors. In contrast, Bcl-X was expressed in 6 of 6 (100%) undifferentiated tumors and in 22 of 23 (96%) papillary carcinomas, compared to only 5 of 10 (50%) cases of follicular tumors. Mcl-1 was also frequently expressed in undifferentiated tumors. During progression of thyroid cancers to undifferentiated tumors, therefore, it appears that, in general, expression of Bcl-2 and Bax appears to decline while Mcl-1 and particularly Bcl-X expression increases. Immunoblotting suggested that Bcl-X₁ was the major isoform of Bcl-X expressed in these tumors.

F. THYMUS

The T-cell precursors of the thymus are exquisitely sensitive to the induction of apoptosis by glucocorticoids, thus making this gland another example of a hormonally responsive tissue. In the thymus, the normal patterns of Bcl-2 expression correlate with the relative sensitivity and resistance of thymocytes to glucocorticoids, with high levels of Bcl-2 immunostaining residing in the more mature, glucocorticoidresistant thymocytes of the medulla and essentially no Bcl-2 expression appearing in the immature, highly sensitive thymocytes of the cortex (Pezzella et al., 1990; Hockenbery et al., 1991). The levels of endogenous Bcl-2 protein also correlate with relative sensitivity to glucocorticoids in leukemia cell lines, with higher levels of Bcl-2 being associated with resistance (Alnemri et al., 1992a). Transgenic animal experiments have confirmed an important role for Bcl-2 in the control of resistance to glucocorticoid-induced apoptosis in the thymus. For example, when Bcl-2 is overexpressed in the cortical thymocytes of transgenic mice, striking resistance to glucocorticoid-induced apoptosis is noted both in vivo and

in thymocytes derived from these animals in culture (Strasser et al., 1991; Sentman et al., 1991; Siegel et al., 1992). Conversely, thymocytes derived from Bcl-2 knockout mice display enhanced sensitivity to glucocorticoid-induced apoptosis (Veis et al., 1993b; Kamada et al., 1995). Since Bcl-2 is not normally expressed in the immature cortical thymocytes (CD4⁺CD8⁺), with the exception of a small population of CD4⁻CD8⁻ very immature T-cell precursors (Veis *et al.*, 1993a), the enhanced sensitivity presumably reflects loss of resistance to glucocorticoids in the mature CD4⁺CD8⁻ and CD4⁻CD8⁺ medullary T cells. Interestingly, Bcl-2 knockout mice initially develop normal immune systems but at \sim 4 weeks of age suffer massive apoptosis of their lymphocytes and subsequently die. Since endogenous glucocorticoid levels rise at about this time because of the elevations in adrenocorticotropic hormone that occur with puberty, it is intriguing to speculate that this apoptotic collapse of the immune systems of Bcl-2 knockout mice is due to production of these steroid hormones.

The antiapoptotic protein Bcl-X is also expressed in the normal thymus, but in a reciprocal pattern compared to Bcl-2, with strong Bcl-X immunostaining residing in the immature cortical thymocytes and little if any Bcl-X expression occurring in the mature medullary thymocytes. Western blotting experiments suggest that most of the Bcl-X protein in the thymus is the antiapoptotic $Bcl-X_{T}$ isoform, despite the exquisite sensitivity of cortical thymocytes to glucocorticoids. Overexpression of Bcl-X₁ in the cortical thymocytes in transgenic mice confers resistance to glucocorticoids (Chao et al., 1995), suggesting that having higher levels of $Bcl-X_L$ can overcome the apoptotic effects of glucocorticoids on these immature T cells and raising the question of whether glucocorticoids might possibly downregulate the endogenous levels of Bcl- X_{I} protein as part of the mechanism by which these steroid hormones induce apoptosis of cortical thymocytes. Gene transfer-mediated elevations in $Bcl-X_{I}$ in the pro-B-cell line FL5.12 also produces resistance to glucocorticoids, as well as a variety of cytotoxic anticancer drugs (Minn et al., 1995). Interestingly, studies of chimeric Bcl-X knockout mice suggest that Bcl-X is required for maintenance of the survival of immature thymocytes but not mature peripheral T cells, suggesting that the expression of Bcl-X in cortical thymocytes is essential for their survival (Motoyama et al., 1995). The sensitivity to glucocorticoids of mature T cells lacking Bcl-X was not explored.

The proapoptotic protein Bax is expressed in the thymus with a distribution similar to Bcl-2, in that higher levels of Bax are generally found in the mature medullary thymocytes than in the immature cortical cells (Krajewski *et al.*, 1994a). In Bax knockout mice, increased numbers of thymocytes are found compared to litter mate controls, but no alteration in sensitivity to dexamethasone *in vitro* was observed (Knudson *et al.*, 1995). Bax, therefore, appears to be relatively unimportant for the induction of apoptosis by glucocorticoids. Hence, glucocorticoid-induced apoptosis of thymocytes can proceed normally in the absence of Bax as well as p53 (Berges *et al.*, 1993) but is suppressible by overexpression of Bcl-2 and Bcl-X_L. The simplest interpretation of these results is that glucocorticoids kill via a pathway that can be regulated by Bcl-2 family proteins, but presumably some other proapoptotic member(s) of the family can supplant the role that Bax might play or Bax itself is not particularly important for glucocorticoid-mediated cell death.

VI. CONCLUSIONS

Though the mechanisms of action of Bcl-2 and its homologs remain unclear, this family of proteins seems to play a critical role in regulating a distal step in what may represent a final common pathway for programmed cell death and apoptosis. The finding that the expression of Bcl-2 and some of its homologs is regulated in concert with cellular expansion and eradication in hormone-sensitive tissues suggests that these apoptosis regulators serve an important function as intracellular mediators of the biological effects of several steroid hormones. Moreover, aberrations in the regulation of the expression of Bcl-2 family genes may underlie some of the abnormalities in hormone dependence and hormone sensitivity that occur during the pathogenesis and progression of cancers. Improved knowledge about the mechanisms that control the expression of these genes and the biochemical mechanisms of action of their encoded proteins offers the promise of improved strategies for the treatment of human malignancy and other diseases that arise in whole or in part because of dysregulation of the physiological cell death pathway.

REFERENCES

- Albrecht, H., Tschopp, J., and Jongeneel, C. V. (1994). Bcl-2 protects from oxidative damage and apoptotic cell death without interfering with activation of NF-kB by TNF. *FEBS Lett.* 351, 45–48.
- Alnemri, E. S., Fernandes, T. F., Haldar, S., Croce, C. M., and Litwack, G. (1992a). Involvement of Bcl-2 in glucocorticoid-induced apoptosis of human pre-B-leukemias. *Cancer Res.* 52, 491–495.
- Alnemri, E. S., Robertson, N. M., Fernandes, T. F., Croce, C. M., and Litwack, G. (1992b). Overexpressed full-length human *bcl-2* extends the survival of baculovirus-infected Sf9 insect cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 89, 7295–7299.

- Baffy, G., Miyashita, T., Williamson, J. R., and Reed, J. C. (1993). Apoptosis is induced by withdrawal of interleukin-3 [IL-3] from an IL-3-dependent hematopoietic cell line associated with repartitioning of intracellular calcium and is blocked by enforced Bcl-2 oncoprotein production. J. Biol. Chem. 268, 6511-6519.
- Bargou, R. C., Daniel, P. T., Mapara, M. Y., Bommert, K., Wagenert, K., Wagener, C., Kallinich, B., Royer, H. D., and Dörken, B. (1995a). Expression of the *bcl-2* gene family in normal and malignant breast tissue: Low *bax-a* expression in tumor cells correlates with resistance towards apoptosis. *Int. J. Cancer* **60**, 854–859.
- Bargou, R. C., Wagener, C., Bommert, K., Mapara, M. Y., Daniel, P. T., Arnold, W., Dietel, M., Guski, H., Feller, A., Royer, H. D., and Dörken, B. (1995b). Induction of the death promoting gene bax-alpha which is downregulated in breast cancer restores sensitivity to different apoptotic stimuli and reduces tumor growth in SCID mice. J. Clin. Invest., in press.
- Benito, A., Grillot, D., Nunez, G., and Fernandez-Luna, J. L. (1995). Regulation and function of Bcl-2 during differentiation-induced cell death in HL-60 promyelocytic cells. Am. J. Pathol. 146, 481–490.
- Berchem, G. J., Bosseler, M., Sugars, L. Y., Voeller, H. J., Zeitlin, S., and Gelmann, E. P. (1995). Androgens induce resistance to bcl-2-mediated apoptosis in LNCaP prostate cancer cells. *Cancer Res.* 55, 735–738.
- Berges, R. R., Furuya, Y., Remington, L., English, H. F., Jacks, T., and Isaacs, J. T. (1993). Cell proliferation, DNA repair, and p53 function are not required for programmed death of prostatic glandular cells induced by androgen ablation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* **90**, 8910–8914.
- Binder, C., Marx, D., Overhoff, R., Binder, L., Schauer, A., and Hiddemann, W. (1995). Bcl-2 protein expression in breast cancer in relation to established prognostic factors and other clinicopathological variables. Ann. Oncol. 6, 1005–1010.
- Blagosklonny, M. V., Schulte, T. W., Nguyen, P., Mimnaugh, E. G., Trepel, J., and Neckers, L. (1995a). Taxol induction of p21^{WAF1} and p53 requires c-raf-1. Cancer Res. 55, 4623–4626.
- Blagosklonny, M. V., Schulte, T., Nguyen, P., Trepel, J., and Neckers, L. M. (1995b). Taxol-induced apoptosis and phosphorylation of Bcl-2 protein involves c-Raf-1 and represents a novel c-Raf-1 signal transduction pathway. *Cancer Res.*, in press.
- Bodrug, S. E., Aimé-Sempé, C., Sato, T., Krajewski, S., Hanada, M., and Reed, J. C. (1995). Biochemical and functional comparisons of Mcl-1 and Bcl-2 proteins: Evidence for a novel mechanism of regulating Bcl-2 family protein function. *Cell Death Differ.* 2, 173-182.
- Boise, L. H., Gonzalez-Garcia, M., Postema, C. E., Ding, L., Lindsten, T., Turka, L. A., Mao, X., Nunez, G., and Thompson, C. B. (1993). *bcl-x*, a *bcl-2*-related gene that functions as a dominant regulator of apoptotic cell death. *Cell* 74, 597–608.
- Borner, C., Martinou, I., Mattmann, C., Irmler, M., Scharer, E., Martinou, J.-C., and Tschopp, J. (1994). The protein bcl-2alpha does not require membrane attachment, but two conserved domains to suppress apoptosis. J. Cell Biol. 126, 1059–1068.
- Boulakia, C. A., Chen, G., Ng, F. W. H., Teodoro, J. G., Branton, P. E., Nicholson, D. W., Poirier, G. G., and Shore, G. C. (1996). Bcl-2 and adenovirus E1B 19 kDA protein prevent E1A-induced processing of CPP32 and cleavage of poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase. Oncogene 12, 29–36.
- Boyd, J. M., Malstrom, S., Subramanian, T., Venkatesch, L. K., Schaeper, U., Elangovan, B., D'Sa-Epper, C., and Chinnadurai, G. (1993). Adenovirus E1B 19 kDa and bcl-2 proteins interact with a common set of cellular proteins. *Cell* 79, 341-351.
- Boyd, J. M., Gallo, G. J., Elangovan, B., Houghton, A. B., Malstrom, S., Avery, B. J., Ebb, R. G., Subramanian, T., Chittenden, T., Lutz, R. J., and Chinnadurai, G. (1995). Bik,

a novel death-inducing protein, shares a distinct sequence motif with Bcl-2 family proteins and interacts with viral and cellular survival-promoting proteins. *Oncogene* **11**, 1921–1928.

- Branet, F., Brousset, P., Krajewski, S., Schlaifer, D., Selves, J., Reed, J. C., and Caron, P. (1996). Expression of the cell death-inducing gene Bax in carcinomas developed from the follicular cells of the thyroid gland. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab., 81, 2726–2730.
- Bubendorf, L., Sauter, G., Moch, H., Jordan, P., Gasser, T. C., and Mihatsch, M. J. (1996). Prognostic significance of bcl-2 in clinically localized prostate cancer. Am. J. Pathol., in press.
- Campos, L., Roualult, J.-P., Sabido, O., Roubi, N., Vasselon, C., Archimbaud, E., Magaud, J.-P., and Guyotat, D. (1993). High expression of bcl-2 protein in acute myeloid leukemia cells is associated with poor response to chemotherapy. Blood 81, 3091-3096.
- Campos, L., Sabido, O., Rouault, J.-P., and Guyotat, D. (1994). Effects of Bcl-2 antisense oligodeoxynucleotides on in vitro proliferation and survival of normal marrow progenitors and leukemic cells. *Blood* 84, 595-600.
- Chao, D. T., Linette, G. P., Boise, L. H., White, L. S., Thompson, C. B., and Korsmeyer, S. J. (1995). Bcl-X_L and Bcl-2 repress a common pathway of cell death. J. Exp. Med. 182, 821–828.
- Chen, C. Y., and Faller, D. V. (1995). Direction of p21^{ras}-generated signals towards cell growth or apoptosis is determined by protein kinase C and Bcl-2. Oncogene 11, 1487-1498.
- Chen, C.-Y., and Faller, D. V. (1996). Phosphorylation of Bcl-2 protein and association with p21^{Ras} in Ras-induced apoptosis. J. Biol. Chem. **271**, 2376–2379.
- Cheng, E. H.-Y., Levine, B., Boise, L. H., Thompson, C. B., and Hardwick, J. M. (1996). Bax-independent inhibition of apoptosis by Bcl-X_L. Nature (London) 379, 554–556.
- Chinnaiyan, A. M., Orth, K., O'Rourke, K., Duan, H., Poirier, G. G., and Dixit, V. M. (1996). Molecular ordering of the cell death pathway: Bcl-2 and Bcl-XL function upstream of the CED-3-like apoptotic proteases. J. Biol. Chem., 271, 4573–4576.
- Chittenden, T., Flemington, C., Houghton, A. B., Ebb, R. G., Gallo, G. J., Elangovan, B., Chinnadurai, G., and Lutz, R. J. (1995a). A conserved domain in Bak, distinct from BH1 and BH2, mediates cell death and protein binding functions. *EMBO J.* 14, 5589–5596.
- Chittenden, T., Harrington, E. A., O'Connor, R., Flemington, C., Lutz, R. J., Evan, G. I., and Guild, B. C. (1995b). Induction of apoptosis by the Bcl-2 homologue Bak. *Nature* (London) **374**, 733–736.
- Choi, S. S., Park, I.-C., Yun, J. W., Sung, Y. C., Hong, S., and Shin, H. (1995). A novel Bcl-2 related gene, Bfl-1, is overexpressed in stomach cancer and preferentially expressed in bone marrow. *Oncogene* 11, 1693–1698.
- Colombel, M., Symmans, F., Gil, S., O'Toole, K. M., Chopin, D., Benson, M., Olsson, C. A., Korsmeyer, S., and Buttyan, R. (1993). Detection of the apoptosis-suppressing oncoprotein bcl-2 in hormone-refractory human prostate cancers. Am. J. Pathol. 143, 390-400.
- Daniel, C. W., and Silberstein, G. B. (1987). "The Mammary Gland: Development, Regulation and Function." Plenum Publishing Corp., New York.
- Das, R., Reddy, E. P., Chatterjee, D., and Adrews, D. W. (1996). Identification of a novel Bcl-2 related gene, BRAG-1, in human glioma. Oncogene 12, 947–951.
- Delia, D., Aiello, A., Formelli, F., Fontanella, E., Costa, A., Miyashita, T., Reed, J. C., and Pierott, M. A. (1995). Regulation of apoptosis induced by the retinoid N-(4-hydroxyphenyl) retinamide and effect of deregulated bcl-2. *Blood* 85, 59–367.

- Doglioni, C., Dei Tos, A. P., Laurino, L., Chiarelli, C., Barbareschi, M., and Viale, G. (1994). The prevalence of Bcl-2 immunoreactivity in breast carcinomas and its clinicopathological correlates, with particular reference to oestrogen receptor status. Virchows Archiv 424, 47-51.
- Dowd, D. R., MacDonald, P. N., Komm, B. S., Haussler, M. R., and Miesfeld, R. L. (1992). Stable expression of the calbindin-D28K complementary DNA interferes with the apoptotic pathway in lymphocytes. *Mol. Endocrinol.* 6, 1843–1848.
- Eliopoulos, A. G., Kerr, D. J., Herod, J., Hodgkins, L., Krajewski, S., Reed, J. C., and Young, L. S. (1995). The control of apoptosis and drug resistance in ovarian cancer: Influence of p53 and Bcl-2. Oncogene 11, 1217–1228.
- Farrow, S. N., White, J. H. M., Martinou, I., Raven, T., Pun, K.-T., Grinham, C. J., Martinou, J.-C., and Brown, R. (1995). Cloning of a bcl-2 homologue by interaction with adenovirus E1B 19K. *Nature (London)* 374, 731–733.
- Fernandez-Sarbia, M. J., and Bischoff, J. R. (1993). Bcl-2 associates with the ras-related protein R-ras p23. Nature (London) 366, 274–275.
- Frisch, S. M., and Francis, H. (1994). Disruption of epithelial cell-matrix interactions induces apoptosis. J. Cell Biol. 124, 619–626.
- Furuya, Y., Krajewski, S., Epstein, J. I., Reed, J. C., and Isaacs, J. T. (1996). Enhanced expression of Bcl-2 and the progression of human and rodent prostatic cancers. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 2, 389–398.
- Gasparini, G., Barbareschi, M., Doglioni, C., Palma, P. D., Mauri, F. A., Boracchi, P., Bevilacqua, P., Caffo, O., Morelli, L., Verderio, P., Pezzella, F., and Harris, A. L. (1995). Expression of *bcl-2* protein predicts efficacy of adjuvant treatments in operable node-positive breast cancer. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 1, 189–198.
- Gillet, G., Guerin, M., Trembleau, A., and Brun, G. (1995). A Bcl-2-related gene is activated in avian cells transformed by the Rous sarcoma virus. *EMBO J.* 14, 1372–1381.
- Golemis, E. A., Gyuris, J., and Brent, R. (1994). Interaction trap-two-hybrid system to identify interacting proteins. In "Current Protocols in Molecular Biology," pp. 13.14.1-13.14.17. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York.
- Gompel, A., Sabourin, J. C., Martin, A., Yaneva, H., Audouin, J., Decroix, Y., and Poitout, P. (1994). Bcl-2 expression in normal endometrium during the menstrual cycle. Am. J. Pathol. 144, 1195–1202.
- González-Garcia, M., Pérez-Ballestero, R., Ding, L., Duan, L., Boise, L. H., Thompson, C. B., and Núñez, G. (1994). bcl-XL is the major bcl-X mRNA form expressed during murine development and its product localizes to mitochondria. Development 120, 3033-3042.
- Haldar, S., Jena, N., and Croce, C. M. (1995). Inactivation of Bcl-2 by phosphorylation. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 92, 4507–4511.
- Haldar, S., Chintapallli, J., and Croce, C. M. (1996). Taxol induces *bcl-2* phosphorylation and death of prostate cancer cells. *Cancer Res.* 56, 1253–1255.
- Hanada, M., Aimé-Sempé, C., Sato, T., and Reed, J. C. (1995). Structure-function analysis of bcl-2 protein: Identification of conserved domains important for homodimerization with bcl-2 and heterodimerization with bax. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 11962-11968.
- Hellemans, P., van Dam, P. A., Weyler, J., van Oosterom, A. T., Buytaert, P., and Van Marck, E. (1995). Prognostic value of *bcl-2* expression in invasive breast cancer. *Br. J. Cancer* 72, 354–360.
- Hengartner, M. O., and Horvitz, H. R. (1994). C. elegans cell survival gene ced-9 encodes a functional homolog of the mammlian proto-oncogene bcl-2. Cell 76, 665–676.
- Hermine, O., Haioun, C., Lepage, E., d'Agay, M.-F., Briere, J., Lavignac, C., Fillet, G., Salles, G., Marolleau, J.-P., Diebold, J., Reyes, F., and Gaulard, P. (1996). Prognostic
significance of Bcl-2 protein expression in aggressive non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. *Blood* 87, 265–272.

- Herod, J. J. O., Eliopoulos, A. G., Warwick, J., Niedobitek, G., Young, L. S., and Kerr, D. J. (1996). The prognostic significance of Bcl-2 and p53 expression in ovarian carcinoma. *Cancer Res.*, 56, 2178–2184.
- Hockenbery, D. M., Nunez, G., Milliman, C., Schreiber, R. D., and Korsmeyer, S. J. (1990). Bcl-2 is an inner mitochondrial membrane protein that blocks programmed cell death. *Nature (London)* 348, 334–336.
- Hockenbery, D. M., Zutter, M., Hickey, W., Nahm, M., and Korsmeyer, S. J. (1991). Bcl-2 protein is topographically restricted in tissues characterized by apoptotic cell death. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 88, 6961–6965.
- Hockenbery, D., Oltvai, Z., Yin, X.-M., Milliman, C., and Korsmeyer, S. J. (1993). Bcl-2 functions in an antioxidant pathway to prevent apoptosis. *Cell* 75, 241–251.
- Hunter, J. J., and Parslow, T. G. (1996). A peptide sequence from Bax that converts Bcl-2 into an activator of apoptosis. J. Biol. Chem., 271, 8521-8524.
- Hunter, J. J., Bond, B. L., and Parslow, T. G. (1996). Functional dissection of the human Bcl-2 protein: Sequence requirements for inhibition of apoptosis. *Mol. Cell. Biol.*, 16, 877–883.
- Jacobson, M. D., and Raff, M. C. (1995). Programmed cell death and Bcl-2 protection in very low oxygen. Nature (London) 374, 814-816.
- Jacobson, M. D., Burne, J. F., King, M. P., Miyashita, T., Reed, J. C., and Raff, M. C. (1993). Apoptosis and *bcl-2* protein in cells without mitochondrial DNA. *Nature (London)* 361, 365–368.
- Joensuu, H., Pylkkänen, L., and Toikkanen, S. (1994). Bcl-2 protein expression and longterm survival in breast cancer. Am. J. Pathol. 145, 1191–1198.
- Johnston, S. R. D., MacLennan, K. A., Sacks, N. P. M., Salter, J., Smith, I. E., and Dowsett, M. (1994). Modulation of Bcl-2 and Ki-67 expression in oestrogen receptor-positive human breast cancer by tamoxifen. *Eur. J. Cancer* **30A**, 1663–1669.
- Kamada, S., Shimono, A., Shinto, Y., Tsujimura, T., Takahashi, T., Noda, T., Kitamura, Y., Kondoh, H., and Tsujimoto, Y. (1995). *bcl-2* deficiency in mice leads to pleiotropic abnormalities: Accelerated lymphoid cell death in thymus and spleen, polycystic kidney, hair hypopigmentation, and distorted small intestine. *Cancer Res.* 55, 354–359.
- Kane, D. J., Sarafin, T. A., Auton, S., Hahn, H., Gralla, F. B., Valentine, J. C., Ord, T., and Bredesen, D. E. (1993). Bcl-2 inhibition of neural cell death: Decreased generation of reactive oxygen species. *Science* 262, 1274–1276.
- Katsumata, M., Siegel, R., Louie, D., Miyashita, T., Tanaka, S., Greene, M., and Reed, J. C. (1992). Differential effects of *bcl-2* on B- and T-lymphocytes in transgenic mice. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 89, 11376–11380.
- Kiefer, M. C., Brauer, M. J., Powers, V. C., Wu, J. J., Ubansky, S. R., Tomei, L. D., and Barr, P. J. (1995). Modulation of apoptosis by the widely distributed Bcl-2 homologue Bak. *Nature (London)* **374**, 736–739.
- Kitada, S., Takayama, S., DeRiel, K., Tanaka, S., and Reed, J. C. (1994). Reversal of chemoresistance of lymphoma cells by antisense-mediated reduction of bcl-2 gene expression. Antisense Res. Dev. 4, 71–79.
- Kitada, S., Krajewski, S., Miyashita, T., Krajewska, M., and Reed, J. C. (1996). Gammaradiation induces upregulation of Bax protein and apoptosis in radiosensitive cells in vivo. Oncogene 12, 187–192.
- Knudson, C. M., Tung, K. S. K., Tourtellotte, W. G., Brown, G. A. J., and Korsmeyer, S. J. (1995). Bax-deficient mice with lymphoid hyperplasia and male germ cell death. *Science* 270, 96–99.

- Kozopas, K. M., Yang, T., Buchan, H. L., Zhou, P., and Craig, R. (1993). Mcl-1, a gene expressed in programmed myeloid cell differentiation, has sequence similarity to bcl-2. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 90, 3516–3520.
- Krajewska, M., Krajewski, S., Epstein, J. I., Shabaik, A., Sauvageot, J., Song, K., Kitada, S., and Reed, J. C. (1996a). Immunohistochemical analysis of Bcl-2, Bax, Bcl-X, and Mcl-1 expression in prostate cancers. Am. J. Pathol., 148, 1567–1576.
- Krajewska, M., Moss, S., Krajewski, S., Song, K., Holt, P., and Reed, J. C. (1996b). Elevated expression of Bcl-X and reduced Bak in primary colorectal adenocarcinomas. *Cancer Res.*, 56, 2422–2427.
- Krajewski, S., Tanaka, S., Takayama, S., Schibler, M. J., Fenton, W., and Reed, J. C. (1993). Investigations of the subcellular distribution of the bcl-2 oncoprotein: residence in the nuclear envelope, endoplasmic reticulum, and outer mitochondrial membranes. *Cancer Res.* 53, 4701–4714.
- Krajewski, S., Krajewska, M., Shabaik, A., Miyashita, T., Wang, H.-G., and Reed, J. C. (1994a). Immunohistochemical determination of in vivo distribution of *bax*, a dominant inhibitor of *bcl-2. Am. J. Pathol.* **145**, 1323–1333.
- Krajewski, S., Krajewska, M., Shabaik, A., Wang, H.-G., Irie, S., Fong, L., and Reed, J. C. (1994b). Immunohistochemical analysis of in vivo patterns of Bcl-X expression. *Cancer Res.* 54, 5501–5507.
- Krajewski, S., Blomvqvist, C., Franssila, K., Krajewska, M., Wasenius, V.-M., Niskanen, E., and Reed, J. C. (1995a). Reduced expression of pro-apoptotic gene Bax is associated with poor response rates to combination chemotherapy and shorter survival in women with metastatic breast adenocarcinoma. *Cancer Res.* 55, 4471–4478.
- Krajewski, S., Bodrug, S., Krajewska, M., Shabaik, A., Gascoyne, R., Berean, K., and Reed, J. C. (1995b). Immunohistochemical analysis of Mcl-1 protein in human tissues: Differential regulation of Mcl-1 and Bcl-2 protein production suggests a unique role for Mcl-1 in control of programmed cell death in vivo. Am. J. Pathol. 146, 1309-1319.
- Krajewski, S., Krajewska, M., and Reed, J. C. (1996). Immunohistochemical analysis of in vivo patterns of Bak expression, a pro-apoptotic member of the Bcl-2 protein family. Cancer Res., 56, 2849-2855.
- Kurschner, C., and Morgan, J. I. (1995). The cellular prion protein (PrP) selectively binds to Bcl-2 in the yeast two-hybrid system. *Mol. Brain Res.* **30**, 165-168.
- Kyprianou, N., and Isaacs, J. T. (1988). Activation of programmed cell death in the rat ventral prostate after castration. *Endocrinology* 122, 552–562.
- Lam, M., Dubyak, G., and Distelhorst, C. W. (1993). Effect of glucocorticosteroid treatment on intracellular calcium homeostasis in mouse lymphoma cells. *Mol. Endocrinol.* 7, 686-693.
- Lam, M., Dubyak, G., Chen, L., Nuñez, G., Miesfeld, R. L., and Distelhorst, C. W. (1994). Evidence that Bcl-2 represses apoptosis by regulating endoplasmic reticulum-associated Ca²+ fluxes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 91, 6569–6573.
- Leek, R. D., Kaklamanis, L., Pezzella, F., Gatter, K. C., and Harris, A. L. (1994). *bcl-2* in normal human breast and carcinoma, association with oestrogen receptor-positive, epidermal growth factor receptor-negative tumours and *in situ* cancer. *Br. J. Cancer* 69, 135–139.
- Li, M., Hu, J., Heermeier, K., Henninghausen, L., and Furth, P. A. (1996a). Apoptosis and remodeling of mammary gland tissue during involution proceeds through p53-independent pathways. Cell Growth Differ. 7, 13-20.
- Li, M., Hu, J., Heermeier, K., Henninghausen, L., and Furth, P. A. (1996b). Expression of a viral oncoprotein during mammary gland development alters cell fate and function:

Induction of p53-independent apoptosis is followed by impaired milk production in surviving cells. *Cell Growth Differ.* **7**, 3–11.

- Lin, E. Y., Orlofsky, A., Berger, M. S., and Prystowsky, M. B. (1993). Characterization of A1, a novel hemopoietic-specific early-response gene with sequence similarity to *bcl-*2. J. Immunol. 151, 1979–1988.
- Lin, E. Y., Orlofsky, S., Wang, H.-G., Reed, J. C., and Prystowsky, M. B. (1996). A1, a Bcl-2 family member, prolongs cell survival and permits myeloid differentiation. *Blood* 87, 983–992.
- Lin, K.-I., Lee, S.-H., Narayanan, R., Baraban, J. M., Hardwick, J. M., and Ratan, R. R. (1995). Thiol agents and Bcl-2 identify an alphavirus-induced apoptotic pathway that requires activation of the transcription factor NF-kappa B. J. Cell Biol. 131, 1149-1161.
- Lithgow, T., van Driel, R., Bertram, J. F., and Strasser, A. (1994). The protein product of the oncogene bcl-2 is a component of the nuclear envelope, the endoplasmic reticulum, and the other mitochondrial membrane. Cell Growth Differ. 3, 411-417.
- Maung, Z. T., MacLean, F. R., Reid, M. M., Pearson, A. D. J., Proctor, S. J., Hamilton, P. J., and Hall, A. G. (1994). The relationship between bcl-2 expression and response to chemotherapy in acute leukemia. Br. J. Haematol. 88, 105–109.
- McDonnell, T. J., Deane, N., Platt, F. M., Nunez, G., Jaeger, V., McKearn, J. P., and Korsmeyer, S. J. (1989). *bcl-2-immunoglobulin transgenic mice demonstrate ex*tended B-cell survival and follicular lymphoproliferation. *Cell* 57, 79-88.
- McDonnell, T. J., Nunez, G., Platt, F. M., Hockenberry, D., London, L., McKearn, J. P., and Korsmeyer, S. J. (1990). Deregulated *bcl-2*-immunoglobulin transgene expands a resting but responsive immunoglobulin M and D-expressing B-cell population. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 10, 1901–1907.
- McDonnell, T. J., Troncoso, P., Brisbay, S. M., Logothetis, C., Chung, L. W. K., Hsieh, J.-T., Tu, S.-M., and Campbell, M. L. (1992). Expression of the proto-oncogene bcl-2 in the prostate and its association with emergence of androgen-independent prostate cancer. Cancer Res. 52, 6940–6944.
- Meikrantz, W., Gisselbrecht, S., Tam, S. W., and Schlegel, R. (1994). Activation of cyclin A-dependent protein kinases during apoptosis. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 91, 3754–3758.
- Minn, A. J., Rudin, C. M., Boise, L. H., and Thompson, C. B. (1995). Expression of Bcl-X_L can confer a multidrug resistance phenotype. *Blood* 86, 1903–1910.
- Minn, A. J., Boise, L. H., and Thompson, C. B. (1996). Bcl-X_S antagonizes the protective effects of Bcl-X_L. J. Biol. Chem. 271, 6306–6312.
- Miyashita, T., and Reed, J. C. (1992). Bcl-2 gene transfer increases relative resistance of S49.1 and WEH17.2 lymphoid cells to cell death and DNA fragmentation induced by glucocorticoids and multiple chemotherapeutic drugs. *Cancer Res.* 52, 5407–5411.
- Miyashita, T., and Reed, J. C. (1993). Bcl-2 oncoprotein blocks chemotherapy-induced apoptosis in a human leukemia cell line. *Blood* 81, 151–157.
- Miyashita, T., and Reed, J. C. (1995). Tumor suppressor p53 is a direct transcriptional activator of human bax gene. Cell **80**, 293–299.
- Miyashita, T., Harigai, M., Hanada, M., and Reed, J. C. (1994a). Identification of a p53dependent negative response element in the bcl-2 gene. *Cancer Res.* 54, 3131–3135.
- Miyashita, T., Krajewski, S., Krajewska, M., Wang, H. G., Lin, H. K., Hoffman, B., Lieberman, D., and Reed, J. C. (1994b). Tumor suppressor p53 is a regulator of bcl-2 and bax in gene expression in vitro and in vivo. Oncogene 9, 1799-1805.
- Monaghan, P., Robertson, D., Andrew, T., Amos, S., Dyer, M. J. S., Mason, D. Y., and Greaves, M. F. (1992). Ultrastructural localization of *bcl-2* protein. J. Histochem. Cytochem. 40, 1819–1825.

- Motoyama, N., Wang, F., Roth, K. A., Sawa, H., Nakayama, K., Negishi, I., Senju, S., Zhang, Q., Fujii, S., and Loh, D. Y. (1995). Massive cell death of immature hematopoietic cells and neurons in Bcl-X-deficient mice. *Science* 267, 1506–1510.
- Nathan, B., Anbazhagan, R., Dyer, M., Ebbs, S. R., Jayatilake, H., and Gusterson, B. A. (1993). Expression of *bcl-2*-like immunoreactivity in the normal breast and in breast cancer. *Breast* 2, 134–137.
- Nathan, B., Gusterson, B., Jadayel, D., O'Hare, M., Anbazhagan, R., Jayatilake, H., Ebbs, S., Micklem, K., Price, K., and Gelber, R., for the International (Ludwig) Breast Cancer Study Group. (1994). Expression of BCL-2 in primary breast cancer and its correlation with tumour phenotype. Ann. Oncol. 5, 409-414.
- Naumovski, L., and Cleary, M. L. (1994). Bcl-2 inhibits apoptosis associated with terminal differentiation of HL-60 myeloid leukemia cells. *Blood* 83, 2261–2267.
- Naumovski, L., and Cleary, M. L. (1996). The p53-binding protein 53BP2 also interacts with Bcl-2 and impedes cell cycle progression at G2M. Mol. Cell Biol. 16, 3884–3892.
- Neilan, J. G., Lu, Z., Afonso, C. L., Kutish, G. F., Sussman, M. D., and Rock, D. L. (1993). An African swine fever virus gene with similarity to the proto-oncogene bcl-2 and the Epstein-Barr virus gene BHRF1. J. Virol. 67, 4391–4394.
- Offit, K., Koduru, P. R. K., Hollis, R., Filippa, D., Jhanwar, S. C., Clarkson, B. C., and Chaganti, R. S. K. (1989). 18q21 rearrangement in diffuse large cell lymphoma: Incidence and clinical significance. *Br. J. Haematol.* **72**, 178-183.
- Oltvai, Z., Milliman, C., and Korsmeyer, S. J. (1993). Bcl-2 heterodimerizes in vivo with a conserved homolog, Bax, that accelerates programmed cell death. Cell 74, 609-619.
- Perego, P., Giarola, M., Righetti, S. C., Supino, R., Caserini, C., Delia, D., Pierotti, M. A., Miyashita, T., Reed, J. C., and Zunino, F. (1996). Association between cisplatin resistance and mutation of p53 gene and reduced Bax expression in ovarian carcinoma cell systems. *Cancer Res.* 56, 556–562.
- Pezzella, F., Tse, A. G. D., Cordell, J. L., Pulford, K. A. F., Gatter, K. C., and Mason, D. Y. (1990). Expression of the bcl-2 oncogene protein is not specific for the 14;18 chromosomal translocation. Am. J. Pathol. 137, 225.
- Pilotti, S., Collini, P., Rilke, F., Cattoretti, G., Del Bo, R., and Pierotti, M. A. (1994). Bcl-2 protein expression in carcinomas originating from the follicular epithelium of the thyroid gland. J. Pathol. 172, 337–342.
- Piris, M. A., Pezella, F., Martinez-Montero, J. C., Orradre, J. L., Villuendas, R., Sanchez-Beato, M., Cuena, R., Cruz, M. A., Martinez, B., Garrido, M. C., Gatter, K., Aiello, A., Delia, D., Giardini, R., and Rilke, F. (1994). p53 and *bcl-2* expression in high-grade B-cell lymphomas: Correlation with survival time. *Br. J. Cancer* **69**, 337–341.
- Raffo, A. J., Perlman, H., Chen, M.-W., Day, M. L., Streitman, J. S., and Buttyan, R. (1995). Overexpression of bcl-2 protects prostate cancer cells from apoptosis in vitro and confers resistance to androgen depletion in vivo. *Cancer Res.* 55, 4438–4445.
- Rao, L., Debbas, M., Sabbatini, P., Hockenbery, D., Korsmeyer, S., and White, E. (1992). The adenovirus E1A proteins induce apoptosis, which is inhibited by the E1B 19-kDa and *bcl-2* proteins. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 89, 7742–7746.
- Razin, S. V., and Gromova, I. I. (1995). The channels model of nuclear matrix structure. *BioEssays* 17, 443–450.
- Reed, J. C. (1994). Bcl-2 and the regulation of programmed cell death. J. Cell Biol. 124, 1–6.
- Reed, J. C. (1995). Bcl-2: Prevention of apoptosis as a mechanism of drug resistance. Hematol. Oncol. Clin. North Am. 9, 451-474.
- Reed, J., Haldar, S., Cuddy, M., Croce, C., and Makover, D. (1990). Bcl-2-mediated tumorigenicity in a T-lymphoid cell line: Synergy with C-MYC and inhibition by Bcl-2 antisense. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 87, 3660-3664.

- Reynolds, J. E., Yang, T., Qian, L., Jenkinson, J. D., Zhou, P., Eastman, A., and Craig, R. W. (1994). Mcl-1, a member of the Bcl-2 family, delays apoptosis induced by c-Myc overexpression in Chinese hamster ovary cells. *Cancer Res.* 54, 6348–6352.
- Ruoslahti, E., and Reed, J. C. (1994). Anchorage dependence, integrins, and apoptosis. *Cell* 77, 477–478.
- Ryan, J. J., Prochownik, E., Gottlieb, C. A., Apel, I. J., Merino, R., Nuñez, G., and Clarke, M. F. (1994). *c-myc* and *bcl-2* modulates p53 function by altering p53 subcellular trafficking during the cell cycle. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 91, 5878–5882.
- Sato, T., Hanada, M., Bodrug, S., Irie, S., Iwama, N., Boise, L. H., Thompson, C. B., Golemis, E., Fong, L., Wang, H.-G., and Reed, J. C. (1994a). Interactions among members of the bcl-2 protein family analyzed with a yeast two-hybrid system. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 91, 9238-9242.
- Sato, T., Irie, S., Krajewski, S., and Reed, J. C. (1994b). Cloning and sequencing of cDNA encoding rat bcl-2 protein. *Gene* 140, 291–292.
- Sato, T., Hanada, M., Bodrug, S., Irie, S., Iwama, N., Boise, L. H., Thompson, C. B., Golemis, E., Fong, L., Wang, H.-G., and Reed, J. C. (1995). Correction: Interactions among members of the Bcl-2 protein family analyzed with a yeast two-hybrid system. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 92, 1793.
- Sedlak, T. W., Oltvai, Z. N., Yang, E., Wang, K., Boise, L. H., Thompson, C. B., and Korsmeyer, S. J. (1995). Multiple Bcl-2 family members demonstrate selective dimerizations with Bax. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 92, 7834–7838.
- Selvakumaran, M., Lin, H.-K., Miyashita, T., Wang, H.-G., Krajewski, S., Reed J. C., Hoffman, B., and Liebermann, D. (1994). Immediate early up-regulation of bax expression by p53 but not TGFb1: A paradigm for distinct apoptotic pathways. Oncogene 9, 1791–1798.
- Sentman, C. L., Shutter, J. R., Hockenbery, D., Kanagawa, O., and Korsmeyer, S. J. (1991). bcl-2 inhibits multiple forms of apoptosis but not negative selection in thymocytes. Cell 67, 879-888.
- Shabaik, A. S., Krajewski, S., Burgan, A., Krajewska, M., and Reed, J. C. (1994). Bcl-2 proto-oncogene expression in normal, hyperplastic, and neoplastic prostate tissue. J. Urol. Pathol. 3, 17-27.
- Shen, Y., and Shenk, T. (1994). Relief of p53-mediated transcriptional repression by the adenovirus E1B 19-kDa protein or the cellular *bcl-2* protein. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 91, 8940–8944.
- Shimizu, S., Eguchi, Y., Kosaka, H., Kamiike, W., Matsuda, H., and Tsujimoto, Y. (1995). Prevention of hypoxia-induced cell death by Bcl-2 and BclxL. *Nature (London)* 374, 811–813.
- Siegel, R., Katsumata, M., Miyashita, T., Louie, D., Greene, M., and Reed, J. C. (1992). Inhibition of thymocyte apoptosis and negative antigenic selection in bcl-2 transgenic mice. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 89, 7003–7007.
- Silvestrini, R., Veneroni, S., Daidone, M. G., Benini, E., Boracchi, P., Mezzetti, M., Di Fronzo, G., Rilke, F., and Veronesi, U. (1994). The bcl-2 protein: A prognostic indicator strongly related to p53 protein in lymph node-negative breast cancer patients. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 86, 499-504.
- Smith, C. A. (1995). A novel viral homologue of Bcl-2 and Ced-9. Trends Cell Biol. 5, 344.
- Strasser, A., Harris, A. W., and Cory, S. (1991). *bcl-2* transgene inhibits T cell death and perturbs thymic self-censorship. *Cell* 67, 889–899.
- Sumantran, V. N., Ealovega, M. W., Nuñez, G., Clarke, M. F., and Wicha, M. S. (1995). Overexpression of Bcl-X_S sensitizes MCF-7 cells to chemotherapy-induced apoptosis. *Cancer Res.* 55, 2507–2510.
- Tabibzadeh, S., Zupi, E., Babaknia, A., Liu, R., Marconi, D., and Romanini, C. (1995). Site

and menstrual cycle-dependent expression of proteins of the tumour necrosis factor (TNF) receptor family, and Bcl-2 oncoprotein and phase-specific production of TNFa in human endometrium. *Hum. Reprod.* **10**, 277–286.

- Takayama, S., Sato, T., Krajewski, S., Kochel, K., Irie, S., Millan, J. A., and Reed, J. C. (1995). Cloning and functional analysis of BAG-1: A novel Bcl-2 binding protein with anti-cell death activity. *Cell* 80, 279–284.
- Teixeira, C., Reed, J. C., and Pratt, M. A. C. (1995). Estrogen promotes chemotherapeutic drug resistance by a mechanism involving Bcl-2 protooncogene expression in human breast cancer cells. *Cancer Res.* 55, 3902–3907.
- Tilly, J. L. (1993). Ovarian follicular atresia: A model to study the mechanisms of physiological cell death. *Endocrine J.* **1**, 67–72.
- Tilly, J. L., Tilly, K. I., Kenton, M. L., and Johnson, A. L. (1995). Expression of members of the Bcl-2 gene family in the immature rat ovary: Equine chorionic gonadotropinmediated inhibition of granulosa cell apoptosis is associated with decreased Bax and constitutive Bcl-2 and Bcl-X_{long} messenger ribonucleic acid levels. *Endocrinology* **136**, 232–241.
- Tsujimoto, Y., Cossman, J., Jaffe, E., and Croce, C. (1985). Involvement of the *bcl-2* gene in human follicular lymphoma. *Science* **228**, 1440–1443.
- Upadhyay, S., Li, G., Liu, H., Chen, Y. Q., Sarkar, F. H., and Kim, H.-E. C. (1995). bcl-2 suppresses expression of p21^{WAF1/CIP1} in breast epithelial cells. Cancer Res. 55, 4520-4524.
- Vaux, D. L., Cory, S., and Adams, J. M. (1988). Bcl-2 gene promotes haemopoietic cell survival and cooperates with c-myc to immortalize pre-B cells. *Nature (London)* 335, 440–442.
- Vaux, D. L., Weissman, I. L., and Kim, S. K. (1992). Prevention of programmed cell death in *Caenorhabditis elegans* by human bcl-2. *Science* 258, 1955–1957.
- Veis, D. J., Sentman, C. L., Bach, E. A., and Korsmeyer, S. J. (1993a). Expression of the Bcl-2 protein in murine and human thymocytes and in peripheral T lymphocytes. J. Immunol. 151, 2546-2554.
- Veis, D. J., Sorenson, C. M., Shutter, J. R., and Korsmeyer, S. J. (1993b). Bcl-2-deficient mice demonstrate fulminant lymphoid apoptosis, polycystic kidneys, and hypopigmented hair. Cell 75, 229-240.
- Vogelstein, B., and Kinzler, K. W. (1992). p53 function and dysfunction. Cell 70, 523-526.
- Wang, H.-G., Miyashita, T., Takayama, S., Sato, T., Torigoe, T., Krajewski, S., Tanaka, S., Hovey, L., III, Troppmair, J., Rapp, U. R., and Reed, J. C. (1994). Apoptosis regulation by interaction of *bcl-2* protein and Raf-1 kinase. *Oncogene* 9, 2751–2756.
- Wang, H.-G., Millan, J. A., Cox, A. D., Der, C. J., Rapp, U. R., Beck, T., Zha, H., and Reed, J. C. (1995). R-ras promotes apoptosis caused by growth factor deprivation via a Bcl-2 suppressible mechanism. J. Cell Biol. 129, 1103–1114.
- Wang, T. T. Y., and Phang, J. M. (1995). Effects of estrogen on apoptotic pathways in human breast cancer cell line MCF-7. *Cancer Res.* 55, 2487–2489.
- Yang, E., Zha, J., Jockel, J., Boise, L. H., Thompson, C. B., and Korsmeyer, S. J. (1995). Bad: A heterodimeric partner for Bcl-X_L and Bcl-2, displaces bax and promotes cell death. Cell 80, 285-291.
- Yang, T., Kozopas, K. M., and Craig, R. W. (1995). The intracellular distribution and pattern of expression of Mcl-1 overlap with, but are not identical to, those of Bcl-2. J. Cell Biol. 128, 1173-1184.
- Yin, X. M., Oltvai, Z. N., and Korsmeyer, S. J. (1994). BH1 and BH2 domains of *bcl-2* are required for inhibition of apoptosis and heterodimerization with *bax. Nature (London)* **369**, 321–333.
- Yuan, J., Shaham, S., Ledoux, S., Ellis, H. M., and Horvitz, H. R. (1993). The C. elegans

cell death gene *ced-3* encodes a protein similar to mammalian interleukin-1 betaconverting enzyme. *Cell* **75**, 641–652.

- Yunis, J. J., Mayer, M. G., Arensen, M. A., Aeppli, D. P., Oken, M. M., and Frizzera, G. (1989). Bcl-2 and other genomic alterations in the prognosis of large-cell lymphomas. *New Engl. J. Med.* **320**, 1047–1054.
- Zha, H., Aime-Sempe, C., Sato, T., and Reed, J. C. (1996a). Pro-apoptotic protein Bax heterodimerizes with Bcl-2 and homodimerizes with Bax via a novel domain (BH3) distinct from BH1 and BH2. J. Biol. Chem. 271, 7440-7444.
- Zha, H., Fisk, H. A., Yaffe, M. P., and Reed, J. C. (1996b). Structure-function comparisons of proapoptotic protein Bax in yeast and mammalian cells. *Mol. Cell Biol.*, 16, 6494–6508.
- Zhan, Q., Fan, S., Bae, I., Guillouf, C., Liebermann, D. A., O'Connor, P. M., and Fornace, A. J., Jr. (1994). Induction of bax by genotoxic stress in human cells correlates with normal p53 status and apoptosis. Oncogene 9, 3743-3751.
- Zhang, Z., Vuori, K., Reed, J. C., and Ruoslahti, E. (1995). The alpha 5 beta 1 integrin supports survival of cells on fibronectin and up-regulates Bcl-2 expression. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 92, 6161–6165.

Pathways of p53-Dependent Apoptosis

LUIGI GRASSO* AND W. EDWARD MERCER*,[†]

Departments of *Microbiology and Immunology and [†]Biochemistry and Molecular Pharmacology Jefferson Medical College and Kimmel Cancer Institute Thomas Jefferson University Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 19107

- I. Introduction
- II. Dual Personality of the p53 Tumor Suppressor Protein
 - A. Biochemical Properties
 - **B.** Biological Properties
- III. Oncogene-Driven p53-Dependent Apoptosis
 - A. SV40 Large T Antigen
 - B. Adenovirus E1A and E1B Gene Products
 - C. Human Papillomavirus E7 and E6 Oncogenes
 - D. Epstein-Barr Virus
- IV. Coupling of p53-Dependent Cell Cycle Regulatory Pathways and Apoptosis
 - A. Myc-Mediated Apoptosis Is Dependent on wtp53 Function
 - B. The pRB/E2F Connection
- V. Downstream Effector Genes of p53-Dependent Apoptosis: The Bcl-2/Bax Connection
- VI. Growth Factors, Cytokines, and Survival Factors
 - A. IGF-I-IGF-I Receptor Interactions
 - B. Cytokines in Hematopoietic Cell Survival
- VII. Role of p53-Mediated Modulation of Transcription References

I. INTRODUCTION

It has been known for some time that the growth of tissues (both normal and neoplastic) depends not only on the rate of cell birth, which is dictated by the length of the cell cycle and the growth fraction, but also on the rate of cell loss through terminal differentiation and/or cell death (reviewed by Baserga, 1985). When this balance is disturbed, abnormal cellular accumulations in the form of hyperplasia (an increase in cell number) and/or neoplasia may result. Programmed cell death, or apoptosis, is an important mode of cell death that occurs in response to a variety of agents, including those that induce DNA damage, such as ionizing radiation or anticancer chemotherapeutic drugs (reviewed by Fisher, 1994). Tremendous advances have been made in our understanding of apoptotic cell death pathways and their relevance to the development of human cancer. Apoptosis is a genetically determined cell death program defined by characteristic morphological and biochemical changes that can be distinguished from necrosis, the other mode of cell death (reviewed by Wyllie, 1995). The induction of apoptosis is modulated by a variety of factors, including growth factors, intracellular mediators of signal transduction, nuclear proteins that regulate gene expression, and proteins that regulate DNA replication and repair processes. Evidence suggests that alterations in oncogenes and/or tumor suppressor genes can influence the rate and/or the susceptibility of cells to undergo a program of apoptotic cell death (reviewed by Williams and Smith, 1993; Fisher, 1994).

Since its discovery as a cellular protein bound to the large T antigen transforming protein of simian virus 40 (SV40) over a decade ago (Lane and Crawford, 1979), p53 protein has been the focus of intense scientific investigation. The gene encoding p53, located on chromosome 17p13.1, has been shown to be a very frequent target for genetic alterations in human cancers (Harris and Hollstein, 1993). Missense point mutations, deletions, and rearrangements of the p53 gene have been observed in a wide variety of different types of cancer (Hollstein et al., 1991). The wild-type (wt) p53 protein has been implicated in many cellular processes, including cell cycle control in response to DNA damage, DNA replication and repair, differentiation, and apoptosis. Numerous reviews have been published dealing with the structure and function of p53 protein, and the reader should consult these for a comprehensive coverage of such topics (see, e.g., Levine et al., 1991; Ullrich et al., 1992; Oren, 1992; Donehower and Bradley, 1993; Harris and Hollstein, 1993; Prives, 1994). The present review only highlights some of the properties of p53 protein relevant to its role in cell cycle control, induction of apoptosis, and tumor development.

II. DUAL PERSONALITY OF THE P53 TUMOR SUPPRESSOR PROTEIN

A. BIOCHEMICAL PROPERTIES

1. Structural Domains

Human p53 protein is an oligomeric nuclear phosphoprotein. Although regions of considerable divergence exist among p53 protein coding regions of evolutionarily diverse species, all p53 proteins contain five highly conserved regions designated I-V (see Fig. 1). p53 protein



FIG. 1. The domain structure and phosphorylation sites of human p53 protein. The positions of conserved domains (I–V), transactivation and sequence-specific DNA binding domains, and the region of non-sequence-specific DNA binding are indicated. Shown also are the known sites of *in vivo* phosphorylation.

can be divided into three major functional domains, a charged Nterminal domain (residues 1-42), a central domain (residues 120-290), and a C-terminal domain (residues 310-390). The N-terminal region is important for p53-mediated transcriptional modulation, while the central domain confers sequence-specific DNA binding (reviewed by Prives, 1994). Most p53 mutations found in human cancers, the so-called "hotspot" mutations, usually fall within these conserved regions of the central domain (reviewed by Harris and Hollstein, 1993). These mutations tend to cluster at regions of conserved amino acid residues: 132-145, 171-179, 239-248, and 272-286 (reviewed by Levine et al., 1991; Vogelstein and Kinzler, 1992). The C-terminal domain contains amino acid residues required for oligomerization and for binding to both single- and double-stranded regions of DNA and to mismatched singlestranded DNA loops. It is generally believed that the C-terminal region of p53 protein is involved in the recognition of damaged DNA (Nelson and Kastan, 1994; Jayaraman and Prives, 1995; Lee et al., 1995).

It has now been firmly established that wtp53 protein functions as a modulator of transcription that can exert both positive and negative effects on the expression of a number of genes. Wtp53-mediated transcriptional activation occurs through its ability to function as a sequence-specific DNA-binding protein. For efficient DNA binding, p53 requires two copies of the 10-bp motif 5'-PuPuPuC(A/T)(T/A)GPyPyPy-3', separated by 0–13 bp (Kern *et al.*, 1991; Funk *et al.*, 1992). The structure of the p53 sequence-specific DNA-binding domain (Cho *et al.*, 1994) and the oligomerization region (Clore *et al.*, 1994) have been visualized using X-ray crystallography and nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy, respectively. Wtp53 protein binds as a tetramer to its DNA recognition sequence (reviewed by Anderson and Tegtmeyer, 1995).

Crystallographic data suggest that the most frequently mutated amino acids in p53 protein (hotspot mutations) are those that either directly make contact with DNA (sequence-specific binding) or those critically important for maintaining the tertiary conformation necessary for DNA contact (Cho *et al.*, 1994).

2. Target Genes

Several target genes of wtp53 transactivation have now been identified. These include mouse muscle creatine kinase (Zambetti et al., 1992), MDM2 (Wu et al., 1993), WAF1 (El-Deiry et al., 1993), thrombospondin-1 (Dameron et al., 1994), GADD45 (Kastan et al., 1992), cyclin G (Okamoto and Beach, 1994), Bax (Miyashita et al., 1994b), and Fas (Owen-Schaub et al., 1995). In addition to its transactivating function, overexpression of wtp53 (but not mutant p53) has been shown to inhibit expression of a wide array of cellular genes (Mercer et al., 1990; Ginsberg et al., 1991; Santhanam et al., 1991; Subler et al., 1992; Mack et al., 1993), including those associated with cell cycle progression and DNA replication, such as proliferating cell nuclear antigen (Mercer et al., 1991), B-myb, and DNA polymerase a (Lin et al., 1992). Since none of these latter genes contain apparent p53 consensus DNA binding sequences, the mechanism(s) by which wtp53 represses their expression is unclear but may involve protein-protein interactions between wtp53 and positive-acting basal transcription factors (reviewed by Mercer, 1992). For example, in vitro experiments indicate that transcriptional repression of some genes by wtp53 is mediated through interactions of p53 protein with TATA-binding protein (TBP), a component of the basal transcription machinery of cells (reviewed by Mitchell and Tjian, 1989; Sharp, 1992). It has been shown that both free and DNAbound p53 protein can bind to TBP and, conversely, that both free TBP and DNA-bound TBP can bind to p53 (Martin et al., 1993). Some mutant p53 proteins can also bind to TBP, but in this case transcriptional repression is not observed (Martin et al., 1995). p53 protein has also been shown to interact with the Sp1 transcription factor (Borellini and Glaser, 1993), the CCAAT-binding factor (Agoff et al., 1992), and the TBP transcription factor holo-TFIID (Chen et al., 1993). Studies by Thut et al. (1995) have demonstrated a direct and functional interaction between the transactivation domain of p53 and two subunits of the TFIID transcription complex, TBP-associated factors 40 and 60 (TAFII $_{40}$ and TAFII₆₀). The interaction of p53 protein with this wide array of basal transcription factors is likely to play an important role in the ability of p53 to modulate either positively or negatively the expression of different cellular genes.

B. BIOLOGICAL PROPERTIES

1. Cell Cycle Control

A number of studies have demonstrated that wtp53 protein activity is critically important for cell cycle control. The first suggestion that wtp53 protein might be involved in some aspect of cell cycle control was forthcoming from studies demonstrating that p53 protein was expressed in nontransformed cells upon mitogenic stimulation (Mercer et al., 1982; Reich and Levine, 1984; Mercer and Baserga, 1985). Forced ectopic overexpression of exogenous wtp53 in various transformed cells carrying mutant p53 or completely lacking p53 was subsequently shown to inhibit cell proliferation (Mercer et al., 1990; Baker et al., 1990; Diller et al., 1990; Martinez et al., 1991). More specifically, using a human wtp53 cDNA transgene driven by the dexamethasoneinducible mouse mammary tumor virus promoter (Mercer et al., 1990), or wtp53 cDNA constitutively expressed from the heterologous cytomegalovirus early promoter (Baker et al., 1990; Diller et al., 1990), or a temperature-sensitive mouse mutant p53 gene that adapts a mutant conformation at 37°C and a wild-type conformation at 32°C (Martinez et al., 1991), overexpression of wtp53 protein was shown to block cell cycle progression predominantly in the G1 phase of the cell cycle. Studies also suggest that wtp53 plays some role in controlling the G2-M transition (Michalovitz et al., 1990; Steward et al., 1995; Guillouf et al., 1995; Powell et al., 1995; Paules et al., 1995; Cross et al., 1995).

2. Checkpoint Control Function

Substantial evidence now exists to support the notion that an important physiological function of wtp53 is to arrest cell cycle progression and/or induce apoptosis in response to extensive DNA damage, thereby monitoring the physical integrity of DNA and genomic stability (Hartwell and Kastan, 1994). For example, in response to DNA damage induced by ultraviolet and γ -irradiation or by anticancer chemotherapeutic drugs that produce DNA damage, wtp53 protein levels increase by a poorly understood mechanism. The increase in wtp53 protein levels results in transcriptional modulation of a number of p53 target genes that appear to mediate its "checkpoint control" function(s) (reviewed by Cox and Lane, 1995). Cells defective in p53-mediated checkpoint controls display a striking degree of genomic instability, revealed by a high rate of gene amplification and aneuploidy. This was first revealed in studies of mouse embryo fibroblasts derived from homozygous p53 knockout (p53^{-/-}) mice, which have been shown to be significant-

ly more prone to gene amplification, as measured by the frequency of *CAD* gene amplification (a gene encoding a single peptide chain containing carbamyl phosphate synthetase, aspartate transcarbamylase, and dihydroorotase) using an *N*-(phosphonacetyl)-L-aspartate (PALA) selection system assay, than normal mouse fibroblasts harboring wtp53 (Livingstone *et al.*, 1992). In addition, restoration of wtp53 function in tumor cells harboring endogenous mutant p53 was shown to induce G1arrest and significantly reduce the frequency of PALA-induced amplification of the CAD gene (Yin *et al.*, 1992). A cause-and-effect relationship between wtp53 and the G1 arrest that occurs after DNA damage induced by γ -irradiation was clearly established by the demonstration that introduction of wtp53 (but not mutant p53) into p53-deficient cells restores G1 arrest (Kuerbitz *et al.*, 1992). In total, these studies demonstrated that wtp53 plays a role in cell cycle checkpoint control in response to metabolic perturbations or DNA damage.

3. p53-Mediated Apoptosis and Tumor Suppression

Different cell types vary profoundly in their susceptibility to p53dependent induction of apoptotic cell death. Using a temperaturesensitive mouse mutant p53 construct expressed as mutant p53 at 37°C and wtp53 at 32°C, Oren and co-workers (Yonish-Rouach et al., 1991) discovered that overexpression of wtp53 protein alone could induce rapid apoptotic cell death in a p53-null mouse myeloid cell line designated M1. Subsequent studies revealed that overexpression of wtp53 in other p53-null tumor cell types also resulted in apoptotic cell death (Shaw et al., 1992; Ryan et al., 1993; Wang et al., 1993). On the contrary, in other p53-deficient tumor cell lines, restoration of wtp53 activity was insufficient to induce apoptosis but rendered the cells more susceptible to apoptotic cell death induced by DNA-damaging agents such as ionizing radiation or chemotherapeutic drugs (Lowe et al., 1993; Brishow et al., 1994; Fisher, 1994). These observations suggest that an intrinsic property of some cell types can influence the ability of wtp53 to trigger an immediate apoptotic response.

The tumor-suppressing function of wtp53 may be linked to its ability to induce apoptotic cell death. The generation of $p53^{-/-}$ mice (Donehower *et al.*, 1992) allowed a direct examination of the role that p53 plays in tumor development *in vivo*. Mice homozygous for inactivated p53 alleles appeared normal at birth but exhibited a high frequency of spontaneous malignant tumors. For example, by 6 months of age, over 70% of homozygous animals developed lethal tumors, and they succumbed to these tumors by 10 months. The tumor spectrum of these animals revealed mostly tumors of lymphoid origin (Donehower *et al.*, 1992; Harvey *et al.*, 1993). In addition, heterozygous mice carrying one wild-type allele and one inactivated allele $(p53^{+/-})$ were also susceptible to the development of spontaneous tumors, although these tumors developed with a much longer latency period. Some of the tumors that arose in heterozygous animals had lost the remaining wtp53 allele. These experiments demonstrated that wtp53 function plays an important role in suppression of tumorigenesis *in vivo*.

Numerous studies have also demonstrated that wtp53 is required for the induction of apoptosis by ionizing radiation and by some DNAdamaging drugs in vivo (Lowe et al., 1993; Clarke et al., 1993). For example, Lowe and collaborators (1993) reported that tumors generated from cells expressing wtp53 in immunocompromised mice contained a high proportion of apoptotic cells and typically regressed after treatment with γ -irradiation or Adriamycin. On the contrary, tumors generated from p53-deficient cells treated in the same way continued to enlarge and contained fewer apoptotic cells. Interestingly, Merratt et al. (1993) reported that the loss of wtp53 in homozygous $p53^{-/-}$ animals exposed to whole-body ionizing radiation rendered the epithelial cells of the small intestine and colon more resistant to radiation-induced apoptosis. However, apoptosis associated with normal tissue homeostasis was not found to be significantly different between homozygous $p53^{-/-}$, heterozygous $p53^{+/-}$, or $wtp53^{+/+}$ mice, suggesting that wtp53is not involved in this process.

Mutations in the p53 gene are common in diverse tumor types, and germline p53 mutations confer a predisposition to the development of various malignancies in individuals with Li–Fraumeni syndrome (Malkin *et al.*, 1990). Based on our current understanding of wtp53 function, it seems likely that enhanced tumor development stems from a reduced capacity to arrest cell cycle progression so that sublethal DNA damage can be repaired and/or from the inability to eliminate by the process of apoptosis those cells that sustain extensive DNA damage. Defects in the capacity to repair damaged DNA and induce apoptosis in cells are likely to play a key role in the development of malignant human tumors as a result of an increase in genetic alterations involving oncogenes and tumor suppressor genes (reviewed by Hartwell and Kastan, 1994). Figure 2 illustrates the relationship between p53 status, growth arrest, DNA repair, and apoptosis in tumorigenesis.

III. ONCOGENE-DRIVEN p53-DEPENDENT APOPTOSIS

Major advances in our understanding of the factors involved in p53dependent apoptosis have emerged from the study of DNA tumor virus-



FIG. 2. Relationship between p53 status, growth arrest, DNA repair, and apoptosis in tumorigenesis. DNA damage in cells that harbor wtp53 can result in growth arrest and/or immediate apoptotic cell death. Growth arrest is generally considered to be a protective response that allows cells time to repair (+ repair) the damage before parental cells can pass it on to their progeny. However, if DNA damage is extensive and cannot be repaired (- repair), apoptotic cell death rather than recovery is triggered. DNA damage in p53-deficient cells (p53) does not produce G1 arrest but instead may become "fixed" as mutations as cells continue to proliferate. The accumulation of mutations and genomic instability in progeny cells may in turn contribute to the development of tumors.

es. In several distinct classes of DNA tumor viruses, specific viral oncoproteins have evolved to target and inactivate wtp53 and another tumor suppressor gene product, retinoblastoma tumor suppressor protein (pRB), and retinoblastoma (RB)-related proteins such as p107 and p130 (reviewed by Levine *et al.*, 1991). In addition, some DNA tumor viruses also encode genes that protect cells from p53-dependent apoptosis (see later discussion).

A. SV40 LARGE T ANTIGEN

Studies in transgenic mice expressing wild-type or certain mutant SV40 large T oncoproteins have revealed disruption of growth control and tumorigenesis in a wide variety of cell types in different tissues (reviewed by Hanahan, 1989; Adams and Cory, 1991). SV40 large T antigen contains two separate domains that target p53, pRB, and the RBrelated proteins p107 and p130 (reviewed by Fanning and Knippers, 1992). For example, expression of large T antigen in the choroid plexus epithelium of the brain, a nondividing epithelial cell layer that forms the blood-cerebral spinal fluid barrier, results in aggressive nonclonal development of tumors (Chen and Van Dyke, 1991). Using a battery of mutants of large T antigen, Van Dyke and co-workers investigated the regions of T antigen required for tumorigenesis in the choroid plexus (Saenz-Robles et al., 1994; McCarthy et al., 1994; Chen et al., 1992; Symonds et al., 1993). One of these mutants, designated T121, encoded a truncated version of T antigen that had lost the ability to bind pRB and RB family members but retained the capacity to bind p53 protein. This mutant T antigen protein was sufficient to induce slow-growing tumors in the brains of mice harboring a normal p53 gene (Saenz-Robles et al., 1994). The contribution of wtp53 to tumor initiation was examined using homozygous and heterozygous p53 knockout mice carrving the T121 mutant T antigen gene (Symonds et al., 1994). This study revealed that the suppressed growth of T121-induced tumors compared to tumors induced by wild-type T antigen was most likely due to the presence of wtp53, since aggressive tumor growth was restored when the T121 mutant T antigen was expressed in homozygous p53null mice. In addition, in p53-heterozygous mice, loss of the wtp53 allele resulted in the emergence of rapidly growing lethal tumors. Analysis of rapid-growing versus slow-growing tumors revealed a significant difference in the percentage of cells undergoing apoptotic cell death. This study provided evidence that p53-dependent apoptosis occurring in response to oncogenic events is important in limiting tumor growth and provided a plausible explanation for how mutations in p53 could promote the development of human tumors, which is widely believed to be an oncogene-driven process (reviewed by Weinberg, 1989; Bishop, 1991).

B. ADENOVIRUS E1A AND E1B GENE PRODUCTS

In has been known for a number of years that the adenovirus E1A gene products promote both viral and host cell DNA replication (Kaczmarek *et al.*, 1986; Stabel *et al.*, 1985), in part by binding to the host cell cycle regulatory proteins: pRB (Whyte *et al.*, 1988), RB-related proteins p107 and p130 (Egan *et al.*, 1988; Whyte *et al.*, 1989; Giordano *et al.*, 1991), the cyclin-dependent kinase (cdk) complexes cyclin A-cdk2 and cyclin E-cdk2 (Faha *et al.*, 1993), and p300 (Stein *et al.*, 1991). Stimulation of host cell DNA replication co-segregates with the induction of apoptosis (White *et al.*, 1991) through wtp53-dependent pathways (Debbas and White, 1993; Lowe *et al.*, 1993). E1A alone is sufficient to transform mouse fibroblasts derived from $p53^{-/-}$ knockout

mice but not fibroblasts derived from normal $p53^{+/+}$ mice, presumably because the latter undergo apoptotic cell death (Lowe *et al.*, 1994). In mouse fibroblasts harboring wtp53, E1A expression induces p53 protein accumulation (Lowe and Ruley, 1993), which may mimic the cellular response to DNA damage (Kastan *et al.*, 1992; Kuerbitz *et al.*, 1992; Lu and Lane, 1993).

Furthermore, E1A stimulates host cell DNA replication but fails to transform primary baby rat kidney cells, most likely because of the induction of apoptosis (Debbas and White, 1993). Overexpression of dominant negative mutant p53, which abrogates wtp53 function, or introduction of apoptosis inhibitors such as adenovirus E1B 19K protein, rescues cells from E1A-induced apoptosis and promotes the establishment of transformed cell lines (Rao et al., 1992; White et al., 1991, 1992). The E1B 19K protein was originally identified as an inhibitor of DNA fragmentation and cell death in human cells productively infected with adenovirus. In addition to preventing E1A-mediated apoptotic cell death (White et al., 1991), the E1B 19K protein has also been shown to block cell death induced by different agents such as tumor necrosis factor- α and the Fas antigen (Gooding *et al.*, 1991; Hashimoto *et al.*, 1991; White et al., 1992), both of which are potent inducers of apoptosis in some cell types (Laster et al., 1988; Itoh et al., 1991). Sabbatini et al., (1995a) have shown that the E1B 19K protein enhances wtp53mediated transcriptional activation and alleviates wtp53-mediated transcriptional repression. These investigators suggested that the ability of E1B 19K protein to alleviate p53-mediated transcriptional repression may protect cells from apoptosis resulting from transcriptional repression of cellular genes necessary for cell survival. The mechanism by which this is accomplished is at present unclear since the E1B 19K protein does not bind directly to wtp53 and is localized in cytoplasmic membranes, nuclear membranes, and the nuclear lamina (White et al., 1984; White and Cipriani, 1990), whereas wtp53 protein is predominantly localized in the nucleus. Therefore, E1B 19K protein interactions with the transcriptional modulating properties of wtp53 are likely to be indirect. Taken together, these studies support the hypothesis that decreased induction of apoptosis rather than enhanced cell proliferation is an important component of the processes leading to viral oncogene-driven immortalization and transformation of primary cells.

Lowe *et al.* (1993) have shown that ionizing radiation and several anticancer drugs trigger apoptosis. In this study, wtp53 was identified as a factor required for apoptosis. Treatment of E1A-expressing cells with low doses of either γ -irradiation or anticancer drugs such as 5-fluorouracil, etoposide, and Adriamycin rapidly induced apoptosis E1A- expressing cells while having little or no effect on the viability of normal cells or E1A-expressing cells that lacked p53. Therefore, it appears that the growth-promoting oncoproteins such as E1A may contribute to p53-dependent apoptosis by lowering the apoptotic threshold of cells. This finding has potential clinical implications since the deregulated growth of most human tumors is most likely an oncogene-driven process (Weinberg, 1989; Bishop, 1991). Therefore, a "window of therapeutic opportunity" may exist for the treatment of tumors that retain wtp53 activity or in which wtp53 activity can be restored.

C. HUMAN PAPILLOMAVIRUS E7 AND E6 ONCOGENES

Oncogenic human papillomaviruses (HPVs) such as type 16 and type 18 encode two genes, HPV-E7 and HPV-E6, which have been implicated in malignant transformation and apoptosis. In a scenario very similar to that of adenovirus E1A and E1B (55K) genes, the HPV-E7 gene product binds to the pRB protein and RB-related proteins (Dyson et al., 1989) and the HPV-E6 gene product binds to wtp53 protein and targets it for degradation via a ubiquitin-dependent proteolytic system (Scheffner et al., 1990). In vitro studies of human diploid fibroblasts expressing HPV-E6 have shown that these cells exhibit altered cell cycle regulation and an increased frequency of amplication of the CAD gene due to their inability to arrest in G1 phase of the cell cycle following exposure to PALA (White and Gooding, 1994). In addition, introduction of the HPV-E6 gene into tumor cells that harbor a wtp53 gene has been shown to abrogate G1 arrest induced by exposure to y-irradiation (Slebos et al., 1994). The HPV-E6 gene has also been shown to sensitize human mammary epithelial cells to apoptosis induced by the anticancer drug mitomycin C (Xu et al., 1995).

In vivo animal studies have revealed that transgenic mice expressing *HPV-E7* in the photoreceptor cells of the retina exhibited extensive apoptosis but did not develop retinoblastomas in a wtp53 background; however, in a p53-null background retinoblastoma tumors were observed (Howes *et al.*, 1994). This finding is strikingly reminiscent of the results reported by Saenz-Robles *et al.* (1994) in tumors of the choroid plexus of transgenic mice expressing a truncated SV40 large T antigen transgene. Pan and Griep (1994) demonstrated that expression of the HPV-E7 oncoprotein in the developing lens of transgenic mice induced cell proliferation in inappropriate regions of the lens and inhibited differentiation. The ultimate fate of cells so affected was elimination through a process of apoptosis. Interestingly, the capacity for E7 to mediate this response was dependent on an intact pRB binding region, thus implying that the function of pRB (or RB-related proteins) was essential for normal lens differentiation and that the failure of these proteins to function triggered apoptotic cell death. Conversely, the HPV-E6 oncoprotein inhibited E7-mediated apoptosis. Taken together, these results suggest that the activities of E6 and E7 modulate wtp53-dependent apoptosis. Pan and Griep (1995) investigated the pathways that mediate E7 induction and E6 inhibition of apoptosis during different stages of development in the lens of transgenic animals. E7-transgenic animals null for p53 were only partially rescued from apoptosis, indicating that both p53-dependent and p53-independent pathways mediate E7-induced apoptosis in the developing lens. The E6 transgene expressed in a p53-null background displayed an additive effect to reduce the level of E7-mediated apoptosis. This observation suggests that the E6 oncoprotein, in addition to targeting p53-dependent pathways of apoptosis, also targets p53-independent apoptotic pathways. Interestingly, during early stages of lens development apoptosis appeared to be highly p53 dependent, whereas at later stages apoptosis occurred through both p53-dependent and p53-independent pathways. The observation that E6 and E7 affect lens cells through both p53-dependent and p53-independent pathways suggests that the activities of these viral oncoproteins in vivo are likely to be more complex than initially envisioned.

D. EPSTEIN-BARR VIRUS

Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) oncoproteins also target p53-dependent pathways of apoptosis. For example, the EBV-encoded EBNA-5 protein required for EBV-mediated transformation of B cells can complex with both wtp53 and pRB and thus may be capable of inactivating wtp53 and pRb functions in a manner similar to that of SV40 large T antigen (Szekely et al., 1993). The immediate early protein BZLF1 of EBV has been shown to bind to p53 and pRB proteins both in vitro and in vivo and to inhibit the sequence-specific DNA-binding and transcriptional activity of wtp53 protein (Zhang et al., 1994). Interestingly, another EBV-encoded protein, BHRF-1, which has weak homology to the antiapoptotic protein Bcl-2 (Cleary et al., 1986), can block appototic cell death caused by growth factor deprivation in human and murine hematopoietic cells (Henderson et al., 1993). Taken together, these findings indicate the DNA tumor viruses have evolved with a strategy to target the activities of tumor suppressor genes such as p53 and RB and to circumvent the apoptotic cell death that accompanies oncogenedriven processes that deregulate cell cycle control pathways.

IV. COUPLING OF p53-DEPENDENT CELL CYCLE REGULATORY PATHWAYS AND APOPTOSIS

In normal mammalian cells, cell cycle progression is precisely regulated by the sequential formation, activation, and subsequent inactivation of a series of protein kinase complexes, each containing a catalytic subunit (the cdk), a cyclin protein, and various accessory proteins (reviewed by Sherr, 1994; Hunter and Pines, 1994). The biochemical activity of cyclin-cdk complexes coordinates key cell cycle transitions at the G1-S phase and G2-M phase boundaries to ensure the initiation and completion of sequential events required for the orderly flow of cells from one cell cycle phase to the next. The p21^{WAF1/CIP1} protein encoded by the WAF1 gene is a potent inhibitor of cdk activity (E1-Deiry *et al.*, 1994; Dulic *et al.*, 1994). p53-dependent transcriptional activation of WAF1 has been shown to play a key role in p53-mediated checkpoint control of the G1-S phase transition in response to DNA damage. Forced ectopic expression of p21^{WAF1/CIP1} is sufficient to produce G1 arrest in p53-deficient cells (E1-Deiry *et al.*, 1994; Harper *et al.*, 1993).

Homozygous WAF1 knockout mice $(p21^{-/-})$ were shown to be partially defective in G1 arrest following exposure to ionizing radiation (Deng *et al.*, 1995). However, in response to metabolic perturbations produced by PALA treatment, G1 arrest in $p21^{-/-}$ cells appeared to be nearly as defective as in $p53^{-/-}$ cells. In a colorectal tumor cell line in which both alleles of the WAF1 gene were disrupted by homologous recombination, exposure to ionizing radiation or the anticancer drug Adriamycin failed completely to trigger G1 arrest (Waldmann *et al.*, 1995). Taken together, these data strongly suggest that $p21^{WAF1/CIP1}$ is an important downstream mediator of wtp53-induce G1 arrest in response to DNA damage.

A. Myc-Mediated Apoptosis Is Dependent on wtp53 Function

As mentioned previously, the regulation of normal cell proliferation involves a delicate balance between the actions of genes that promote growth, such as proto-oncogenes, and those that suppress growth, such as tumor suppressor genes. Studies have revealed a relationship between cell cycle regulatory pathways and pathways leading to apoptosis. Deregulated expression of the oncogene c-myc has been observed in a variety of human tumors, and overexpression of c-Myc protein in experimentally manipulated cells and transgenic mice can lead to malignant transformation and tumorigenesis (for review, see Bishop, 1991; Spencer and Groudine, 1991, Marcu *et al.*, 1992). Forced ectopic expression of c-Myc in some cases is required and sufficient to stimulate resting Go cells to enter S phase (Evan *et al.*, 1992; Wagner *et al.*, 1993).

In some cell types, such as Rat-1 cells, deregulated expression of c-Myc results in rapid apoptotic cell death in cells deprived of growth factors (Evan et al., 1992). Using this model, Harrington and co-workers (1994) demonstrated that Myc-mediated apoptosis could be prevented by specific growth factors. Growth factor-mediated protection from apoptosis was not linked to the ability of the growth factors to promote cell proliferation, since growth factors that on their own were not mitogenic afforded protection from apoptotic cell death. Wagner et al. (1994) investigated the mechanism of Myc-mediated apoptotic cell death by introducing a conditionally active c-myc transgene into primary mouse embryo fibroblasts null for p53, and into fibroblasts without endogenous p53 expression but ectopically expressing a temperature-sensitive mutant p53 transgene. These studies revealed that expression of wtp53 was required for susceptibility to Myc-mediated apoptosis. In addition, although ectopic expression of wtp53 blocked cells in G1 phase of the cell cycle, G1 arrest mediated by isoleucine starvation in the absence of wtp53 did not confer susceptibility of cells to Myc-mediated apoptosis. The observations that isoleucine starvation arrested cells in G1 phase and that p53-null cells were refractory to Myc-induced apoptosis elicited by this condition suggest that, even in cells growth arrested in a p53-independent manner, wtp53 activity is still required for susceptibility to Myc-induced apoptosis (Wagner et al., 1994). Interestingly, in this study Myc-mediated apoptosis was not correlated with the ability of wtp53 to transactivate the WAF1/CIP1 gene. This study provided evidence for the existence of regulatory pathways that couple deregulated expression of a growth-promoting cellular oncogene, c-myc, with p53-dependent apoptosis and also provided the first clue that an intrinsic property of wtp53 distinct from its ability to induced G1 arrest might be involved in the apoptotic process.

How does deregulated expression of Myc induce apoptosis? Early studies of Baserga and co-workers (Kaczmark *et al.*, 1985) demonstrated that c-Myc acts as a competence factor in mouse fibroblasts. For example, microinjection of c-Myc protein into quiescent G0 mouse fibroblasts has been shown to induce entry into S phase but only in the presence of progression factors such as insulin or insulin-like growth factor-I (IGF-I). BALB/c 3T3 mouse fibroblasts, which are exquisitely sensitive to growth factors contained in serum, require both competence factors such as platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) and progression factors such as insulin or IGF-1 for a mitogenic response (reviewed by Mercer, 1993). Constitutive expression of c-Myc in this cell line abrogates the requirement for PDGF and, in the presence of insulin or IGF-1, sustains the growth of these cells, at least for a short time (Travali et al., 1991). Wagner and collaborators (1994) have reported that BALB/c 3T3 cells that express wtp53 are not susceptible to Myc-mediated apoptosis when deprived of serum growth factors, suggesting that in this cell line wtp53-dependent apoptotic pathways have been altered. Given the dependence of these cells on growth factors, it is remarkable that deregulated expression of c-Myc does not trigger an apoptotic response. It is likely that an unidentified genetic lesion(s) may have occurred during the establishment of this cell line that render it resistant to Myc-mediated p53-dependent apoptosis. It is interesting to note that Harvey and Levine (1991) have reported that mutations or deletions of the p53 gene were present in all clonal fibroblast cell lines established by a 3T3 passage schedule from BALB/c embryos. Thus, the BALB/c 3T3 clone A31 line may be exceptional in that it retains wtp53 and is refractory to Myc-induced apoptosis when deprived of serum growth factors (Wagner et al., 1994). This could also explain why deregulated expression of c-Myc is able to abrogate the requirement for the competence factor PDGF without inducing apoptosis (Travali et al., 1991).

The ability of Myc to induce apoptosis appears to require dimerization with Max (Amati et al., 1993) and the N terminus of Myc protein (Evan et al., 1992), which contains domains necessary for transcriptional activation (reviewed by Marcu et al., 1992), suggesting that Myc/Max-mediated modulation of transcription may be involved. Yet Myc-mediated apoptosis does not require *de novo* protein synthesis since apoptosis occurs even in the presence of the protein synthesis inhibitor cyclohexamide (Wagner et al., 1994). It is possible that, under conditions of serum starvation, the synthesis of the protein products of Myc-induced target genes may somehow escape inhibition by cyclohexamide. Alternatively, Myc protein may modulate other cellular genes involved in apoptotic pathways. There is a precedence for this latter idea since constitutive expression of myc in BALB/c 3T3 cells has been shown to suppress cyclin D1 expression and enhance expression of cyclins E and A (Jansen-Durr et al., 1993; Philipp et al., 1994). The studies of Dalla-Favera and co-workers (Gu et al., 1994) have shown that Myc can interact with the RB-related protein p107, which has been implicated in transcriptional modulation and cell cycle control. Furthermore, Moses and co-workers (Dagnino et al., 1995) have shown that p107 can suppress transcriptional activity directed by a number of different promoters in transient transfection assays. Although the mechanism(s) of Myc-mediated p53-dependent apoptosis in some cell types is unclear at present, there are hints that the ability of Myc to modulate transcription may be involved.

B. THE pRB/E2F CONNECTION

The product of the retinoblastoma tumor suppressor gene, pRB protein, has also been implicated in cell cycle control and apoptosis. In this case, pRB expression appears to protect cells from apoptotic cell death. For example, one of the first clues that pRB might be involved in protecting cells from apoptosis stemmed from the observation that mice carrying a homozygous knockout of the RB gene die prenatally, with extensive apoptotic cell death in cells of the nervous system (Clarke et al., 1992; Jacks et al., 1992; Lee et al., 1992). In normal cells, the pRB protein has been strongly implicated as a negative regulator of cell cycle progression, and its function in this capacity is modulated by cyclin-cdks, which phosphorylate it in a cell-cycle-dependent manner (reviewed by Sherr, 1994; Hunter and Pines, 1994; Sang et al., 1995). The hypophosphorylated form of pRB, pRB¹⁰⁵, is the predominant form found in Go and early G1 phase cells. As cells progress toward S phase. sequential phosphorylation occurs, giving rise to a hyperphosphorylated form, pRB¹¹⁰. The pRB¹⁰⁵ form is growth suppressing and, when overexpressed in cells, is capable of arresting cells in G1 phase (Goodrich et al., 1991). A direct link has been established between p53 and phosphorylation of pRB protein. Specifically, p53-dependent transactivation of the WAF1 gene following exposure of human diploid fibroblasts to ionizing radiation results in increased levels of p21^{WAF1/CIP1} protein associated with decreased phosphorylation of pRB, thereby rendering the latter constitutively active in growth suppression (Dulic et al., 1994). Forced ectopic expression of p21^{WAF1/CIP1} in p53-deficient cells is sufficient to inhibit cyclin-cdk activity, leading to accumulation of the growth-suppressing hypophosphorylated form pRB¹⁰⁵ and growth arrest but not apoptosis (Zhang et al., 1995).

Haas-Kogan and co-workers (1995) have investigated the involvement of pRB in apoptosis induced by exposure to ionizing radiation. Using a high-level *RB* expression plasmid transfected into the human osteosarcoma cell line SAOS-2, which is deficient in both pRB and p53, these investigators demonstrated that ectopic expression of pRB protected cells from radiation-induced apoptosis. Specifically, exposure of parental SAOS-2 cells to ionizing radiation resulted in apoptotic cell death in a time- and dose-dependent manner; however, derivative cell lines that expressed wild-type pRB exhibited a marked increase in viability and decreased apoptosis following exposure to a gradient of radiation doses. On the contrary, derivative cell lines that expressed mutant pRB did not exhibit protection from radiation-induced apoptosis. This study clearly demonstrated that the presence of a functional pRB protein could protect cells from apoptotic cell death. Although the mechanism by which pRB protects cells from radiation-induced apoptosis is not yet clear, these investigators speculated that pRB may prevent apoptotic cell death by promoting a state of Go–G1 arrest in which cells may be less susceptible to apoptosis.

RB knockout mice presumably express a functional wtp53 protein and, given the potential link between p53-induced G1 arrest and the accumulation of the growth-suppressing form of pRb, it was possible that the loss of pRB function in cells that overexpress wtp53 protein might trigger apoptosis. Haupt *et al.* (1995) examined the possibility that pRB could protect HeLa cells from p53-mediated apoptosis. Co-transfection of wtp53 and a functional pRB expression plasmid resulted in significant protection of HeLa cells from p53-mediated apoptosis. This study suggests that RB plays a major role in the decision of whether cells respond to activated wtp53 by undergoing growth arrest or apoptosis. Moreover, it reveals a direct functional link between two tumor suppressor gene products, pRB and p53, both of which are involved in negative cell cycle regulation and apoptosis.

What pRB function protects cells from entering the apoptotic cell death pathway? Some clues have been forthcoming from studies of the relationship between pRB protein and the transcription factor E2F1. The E2F1 transcription factor is suspected of activating genes required for progression into S phase (reviewed by Nevins, 1992). For example, a number of cellular genes, such as dihydrofolate reductase, thymidine kinase, B-*myb*, and DNA polymerase α , contain E2F binding sites (reviewed by Farnham *et al.*, 1993). These genes are coordinately regulated during the cell cycle, being induced in mid- to late G1 at a time when active E2F1 protein accumulates (DeGregori *et al.*, 1995). It is widely believed that E2F1 activity contributes to the timing of activation of the promoters for these genes.

E2F1 is a known target of pRB and can enter into multicomponent protein-protein complexes containing cyclin A-cdk2, cyclin E-cdk2, or pRB, all of which participate in cell cycle control (reviewed by Sherr, 1994). Qin *et al.* (1994) demonstrated that forced ectopic overexpression of E2F1 in quiescent Go fibroblasts resulted in premature entry into S phase followed by apoptotic cell death. E2F1-mediated apoptosis was suppressed by coexpression of wild-type pRB or a transdominant negative mutant of p53. In contrast, coexpression of a naturally occurring "loss-of-function" pRB mutant or wtp53 failed to suppress E2F1-mediated apoptosis. This study strongly suggests that deregulated E2F1 activity leads to both growth-promoting and apoptotic signals. The involvement of wtp53 in the latter was firmly established by the studies of Wu and Levine (1994), who demonstrated that p53-induced growth arrest could be converted to apoptosis by overexpressing E2F1. It is likely that other members of the RB family, such as p107 and/or p130, may act in a similar manner; however, this possibility remains to be tested.

V. DOWNSTREAM EFFECTOR GENES OF p53-DEPENDENT APOPTOSIS: THE BCL-2/BAX CONNECTION

The first negative regulator of apoptosis to be identified (Vaux et al., 1988) was the cytoplasmic membrane protein encoded by bcl-2, the gene frequently translocated to an immunoglobulin locus in human follicular lymphomas (reviewed by Korsmeyer, 1992). Enforced ectopic expression of Bcl-2 in normal and neoplastic lymphoid cells delays or inhibits apoptosis induced by many DNA-damaging drugs and ionizing radiation (Sentman et al., 1991; Strasser et al., 1994; Miyashita and Reed, 1992). As mentioned previously, restoration of p53 in the murine myeloid cell line M1 induces rapid apoptosis (Yonish-Rouach et al., 1991), and in this model apoptosis has been shown to be correlated with a decrease in the steady-state level of Bcl-2 mRNA and protein (Miyashita et al., 1994a; Selvakumaran et al., 1994). The effects of wtp53 on *bcl-2* gene expression are thought to be mediated in part by a cis-acting p53 negative response element located in the 5' untranslated region of the bcl-2 gene (Miyashita et al., 1994a). Interestingly, although the p53 negative response element identified by Reed and coworkers (Miyashita et al., 1994a) contains a TATAA sequence that has been implicated in wtp53-mediated transcriptional repression of other genes (see Prives and Manfredi, 1993), deletion of this sequence does not diminish the ability of wtp53 to repress transcription of heterologous reported gene constructs.

Enforced ectopic expression of Bcl-2 in a cell line with inducible wtp53 has been shown to partially block p53-dependent apoptotic cell death, at least in some hemopoietic cell lines (Wang *et al.*, 1993). In addition, rodent cells transformed by adenovirus E1A and a temperature-sensitive mutant p53 are transformed at 37° C but undergo rapid apoptosis at 32° C when p53 protein is converted to its wild-type conformation (Chiou *et al.*, 1994a,b). Ectopic expression of human Bcl-2 in this model completely suppressed wtp53-mediated apoptosis and caused cells to remain in a growth-arrested state. Shen and Shenk (1994) have suggested that a possible mechanism by which E1B 19K protein, and perhaps Bcl-2, suppresses wtp53-dependent apoptosis could be through inhibition of p53-mediated transcriptional repression.

By breeding homozygous p53 knockout mice with *bcl-2* transgenic mice and comparing the effect of loss of p53 and gain of Bcl-2 on lymphocyte survival, Strasser and co-workers (1994) found that the loss of p53 rendered both B and T lymphocytes resistant to radiation-induced apoptotic cell death, as did constitutive expression of Bcl-2. Unexpectedly, mitogenically activated lymphocytes and cycling T-lymphoma cells from p53-deficient mice exhibited significant apoptotic cell death following exposure to ionizing radiation or DNA-damaging drugs. These findings suggest that p53 may not be the only mediator of apoptotic cell death provided by DNA damage.

Mutations in the p53 gene are frequently associated with tumor progression (Fearon and Vogelstein, 1990; Sidransky *et al.*, 1992), which may reflect diminished tumor cell death due to apoptosis as a component of malignant progression. Interestingly, in a survey of hematopoietic malignancies, a significant number of tumors were found to have either p53 mutations or Bcl-2 overexpression but not both (Gaidano, 1991; Magrath, 1992). This may reflect a common pathway in which these genes act, so that there is no selective advantage to interfere with both since *bcl-2* is thought to act downstream of wtp53 (reviewed by Reed, 1994).

The existence of a Bcl-2-related gene product, Bax, that accelerates apoptotic cell death has been reported (Oltvai et al., 1993; Boise et al., 1993). The Bax protein is able to homodimerize and form heterodimers with Bcl-2 protein. The interaction of Bcl-2 with Bax appears to play an important role in the ability of Bcl-2 to delay or inhibit apoptosis (Yin et al., 1994; Seto et al., 1994). In contrast to the effect of wtp53 on Bcl-2 expression, restoration of wtp53 function in myeloid M1 cells has been shown to be accompanied by an increase in Bax mRNA and protein. The bax gene promoter region contains four motifs with homology to consensus p53 binding sites, and co-transfection experiments using p53-deficient tumor cells have shown that wtp53 (but not mutant p53) expression can transcriptionally activate a reporter gene that utilizes the bax gene promoter to drive transcription of the chloramphenicol acetyltransferase gene (Miyashita and Reed, 1995). Based on gel retardation assays, it was shown that wtp53 (but not mutant p53) bound to oligonucleotides corresponding to the bax promoter. Taken together, the results of this study suggests that the bax gene is a wtp53 primary response gene that appears to be involved in p53-dependent induction of apoptosis.

It is conceivable that p53-mediated effects on *bcl-2* and *bax* gene expression might alter the ratio of Bcl-2 and Bax proteins, thereby enhancing the susceptibility of cells to apoptosis. Figure 3 illustrates the relationship between wtp53 and the Bcl-2 and Bax proteins in cell survival and apoptosis. This idea is supported further by studies of Bax



FIG. 3. Role of Bcl-2 and Bax proteins in p53-dependent apoptosis. In some cell types the choice between survival and apoptotic cell death may depend on the balance between Bcl-2 and Bax proteins. The formation of Bcl-2–Bcl-2 homodimers promotes cell survival, whereas the formation of Bax–Bax homodimers promotes cell death. Wtp53 may tilt the balance to favor the formation of Bax–Bax homodimers through its ability to repress transcription of the *bcl-2* gene and activate transcription of the *bax* gene.

protein levels in tissues from p53 knockout mice, which revealed markedly reduced levels of Bax in some tissues, such as prostate epithelium, central and peripheral neurons, and small intestine, but not in others (Miyashita *et al.*, 1994b). This finding suggests that other unknown tissue-specific factors might influence the extent to which wtp53 mediates the expression of Bax *in vivo*. Thus, it will be important to determine the molecular basis for p53-independent tissue-specific expression of Bax and its contribution to apoptotic cell death.

VI. GROWTH FACTORS, CYTOKINES, AND SURVIVAL FACTORS

A. IGF-I-IGF-I RECEPTOR INTERACTIONS

Growth factors and cytokines are continuously required to suppress apoptosis (Raff, 1992; Williams *et al.*, 1990) and are dominant to the effects of some oncogenes that induce cell death (Askew *et al.*, 1991; Evan *et al.*, 1992; Harrington *et al.*, 1994; Yonish-Rouach *et al.*, 1991). In the absence of growth factors and cytokines, some oncogenes, such as *bcl-2* (Nunez *et al.*, 1991; Vaux *et al.*, 1988), v-*src* (Canman *et al.*, 1995), and *raf* (Cleveland *et al.*, 1994), can suppress apoptotic cell death. In contrast, deregulated expression of c-Myc can accelerate apoptotic cell death when cells are deprived of survival factors (Askew *et al.*, 1991; Evan *et al.*, 1992; Yonish-Rouach *et al.*, 1991). The effects of growth factors on E2F1-mediated apoptosis are in contrast to those on Mycmediated apoptosis. Harrington and co-workers (1994) demonstrated that IGF-I and to a lesser degree PDGF (but not epidermal growth factor or fibroblast growth factor) could protect cells from Myc-induced apoptosis. In contrast, forced ectopic expression of E2F1 beyond a threshold was shown to override the signals transmitted by survival factors (Hiebert *et al.*, 1995).

How can growth factors such as IGF-I and PDGF protect cells from apoptotic cell death? In vitro experiments have clearly shown that the interaction of IGF-I with its receptor could protect cells from apoptosis induced by the anticancer drug etoposide (Sell et al., 1995). In this study, exposure of BALB/c 3T3 cells, which require both PDGF and IGF-I for a mitogenic response (see reviews by Mercer, 1993; Baserga, 1995) to etoposide, induced rapid apoptotic cell death. Addition of IGF-I had only a slight suppressing effect on etoposide-induced apoptosis. However, in a derivative BALB/c 3T3 cell line that overexpressed the IGF-I receptor, enhanced survival following exposure to etoposide was observed. Baserga and collaborators (Resnicoff et al., 1994, 1995) investigated the role of the IGF-I receptor in the process of apoptotic cell death in vivo. This study revealed that a decrease in the number of IGF-I receptors resulted in massive apoptosis in several transplantable tumors from either from humans or rodents. Conversely, overexpression of the IGF-I receptor protected cells from apoptosis. These investigators concluded that the IGF-I receptor, activated by its ligand, IGF-I, plays a critical role in protecting cells from apoptotic cell death. Interestingly, PDGF, which also protects cells from Myc-induced apoptosis, albeit to a lesser degree than IGF-I (Harrington et al., 1994), has been shown to stimulate promoter activity of the IGF-I receptor gene (Rubini et al., 1994). These studies strongly suggest that the interaction of IGF-I with its receptor is important in protecting cells from apoptosis and that overexpression of the IGF-I receptor potentiates this activity. Apoptosis induced by forced ectopic expression of E2F1 may also be linked to the alterations in the interaction between IGF-I and its receptor, since an E2F-like activity has been shown to repress expression of IGF-I promoter (Porcu et al., 1994). Thus, disrupting the interaction between IGF-I and its receptor might be functionally equivalent to deprivation of survival factors.

B. Cytokines in Hematopoietic Cell Survival

The growth and survival of hematopoietic cells in culture is highly dependent on the presence of specific cytokines (reviewed by Raff, 1992). Cytokines such as interleukin-6 (IL-6), interleukin-3 (IL-3), and erythropoietin (EPO) can inhibit p53-mediated apoptosis in hematopoietic cells (Yonish-Rouach et al., 1991, 1993; Johnson et al., 1993; Gottlieb et al., 1994). Exposure of myeloid M1 cells transfected with wtp53 to IL-6 effectively protects cells from p53-dependent apoptosis (Yonish-Rouach et al., 1991). The protective effect of IL-6 appears to be specific for p53-dependent apoptosis, since IL-6 fails to protect parental M1 cells from cell death induced by serum deprivation (Yonish-Rouach et al., 1993). Furthermore, the protective effect of IL-6 does not appear to involve the shutoff of wtp53 expression but may involve signaling pathways downstream of wtp53. Wtp53 also modulates apoptosis in normal IL-3-deprived hematopoietic cells (Blandino et al., 1995). Hiebert and co-workers (1995) have shown that overexpression of E2F1 in the absence of IL-3 in an IL-3-dependent myeloid cell line designated 32D.3 induced rapid apoptosis. In this model, however, low levels of ectopic E2F1 expression were tolerated in the presence of IL-3. Studies from the Benchimol laboratory (Lin and Benchimol, 1995) have shown that murine erythroleukemia cells that carry a temperature-sensitive p53 transgene undergo apoptosis or G1 arrest when wtp53 protein is overexpressed. Interestingly, apoptosis but not G1 arrest was blocked by the action of cytokines such as EPO, c-Kit ligand, or IL-3. This suggests that p53-mediated apoptosis can be uncoupled from G1 arrest, at least in this model. This observation is also consistent with the idea that apoptosis and G1 arrest represent separate functions of p53. Another important observation from this study was revealed by analysis of two variant clones that exhibited G1 arrest but not apptosis when the wtp53 protein was overexpressed. One of these clones secreted an EPO-like factor and the other secreted a factor with IL-3 activity, suggesting that autocrine production of cytokines is able to block p53-mediated apoptosis. If a similar scenario occurs in tumor-derived cell lines, this could explain why different cell types vary in their apoptotic response to overexpression of wtp53 protein. In total, it is tempting to speculate that the ability of different cytokines and/or growth factors to suppress apoptosis in some cell types may be linked to disruption of the inducing signal that triggers the apoptotic response.

VII. ROLE OF p53-MEDIATED MODULATION OF TRANSCRIPTION

As already discussed in a previous section of this review, at the molecular level, wtp53 can both activate transcription of genes through its sequence-specific DNA binding activity and suppress transcription of certain genes that do not contain binding sequences. What function of wtp53 is required for oncogene-driven apoptosis? Although the function of wtp53 as a transcriptional activator is tightly linked to its ability to arrest cell cycle progression, a role for p53-mediated transcriptional activation in the induction of apoptosis is controversial (Raff, 1992; Lane, 1993; Caelles et al., 1994). Studies suggest that, at least in some cell types, p53-mediated transcriptional activation is not required to activate the apoptotic process. For example, Karin and co-workers (Caelles et al., 1994) have demonstrated that in certain cells ultraviolet radiation-induced apoptosis is dependent on wtp53 but does not require transcriptional activation by p53. In addition, Oren and collaborators (Haupt et al., 1995) have shown that the transcriptional activating function of wtp53 is not required to activate the apoptotic process, at least in HeLa cells. In this latter study it was shown that apoptosis could be induced by a truncated p53 protein deficient in transcriptional activation; however, the apoptotic response was weaker than that of full-length wtp53 protein. This observation has led to the suggestion that dual pathways of p53-mediated apoptosis exist. In this model, one p53-dependent pathway is transactivation dependent and the other is transactivation independent but could involve p53-mediated transcriptional repression. Figure 4 illustrates the proposed pathways of transcription-dependent and transcription-independent p53-mediated apoptosis. It will be of interest to determine whether this model of p53mediated apoptosis holds true for apoptosis induced in other cell types by different agents, specifically p53-dependent Myc-mediated apoptosis and apoptosis induced by DNA-damaging agents.

While it is clear that in some cell types p53-mediated transcriptional activation is required to trigger oncogene-driven apoptosis (see, e.g., the paper of Sabbatini et al., 1995b), apoptosis can be induced in other cell types by p53 proteins that are defective in transactivating function (Caelles et al., 1994; Haupt et al., 1995). In some cell types, p53-mediated apoptosis may be a result of transcriptional repression. It is likely that some cell types may already be poised to undergo apopotic cell death at the slightest insult. As already discussed, forced ectopic expression in some cell types induces rapid apoptosis, whereas in other cell types it appears simply to lower the threshold for an apoptotic response to occur. It is clear that in some cell types the balance between death genes (e.g., bax) and survival genes (e.g., bcl-2) plays an important role in modulating apoptotic cell death (reviewed by Reed, 1994). Wtp53 protein has been implicated in transcriptional activation of Bax and transcriptional repression of Bcl-2 (Miyashita and Reed, 1995). One can easily envision a scenario in which some transformed cells may



F1G. 4. Transcription-dependent and transcription-independent pathways of p53mediated growth arrest and apoptosis. In the transcription-dependent pathway leading to growth arrest, p53-induced transactivation of the WAF1 gene results in elevated levels of p21^{Waf1/Cip1} protein and inhibition of G1 phase cdk activity. Inhibition of cdk activity leads to the accumulation of the hypophosphorylated (growth-suppressing) form of pRB protein, which sequesters the E2F1 transcription factor so that it is no longer able to transcriptionally activate E2F-dependent genes required for progression into S phase and DNA replication. Transcriptional activation of the *bax* gene results in elevated levels of Bax-Bax protein homodimers, which ultimately triggers an apoptotic response. Expression of viral oncoproteins such as adenovirus E1A, SV40 large T antigen, or HPV-E7, which are capable of liberating E2F1 from pRB sequestration, may promote an apototic response in cells by allowing unauthorized DNA replication to occur. In the transcriptional-independent pathway of p53-mediated apoptosis, repression of *bcl-2* gene expression also favors the formation of Bax-Bax protein homodimers and in some cell types may also repress the expression of survival genes.

rely on maintaining a delicate balance between the steady-state levels of Bcl-2 (or Bcl-related proteins) and Bax to avoid apoptotic cell death. Under these conditions, p53-mediated transcriptional repression of Bcl-2 in the absence of transcriptional activation of Bax may be sufficient to upset the Bcl-2–Bax balance to trigger an apoptotic response. It is also possible to envision a similar scenario in which the interactions of growth factors and their receptors tips the Bcl-2–Bax balance in favor of protection from oncogene-driven apoptosis.

REFERENCES

- Adams, J. M., and Cory, S. (1991). Transgenic models of tumor development. *Science* **254**, 1161–1167.
- Agoff, S. N., Hou, J., Linzer, D. I. H., and Wu, B. (1992). Regulation of human hsp70 promoter by p53. *Science* 259, 84–87.
- Amati, B., Littlewood, T. D., Evan, G. I., and Land, H. (1993). The c-myc protein induces

cell cycle progression and apoptosis through dimerization with Max. *EMBO J.* 12, 5083-5087.

- Amin, C., Wagner, A. J., and Hay, N. (1993). Sequence-specific transcriptional activation by myc and repression by Max. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **13**, 383–390.
- Anderson, M. E., and Tegtmeyer, P. (1995). Gaint leap for p53, small step for drug design. BioEssays 17, 3-7.
- Askew, D. S., Ashmun, R. A., Simmons, B. C., and Cleveland, J. L. (1991). Constitutive cmyc expression in an IL-3-dependent myeloid cell line suppresses cell cycle arrest and accelerates apoptosis. Oncogene 6, 1915–1922.
- Baker, S. J., Markowitz, S., Fearon, E. R., Wilson, J. K., and Vogelstein, B. (1990). Suppression of human colorectal carcinoma cell growth by wild-type p53. Science 249, 912–915.
- Baserga, R. (1985). "The Biology of Cell Reproduction." Harvard University Press, Cambridge, MA.
- Baserga, R. (1995). The insulin-like growth factor I receptor: A key to tumor growth? *Cancer Res.* 55, 259–252.
- Bishop, J. M. (1991). Molecular themes in oncogenesis. Cell 64, 235-248.
- Blandino, G., Scardigli, R., Rizzo, M. G., Crescenzi, M., Soddu, S., and Sacchi, A. (1995). Wild-type p53 modulates apoptosis of normal, IL-3 deprived, hematopoietic cells. Oncogene 10, 731-737.
- Boise, L., Gonzalez-Garcia, M., Postema, C. E., Ding, L., Lindsten, T., Turka, L. A., Mao, X., Nunez, G., and Thompson, C. B. (1993). Bcl-x, a bcl-2 related gene that functions as a dominant regulator of apoptotic cell death. *Cell* 74, 597–608.
- Borellini, F., and Glazer, R. I. (1993). Induction of SpI-p53 DNA-binding heterocomplexes during granulocyte/macrophage colony-stimulating factor-dependent proliferation in human erythroleukemia cell line TF-1. J. Biol. Chem. 268, 7923-7928.
- Bristow, R. G., Jang, A., Peacock, J., Chung, S., Benchimol, S., and Hill, R. P. (1994). Mutant p53 increases radioresistance in rat embryo fibroblasts simultaneously transfected with HPV 16-E7 and/or activated H-ras. Oncogene 9, 1527–1536.
- Caelles, C., Helmberg, A., and Karin, M. (1994). P53-dependent apoptosis in the absence of transcription of p53-target genes. *Nature (London)* 370, 220–223.
- Canman, C. E., Gilmer, T. M., Coutts, S. B., and Kastan, M. B. (1995). Growth factor modulation of p53-mediated growth arrest versus apoptosis. *Genes Dev.* 9, 600–611.
- Chen, J., and Van Dyke, T. (1991). Uniform cell-autonomous tumorigenesis of the choroid plexus by papovavirus large T antigens. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 11, 5968–5976.
- Chen, J., Tobin, G., Pipas, J. M., and Van Dyke, T. A. (1992). T antigen mutant activities in transgenic mice: Roles of p53- and pRb-binding in tumorigenesis of the choroid plexus. Oncogene 7, 1167–1165.
- Chen, X., Farmer, G., Zhu, H., Prywers, R., and Prives, C. (1993). Cooperative DNA binding of p53 with TFIID (TBP): A possible mechanism for transcriptional activation. *Genes Dev.* 7, 1837–1849.
- Chiou, S. K., Rao, L., and White, E. (1994a). Bcl-2 blocks p53-dependent apoptosis. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 14, 2556–2563.
- Chiou, S. K., Tseng, C. C., Rao, L., and White, E. (1994b). Functional complementation of the adenovirus E1B 19-kilodalton protein with Bcl-2 in inhibition of apoptosis in infected cells. J. Virol. 68, 6553–6566.
- Cho, Y., Gorina, S., Jeffery, P. D., and Pavletich, N. P. (1994). Crystal structure of a p53 tumor suppressor DNA complex: Understanding tumorigenic mutations. *Science* 265, 346–355.
- Clarke, A. R., Purdie, C. A., Harrison, D. J., Morris, R. G., Bird, C. C., Hooper, M. L., and Wyllie, A. H. (1993). Thymocyte apoptosis induced by p53-dependent and -independent pathways. *Nature (London)* **362**, 848–852.

- Clarke, A. R., Gledhill, S., Hooper, M. L., Bird, C. C., and Wyllie, A. H. (1994). p53dependence of early apoptotic and proliferative responses within the mouse intestinal epithelium following γ-irradiation. Oncogene 9, 1767-1773.
- Cleary, M. L., Smith, S. D., and Sklar, J. (1986). Cloning and structural analysis of cDNAs for bcl-2 and a hybrid bcl-2/immunoglobulin transcript resulting from the t(14;18) translocation. Cell 47, 19-28.
- Cleveland, J. L., Troppmair, J., Packham, G., Askew, D. S., Loyd, P., Gonzalez-Garcia, M., Nunez, J., Ihle, N., and Papp, U. R. (1994). V-raf suppresses apoptosis and promotes growth of interleukin-3-dependent myeloid cells. Oncogene 9, 2217–2226.
- Clore, G. M., Omichiniski, J. G., Sakaguchi, K., Zambrano, N., Sakamoto, H., Appella, E., and Gronenborn, A. M. (1994). High-resolution structure of the oligomerization domain of p53 by multidimentional NMR. *Science* 265, 386–391.
- Cox, L. S., and Lane D. P. (1995). Tumor suppressors, kinases and clamps: How p53 regulates the cell cycle in response to DNA damage. *BioEssays* 17, 501–508.
- Cross, S. M., Sanchez, C. A., Morgan, C. A., Schimke, M. K., Ramel, S., Idzerda, R. L., Raskind, W. H., and Reid, B. J. (1995). A p53-dependent mouse spindle checkpoint. *Science* 267, 1353–1356.
- Dagnino, L., Zhu, L., Skorecki, K. L., and Moses, H. L. (1995). E2F-independent transcriptional repression by p107, a member of the retinoblastoma family of proteins. *Cell Growth Differ.* 6, 191–198.
- Dameron, K. M., Volpert, O. V., Tainsky, M. A., and Bouck, N. (1994). Control of angiogenesis in fibroblasts by p53 regulation of thrombospondin-1. *Nature (London)* 265, 1584–1587.
- Debbas, M., and White, E. (1993). Wild-type p53 mediates apoptosis by E1A which is inhibited by E1B. Genes Dev. 7, 546-554.
- DeGregori, J., Kowalik, T., and Nevins, J. R. (1995). Cellular targets for activation by the E2F1 transcription factor include DNA synthesis- and G1/S-regulatory genes. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 15, 4215–4224.
- Deng, C., Zhang, P., Harper, J. W., Elledge, S. J., and Leder, P. (1995). Mice lacking p21^{CIP1/WAF1} undergo normal development, but are defective in G1 checkpoint control. *Cell* 82, 675-684.
- Diller, L., Kassel, J., Nelson, C. E., Gryka, M. A., Litwak, G., Gebhardt, M., Bressac, B., Ozturk, M., Baker, S. J., Vogelstein, B., and Friend, S. H. (1990). P53 functions as a cell cycle control protein in osteosarcomas. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 10, 5772–5781.
- Donehower, L. A., and Bradley, A. (1993). The tumor suppressor p53. *Biochim. Biophys.* Acta 1155, 181–205.
- Donehower, L. A., Harvey, M., Slagle, B. L., McArthur, M. J., Montgomery, Jr., C. A., Butel, J. S., and Bradley, A. (1992). Mice deficient for p53 are developmentally normal but susceptible to spontaneous tumors. *Nature (London)* **356**, 215–221.
- Dulic, V., Kaufman, W. K., Wilson, S., Tisty, T. D., Lees, E., Harper, J. W., Elledge, S. J., and Reed, S. I. (1994). p53-dependent inhibition of cyclin dependent kinase activities in human fibroblasts during radiation-induced G1-arrest. *Cell* **76**, 1013–1023.
- Dyson, N., Howley, P. M., Muenger, K., and Harlow, E. (1989). The human papilloma virus-16 E7 oncoprotein is able to bind to the retinoblastoma gene product. *Science* 243, 934–937.
- Dyson, N., Guida, P., Munger, K., and Harlow, E. (1992). Homologous sequences in adenovirus E1A and human papillomavirus E7 proteins mediate interaction with the same set of cellular proteins. J. Virol. 66, 6893–6902.
- Dyson, N., Dembski, M., Fattaey, A., Ngwu, C., Ewen, M., and Helin, K. (1993). Analysis of p107-associated proteins: p107 associates with a form of E2F that differs from pRB-associated E2F-1. J. Virol. 67, 7641-7647.

- Egan, C., Jelsma, T. N., Howe, J. A., Bayley, S. T., Ferguson, B., and Branton, P. E. (1988). Mapping of cellular protein-binding sites on the products of early-region 1A of human adenovirus type 5. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 8, 3955–3959.
- El-Deiry, W. S., Tokino, T., Velculescu, V. E., Levy, D. B., Parsons, R., Trent, J. M., Lin, D., Mercer, W. E., Kinzler, K. W., and Vogelstein, B. (1993). WAF1, a potential mediator of p53 tumor suppression. *Cell* **75**, 817-825.
- El-Deiry, W. S., Harper, J. W., O'Conner, P. M., Velsulescu, V. E., Canman, C. E., Jackman, J., Pietenpol, J. A., Burrell, M., Hill, D. E., Wang, A. Y., Wiman, K. G., Mercer, W. E., Kastan, M. B., Kohn, K. W., Elledge, S. J., Kinzler, K. W., and Vogelstein, B. (1994). WAF1/CIP1 is induced in p53-mediated G1 arrest and apoptosis. *Cancer Res.* 54, 1169–1174.
- Evan, G. I., Wyllie, A. H., Gilbert, C. S., Littlewood, T. D., Land, H., Brooks, M., Waters, C. M., Penn, L. Z., and Hancock, D. C. (1992). Induction of apoptosis in fibroblasts by c-myc protein. *Cell* 69, 119–128.
- Evans, C. A., Owen-Lynch, P. J., Whetton, A. D., and Dive, C. (1993). Activation of Abelson tyrosine kinase activity is associated with suppression of apoptosis in hematopoietic cells. *Cancer Res.* 53, 1735–1738.
- Faha, B., Harlow, E., and Lees, E. (1993). The adenovirus E1A-associated kinase consists of cyclin E-p33^{cdk2} and cyclin A-p33^{cdk2}. J. Virol. 67, 2456–2465.
- Fanning, E., and Knippers, R. (1992). Structure and function of simian virus 40 large tumor antigen. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 61, 55–85.
- Farnham, P. J., Slansky, J. E., and Kollmar, R. (1993). The role of E2F in the mammalian cell cycle. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1155, 125–131.
- Fearon, E. R., and Vogelstein, B. (1990). A genetic model for colorectal tumorigenesis. Cell 61, 759–767.
- Fisher, D. E. (1994). Apoptosis in cancer therapy: Crossing the threshold. Cell 78, 539-542.
- Funk, W. D., Pak, D. T., Karas, R. H., Wright, W. E., and Shay, J. W. (1992). A transcriptionally active DNA-binding site for human p53 protein complexes. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 12, 2866–2871.
- Gaidano, G., Ballerini, P., Gong, J. Z., Inghirami, G., Neri, A., Newcomb, E. W., Magrath, I., Knowles, D. M., and Dalla-Favera, R. (1991). P53 mutations in human lymphoid malagnancies: association with Burkitt's lymphoma and chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 88, 5413-5417.
- Ginsberg, D., Mechta, F., Yaniv, M., and Oren, M. (1991). Wild-type p53 can down-modulate the activity of various promoters. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 88, 9979–9983.
- Giordano, A., McCall, C., Whyte, P., and Franza, B. R. (1991). Human cyclin A and the retinoblastoma protein interact with similar but distinguishable sequences in the adenovirus E1A gene product. Oncogene 6, 481–486.
- Gooding, L. R., Aquino, L., Duerlsen-Hughes, P. J., Day, D., Horton, T. M., Yei, S., and Wold, W. S. M. (1991). The E1B-19K protein of group C adenoviruses prevents cytolysis by necrosis factor of human cells but not mouse cells. J. Virol. 65, 3083-3094.
- Goodrich, D. W., and Lee, W. H. (1992). Abrogation by c-myc of G1 phase arrest induced by RB protein but not by p53. *Nature (London)* 360, 177–179.
- Goodrich, D. W., Wang, N. P., Qian, Y. W., Lee, E. Y., and Lee, W. H. (1991). The retinoblastoma gene product regulates progression through the G1 phase of the cell cycle. *Cell* 67, 293–302.
- Gottlieb, E., Haffner, R., von Ruben, T., and Oren, M. (1994). Down-regulation of wildtype p53 activity interferes with apoptosis of IL-3-dependent hematopoietic cells following IL-3 withdrawal. *EMBO J.* 13, 1368–1374.
- Gu, W., Bhatia, K., Magrath, I., Dang, C. V., and Dalla-Favera, R. (1994). Binding and suppression of myc transcriptional activation domain by p107. Science 264, 251–254.

- Guillouf, C., Rosselli, F., Krishnaraju, K., Moustacchi, E., Hoffman, B., and Leibermann, D. A. (1995). P53 involvement in control of G2 exit of the cell cycle: Role in DNAdamage-induced apoptosis. *Oncogene* 10, 2263-2270.
- Haas-Kogan, D. A., Kogan, S. C., Levi, D., Dazin, P., T'Ang, A., Fung, Y-K., and Israel, M. A. (1995). Inhibition of apoptosis by the retinoblastoma gene product. *EMBO J.* 14, 461–472.
- Halevy, O., Novitch, B. G., Spicer, D. B., Skapek, S. X., Rhee, J., Hannon, G. J., Beach, D., and Lassar, A. B. (1995). Correlation of terminal cell arrest of skeletal muscle with induction of p21 by MyoD. Science 267, 1018–1021.
- Hanahan, D. (1988). Dissecting multistep tumorigenesis in transgenic mice. Annu. Rev. Genet. 22, 479–519.
- Harper, W. J., and Elledge, S. J. (1995). P53-independent expression of p21^{Cip1} in muscle and other terminally differentiating cells. *Science* 267, 1024–1027.
- Harper, J. W., Adami, G. R., Wei, N., Keyomarsi, K., and Elledge, S. J. (1993). The p21 Cdk-interacting protein Cip1 is a potent inhibitor of G1 cyclin-dependent kinases. *Cell* 75, 805-816.
- Harrington, E. A., Bennett, M. R., Fanidi, A., and Evan, G. I. (1994). C-myc-induced apoptosis in fibroblasts is inhibited by specific cytokines. *EMBO J.* 13, 3286–3295.
- Harris, C. C., and Hollstein, M. (1993). Clinical implications of the p53 tumor-suppressor gene. New Engl. J Med. 329, 1318-1327.
- Hartwell, L. H., and Kastan, M. B. (1994). Cell cycle control and cancer. Science 266, 1821-1828.
- Harvey, M., McArthur, M. J., Montgomery, Jr., C. A., Bardley, A., and Donehower, L. A. (1993). Genetic background alters the spectrum of tumors that develop in p53deficient mice. FASEB J. 7, 938-943.
- Hashimoto, S., Ishii, A., and Yonehara, S. (1991). The E1b oncogene of adenovirus confers cellular resistance to cytotoxicity of tumor necrosis factor and monoclonal anti-Fas antibody. Int. Immunol. 3, 343–351.
- Haupt, Y., Rowan, S., Shaulian, E., Vousden, K. H., and Oren, M. (1995). Induction of apoptosis in HeLa cells by transactivation-deficient p53. *Genes Dev.* 9, 2170– 2183.
- Henderson, S., Huen, D., Rowe, M., Dawson, C., Johnson, G., and Rickinson, A. (1993). Epstein-Barr virus-coded BHRF1 protein, a viral homologue of Bcl-2, protects human B-cells from programmed cell death. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 90, 8479– 8483.
- Hickman, E. S., Picksley, S. M., and Vousden, K. (1994). Cells expressing HPV 16E7 continue cell cycle progression following DNA damage induced p53 activation. *Oncogene* 9, 2177–2181.
- Hiebert, S. W., Packham, G., Strom, D. K., Haffner, R., Oren, M., Zambetti, G., and Cleveland, J. L. (1995). E2F1:DP-1 induces p53 and overrides survival factors to trigger apoptosis. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 15, 6864–6874.
- Hollstein, M., Sidransky, D., Vogelstein, B., and Harris, C. C. (1991). P53 mutations in human cancers. Science 253, 49–53.
- Howes, K. A., Ransom, N., Papermaster, D. S., Lasudry, J. G. H., Albert, D. M., and Windle, J. J. (1994). Apoptosis or retinoblastoma: Alternative fates of photoreceptors expressing the HPV-16 E7 gene in the presence or absence of p53. *Genes Dev.* 8, 1300–1310.
- Hunter, T., and Pines, J. (1994). Cyclins and cancer II: Cyclin D and CDK inhibitors come of age. Cell 79, 573–582.
- Itoh, N., Yonehara, S., Ishii, A., Yonehara, M., Mizushima, S. I., Sameshima, M., Hase, A., Seto, Y., and Nagata, S. (1991). The polypeptide encoded by the cDNA for human

cell surface antigen Fas can mediate apoptosis. Cell 66, 233-243.

- Jacks, T., Fazeli, A., Schmitt, E. M., Bronson, R. T., Goodell, M. A., and Weinberg, R. A. (1992). Effects of an Rb mutation in the mouse. *Nature (London)* 359, 295–300.
- Jansen-Durr, P., Meichle, A., Steiner, P., Pagano, M., Finke, J., Botz, J., Wessbecher, G., Draetta, G., and Eilers, M. (1993). Differential modulation of cyclin gene expression by Myc. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 90, 3685–3689.
- Jayaraman, I., and Prives, C. (1995). Activation of p53 sequence-specific DNA binding by short single strands of DNA requires the p53 C-terminus. *Cell* 81, 1021–1029.
- Jiang, H., Lin, J., Su, Z-Z., Collart, F. R., Huberman, E., and Fisher, P. B. (1994). Induction of differentiation in human promyelocytic HL-60 leukemia cells activates p21^{WAF1/CIP1} expression in the absence of p53. Oncogene 9, 3397-3406.
- Johnson, P., Chung, S., and Benchimol, S. (1993). Growth suppression of Friend virus induced erythroleukemia cells by p53 protein is accompanied by hemoglobin production and is sensitive to erythropoietin. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 13, 1456–1463.
- Kaczmarek, L., Hyland, J. K., Watt, R., Rosenberg, M., and Baerga, R. (1985). Microinjected c-myc as a compentence factor. *Science* 228, 1313–1315.
- Kaczmarek, L., Ferguson, B., Rosenberg, M., and Baserga, R. (1986). Induction of cellular DNA synthesis by purified adenovirus E1A proteins. *Virology* 152, 1–10.
- Kastan, M. B., Zhan, O., El-Deiry, W. S., Carrier, F., Jacks, T., Walsh, W. F., Pluckett, B. S., Vogelstein, B., and Fornace, A. J. (1992). A mammalian cell cycle checkpoint pathway utilizing p53 and gadd45 is defective in ataxia-telangiectasia. *Cell* 71, 887– 897.
- Kern, S. E., Kinzler, K. W., Bruskin, A., Jarosz, D., Friedman, P., Prives, C., and Vogelstein, B. (1991). Identification of p53 as a sequence-specific DNA-binding protein. *Science* 252, 1708–1711.
- Kobayashi, T., Consoli, U., Andreeff, M., Shiku, H., Deisseroth, A. B., and Zhang, W. (1995). Activation of p21^{WAF1/CIP1} expression by a temperature-sensitive mutant of human p53 does not lead to apoptosis. *Oncogene*, in press.
- Korsmeyer, S. J. (1992). Bcl-2 initiates a new category of oncogenes: Regulators of cell death. Blood 80, 879–886.
- Kuerbitz, S. J., Plunkett, B. S., Walsh, W. V., and Kastan, M. B. (1992). Wild-type p53 is a cell cycle checkpoint determinant following irradiation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 89, 7491–7495.
- Lane, D. P. (1992). P53, gardian of the genome. Nature (London) 258, 15-16.
- Lane, D. P. (1993). A death in the life of p53. Nature (London) 362, 786-787.
- Lane, D. P., and Crawford, L. V. (1979). T antigen is bound to a host protein in SV40transformed cells. *Nature (London)* 278, 261-263.
- Laster, S., Good, J. G., and Gooding, L. R. (1988). Tumor necrosis factor can induce both apoptotic and necrotic forms of cell lysis. J. Immunol. 141, 2629–2634.
- Lee, E. Y., Hu, N., Yuan, S. S. F., Cox, L. A., Bradley, A., Lee, W. H., and Herrup, K. (1992). Mice deficient for Rb are nonviable and show defects in neurogenesis and haematopoiesis. *Nature (London)* 359, 288-294.
- Lee, S., Elenbass, B., Levine, A., and Griffith, J. (1995). P53 and its 14 Kda C-terminal domain recognize primary DNA damage in the form of insertion/deletion mismatches. *Cell* **81**, 1013–1020.
- Levine, A. J., Momand, J., and Finlay, C. A. (1991). The p53 tumor suppressor gene. Nature (London) 351, 453–456.
- Lin, D., Shields, M. T., Ullrich, S. J., Appella, E., and Mercer, W. E. (1992). Growth arrest induced by wild-type p53 protein blocks cells prior to or near the restriction point in late G1-phase. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 89, 9210–9214.
- Lin, H. J., Eviner, V., Pendergast, G. C., and White, E. (1995). Activated H-ras rescues
E1A-induced apoptosis and cooperates with E1A to overcome p53-dependent growth arrest. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **15,** 4536–4544.

- Lin, Y., and Benchimol, S. (1995). Cytokines inhibit p53-mediated apoptosis but not p53mediated G1 arrest. Mol. Cell. Biol. 15, 6045-6054.
- Livingstone, L. R., White, A., Spouse, J., Livanos, E., Jacks, T., and Tisty, T. (1992). Altered cell cycle arrest and gene amplification potentially accompany loss of wild-type p53. *Cell* **70**, 923–935.
- Lowe, S. W., and Ruley, H. E. (1993). Stabilization of the p53 tumor suppressor is induced by adenovirus-5 E1A and accompanies apoptosis. *Genes Dev.* **7**, 535–545.
- Lowe, S. W., Ruley, H. E., Jacks, T., and Houseman, D. E. (1993). p53-dependent apoptosis modulates the cytotoxicity of anticancer drugs. *Cell* 74, 957-967.
- Lowe, S. W., Bodis, S., McClatchey, A., Remington, L., Ruley, H. E., Houseman, D., and Jacks, T. (1994a). p53 status and efficacy of cancer therapy in vivo. *Science* 266, 807-810.
- Lowe, S. W., Jacks, T., Houseman, D. E., and Ruley, H. E. (1994b). Abrogation of oncogene-associated apoptosis allows transformation of p53-deficient cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 91, 2026–2030.
- Lu, X., and Lane, D. P. (1993). Differential induction of transcriptionally active p53 following UV or ionizing radiation: Defects in chromosome instability syndromes? *Cell* 75, 765–778.
- Mack, D. H., Vartikar, J., Pipas, J. M., and Laimins, L. A. (1993). Specific repression of TATA-mediated but not initiator-mediated transcription by wild-type p53. *Nature* (London) 363, 281–283.
- MacLachlan, T. K., Sang, N., and Giordano, A. (1995). Cyclins, cyclin-dependent kinases and cdk inhibitors: Implications in cell cycle control and cancer. *Crit. Rev. Eukaryotic Gene Expression* 5, 127–156.
- Magrath, I. (1992). Molecular basis of lymphomagenesis. *Cancer Res.* 52, (Suppl.), 5529s-5540s.
- Malkin, D., Li, F. P., Strong, L. C., Fraumeni, Jr., J. F., Nelson, C. E., Kim, D. H., Kassel, J., Gryka, M. A., Bischoff, F. Z., Tainsky, M. A., and Friend, S. H. (1990). Germline p53 mutations in a familial syndrome of breast cancer, sarcomas, and other neoplasms. *Science* 250, 1233-1238.
- Marcu, K. B., Bossone, S. A., and Patel, A. J. (1992). Myc function and regulation. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 61, 809–860.
- Martin, D. W., Munoz, R. M., Subler, M. A., and Deb, S. (1993). p53 binds to TATA-binding protein-TATA complex. J. Biol. Chem. 268, 13062–13067.
- Martinez, J., Georgoff, I., and Levine, A. J. (1991). Cellular location and cell cycle regulation by a temperature-sensitive p53 protein. *Genes Dev.* 5, 151–159.
- McCarthy, S. A., Symonds, H. S., and Van Dyke, T. (1994). Regulation of apoptosis in transgenic mice by SV40 T antigen-mediated inactivation of p53. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 91, 3979–3983.
- Mercer, W. E. (1992). Cell cycle regulation and the p53 tumor suppressor protein. Crit. Rev. Eukaryotic Gene Expression 2, 251–263.
- Mercer, W. E. (1993). Biochemical control of the cell cycle. In "Comprehensive Textbook of Oncology Updates" (A. R. Moossas and S. C. Schimptt, Eds.), vol. 1, pp. 1–12.
- Mercer, W. E., and Baserga, R. (1985). Expression of the p53 protein during the cell cycle of human peripherial blood lymphoytes. *Exp. Cell Res.* **160**, 31–46.
- Mercer, W. E., Nelson, D., Deleo, A. B., Olds, L. J., and Baserga, R. (1982). Microinjection of monoclonal antibody to p53 protein inhibits serum-stimulated DNA synthesis in 3T3 cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 79, 6309-6312.

- Mercer, W. E., Shields, M. T., Amin, M., Sauve, G. J., Appella, E., Romano, J. W., and Ullrich, S. J. (1990). Negative growth regulation in a glioblastoma tumor cell line that conditionally expresses human wild-type p53. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 87, 6166-6170.
- Mercer, W. E., Shields, M. T., Lin, D., Appella, E., and Ullrich, S. J. (1991). Growth suppression induced by wild-type p53 protein is accompanied by selective down regulation of proliferating cell nuclear antigen (PCNA) expression. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 88, 1958–1962.
- Merritt, A. J., Potten, C. S., Kemp, C. J., Hickman, J. A., Balmain, A., Lane, D. P., and Hall, P. A. (1993). The role of p53 in spontaneous and radiation-induced apoptosis in the gastrointestinal tract of normal and p53-deficient mice. *Cancer Res.* 54, 614–617.
- Michalovitz, D., Halevy, O., and Oren, M. (1990). Conditional inhibition of transformation and of cell proliferation by a temperature-sensitive mutant of p53. Cell 62, 671-680.
- Michieli, P., Chedid, M., Lin, D., Pierce, J. H., Mercer, W. E., and Givol, D. (1994). Induction of WAF1/CIP1 by a p53-independent pathway. *Cancer Res.* 54, 3391–3395.
- Mitchell, P. J., and Tjian, R. (1989). Transcriptional regulation in mammalian cells by sequence-specific DNA binding proteins. *Science* **245**, 371–378.
- Miyashita, T., and Reed, J. C. (1992). Bcl-2 gene transfer increases relative resistance of S49.1 and WEH17.2 lymphoid cells to cell death and DNA fragmentation induced by glucocorticoids and multiple chemotherapeutic drugs. *Cancer Res.* 52, 5407–5411.
- Miyashita, T., Harigai, M., Hanada, M., and Reed, J. C. (1994a). Identification of a p53dependent negative response element in the bcl-2 gene. *Cancer Res.* 54, 3131–3135.
- Miyashita, T., Krajewski, S., Krajewska, M., Wong, H.-G., Lin, H.-K., Hoffman, B., Lieberman, D., and Reed, J. C. (1994b). Tumor suppressor p53 is a regulator of bcl-2 and bax gene expression *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Oncogene 9, 1799–1805.
- Nelson, W. G., and Kastan, M. B. (1994). DNA strand breaks, the DNA template alterations that trigger p53-dependent DNA damage response pathways. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 14, 1815–1823.
- Nevins, J. R. (1992). E2F: a link between the Rb tumor suppressor protein and viral oncoproteins. Science 258, 424–429.
- Nunez, G., Hockenbery, D., McDonnell, T. J., Sorensen, C. M., and Korsmeyer, S. J. (1991). Bcl-2 maintains B cell memory. *Nature (London)* 353, 71–73.
- Okamoto, K., and Beach, D. (1994). Cyclin G is a transcriptional target of the p53 tumor suppressor protein. *EMBO J.* **13**, 4816–4822.
- Oltvai, Z. N., Milliman, C. L., and Korsmeyer, S. J. (1993). Bcl-2 heterodimers in vivo with conserved homolog, Bax, that accelerates programmed cell death. *Cell* 74, 609–619.
- Oren, M. (1992). p53: The ultimate tumor suppressor gene? FASEB J. 6, 3169–3176.
- Owen-Schaub, L. B., Zhang, W., Cusack, J. C., Angelo, L. S., Santee, S. M., Fujiwara, T., Roth, J. A., Deisseroth, A. B., Zhang, W. W., Kruzel, E., and Radinsky, R. (1995). Wildtype human p53 and a temperature-sensitive mutant induce Fas/APO-1 expression. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 15, 3032–3040.
- Pan, H., and Griep, A. E. (1994). Altered cell cycle regulation in the lens of HPV 16-E6 or E7 transgenic mice: Implications for tumor suppressor gene function in development. *Genes Dev.* 8, 1285–1299.
- Pan, H., and Griep, A. E. (1995). Temporally distinct patterns of p53-dependent and p53independent apoptosis during mouse lens development. *Genes Dev.* 9, 2157–2169.
- Parker, S. B., Eichele, G., Zhang, P., Rawls, A., Sands, A. T., Bradley, A., Olson, E. N., Harper, J. W., and Elledge, S. J. (1995). p53-independent expression of p21 Cip in muscle and other terminally differentiating cells. *Science* 267, 1024–1027.

- Paules, R. S., Levedakou, E. N., Wilson, S. J., Innes, C. L., Rhodes, N., Tlsty, T. D., Galloway, D. A., Donehower, L. A., Tainsky, M. A., and Kaufmann, W. K. (1995). Defective checkpoint function in cells from individuals with familial cancer syndromes. *Cancer Res.* 55, 1763-1773.
- Philipp, A., Schneider, A., Vasrik, I., Finke, K., Xiong, Y., Beach, D., Alitalo, K., and Eilers, M. (1994). Repression of cyclin D1: A novel function of MYC. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 14, 4032–4043.
- Porcu, P., Grana, X., Li, S., Swentek, J., De Luca, A., Giordano, A., and Baserga, R. (1990). An E2F binding sequence negatively regulates the response of the insulin-like growth factor I (IGF-I) promoter to simian virus 40 T antigen and serum. Oncogene 9, 2125–2134.
- Powell, S. N., DeFrank, J. S., Connell, P., Eogan, M., Preffer, F., Dombkowski, D., Tang, W., and Friend, S. (1995). Differential sensitivity of p53(-) and p53(+) cells to caffeine-induced radiosensitization and override of G2 delay. *Cancer Res.* 55, 1643-1648.
- Prives, C. (1994). How loops, β sheets, and α helices help us to understand p53. Cell **78**, 543–546.
- Prives, C., and Manfredi, J. J. (1993). The p53 tumor suppressor protein: Meeting review. Genes Dev. 7, 529–534.
- Qin, X. Q., Livingston, D. M., Kaelin, W. G., and Adams, P. D. (1994). Deregulated transcription factor E2F1 expression leads to S-phase entry and p53-mediated apoptosis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 91, 10918–10922.
- Raff, M. (1992). Social controls on cell survival and cell death. Nature (London) 356, 400.
- Rao, L., Debbas, M., Sabbatini, P., Hockenbery, D., Korsmeyer, S., and White, E. (1992). The adenovirus E1A proteins induce apoptosis which is inhibited by the E1B 19K and Bcl-2 proteins. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 89, 7742–7746.
- Reed, J. C. (1994). Bcl-2 and the regulation of programmed cell death. J. Cell Biol. 124, 1-6.
- Reich, N. C., and Levine, A. J. (1984). Growth regulation of a cellular tumor antigen, p53, in nontransformed cells. *Nature (London)* **308**, 199–201.
- Resnicoff, M., Sell, C., Rubini, M., Coppola, D., Ambrose, D., Baserga, R., and Rubin, R. (1994). Rat glioblastoma cells expressing an antisense RNA to the insulin like growth-factor-I (IGF-I) receptor are non-tumorigenic and induce regression of wildtype tumors. *Cancer Res.* 54, 2218–2222.
- Resinicoff, M., Burgaud, J.-L., Rotman, H. L., Abraham, D., and Baserga, R. (1995). Correlation between apoptosis, tumorigenesis, and levels of insulin-like growth factor receptor. *Cancer Res.* 55, 3739–3741.
- Rubini, M., Werner, H., Gandini, E., Roberts, Jr., C. T., LeRoith, D., and Baserga, R. (1994). Platelet-derived growth factor increases the activity of the promoter of the insulin-like growth factor I (IGF-I) receptor gene. *Exp. Cell Res.* 211, 374–379.
- Ryan, J. J., Danish, R., Gottlieb, C. A., and Clark, M. A. (1993). Cell analysis of p53induced cell death in murine erythroleukemia cells. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 13, 711-719.
- Sabbatini, P., Chiou, S. K., Rao, L., and White, E. (1995a). Modulation of p53-mediated transcriptional repression and apoptosis by the adenovirus E1B 19K protein. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 15, 1060–1070.
- Sabbatini, P., Lin, J., Levine, A. J., and White, E., (1995b). Essential role for p53-mediated transcription in E1A-induced apoptosis. *Genes Dev.* 9, 2184–2192.
- Saenz-Robles, M. T., Symonds, H., Chen, J., and Van Dyke, T. (1994). Induction versus progression of brain tumor development: Differential functions for pRb- and p53targeting domains of SV40 T antigen. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 14, 2686-2698.
- Sang, N., Baldi, A., and Giordano, A. (1995). The roles of tumor suppressors pRb and p53 in cell proliferation and cancer. *Mol. Cell. Differ.* 3, 1–29.

- Santhanam, U., Ray, A., and Sehgal, P. B. (1991). Repression of the interleukin 6 gene promoter and the retinoblastoma susceptibility gene product. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 88, 7605-7609.
- Sarnow, P., Ho, Y. S., Williams, J., and Levine, A. J. (1982). Adenovirus E1b-58 kd tumor antigen and SV40 large tumor antigen are physically associated with the same 54 kd cellular protein in transformed cells. *Cell* 28, 387–394.
- Scheffner, M., Werness, B. A., Hulbregtse, J. M., Levine, A. J., and Howley, P. M. (1990). The E6 oncoprotein encoded by human papillomaviruses types 16 and 18 promotes the degradation of p53. *Cell* 63, 1129-1136.
- Sell, C., Baserga, R., and Rubin, R. (1995). Insulin-like growth factor I (IGF-I) and the IGF-I receptor prevent etoposide-induced apoptosis. *Cancer Res.* **55**, 303–306.
- Selvakumaran, M., Lin, H. K., Miyashita, T., Wang, T., Wang, H. G., Krajewski, S., Reed, J. C., Hoffman, B., and Liebermann, D. (1994). Immediate early up-regulation of bax expression by p53 but not TGFβ1: A paradigm for distinct apopyotic pathways. Oncogene 9, 1791–1798.
- Sentman, C. L., Shutter, J. R., Hockenbery, D., Kanagawa, O., and Krosmeyer, S. J. (1991). Bcl-2 inhibits multiple forms of apoptosis but not negative selection in thymocytes. *Cell* 67, 879–888.
- Seto, E., Usheva, A., Zambetti, G. P., Momand, J., Horikoshi, N., Weinmann, R., Levine, A. J., and Shenk, T. (1992). Wild-type p53 binds to the TATA-binding protein and represses transcription. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 89, 12028–12032.
- Sharp, P.A. (1992). TATA-binding protein is a classless factor. Cell 68, 819-821.
- Shaw, P., Bovey, R., Tardy, S., Sahli, R., Sordat, B., and Costa, J. (1992). Induction of apoptosis by wild-type p53 in a human colon tumor-derived cell line. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 89, 4495–4499.
- Shen, Y. Q., and Shenk, T. (1994). Relief of p53-mediated transcriptional repression by adenovirus E1B 19KDa protein or cellular bcl-2 protein. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 91, 8940–8944.
- Sherr, C. J. (1994). G1 phase progression: Cycling on cue. Cell 79, 551-555.
- Sidransky, D., Mikkelsen, T., Schwechheimer, K., Rosenblum, M. L., Caanee, W., and Vogelstein, B. (1992). Clonal expansion of p53 mutant cells is associated with brain tumor progression. *Nature (London)* 355, 846–857.
- Slebos, R. J. C., Lee, M. H., Plunkett, B. S., Kessis, T. D., Williams, B. O., Jacks, T., Hedrick, L., Kastan, M. B., and Cho, K. R. (1994). p53-dependent G1 arrest involves pRB-related proteins and is disrupted by the human papillomavirus 16 E7 oncoprotein. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 91, 5320-5324.
- Spencer, C. A., and Groudine, M. (1991). Control of c-myc regulation in normal and neoplastic cells. Adv. Cancer Res. 56, 1–48.
- Stabel, S., Argos, P., and Philipson, L. (1985). The release of growth arrest by microinjection of adenovirus E1A DNA. EMBO J. 4, 2329-2336.
- Stein, R. W., Corrigan, M., Yaciuk, P., Whelan, J., and Moran, E. (1991). Analysis of E1Amediated growth regulation functions: Binding of the 300-kilodalton cellular product correlates with E1A repression function and DNA synthesis-inducing activity. J. Virol. 64, 4421–4427.
- Steward, N., Hicks, G. G., Paraskevas, F., and Mowat, M. (1995). Evidence for a second cell cycle block at G2/M by p53. Oncogene 10, 109–115.
- Strasser, A., Harris, A. W., Jacks, T., and Cory, S. (1994). DNA damage can induce apoptosis in proliferating lymphoid cells via p53-independent mechanisms inhibitable by Bcl-2. Cell 79, 329–339.
- Subler, M. A., Martin, D. W., and Deb, S. (1992). Inhibition of viral and cellular promoters by human wild-type p53. J. Virol. 66, 4757–4762.

- Symonds, H. S., McCarthy, S. A., Chen, J., Pipas, J. M., and Van Dyke, T. (1993). Use of transgenic mice reveals cell-specific transformation by a simian virus 40 T-antigen amino-terminal mutant. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 13, 3255–3265.
- Szekely, L., Selivanova, G., Magnusson, K. P., Klein, G., and Wiman, K. G. (1993). EBNA-5, an Epstein-Barr virus-encoded nuclear antigen, binds to the retinoblastoma and p53 proteins. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* **90**, 5455–5459.
- Thut, C., Chen, J.-L., Klemm, R., and Tjian, R. (1995). P53 transcriptional activation mediated by coactivators TAFII40 and TAFII60. Science 267, 100–104.
- Travali, S., Reiss, K., Ferber, A., Petralia, S., Mercer, W. E., Calabretta, B., and Baserga, R. (1991). Constitutively expressed c-myb abrogates the requirement for insulinlike growth factor I in 3T3 fibroblasts. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 11, 731–736.
- Ullrich, S. J., Anderson, C. W., Mercer, W. E., and Appella, E. (1992). The p53 tumor suppressor protein, a modulator of cell proliferation. J. Biol Chem. 267, 15259–15262.
- Vaux, D. L., Cory, S., and Adams, J. M. (1988). Bcl-2 gene promotes hematopoietic cell survival and cooperates with c-myc to immortalize pre-B cells. *Nature (London)* 335, 440–442.
- Vogelstein, B., and Kinzler, K. W. (1992). p53 function and dysfunction. Cell 70, 523–526.
- Waldman, T., Kinzler, K. W., and Vogelstein, B. (1995). p21 is necessary for the p53mediated arrest in human cancer cells. *Cancer Res.* 55, 5187-5190.
- Wagner, A. J., Small, M. B., and Hay, N. (1993). Myc-mediated apoptosis is blocked by ectopic expression of bcl-2. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 13, 2432–2440.
- Wagner, A. J., Kokontis, J. M., and Hay, N. (1994). Myc-mediated apoptosis requires wildtype p53 in a manner independent of cell cycle arrest and the ability of p53 to induce p21^{WAF1/Cip1}. Genes Dev. 8, 2817–2830.
- Waldman, T., Kinxler, K. W., and Vogelstein, B. (1995). p21 is necessary for the p53mediated G1 arrest in human cancer cells. *Cancer Res.* 55, 5187-5190.
- Wang, Y. S., Szekely, L., Okan, I., Klein, G., and Wiman, K. G. (1993). Wild-type p53triggered apoptosis is inhibited by bcl-2 in a v-myc-induced T-cell lymphoma line. Oncogene 8, 3427-3431.
- Weinberg, R. A. (1989). Oncogenes, antioncogenes, and the molecular basis of multistep carcinogenesis. *Cancer Res.* 49, 3713–3721.
- White, E. (1993). Regulation of apoptosis by the transforming genes of the DNA tumor virus adenovirus. *Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med.* **204**, 30–39.
- White, E., and Cipriani, R. (1990). Role of adenovirus E1B proteins in transformation: altered organization of intermediate filaments in transformed cells that express the 19-kilodalton protein. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 10, 120–130.
- White, E., and Gooding, L. R. (1994). Regulation of apoptosis by human adenoviruses. In "Apoptosis: The Molecular Basis for Cell Death" (D. Tomei and F. Cope, Eds.), Vol. II, pp. 111–141. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press, Cold Spring Harbor, NY.
- White, E., Cipriani, R., Sabbatini, P., and Denton, A. (1991). The adenovirus E1B 19kilodalton protein overcomes the cytotoxity of E1A proteins. J. Virol. 65, 2968-2978.
- Whyte, P., Buchkovich, K., Horowitz, J. M., Friend, S. H., Raybuck, M., Weinbert, R. A., and Harlow, E. (1988). Association between an oncogene and an antioncogene: The adenovirus E1A proteins bind to the retinoblastoma gene product. *Nature (London)* 334, 124–129.
- Whyte, P., Williamson, N. M., and Harlow, E. (1989). Cellular targets for transformation by the adenovirus E1A proteins. *Cell* 56, 67–75.
- Williams, G. T., and Smith, C. A. (1993). Molecular regulation of apoptosis: Genetic controls on cell death. Cell 74, 777-779.
- Williams, G. T., Smith, C. A., Spooncer, E., Dexter, T. M., and Taylor, D. R. (1990).

Haematopoietic colony stimulating factors promote cell survival by suppressing apoptosis. *Nature (London)* **343**, 76–79.

- Wu, X., and Levine, A. J. (1994). p53 and E2F-1 cooperate to mediate apoptosis. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 91, 7202-7206.
- Wu, X., Bayle, J. H., Olson, D., and Levine, A. J. (1993). The p53-mdm-2 autoregulatory feedback loop. *Genes Dev.* 7, 1126–1132.
- Wyllie, A. H. (1980). Cell death: The significance of apoptosis. Int. Rev. Cytol. 68, 251-306.
- Xu, C., Meikrantz, W., Schlegel, R., and Sager, R. (1995). The human papilloma virus 16E6 gene sensitizes human mammary epithelial cells to apoptosis induced by DNA damage. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 92, 7829–7833.
- Yin, X.-M., Oltvai, Z. N., and Kassmeyer, S. J. (1994). BH1 and BH2 domains of bcl-2 are required for inhibition of apoptosis and heterodimerization with bax. *Nature (London)* 369, 321-323.
- Yin, Y., Tainsky, M. A., Bishoff, F. Z., Strong, L., and Wahl, G. H. (1992). Wild-type p53 restores cell cycle control and inhibits gene amplification in cells with mutant p53 alleles. *Cell* 70, 937–948.
- Yonish-Rouach, E., Resnitzky, D., Lotem, J., Sachs, L., Kimchi, A., and Oren, M. (1991). Wild-type p53 induces apoptosis of myeloid leukemic cells that is inhibited by interleukin-6. *Nature (London)* 352, 345–347.
- Yonish-Rouach, E., Grunwald, D., Wilder, S., Kimchi, A., May, E., Lawerance, J.-J., May, P., and Oren, M. (1992). p53-mediated cell death: Relationship to cell cycle control. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 13, 1415–1423.
- Yonish-Rouach, E., Borde, J., Gotteland, M., Mishal, Z., Viron, A., and May, E. (1994). Induction of apoptosis by transiently transfected metabolically stable wt p53 in transformed cells. *Cell Death Differ.* 1, 39–47.
- Zambetti, G. P., Bargonetti, J., Walker, K., Prives, C., and Levine, A. J. (1992). Wild-type p53 mediates positive regulation of gene expression through a specific DNA binding element. *Genes Dev.* 6, 1143–1152.
- Zhan, Q., Fan, S., Bae, I., Guillouf, C., Liebermann, D. A., O'Connor, P. M., and Fornace, Jr., A. J. (1994). Induction of bax by genotoxic stress in human cells correlates with normal p53 status and apoptosis. *Oncogene* 9, 3743–3751.
- Zhang, Q., Gutsch, D., and Kenney, S. (1994). Functional and physical interactions between p53 and BZLF1: Implications for Epstein-Barr virus latency. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 14, 1929–1938.
- Zhang, W., Grasso, L., Craig, D., McClain, C. D., Gambel, A. M., Cha, Y., Travali, S., Deisseroth, A. B., and Mercer, W. E. (1995). p53-independent induction of WAF1/CIP1 in human leukemia cells is correlated with growth arrest accompanying monocyte/ macrophage differentiation. *Cancer Res.* 55, 668–674.

This Page Intentionally Left Blank

Viral Inhibitors of Apoptosis

ANTHONY G. UREN AND DAVID L. VAUX

The Walter and Eliza Hall Institute of Medical Research Royal Melbourne Hospital Victoria 3050, Australia

- I. Introduction
- II. Viral Proteins That Resemble Bcl-2
 - A. BHRF1
 - B. E1B 19kD
- III. Viral Proteins That Inactivate p53
- IV. Inactivators of Apoptotic Cysteine ProteasesA. CrmAB. p35
 - B. p35
- V. Inhibitor of Apoptosis Proteins
- VI. Virus-Encoded Cytokine Regulators
- VII. Other Viral Inhibitors of Apoptosis

VIII. Conclusions References

I. INTRODUCTION

Physiological cell death is a process by which cells actively participate in their own destruction. This form of cell death, often referred to as "apoptosis" or "programmed cell death," is highly conserved across metazoan phyla and is widely used to remove specific cells to a variety of ends. Induction of apoptosis occurs during development to shape the developing organism, in homeostasis of actively proliferating tissues to maintain cell number, and in response to mutagens and infection by viruses and other pathogens.

Apoptotic cell death is characterized by the condensation of chromatin to the margins of the nucleus and blebbing of the cytoplasmic membrane (Kerr *et al.*, 1972). Ultimately the cell is fragmented into apoptotic bodies that are engulfed by neighboring cells or phagocytes. By comparison, necrotic cell death is a passive process generally caused by damage or injury to the cell and is characterized by formation of microvesicles, swelling of the cell and its mitochondria, early breakage of the cytoplasmic membrane, and leakage of the cytoplasm into the intercellular space.

When infected by viruses, cells of multicellular organisms often dis-

play the characteristic appearance of apoptosis, suggesting the physiological death mechanisms of the host have been activated. Presumably the infected cell detects foreign nucleic acid and foreign proteins, or changes in metabolism and macromolecular synthesis initiated by the virus. As a response the cell commits suicide by apoptosis. The induction of apoptosis in virus-infected SF9 cells results in a lower viral titer than is seen when the cells die of necrosis (Lee *et al.*, 1993). Apoptotic cells are fragmented into membrane-bound "apoptotic bodies," which are efficiently engulfed by surrounding cells to be degraded in their lysosomes, whereas lytic viral infection results in the leakage of cytoplasm and hence the release of viral particles. The degradation of DNA into fragments that accompanies apoptosis may also serve to degrade viral genomes (Clouston and Kerr, 1985).

A number of viral proteins that have been shown to prevent apoptosis *in vitro*, such as the baculovirus gene p35 and the cowpox response modifier A (*crmA*) gene of cowpox virus, are also known to be required for optimal virulence during *in vivo* infection (Clem and Miller, 1993; Pickup *et al.*, 1986). Similarly, the artificial inhibition of virus-induced apoptosis by the overexpression of antiapoptosis genes such as *bcl-2* and E1B 19kD allows for more persistent productive infections by Sindbis virus and human immunodeficiency virus (Levine *et al.*, 1993; Antoni *et al.*, 1995). These results demonstrate that apoptosis can be an effective mechanism for combating viral infection. Thus it is not surprising that many viruses encode a variety of genes that inhibit cell death.

The molecular effectors of apoptosis are highly conserved across metazoan phyla. Figure 1 outlines the main families of apoptotic genes identified to date. The mammalian antiapoptotic gene bcl-2 is highly homologous to the nematode gene ced-9. Gain-of-function mutations in ced-9 prevent programmed cell death during Caenorhabditis elegans development (Hengartner and Horvitz, 1994). When expressed as a transgene, bcl-2 is able to complement a loss of ced-9 function in C. elegans (Vaux et al., 1992) and is able to protect against apoptosis induced by viral infection of insect cells (Alnemri et al., 1992). A highly conserved family of apoptotic cysteine proteases have also been observed in C. elegans, insects, and mammals (reviewed in Steller, 1995). The prospect that all animals use the same mechanisms for cell death argues for an origin of apoptosis very early in metazoan evolution. At face value it would seem unlikely that apoptosis arose in single-celled organisms, since any cell that kills itself does not pass on its genetic material. However, it is possible that apoptosis originated in single-celled organisms as a defense against viral infection. By committing suicide, virus-infected cells may prevent the spread of virus particles to related



FIG. 1. The placement of viral antiapoptotic proteins with respect to cellular apoptosis pathways. Cellular genes are marked in black, viral genes are marked in grey. A variety of signals are known to induce apoptosis in response to viral infection. Viral proteins such as adenovirus E3 proteins, T2, CrmB, and perhaps CrmA appear to interfere with these signals. Induction of apoptosis generally involves the cleavage and activation of a conserved family of cysteine proteases. Viral proteins such as p35 and CrmA bind and inhibit the activity of these proteases, thus suppressing host cell apoptosis. The Bcl-2/Ced-9 family and the IAP family of apoptosis inhibitors are able to inhibit apoptosis mediated via these cysteine proteases, by as-yet unidentified mechanisms.

cells, which carry the same cell death genes. Some strains of *Escherichia coli* infected by certain viruses are able to commit suicide, and this protects other bacteria from infection (reviewed in Shub, 1994). Thus it seems possible that cell suicide genes may have been selected

for in single-celled organisms, but only if these genes increased the overall fitness of the population of cells carrying them.

While the evidence for virus-induced apoptosis in single-celled organisms remains sparse, there are numerous examples in more complex organisms. In most cases apoptotic responses to viral infection are initiated within the infected cell; that is, the death is cell-autonomous. Presumably the infected cell detects molecules such as viral nucleic acids or changes in metabolism caused by the virus and, in response, the cell kills itself. In some cases, however, an apoptotic response to viral infection may also be initiated from outside the infected cell (i.e., nonautonomous cell death or "cell murder"). An example of this is the killing of virus-infected cells by cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTLs) and natural killer (NK) cells (reviewed in Martz and Howell, 1989).

These apoptotic defense mechanisms generate a strong selective pressure for viruses that have evolved means of preventing or circumventing host cell death. As a result, many viruses have integrated host genes into their genomes and adapted them toward the prevention of apoptosis. Thus, as with viral control of cell proliferation and metabolism, a variety of viral controls of apoptosis are employed to optimize viral fitness. As the molecular basis of apoptosis has become better characterized, an increasing number of viral genes that manipulate apoptosis have been identified. In some cases, the identification of viral regulators of apoptosis has preempted and even aided in the discovery of their cellular homologs, which also regulate apoptosis. This article reviews a number of regulators of apoptosis encoded by viruses from a variety of host organisms, detailing their discovery, their role in viral infection and replication, and in some cases the use of these genes as tools for the molecular dissection of apoptosis.

II. VIRAL PROTEINS THAT RESEMBLE BCL-2

A. BHRF1

The Epstein-Barr (EBV) gene *BHRF1* was one of the earliest virus antiapoptosis genes to be identified. When the mammalian antiapoptotic gene *bcl-2* was originally cloned, it showed closest sequence homology with the predicted open reading frame (ORF) of an EBV genomic sequence (Cleary *et al.*, 1986). The corresponding transcript was later cloned and found to encode a 17-kDa component of the restricted early antigen complex termed BHRF1 (Pearson *et al.*, 1987). Like *bcl-2*, *BHRF1* was shown to protect B cells against apoptosis induced by serum depletion and exposure to ionomycin (Henderson *et al.*, 1993). As a constitutively expressed transgene in Chinese hamster ovary (CHO) cells, *BHRF1* is also able to protect against DNA-damaging agents and infection by adenovirus lacking the E1B 19kD gene (Tarodi *et al.*, 1994). *BHRF1* is not however, essential for *in vitro* replication of EBV (Lee and Yates, 1992; Marchini *et al.*, 1991).

Infection with EBV efficiently converts resting human B cells into actively cycling, immortal lymphoblastoid cell lines, and this may in part explain the close association between EBV infection status and Burkitt's lymphoma. It has been proposed that the anti-cell death properties of *BHRF1* may contribute to this immortal phenotype by conferring independence of growth factors and aiding in resistance to antitumor cytokines of the immune system.

B. E1B 19kD

Expression of the E1A transcript of adenovirus promotes progression of the host cell through the cell cycle (Braithwaite et al., 1983). The virus uses E1A to activate E2F transcription factors, which promote the synthesis of host cell enzymes needed for viral replication. In doing so, E1A provokes a p53-dependent apoptotic response from the host cell. To counter this defense mechanism, adenoviruses also encode two inhibitors of apoptosis, both encoded by the E1B transcript. The shorter product of this transcript, E1B 19kD, resembles Bcl-2 and appears to be required to prevent adenovirus-induced apoptosis, since E1B 19kDdeficient mutants tend to leave host cells more susceptible to cell death (White et al., 1991; Rao et al., 1992). Transfection of E1A into primary quiescent rodent cells induces apoptosis, which can be blocked by expression of either E1B 19kD or Bcl-2 (Rao et al., 1992; Debbas and White, 1993). Apoptosis induced by p53 is also effectively prevented by E1B 19kD or Bcl-2; however, other effects of p53, such as cell cycle arrest, are not affected by these antiapoptosis proteins. E1B 19kD can also protect against treatment with CD95 antibody and tumor necrosis factor (TNF) (Gooding et al., 1991a; White et al., 1992; Hashimoto et al., 1991), nerve growth factor withdrawal (Martinou et al., 1995), and vaccinia virus infection (Ink et al., 1995).

Bcl-2 is able to block the apoptotic response to infection with adenovirus mutants lacking E1B 19kD (Chiou *et al.*, 1994). Close comparison of the E1B 19kD and Bcl-2 amino acid sequences reveals limited homology (Tarodi *et al.*, 1994) that, coupled with their functional equivalence, suggests a common origin for these proteins. Both E1B 19kD and Bcl- x_L , a Bcl-2 structural and functional homolog (Boise *et al.*, 1993), are able to bind the death-promoting protein Bak (also a member of the Bcl-2 family) (Farrow *et al.*, 1995). The binding (and perhaps inactivation) of anti-Bcl-2 proteins such as Bak, Bax, and Bad (Oltvai *et al.*, 1993; Yang *et al.*, 1995; Farrow *et al.*, 1995; Chittenden *et al.*, 1995; Kiefer *et al.*, 1995) by E1B 19kD may be the mechanism by which it antagonizes cell death signals.

As in EBV and adenoviruses, a Bcl-2 homolog has also been identified in African swine fever virus (Neilan *et al.*, 1993). Given the strong conservation of Bcl-2 mechanisms throughout evolution, it seems likely that other viral proteins will be found that either imitate Bcl-2 or interfere with its interactions.

III. VIRAL PROTEINS THAT INACTIVATE p53

The tumor suppressor gene p53 is commonly mutated or inactivated in human cancers. It was originally identified as a protein associated with the simian virus 40 T antigen (Linzer and Levine, 1979; Lane and Crawford, 1979) and was later also shown to bind the adenovirus E1B 55kD protein (Sarnow *et al.*, 1982). p53 is a tetrameric transcription regulator that, when upregulated may either cause cell cycle arrest or induce apoptosis. A number of viruses encode proteins that antagonize p53, thus preventing p53-mediated cell cycle arrest and p53-triggered apoptosis.

Adenovirus E1B 55kD is encoded within the E1B transcript by an ORF that overlaps the ORF of E1B 19kD. Like E1B 19kD, E1B 55kD is also able to inhibit E1A-induced apoptosis, although it is not as effective as E1B 19kD (Rao *et al.*, 1992; Debbas and White, 1993). Overexpression of E1B 55kD also compensates for a loss of E1B 19kD when transforming primary baby rat kidney cells with adenovirus (Zhang *et al.*, 1992). E1B 55kD binds p53 and is able to interfere with its transcriptional activation without displacing it from its DNA binding site (Yew *et al.*, 1994). It is possible that this is the means by which E1B 55kD inhibits the p53-dependent induction of apoptosis by the E1A transcript. However, protein synthesis (and hence transcriptional activation) may not be required for p53-mediated apoptosis (Caelles *et al.*, 1994). Alternately, p53 may induce apoptosis by its ability to inhibit transcription of particular cell survival genes. Thus E1B 55kD may promote cell survival by permitting expression of p53-suppressed genes.

IV. INACTIVATORS OF APOPTOTIC CYSTEINE PROTEASES

Apoptotic cysteine proteases are a highly conserved component of cell death pathways. The *C. elegans* protease Ced-3 is required for pro-

grammed cell death during nematode development. A number of homologous mammalian cysteine proteases have been identified, some of which have been shown to have a role in apoptosis. The current list of mammalian homologs includes interleukin-1 β converting enzyme (ICE), Nedd2, CPP32, Mch2, TX/ICH-2/ICE_{rel}II, ICE_{rel}III, and ICE-LAP3, although new members of this family are still being identified (for review see Kumar and Harvey, 1995). These proteases have a reactive cysteine residue within their active site (hence the name cysteine protease) and cleave their substrates after aspartate residues. The central role of these proteases in apoptosis makes them a convenient target for virus proteins that inhibit apoptosis.

A. CRMA

Cowpox response modifier A (*crmA*) was originally identified as a region of the cowpox genome required for the formation of hemorrhagic pocks during coxpox infection (Pickup *et al.*, 1986). Virus mutants lacking the *crmA* transcript are unable to replicate efficiently and the pock lesions formed are white rather than hemorrhagic red, due to an inflammatory infiltrate (Palumbo *et al.*, 1989). The amino acid sequence of CrmA resembles that of serine protease inhibitors (serpins). The finding that CrmA was able to prevent the processing of interleukin-1 β (IL-1 β) by the cysteine protease ICE suggested that CrmA might be a regulator of cytokine activity (Ray *et al.*, 1992). Thus inhibition of IL-1 β production was thought to be the means by which CrmA limited the host inflammatory response to cowpox infection.

When the *C. elegans* cell death gene *ced-3* was cloned, it was found to encode a cysteine protease similar to ICE (Yuan *et al.*, 1993). The subsequent observation that transient overexpression of ICE induces apoptosis that is inhibitable by CrmA indicated that CrmA might also be a viral inhibitor of apoptosis (Miura *et al.*, 1993). Studies of association kinetics demonstrate that CrmA inhibits ICE by binding to it (Komiyama *et al.*, 1994).

When introduced into cells, CrmA is able to block apoptosis initiated by a variety of stimuli, presumably by its inhibition of ICE or ICE-like apoptotic cysteine proteases. Injection of CrmA into neurons can protect against nerve growth factor withdrawal (Gagliardini *et al.*, 1994). Expression of CrmA protects cultured cells against CD95 ligation (Enari *et al.*, 1995; Los *et al.*, 1995; Tewari and Dixit, 1995), TNF (Miura *et al.*, 1995; Talley *et al.*, 1995; Tewari and Dixit, 1995), and CTL killing (Tewari *et al.*, 1995b). The ability of CrmA to inhibit these apoptotic stimuli implicates the involvement of ICE or ICE-like cysteine proteases in each of these systems. CrmA at high concentrations *in vitro* can also inhibit the proteolytic activity of CPP32 (Tewari *et al.*, 1995a; Nicholson *et al.*, 1995). Furthermore, CrmA has also been shown to bind and inhibit the cytotoxic T-cell serine protease granzyme B, although not as effectively as it binds and inhibits ICE (Quan *et al.*, 1995).

One of the closest cellular homologs of CrmA is the serine protease inhibitor (serpin) plasminogen activator inhibitor-2 (PAI-2). Preliminary results suggest that PAI-2, and perhaps other serpins, may have a role in cell death regulation (Dickinson *et al.*, 1995; Gan *et al.*, 1995; Jensen *et al.*, 1994). The structural and functional similarity between CrmA and PAI-2 suggests a conserved mode of action between serine and cysteine proteases and their inhibitors (Komiyama *et al.*, 1994). The existence of a number of virus-encoded serine protease inhibitors, such as *SERP1* of myxoma virus, a gene required for optimal viral virulence (Lomas *et al.*, 1993; Macen *et al.*, 1993), raises the possibility that CrmA was originally derived from a viral serine protease inhibitor and has subsequently evolved to become an inhibitor of cysteine proteases.

B. p35

The antiapoptosis protein p35 is a product of the Autographa californica nuclear polyhedrosis virus (AcNPV), a strain of baculovirus. It was originally identified in an AcNPVp35 mutant strain that was unable to prevent the apoptotic response of cells to infection *in vitro* (Clem *et al.*, 1991). Reinsertion of p35 into these p35-null mutants inhibited virus-induced apoptosis, increased viral yields in culture, and increased the strain's virulence *in vivo* (Hershberger *et al.*, 1992; Lerch and Friesen, 1993; Clem and Miller, 1993). A functional homolog of p35 has been identified in another baculovirus strain, Bombyx mori nuclear polyhedrosis virus (BmNPV) (Kamita *et al.*, 1993).

As well as preventing infection-induced apoptosis, p35 expressed as an isolated transgene was also found to protect SF9 cells against actinomycin D (Crook *et al.*, 1993). The p35 protein has also been shown to protect against developmental and γ -irradiation-induced apoptosis in the *Drosophila* eye (Hay *et al.*, 1994) and against apoptosis in *Drosophila* caused by the ectopic expression of the *hid* (head involution defect) gene (Grether *et al.*, 1995). It can also function in other phyla, as it complements *ced-9* loss-of-function mutations in the nematode *C. elegans* (Sugimoto *et al.*, 1994) and has been demonstrated to protect against a variety of apoptotic stimuli in mammalian cells. It protects mammalian neurons from glucose, calcium ionophores, and serum withdrawal (Rabizadeh *et al.*, 1993) and from nerve growth factor withdrawal (Martinou *et al.*, 1995) and protects a breast cancer cell line against CD95 ligation and TNF treatment (Beidler *et al.*, 1995).

Immunochemical staining demonstrates that p35 is predominantly localized to the cytosol of infected cells (Hershberger *et al.*, 1994). The target of p35 in all these organisms is the highly conserved family of apoptotic cysteine proteases, such as ICE in mammals and Ced-3 in *C. elegans.* The ability of p35 to inhibit ICE may explain its ability to block CD95- and TNF-mediated cell death. It has been shown that p35 binds to apoptotic cysteine proteases and is cleaved at an aspartate residue and, in the process, remains irreversibly bound to the proteases, thus inactivating them (Bump *et al.*, 1995; Xue and Horvitz, 1995). The cleavage of p35 appears to be essential for its inhibitory function. The binding of p35 to cysteine proteases thus implicates cysteine proteases as being mediators of an apoptotic response to stimuli as diverse as viral infection, γ -irradiation, growth factor withdrawal, and CD95/TNF ligation. To date no cellular homologs of p35 have been identified.

V. INHIBITOR OF APOPTOSIS PROTEINS

Inhibitor of apoptosis (IAP) proteins are another group of baculovirus proteins that suppress apoptotic responses to baculoviral infection. *Cydia pomonella* granulosis virus IAP was originally identified based on its ability to complement a loss of p35 function in AcNPV (Crook *et al.*, 1993). Subsequently a homolog from *Orgyia pseudotsugata* NPV was also isolated using the same complementation assay (Birnbaum *et al.*, 1994). As well as being able to suppress host cell apoptosis, both these genes, like p35, are able to independently block apoptosis induced by actinomycin D. Both genes encode approximately 30-kDa products containing a C-terminal ring finger motif and two cysteine-histidine-rich repeat motifs at their N-terminus, termed baculovirus IAP repeats (BIRs).

Three other insect virus homologs of these genes have been found in Autographa californica NPV (termed AcIAP) (Crook et al., 1993) Chilo iridescent virus (CIV) (Handermann et al., 1992), and Bombyx mori NPV; however, AcIAP does not appear to have any effect on apoptosis and the CIV and Bombyx mori NPV IAP homologs remain uncharacterized. Complete sequencing of the mammalian African swine fever virus has also revealed an ORF containing a BIR-like repeat (Yanez et al., 1995), which suggests that the use of IAPs as a defense against host cell apoptosis is a strategy employed by the viruses of a wide array of metazoan organisms. More recently, a number of cellular homologs of these genes have been identified in both *Drosophila* and mammals, most of which contain three BIR motifs rather than two (Rothe *et al.*, 1995; Hay *et al.*, 1995; Uren *et al.*, 1996; Liston *et al.*, 1996) and one of which contains no ring finger motif (Roy *et al.*, 1995). A number of these cellular IAPs have also been shown to inhibit apoptosis (Hay *et al.*, 1995; Uren *et al.*, 1996; Liston *et al.*, 1996).

VI. VIRUS-ENCODED CYTOKINE REGULATORS

The cytokines TNF and γ -interferon have both been shown to have antiviral properties, some of these being mediated by apoptosis. As mentioned previously, some viruses inhibit these activities by intracelluar means, such as the inhibition of TNF-induced apoptosis by adenovirus E1B 19kD. A number of poxviruses also interfere with cytokinemediated toxicity using extracellular means, by directly interfering with ligation of cytokines to their cell surface receptors.

The T2 proteins encoded within the terminal repeats of leporipoxviruses have amino acid sequences that demonstrate striking homology with the ligand-binding domain of the p75 TNF receptor. The T2 protein of Shope fibroma virus is a secreted, soluble glycoprotein able to specifically bind TNF- α and - β (Smith *et al.*, 1991). This interaction competes with ligation of TNF to its receptors and hence effectively protects the infected cell from TNF ligation. T2 mutant myxoma virus strains replicate normally in tissue culture but are greatly attenuated when inoculated into myxoma-susceptible rabbits (Upton *et al.*, 1991). Interestingly, myxoma T2 protein protects TNF-hypersensitive L929-8 cells from TNF treatment with rabbit TNF- α but not human or mouse TNF- α . Thus myxoma T2 is specifically evolved to protect against the TNF of its natural host, the South American rabbit (Schreiber and Mc-Fadden, 1994).

The finding that particular strains of vaccinia virus also carry fragmented ORFs that appear to be remnants of T2-like genes suggested that orthopox viruses may also encode T2-like proteins (Howard *et al.*, 1991; Upton *et al.*, 1991). Subsequently, a gene located within the terminal repeats of the cowpox virus genome, cytokine response modifier B (*crmB*), has also been shown to have significant homology with the ligand binding domain of the p75 TNF receptor. Like T2, it is also a secreted, soluble protein that is able to bind both TNF- α and TNF- β in a competitive manner (Hu *et al.*, 1994). Variola virus (smallpox) also appears to encode a CrmB-like protein (Shchelkunov *et al.*, 1993; Massung *et al.*, 1993). Interestingly, the C termini of CrmB and T2, while showing no apparent similarity to either the p75 or p55 TNF receptors, are all homologous to each other, thus implying this region of the proteins also has a conserved function (Hu *et al.*, 1994).

Binding of γ -interferon to its receptor is known to cause growth arrest and in some cases cell death that demonstrates many of the characteristics of apoptosis. It is produced by activated T cells and NK cells and is also important for the activation of macrophages and the induction of major histocompatibility complex (MHC) markers. As with the p75 TNF receptor, a number of poxviruses also encode secreted, soluble proteins with sequence similarity to the γ -interferon receptor (Upton *et al.*, 1992; Mossman *et al.*, 1995a,b). The M-T7 protein of myxoma virus has been shown to bind and sequester γ -interferon, and hence inhibit antiviral activities mediated by its receptor (Upton *et al.*, 1992). Hence it is also possible, that like T2 and CrmB, these proteins may play a role in *in vivo* cytokine-mediated cell death responses.

VII. OTHER VIRAL INHIBITORS OF APOPTOSIS

In addition to the previously mentioned classes of viral proteins, there are a number of other viral proteins with less thoroughly defined antiapoptotic properties. One of these is the herpes simplex virus 1 (HSV1) $\gamma_1 34.5$ gene. HSV1 contains two copies of this gene, one within each terminal repeat region, and the loss of both copies of this gene renders the virus unable to prevent host cell apoptosis (Chou and Roizman, 1994). The closest cellular homologs of this gene known are gadd34 and MyD116, which were discovered by their increased expression in response to induction of apoptosis by γ -irradiation and induction of terminal differentiation by IL-6, respectively. Preliminary results suggest these genes are involved in growth arrest and apoptosis induced by DNA damage (Zhan *et al.*, 1994).

Adenovirus infection of mouse cells increases sensitivity to TNFmediated cytolysis. This sensitivity is suppressed, however, by proteins encoded by the E3 transcript (Gooding *et al.*, 1988). Three E3-encoded proteins, E3 14.7kD and a complex of E3 14.5kD–E3 10kD, are able to inhibit TNF-mediated lysis in cell culture (Gooding *et al.*, 1988, 1991b). The protection of E3 14.7kD against TNF has also been demonstrated *in vivo*. Recombinant vaccinia viruses expressing the TNF- α gene have an attenuated phenotype when infecting mice. However, similar recombinant viruses expressing both TNF and adenovirus E3 14.7kD protein have their virulence partially restored when infecting BALB/c (Tufariello *et al.*, 1994a) and severe combined immunodeficiency mice (Tufariello *et al.*, 1994b). The mode of action of these proteins is unclear, although it is known that the 14.7kD and 10.4kD-14.5kD proteins inhibit the release of arachidonic acid induced by TNF (reviewed in Wold, 1993). Eicosinoids produced from arachidonic acid are mediators of inflammation, hence the E3 proteins may block inflammatory responses to adenovirus infection.

Another protein of the adenovirus E3 transcript, E3 gp 19kD, indirectly inhibits CTL cytolysis (Rawle *et al.*, 1989). This protein is localized to the endoplasmic reticulum and binds class I antigens of the MHC, thus retaining them in the endoplasmic reticulum and preventing presentation of antigens at the cell surface. It is thought that CTLs are consequently unable to recognize and lyse infected target cells, due to a lack of antigen presentation (reviewed in Wold and Gooding, 1989).

The Chinese hamster ovary host resistance (CHOhr) gene of cowpox appears to be involved in the replication of cowpox virus in CHO cells (Spehner *et al.*, 1988). Vaccinia virus, which lacks an equivalent of *CHOhr*, quickly induces apoptosis when infecting CHO cells. However, recombinant vaccinia virus expressing a copy of the *CHOhr* gene is able to delay the infected cell's apoptotic response and hence replicate in CHO cells (Ink *et al.*, 1995). Similarly, the E2 glycoprotein of Sindbis virus appears to be required to prevent apoptosis in infected cells. Mutation of a single amino acid within this protein results in a strain with a neurovirulent phenotype that, unlike avirulent strains, induces apoptosis in cell lines expressing Bcl-2 (Ubol *et al.*, 1994). The mode of action for both CHOhr and E2 glycoprotein are as yet unknown.

Some of these genes may encode proteins that specifically interact with cellular death mechanisms. Others may act more indirectly by transcriptionally regulating cell death genes, or even by directing cell metabolism and second messenger levels away from conditions favorable for apoptosis.

VIII. CONCLUSIONS

Viruses manipulate the host cell cycle and macromolecular synthesis in order to facilitate their own replication. Multicellular organisms have evolved means of detecting these changes and responding by induction of apoptosis. It is clear that viral inhibition of this response improves viral fitness. It is not always clear, however, to what extent particular viral proteins are involved in *in vivo* inhibition of apoptosis. Proteins such as BHRF1 and E1B 19kD appear to act as general suppressors of apoptosis. Other virus-encoded proteins, however, may act on more than one level. A variety of viral regulators of p53 have been identified, but it is difficult to evaluate the relative importance of their effects on apoptosis versus their effects on the cell cycle. CrmA inhibits apoptosis via its inactivation of cysteine proteases, thus presumably allowing more time for viral replication. The ability of CrmA to prevent inflammation and pock formation, however, might be more dependent on its ability to inhibit production of mature IL-1 β .

Numerous human pathogens, such as EBV, HPV, adenovirus, herpes simplex virus, and poxviruses, all manipulate host cell apoptosis. Infections of many of these viruses currently remain untreatable or incurable. The tumorigenicity of a number of viruses has been linked to their ability to prevent cell death, since the antiapoptotic proteins encoded by them contribute to the immortal phenotype of cancer cells. Furthermore, some of these viral proteins (such as the BHRF1 protein) also confer upon cells resistance to chemotherapeutic agents that act by induction of apoptosis. An improved understanding of viral regulators of apoptosis has contributed to our understanding of the molecular basis of cellular apoptotic pathways. Ideally, this knowledge will eventually also be useful in devising new strategies for the treatment of virus infection and associated oncogenesis.

REFERENCES

- Alnemri, E. S., Robertson, N. M., Fernandes, T. F., Croce, C. M., and Litwack, G. (1992). Overexpressed full-length human BCL2 extends the survival of baculovirus-infected Sf9 insect cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 89, 7295–7299.
- Antoni, B. A., Sabbatini, P., Rabson, A. B., and White, E. (1995). Inhibition of apoptosis in human immunodeficiency virus-infected cells enhances virus production and facilitates persistent infection. J. Virol. 69, 2384–2392.
- Beidler, D. R., Tewari, M., Friesen, P. D., Poirier, G., and Dixit, V. M. (1995). The baculovirus p35 protein inhibits fas- and tumor necrosis factor-induced apoptosis. *J. Biol. Chem.* 270, 16526-16528.
- Birnbaum, M. J., Clem, R. J., and Miller, L. K. (1994). An apoptosis-inhibiting gene from a nuclear polyhedrosis virus encoding a polypeptide with Cys/His sequence motifs. J. Virol. 68, 2521–2528.
- Boise, L. H., Gonzales-Garcia, M., Postema, C. E., Ding, L., Lindsten, T., Turka, L. A., Mao, X., Nunez, G., and Thompson, C. B. (1993). Bcl-x, a bcl-2 related gene that functions as a dominant regulator of apoptotic cell death. *Cell* 74, 597-608.
- Braithwaite, A. W., Cheetham, B. F., Li, P., Parish, C. R., Waldron-Stevens, L. K., and Bellett, A. J. (1983). Adenovirus-induced alterations of the cell growth cycle: A requirement for expression of E1A but not of E1B. J. Virol. 45, 192–199.
- Bump, N. J., Hackett, M., Hugunin, M., Seshagiri, S., Brady, K., Chen, P., Ferenz, C., Franklin, S., Ghayur, T., Li, P., Licari, P., Mankovich, J., Shi, L. F., Greenberg, A. H., Miller, L. K., and Wong, W. W. (1995). Inhibition of ICE family proteases by baculovirus antiapoptotic protein p35. *Science* 269, 1885–1888.

- Caelles, C., Helmberg, A., and Karin, M. (1994). p53-dependent apoptosis in the absence of transcriptional activation of p53-target genes. *Nature (London)* 370, 220–223.
- Chiou, S. K., Tseng, C. C., Rao, L., and White, E. (1994). Functional complementation of the adenovirus E1B 19-kilodalton protein with Bcl-2 in the inhibition of apoptosis in infected cells. J. Virol. 68, 6553–6566.
- Chittenden, T., Harrington, E. A., Oconnor, R., Flemington, C., Lutz, R. J., Evan, G. I., and Guild, B. C. (1995). Induction of apoptosis by the bcl-2 homologue bak. *Nature* (London) **374**, 733-736.
- Chou, J., and Roizman, B. (1994). Herpes simplex virus 1 gamma(1)34.5 gene function, which blocks the host response to infection, maps in the homologous domain of the genes expressed during growth arrest and DNA damage. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 91, 5247–5251.
- Cleary, M. L., Smith, S. D., and Sklar, J. (1986). Cloning and structural analysis of cDNAs for bcl-2 and a hybrid bcl-2/immunoglobulin transcript resulting from the t(14;18) translocation. *Cell* 47, 19-28.
- Clem, R. J., and Miller, L. K. (1993). Apoptosis reduces both the *in vitro* replication and the *in vivo* infectivity of a baculovirus. J. Virol. 67, 3730–3738.
- Clem, R. J., Fechheimer, M., and Miller, L. K. (1991). Prevention of apoptosis by a baculovirus gene during infection of insect cells. *Science* 254, 1388-1390.
- Clouston, W. M., and Kerr, J. F. (1985). Apoptosis, lymphocytotoxicity and the containment of viral infections. *Med. Hypotheses* 18, 399–404.
- Crook, N. E., Clem, R. J., and Miller, L. K. (1993). An apoptosis-inhibiting baculovirus gene with a zinc finger-like motif. J. Virol. **67**, 2168–2174.
- Debbas, M., and White, E. (1993). Wild-type p53 mediates apoptosis by E1A, which is inhibited by E1B. Genes Dev. 7, 546-554.
- Dickinson, J. L., Bates, E. J., Ferrante, A., and Antalis, T. M. (1995). Plasminogen activator inhibitor type 2 inhibits tumor necrosis factor alpha-induced apoptosis—evidence for an alternate biological function. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 27894–27904.
- Enari, M., Hug, H., and Nagata, S. (1995). Involvement of an ICE-like protease in Fasmediated apoptosis. Nature (London) 375, 78-81.
- Farrow, S. N., White, J. H., Martinou, I., Raven, T., Pun, K. T., Grinham, C. J., Martinou, J. C., and Brown, R. (1995). Cloning of a bcl-2 homologue by interaction with adenovirus E1B 19K. *Nature (London)* 374, 731–733.
- Gagliardini, V., Fernandez, P. A., Lee, R. K. K., Drexler, H. C. A., Rotello, R. J., Fishman, M. C., and Yuan, J. (1994). Prevention of vertebrate neuronal death by the crmAgene. *Science* 263, 826–828.
- Gan, H., Newman, G. W., and Remold, H. G. (1995). Plasminogen activator inhibitor type 2 prevents programmed cell death of human macrophages infected with Mycobacterium avium, serovar 4. J. Immunol. 155, 1304–1315.
- Gooding, L. R., Elmore, L. W., Tollefson, A. E., Brady, H. A., and Wold, W. S. (1988). A 14,700 MW protein from the E3 region of adenovirus inhibits cytolysis by tumor necrosis factor. *Cell* 53, 341–346.
- Gooding, L. R., Aquino, L., Duerksen-Hughes, P. J., Day, D., Horton, T. M., Yei, S. P., and Wold, W. S. (1991a). The E1B 19,000-molecular-weight protein of group C adenoviruses prevents tumor necrosis factor cytolysis of human cells but not of mouse cells. *J. Virol.* 65, 3083–3094.
- Gooding, L. R., Ranheim, T. S., Tollefson, A. E., Aquino, L., Duerksen-Hughes, P., Horton, T. M., and Wold, W. S. (1991b). The 10,400- and 14,500-dalton proteins encoded by region E3 of adenovirus function together to protect many but not all mouse cell lines against lysis by tumor necrosis factor. J. Virol. 65, 4114–4123.

- Grether, M. E., Abrams, J. M., Agapite, J., White, K., and Steller, H. (1995). The head involution defective gene of *Drosophila melanogaster* functions in programmed cell death. *Genes Dev.* 9, 1694–1708.
- Handermann, M., Schnitzler, P., Rosen, W. A., Raab, K., Sonntag, K. C., and Darai, G. (1992). Identification and mapping of origins of DNA replication within the DNA sequences of the genome of insect iridescent virus type 6. Virus Genes 6, 19–32.
- Hashimoto, S., Ishii, A., and Yonehara, S. (1991). The E1B oncogene of adenovirus confers cellular resistance to cytotoxicity of tumor necrosis factor and monoclonal anti-Fas antibody. Int. Immunol. 3, 343–351.
- Hay, B. A., Wolff, T., and Rubin, G. M. (1994). Expression of baculovirus p35 prevents cell death in *Drosophila*. *Development* 120, 2121–2129.
- Hay, B. A., Wassarman, D. A., and Rubin, G. M. (1995). Drosophila homologs of baculovirus inhibitor of apoptosis proteins function to block cell death. Cell 83, 1253-1262.
- Henderson, S., Huen, D., Rowe, M., Dawson, C., Johnson, G., and Rickinson, A. (1993). Epstein-Barr virus-coded BHRF1 protein, a viral homologue of Bcl-2, protects human B cells from programmed cell death. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 90, 8479-8483.
- Hengartner, M. O., and Horvitz, H. R. (1994). C. elegans cell survival gene ced-9 encodes a functional homolog of the mammalian proto-oncogene bcl-2. Cell 76, 665–676.
- Hershberger, P. A., Dickson, J. A., and Friesen, P. D. (1992). Site-specific mutagenesis of the 35-kilodalton protein gene encoded by *Autographa californica* nuclear polyhedrosis virus: Cell line-specific effects on virus replication. J. Virol. 66, 5525-5533.
- Hershberger, P. A., Lacount, D. J., and Friesen, P. D. (1994). The apoptotic suppressor p35 is required early during baculovirus replication and is targeted to the cytosol of infected cells. J. Virol. 68, 3467–3477.
- Howard, S. T., Chan, Y. S., and Smith, G. L. (1991). Vaccinia virus homologues of the Shope fibroma virus inverted terminal repeat proteins and a discontinuous ORF related to the tumor necrosis factor receptor family. *Virology* 180, 633-647.
- Hu, F. Q., Smith, C. A., and Pickup, D. J. (1994). Cowpox virus contains two copies of an early gene encoding a soluble secreted form of the type II TNF receptor. *Virology* 204, 343–356.
- Ink, B. S., Gilbert, C. S., and Evan, G. I. (1995). Delay of vaccinia virus-induced apoptosis in nonpermissive Chinese hamster ovary cells by the cowpox virus CHOhr and adenovirus E1B 19K genes. J. Virol. 69, 661–668.
- Jensen, P. H., Cressey, L. I., Gjertsen, B. T., Madsen, P., Mellgren, G., Hokland, P., Gliemann, J., Doskeland, S. O., Lanotte, M., and Vintermyr, O. K. (1994). Cleaved intracellular plasminogen activator inhibitor 2 in human myeloleukaemia cells is a marker of apoptosis. Br. J. Cancer 70, 834–840.
- Kamita, S. G., Majima, K., and Maeda, S. (1993). Identification and characterization of the p35 gene of *Bombyx mori* nuclear polyhedrosis virus that prevents virus-indjced apoptosis. J. Virol. 67, 455–463.
- Kerr, J. F., Wyllie, A. H., and Currie, A. R. (1972). Apoptosis: A basic biological phenomenon with wide-ranging implications in tissue kinetics. Br. J. Cancer 26, 239–257.
- Kiefer, M. C., Brauer, M. J., Powers, V. C., Wu, J. J., Umansky, S. R., Tomei, L. D., and Barr, P. J. (1995). Modulation of apoptosis by the widely distributed bcl-2 homologue bak. *Nature (London)* **374**, 736–739.
- Komiyama, T., Ray, C. A., Pickup, D. J., Howard, A. D., Thornberry, N. A., Peterson, E. P., and Salvesen, G. (1994). Inhibition of interleukin-1 beta converting enzyme by the

cowpox virus serpin CrmA: An example of cross-class inhibition. J. Biol. Chem. **269**, 19331–19337.

- Kumar, S., and Harvey, N. L. (1995). Role of multiple cellular proteases in the execution of programmed cell death. *FEBS Lett.* **375**, 169–173.
- Lane, D. P., and Crawford, L. V. (1979). T antigen is bound to a host protein in SV40transformed cells. *Nature (London)* **278**, 261–263.
- Lee, J. C., Chen, H. H., Wei, H. L., and Chao, Y. C. (1993). Superinfection induced apoptosis and its correlation with the reduction of viral progeny in cells persistently infected with hz 1 baculovirus. J. Virol. 67, 6989-6994.
- Lee, M. A., and Yates, J. L. (1992). BHRF1 of Epstein-Barr virus, which is homologous to human proto-oncogene bcl2, is not essential for transformation of B cells or for virus replication in vitro. J. Virol. 66, 1899–1906.
- Lerch, R. A., and Friesen, P. D. (1993). The 35 kilodalton protein gene (p35) of Autographa californica nuclear polyhedrosis virus and the neomycin resistance gene provide dominant selection of recombinant baculoviruses. Nucleic Acids Res. 21, 1753–1760.
- Levine, B., Huang, Q., Isaacs, J. T., Reed, J. C., Griffin, D. E., and Hardwick, J. M. (1993). Conversion of lytic to persistent alphavirus infection by the bcl-2 cellular oncogene. *Nature (London)* 361, 739–742.
- Linzer, D. I., and Levine, A. J. (1979). Characterization of a 54K dalton cellular SV40 tumor antigen present in SV40-transformed cells and uninfected embryonal carcinoma cells. *Cell* 17, 43–52.
- Liston, P., Roy, N., Tamai, K., Lefebvre, C., Baird, S., Cherton-Horvat, G., Farahani, R., McLean, M., Ikeda, J. E., MacKenzie, A., and Korneluk, R. G. (1996). Suppression of apoptosis in mammalian cells by NAIP and a related family of IAP genes *Nature* (London) **379**, 349-353.
- Lomas, D. A., Evans, D. L., Upton, C., McFadden, G., and Carrell, R. W. (1993). Inhibition of plasmin, urokinase, tissue plasminogen activator, and C1S by a myxoma virus serine proteinase inhibitor. J. Biol. Chem. 268, 516–521.
- Los, M., Van de Craen, M., Penning, L. C., Schenk, H., Westendorp, M., Baeuerle, P. A., Droge, W., Krammer, P. H., Fiers, W., and Schulze-Osthoff, K. (1995). Requirement of an ICE/CED-3 protease for Fas/APO-1-mediated apoptosis. *Nature (London)* 375, 81-83.
- Macen, J. L., Upton, C., Nation, N., and McFadden, G. (1993). SERP1, a serine proteinase inhibitor encoded by myxoma virus, is a secreted glycoprotein that interferes with inflammation. Virology 195, 348–363.
- Marchini, A., Tomkinson, B., Cohen, J. I., and Kieff, E. (1991). BHRF1, the Epstein-Barr virus gene with homology to Bcl-2, is dispensable for B-lymphocyte transformation and virus replication. J. Virol. 65, 5991–6000.
- Martinou, I., Fernandez, P. A., Missotten, M., White, E., Allet, B., Sadoul, R., and Martinou, J. C. (1995). Viral proteins E1B19k and p35 protect sympathetic neurons from cell death induced by NGF deprivation. J. Cell Biol. 128, 201–208.
- Martz, E., and Howell, D. M. (1989). CTL: Virus control cells first and cytolytic cells second? DNA fragmentation, apoptosis and the prelytic halt hypothesis. *Immunol. Today* 10, 79–86.
- Massung, R. F., Esposito, J. J., Liu, L. I., Qi, J., Utterback, T. R., Knight, J. C., Aubin, L., Yuran, T. E., Parsons, J. M., Loparev, V. N., Selivanov, N. A., Cavallaro, K. F., Kerlavage, A. R., Mahy, B. W. J., and Venter, J. C. (1993). Potential virulence determinants in terminal regions of variola smallpox virus genome. *Nature (London)* 366, 748-751.
- Miura, M., Zhu, H., Rotello, R., Hartwieg, E. A., and Yuan, J. (1993). Induction of apop-

tosis in fibroblasts by IL-1 beta-converting enzyme, a mammalian homolog of the *C. elegans* cell death gene ced-3. *Cell* **75**, 653–660.

- Miura, M., Friedlander, R. M., and Yuan, J. (1995). Tumor necrosis factor-induced apoptosis is mediated by a CrmA-sensitive cell death pathway. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 92, 8318-8322.
- Mossman, K., Upton, C., Buller, R. M., and McFadden, G. (1995a). Species specificity of ectromelia virus and vaccinia virus interferon-gamma binding proteins. Virology 208, 762–769.
- Mossman, K., Upton, C., and McFadden, G. (1995b). The myxoma virus-soluble interferon-gamma receptor homolog, M-T7, inhibits interferon-gamma in a species-specific manner. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 3031–3038.
- Neilan, J. G., Lu, Z., Afonso, C. L., Kutish, G. F., Sussman, M. D., and Rock, D. L. (1993). An African swine fever virus gene with similarity to the proto-oncogene bcl-2 and the Epstein-Barr virus gene BHRF1. J. Virol. 67, 4391–4394.
- Nicholson, D. W., Ali, A., Thornberry, N. A., Vaillancourt, J. P., Ding, C. K., Gallant, M., Gareau, Y., Griffin, P. R., Labelle, M., Lazebnik, Y. A., Munday, N. A., Raju, S. M., Smulson, M. E., Yamin, T. T., Yu, V. L., and Miller, D. K. (1995). Identification and inhibition of the ICE/ced-3 protease necessary for mammalian apoptosis. *Nature* (London) **376**, 37–43.
- Oltvai, Z. N., Milliman, C. L., and Korsmeyer, S. J. (1993). Bcl-2 heterodimerizes in vivo with a conserved homolog, Bax, that accelerates programmed cell death. Cell 74, 609-619.
- Palumbo, G. J., Pickup, D. J., Fredrickson, T. N., McIntyre, L. J., and Buller, R. M. (1989). Inhibition of an inflammatory response is mediated by a 38-kDa protein of cowpox virus. Virology 172, 262–273.
- Pearson, G. R., Luka, J., Petti, L., Sample, J., Birkenbach, M., Braun, D., and Kieff, E. (1987). Identification of an Epstein-Barr virus early gene encoding a second component of the restricted early antigen complex. *Virology* 160, 151-161.
- Pickup, D. J., Ink, B. S., Hu, W., Ray, C. A., and Joklik, W. K. (1986). Hemorrhage in lesions caused by cowpox virus is induced by a viral protein that is related to plasma protein inhibitors of serine proteases. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 83, 7698-7702.
- Quan, L. T., Caputo, A., Bleackley, R. C., Pickup, D. J., and Salvesen, G. S. (1995). Granzyme B is inhibited by the cowpox virus serpin cytokine response modifier A. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 10377-10379.
- Rabizadeh, S., LaCount, D. J., Friesen, P. D., and Bredesen, D. E. (1993). Expression of the baculovirus p35 gene inhibits mammalian neural cell death. J. Neurochem. 61, 2318-2321.
- Rao, L., Debbas, M., Sabbatini, P., Hockenbery, D., Korsmeyer, S., and White, E. (1992). The adenovirus E1A proteins induce apoptosis, which is inhibited by the E1B 19-kDa and Bcl-2 proteins. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 89, 7742–7746.
- Rawle, F. C., Tollefson, A. E., Wold, W. S., and Gooding, L. R. (1989). Mouse anti-adenovirus cytotoxic T lymphocytes: Inhibition of lysis by E3 gp19K but not E3 14.7K. J. Immunol. 143, 2031-2037.
- Ray, C. A., Black, R. A., Kronheim, S. R., Greenstreet, T. A., Sleath, P. R., Salvesen, G. S., and Pickup, D. J. (1992). Viral inhibition of inflammation: Cowpox virus encodes an inhibitor of the interleukin-1 beta converting enzyme. *Cell* 69, 597–604.
- Rothe, M., Pan, M., Henzel, W. J., Ayers, T. M., and Goeddel, D. V. (1995). The TNFR2-TRAF signalling complex contains two novel proteins related to baculoviral inhibitor of apoptosis proteins. *Cell* 83, 1243–1252.
- Roy, N., Mahadevan, M. S., McLean, M., Shutler, G., Yaraghi, Z., Farahani, R., Baird, S.,

Besner-Johnston, A., Lefebvre, C., Kang, X., Salih, M., Aubry, H., Tamai, K., Guan, X., Ioannou, P., Crawford, T. O., de Jong, P. J., Surh, L., Ikeda, J., Korneluk, R. G., and MacKenzie, A. (1995). The gene for neuronal apoptosis inhibitory protein is partially deleted in individuals with spinal muscular atrophy. *Cell* **80**, 167–178.

- Sarnow, P., Ho, Y. S., Williams, J., and Levine, A. J. (1982). Adenovirus E1b-58kd tumor antigen and SV40 large tumor antigen are physically associated with the same 54 kd cellular protein in transformed cells. *Cell* 28, 387–394.
- Schreiber, M., and McFadden, G. (1994). The myxoma virus TNF-receptor homologue (T2) inhibits tumor necrosis factor-alpha in a species-specific fashion. Virology 204, 692-705.
- Shchelkunov, S. N., Marennikova, S. S., Blinov, V. M., Resenchuk, S. M., Tetmenin, A. V., Chizhikov, V. E., Gutorov, V. V., Safronov, P. F., Kurmanov, R. K., and Sandakhchiev, L. S. (1993). Entire coding sequence of the variola virus. *Dokl. Akad. Nauk* 328, 629-632.
- Shub, D. A. (1994). Bacterial viruses: Bacterial altruism? Curr. Biol. 4, 555-556.
- Smith, C. A., Davis, T., Wignall, J. M., Din, W. S., Farrah, T., Upton, C., McFadden, G., and Goodwin, R. G. (1991). T2 open reading frame from the Shope fibroma virus encodes a soluble form of the TNF receptor. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 176, 335-342.
- Spehner, D., Gillard, S., Drillien, R., and Kirn, A. (1988). A cowpox virus gene required for multiplication in Chinese hamster ovary cells. J. Virol. 62, 1297–1304.
- Steller, H. (1995). Mechanisms and genes of cellular suicide. Science 267, 1445-1449.
- Sugimoto, A., Friesen, P. D., and Rothman, J. H. (1994). Baculovirus p35 prevents developmentally programmed cell death and rescues a ced-9 mutant in the nematode *Caenorhabditis elegans. EMBO J.* 13, 2023–2028.
- Talley, A. K., Dewhurst, S., Perry, S. W., Dollard, S. C., Gummuluru, S., Fine, S. M., New, D., Epstein, L. G., Gendelman, H. E., and Gelbard, H. A. (1995). Tumor necrosis factor alpha-induced apoptosis in human neuronal cells: Protection by the antioxidant N-acetylcysteine and the genes bcl-2 and crmA. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 15, 2359–2366.
- Tarodi, B., Subramanian, T., and Chinnadurai, G. (1994). Epstein-Barr virus BHRF1 protein protects against cell death induced by DNA-damaging agents and heterologous viral infection. *Virology* 201, 404–407.
- Tewari, M., and Dixit, V. M. (1995). Fas- and tumor necrosis factor-induced apoptosis is inhibited by the poxvirus crmA gene product. J. Biol. Chem. **270**, 3255–3260.
- Tewari, M., Quan, L. T., Orourke, K., Desnoyers, S., Zeng, Z., Beidler, D. R., Poirier, G. G., Salvesen, G. S., and Dixit, V. M. (1995a). Yama/CPP32-beta, a mammalian homolog of ced-3, is a crmA-inhibitable protease that cleaves the death substrate poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase. *Cell* 81, 801-809.
- Tewari, M., Telford, W. G., Miller, R. A., and Dixit, V. M. (1995b). CrmA, a poxvirusencoded serpin, inhibits cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-mediated apoptosis. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 22705-22708.
- Tufariello, J., Cho, S., and Horwitz, M. S. (1994a). The adenovirus E3 14.7-kilodalton protein which inhibits cytolysis by tumor necrosis factor increases the virulence of vaccinia virus in a murine pneumonia model. J. Virol. 68, 453–462.
- Tufariello, J. M., Cho, S., and Horwitz, M. S. (1994b). Adenovirus E3 14.7-kilodalton protein, an antagonist of tumor necrosis factor cytolysis, increases the virulence of vaccinia virus in severe combined immunodeficient mice. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 91, 10987–10991.
- Ubol, S., Tucker, P. C., Griffin, D. E., and Hardwick, J. M. (1994). Neurovirulent strains of alphavirus induce apoptosis in bcl-2-expressing cells: Role of a single amino acid change in the E2 glycoprotein. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* **91**, 5202–5206.

- Upton, C., Macen, J. L., Schreiber, M., and McFadden, G. (1991). Myxoma virus expresses a secreted protein with homology to the tumor necrosis factor receptor gene family that contributes to viral virulence. *Virology* 184, 370–382.
- Upton, C., Mossman, K., and McFadden, G. (1992). Encoding of a homolog of the IFNgamma receptor by myxoma virus. *Science* **258**, 1369–1372.
- Uren, A. G., Pakusch, M., Hawkins, C. J., Puls, K. L., and Vaux, D. L. (1996). Cloning and expressing of apoptosis inhibitory protein homologs that function to inhibit apoptosis and/or bind TRAFs. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. in press.
- Vaux, D. L., Weissman, I. L., and Kim, S. K. (1992). Prevention of programmed cell death in *Caenorhabditis elegans* by human bcl-2. *Science* 258, 1955–1957.
- White, E., Cipriani, R., Sabbatini, P., and Denton, A. (1991). Adenovirus E1B 19-kilodalton protein overcomes the cytotoxicity of E1A proteins. J. Virol. 65, 2968–2978.
- White, E., Sabbatini, P., Debbas, M., Wold, W. S., Kusher, D. I., and Gooding, L. R. (1992). The 19-kilodalton adenovirus E1B transforming protein inhibits programmed cell death and prevents cytolysis by tumor necrosis factor alpha. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 12, 2570-2580.
- Wold, W. S. (1993). Adenovirus genes that modulate the sensitivity of virus-infected cells to lysis by TNF. J. Cell. Biochem. 53, 329–335.
- Wold, W. S., and Gooding, L. R. (1989). Adenovirus region E3 proteins that prevent cytolysis by cytotoxic T cells and tumor necrosis factor. *Mol. Biol. Med.* 6, 433–452.
- Xue, D., and Horvitz, H. R. (1995). Inhibition of the *Caenorhabditis elegans* cell-death protease ced-3 by a ced-3 cleavage site in baculovirus p35 protein. *Nature (London)* 377, 248–251.
- Yanez, R. J., Rodriguez, J. M., Nogal, M. L., Yuste, L., Enriquez, C., Rodriguez, J. F., and Vinuela, E. (1995). Analysis of the complete nucleotide sequence of African swine fever virus. Virology 208, 249–278.
- Yang, E., Zha, J., Jockel, J., Boise, L. H., Thompson, C. B., and Korsmeyer, S. J. (1995). Bad, a heterodimeric partner for bcl-xl and bcl-2, displaces bax and promotes cell death. *Cell* 80, 285-291.
- Yew, P. R., Liu, X., and Berk, A. J. (1994). Adenovirus E1B oncoprotein tethers a transcriptional repression domain to p53. Genes Dev. 8, 190–202.
- Yuan, J., Shaham, S., Ledoux, S., Ellis, H. M., and Horvitz, H. R. (1993). The C. elegans cell death gene ced-3 encodes a protein similar to mammalian interleukin-1 betaconverting enzyme. Cell 75, 641-652.
- Zhan, Q., Lord, K. A., Alamo, Jr., I., Hollander, M. C., Carrier, F., Ron, D., Kohn, K. W., Hoffman, B., Liebermann, D. A., and Fornace, Jr., A. (1994). The gadd and MyD genes define a novel set of mammalian genes encoding acidic proteins that synergistically suppress cell growth. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 14, 2361–2371.
- Zhang, S., Mak, S., and Branton, P. E. (1992). Overexpression of the E1B 55-kilodalton (482R) protein of human adenovirus type 12 appears to permit efficient transformation of primary baby rat kidney cells in the absence of the E1B 19-kilodalton protein. J. Virol. 66, 2302-2309.

This Page Intentionally Left Blank

Index

Α

Adenovirus E1A, apoptosis and, 13-14 E1A and E1B gene products, p53dependent apoptosis, 147-149 E1B 19kD, 179–180 Antiandrogens, tumor resistance, Bcl-2 family proteins as determinants, 114 Antiapoptotic proteins, 104-106 Antiestrogens, tumor resistance, Bcl-2 family proteins as determinants, 114 - 115Antisense strategies, critique, 84-86 Apopain, crystal structure, 47-48 Apoptosis, 1-18, see also Bcl-2 family proteins augmentation, 1 Bcl-2 oncogene and, 11-13 cell protection by IGF-I receptor, mechanisms, 86-87 control, 6-14 coupling with p53-dependent cell cycle regulatory pathways Myc-mediated apoptosis, 151–153 pRB/E2F connection, 154-156 differentiation from necrosis, 2 E1A, 13-14 host response, 88-90 induction, 140 in vivo method, determining extent of, 76 - 77linkage of cell cycle checkpoints, 4-6 Myc-mediated, dependence on wtp53 function, 151–153 myc oncogene and, 9-11 p53-dependent, 7-9, 139-162 cytokines in hematopoietic cell survival, 159–160 downstream effector genes, 156-158 IGF-I-IGF-I receptor interactions, 158 - 159

oncogene-driven, 145–150 role of transcription modulation, 160–162 proteins, inhibitor, 183–184 radiation-induced, oncogene effect, 14–16 response to abnormal stimuli, 2 therapeutic implications, 17–18 tumor cell protection from, by IGF-I receptor, 77–81 viral inhibitors, 175–187 cysteine proteases, 180–183 other, 185–186 Apoptotic genes, families, 176–177 Autographa californica nuclear polyhedrosis virus, 182

B

Baculovirus p35 protein, 36 Baculovirus vectors, recombinant, IL-1ß converting enzyme expression, 45 BAX gene promoter, DNA sequence analysis, 120 Bax protein levels in breast cancer, 117-118 p53-dependent apoptosis, 156-158 proapoptotic, 127-128 structural features, 108 B-cell lymphoma/leukemia-2, see Bcl-2 family proteins Bcl-2/Bax connection, p53-dependent apoptosis, 156-158 Bcl-2 family proteins, 99-128 antiapoptotic effects, 121 BAG-1, 111-112 BH3 domain, 109 BH4 domain, 107-108 deletion mutants, 106 as determinants of tumor resistance, 112 - 115dimerization models, 109-110 heterodimerization, 107

INDEX

homodimerization, 106, 108 identification of functionally important domains, 104-111 interactions with nonhomologous proteins, 111–112 in vivo patterns of Bcl-2 family gene ex pression breast, 115-118 endometrium, 118-119 ovary, 119–121 prostate, 121-125 thymus, 126-128 thyroid, 125–126 mechanisms of action, 102-104 members and functions, 101 p53-dependent apoptosis, 156-158 as prostate cancer prognostic marker, 123 Raf-1, 111-112 structures, 104-105 Bcl-2 oncogene, apoptosis and, 11-13 Bcl-X_L protein, 110–111 antiapoptotic, 127-128 BHRF1, 178-179 Breast in vivo patterns of Bcl-2 family gene expression, 115-118 cancer, Bcl-2 association with favorable prognosis, 117

С

Cancer therapy, see also Bcl-2 family proteins loss of replicative potential, 3 Catalytic activity, IL-1ß converting enzyme, 33 **cDNA** human IL-1β converting enzyme sequences, 36-39 IL-1β converting enzyme, other species, 40 - 41Cell cycle checkpoints linkage to apoptosis, 4-6 therapeutic implications, 17-18 Cell death, forms, 2 Cell proliferation myc oncogene and, 9-11 regulation, 6-14 Checkpoint control, function, p53 tumor suppressor protein, 143-144

Chemotherapeutic drugs, tumor resistance, Bcl-2 family proteins as determinants, 112–113 Clonogenic assays, 3-4 COS7 cells, IL-1β converting enzyme expression, 44 Cowpox response modifier A, see CrmA CPP32_β, 50-51 CrmA, 35-36 cysteine protease inactivator, 181-182 Cysteine proteases, apoptotic, inactivators, 180-183 CrmA, 181-182 p35, 182-183 Cytokine regulators, virus-encoded, 184-185 Cytokines, hematopoietic cell survival, p53-dependent apoptosis, 159-160

D

Dominant negative, IGF-I receptor, 82-84

Е

Endometrium, *in vivo* patterns of Bcl-2 family gene expression, 118–119
Enzymes, recombinant, IL-1β converting enzyme, 44–45
Epidermal growth factor, 67–68
Epstein–Barr gene, *BHRF1*, 178–179
Epstein–Barr virus, p53-dependent apoptosis, 150 *Escherichia coli*, IL-1β converting enzyme expression, 44–45
Estrogen receptor, negativity, Bcl-2 and, 116–117

G

G1 checkpoint, loss, 4–6 Glucocorticoids, tumor resistance, Bcl-2 family proteins as determinants, 113 Gonadotrophin, Bcl-2 family proteins and, 119

Η

Hematopoietic cell, survival, cytokines, p53-dependent apoptosis, 159–160 Human papillomavirus, E7 and E6 oncogenes, p53-dependent apoptosis, 149–150

I

IGF-I-IGF-I receptor interactions, p53dependent apoptosis, 158-159 IGF-I receptor, 65–91 antisense strategies, critique, 84-86 apoptosis, 76-77 normal cells, 81-82 protecting cells from, mechanisms, 86-87 tumor cell protection from, 77-81 diagram, 66 dominant negatives, 82–84 host response, 88–90 mitogenesis, 67-68 mutational analysis, 71-75 in growth and transformation, 73 signal-transducing pathways, 68-70 significance, 90-91 transformation, 69-71 transforming potential, 74-75 il1b gene, 51, 53-55 IL1 genes, expression, 28 Inhibitors, IL-16 converting enzyme, 34-36 Insulin-like growth factor-I receptor, see **IGF-I** receptor Insulin receptor, signal-transduction pathway, 68-70 Interleukin-1 β converting enzyme, 27–56 cleavage sites, evolutionary conservation, 30, 39 enzymology, 32-36 active site labeling, 33 catalytic activity, 33 catalytic mechanism, 33-34 inhibitors, 34-36 protease classification, 32-33 gene family members, 48–51 knockout mice, 51, 53-55 molecular biology, 36-48 crystal structure, 45-48 expression in cells, 41-42 human cDNA sequences, 36-39 mRNA expression, 38, 40 recombinant enzymes, 44-45 sequences from other species, 40-41 structure and regulation of human gene, 42–44

phylogenic relationship, 48–49 purification, 31–32 role in IL-1β processing and secretion, 51–53 substrate specificity, 30–31 Interleukin-1β-neutralizing antibodies, 53–54 Interleukin-1 system, 28–30

K

Knockout mice, IL-1 β converting enzyme, 51, 53–55

М

MCF-7 cells, Bcl-2 protein in, 115–116 Mitogenesis, IGF-I receptor, 67–68 Mitotic death, 3 mRNA Bax levels, breast, 117–118 Bcl-2 levels, prostate, 122 IL-1 β converting enzyme expression, 38, 40, 43 Mutational analysis, IGF-I receptor, 71–75 Myc-mediated apoptosis, 151–153 *myc* oncogene, apoptosis and, 9–11

N

Necrosis, 2

0

Oligodeoxynucleotides, antisense, 85–86 Oncogenes, effect on radiation-induced apoptosis, 14–16 Ovarian carcinomas, Bcl-2 expression, 119–120 Ovary, *in vivo* patterns of Bcl-2 family gene expression, 119–121

Р

p35 baculovirus, 36 cysteine protease inactivator, 182–183 gene, apoptosis and, 7–9 inactivation, viral proteins, 180 mediated modulation of transcription, 160–162 INDEX

potential role in controlling Bax expression, 120-121 as transcriptional repressor of Bcl-2, 122Platelet-derived growth factor, 67–68 p53-dependent apoptosis, 159 pRB/E2F connection, p53-dependent apoptosis, 154-156 Programmed cell death, see Apoptosis Prostate, in vivo patterns of Bcl-2 family gene expression, 121-125 Prostate intraepithelial neoplasia, 123 p53 tumor suppressor protein biochemical properties structural domains, 140-142 target genes, 142 biological properties cell cycle control, 143 checkpoint control function, 143–144 mediated apoptosis and tumor suppression, 144-145 transactivation, 142

R

Radiation, apoptosis and, 3 induced, oncogene effect, 14–16 *Rb* gene, 8 Retinoids, tumor resistance, Bcl-2 family proteins as determinants, 113–114 RNA, IGF-I receptor, 81–82

\mathbf{S}

Signal-transducing pathways, IGF-I receptor, 68–70 SV50 large T antigen, p53-dependent apoptosis, 146–147

Т

Thymus, *in vivo* patterns of Bcl-2 family gene expression, 126–128 Thyroid, *in vivo* patterns of Bcl-2 family gene expression, 125–126

Transcription, p53-mediated modulation, 160–162

Transformation, IGF-I receptor, 69–71 Tumors

cells, protection from apoptosis by IGF-I receptor, 77–81

loss of G1-specific regulators of proliferation, 5

resistance, Bcl-2 family proteins as determinants, 112–115 suppression, p53-mediated, 144–145

V

Viral proteins BHRF1, 178–179 E1B 19kD, 179–180 p53 inactivation, 180

